

## Evolutionary method in the design of robust control systems

## Author:

Harno, Hendra Gunawan

# Publication Date: 2011

DOI: https://doi.org/10.26190/unsworks/15067

## License:

https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/au/ Link to license to see what you are allowed to do with this resource.

Downloaded from http://hdl.handle.net/1959.4/51425 in https:// unsworks.unsw.edu.au on 2024-05-05

# Evolutionary Method in the Design of Robust Control Systems

## Hendra Gunawan Harno

A thesis submitted in fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy



School of Engineering and Information Technology University College University of New South Wales Australian Defence Force Academy

8 April 2011

### COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

I hereby grant the University of New South Wales or its agents the right to archive and to make available my thesis or dissertation in whole or part in the University libraries in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, subject to the provisions of the Copyright Act 1968. I retain all proprietary rights, such as patent rights. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation. I also authorise University Microfilms to use the abstract of my thesis in Dissertation Abstract International (this is applicable to doctoral theses only).

I have either used no substantial portions of copyright material in my thesis or I have obtained permission to use copyright material; where permission has not been granted I have applied/will apply for a partial restriction of the digital copy of my thesis or dissertation.

Hendra Gunawan Harno 8 April 2011

### AUTHENTICITY STATEMENT

I certify that the Library deposit digital copy is a direct equivalent of the final officially approved version of my thesis. No emendation of content has occurred and if there are any minor variations in formatting, they are the result of the conversion to digital format.

Hendra Gunawan Harno 8 April 2011

# **Statement of Originality**

I hereby declare that this submission is my own work and to the best of my knowledge it contains no materials previously published or written by another person, or substantial proportions of material which have been accepted for the award of any other degree or diploma at UNSW or any other educational institution, except where due acknowledgement is made in the thesis. Any contribution made to the research by others, with whom I have worked at UNSW or elsewhere, is explicitly acknowledged in the thesis. I also declare that the intellectual content of this thesis is the product of my own work, except to the extent that assistance from others in the project's design and conception or in style, presentation and linguistic expression is acknowledged.

Hendra Gunawan Harno 8 April 2011

# Publications

#### Journal papers

- 1. H. G. Harno and I. R. Petersen, "Robust  $H^{\infty}$  control of a nonlinear uncertain system via a stable nonlinear output feedback controller," Accepted for publication in the *International Journal of Control*, February 2011.
- H. G. Harno and I. R. Petersen, "Decentralized state feedback robust H<sup>∞</sup> control using a differential evolution approach," Re-submitted to Automatica, January 2011.

#### Conference papers

- H. G. Harno and I. R. Petersen, "Strict bounded real decentralized coherent quantum robust H<sup>∞</sup> control," to appear in the Proceedings of the 18th IFAC World Congress, Milan, Italy, August 28 – September 2, 2011.
- H. G. Harno and I. R. Petersen, "Coherent quantum H<sup>∞</sup> control via a strict bounded real quantum controller," to appear in the Proceedings of the 18th IFAC World Congress, Milan, Italy, August 28 – September 2, 2011.
- 3. H. G. Harno and I. R. Petersen, "Decentralized coherent robust H<sup>∞</sup> control of a class of large-scale uncertain linear complex quantum stochastic systems," in *Proceedings of the 2010 IEEE Multi-conference on Systems and Control*, Yokohama, Japan, September 8–10, 2010, pp. 1969–1974.
- H. G. Harno and I. R. Petersen, "Coherent control of linear quantum systems: a differential evolution approach," in *Proceedings of the 2010 American Control Conference*, Baltimore, Maryland, USA, June 30 July 2, 2010, pp. 1912–1917.

- 5. H. G. Harno and I. R. Petersen, "Nonlinear robust H<sup>∞</sup> control via a stable decentralized nonlinear output feedback controller," in *Proceedings of the* 48th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control and 28th Chinese Control Conference, Shanghai, China, December 16–18, 2009, pp. 1638–1644.
- H. G. Harno and I. R. Petersen, "Decentralized state feedback robust H<sup>∞</sup> control using an evolutionary optimization approach," in *Proceedings of the 2009 European Control Conference*, Budapest, Hungary, August 23–26, 2009, pp. 2887–2892.
- 7. H. G. Harno and I. R. Petersen, "Robust H<sup>∞</sup> stabilization of a nonlinear uncertain system via a stable nonlinear output feedback controller," in *Proceedings of the 2009 American Control Conference*, St. Louis, Missouri, USA, June 10–12, 2009, pp. 3693–3699.

# Acknowledgements

I gratefully thank my supervisor: Prof. Ian R. Petersen for his patience, support, encouragement and guidance during my doctorate study at the UNSW@ADFA. This has been a fruitful period of my research adventure in the field of robust control for classical and quantum systems. He has also provided many opportunities to participate in domestic and international events, which are very useful to broaden my research perspective. All valuable skills, attitude and knowledge I learned from him will become lifetime experience, which I believe will positively influence my future research career.

Also, I would like to thank my co-supervisor: Prof. Hussein A. Abbass for drawing my attention to and prompting my interest in an evolutionary optimization method. He also introduced me to Dr. Lam T. Bui with whom I had useful discussion about the evolutionary approach, especially a differential evolution algorithm. I also thank Dr. Ainikal J. Shaiju, Dr. Naoki Yamamoto, Assoc. Prof. Valeri Ougrinovskii, Prof. Peter J. Fleming and Prof. Dragan Nešić for their critical and constructive comments regarding the results presented in this thesis. I would like to express my gratitude to the staffs of the School of Engineering and Information Technology, Research and Research Training Office, Student Administrative Services (especially, Ms. Christa Cordes), Information Communication and Technology Services, and Academy Library at the UNSW@ADFA for providing continuous support throughout my PhD candidature.

I have also benefited from the companionship of my friends and colleagues: Dr. S. Z. Sayed Hassen, Xilin Yang, Dr. Md. Jahangir Hossain, Dr. Aline I. Maalouf, Obaid Ur Rehman, Ouyang Hua, Ning Chuang, Dr. Abhijit G. Kallapur, Dr. Daoyi Dong, Dr. Igor G. Vladimirov, Ms. Ida Nurhayati, Sheila Tobing, Windraty Siallagan, Robertus Purwoko and many other student fellows studying at the UNSW@ADFA. Their presence has enriched my knowledge and made my time on campus enjoyable. I am also greatly indebted to my Christian fellows: the Supomo family, the Matsay family, the ICC in Canberra, the ANU Catholic Society, the MGL brothers, Fr. Joseph Neonbasu MGL, Fr. Laurie Foote OP, Fr. Peter Hoang OP, Sudi Mungkasi, Asti D. Kusumawati, Angelia M. Hartono, Francisca Handoko, Br. Yohanes B. Hernawan OFM, Victor H. Wibisono, Samuel Fernandes, and other brethren, whom I cannot mention one by one. They have been so kind and generous that my days in Australia are much more memorable.

Finally, I would like to sincerely acknowledge and thank the most important people in my life. They are my parents: Sutidjo Harno<sup>†</sup> and Ng Tjhai Ngin; and my younger brothers: Budiyanto Harno and Hermanto Harno. Their understanding, unconditional love and moral support have become my inspiration to achieve my dream, sustained my spirit through every highs and lows, and transformed myself to whom I am.

Canberra, 8 April 2011 Hendra Gunawan Harno

## Abstract

In this thesis, we present new systematic methods to synthesize non-decentralized and decentralized robust feedback control systems for classical and quantum dynamical systems. For the decentralized case, we assume that the interconnections between subsystems are known and thus, we do not treat them as uncertainties. We employ a differential evolution (DE) algorithm to solve nonconvex nonlinear constrained optimization problems arising in the feedback control syntheses for those systems. As a class of evolutionary algorithms, the DE algorithm is equipped with variation operators: mutation and recombination, and selection operator. In addition, we also apply a penalty-based fitness test procedure as a link between the DE algorithm and the particular controller design algorithm being considered.

Regarding classical systems, we are concerned with robust  $H^{\infty}$  control for a class of nonlinear uncertain systems via a stable nonlinear output feedback controller. Structured uncertainties and nonlinearities in the system are required to satisfy integral quadratic constraints and global Lipschitz conditions, respectively. Applying this controller, we aim to achieve closed loop absolute stability with a specified disturbance attenuation level. The controller is constructed using stabilizing solutions to algebraic Riccati equations parameterized by scaling constants associated with the uncertainties and nonlinearities. A decentralized version of this control problem is also considered.

For quantum systems, we deal with coherent quantum feedback control for a class of quantum systems represented in terms of linear quantum stochastic differential equations. Synthesis algorithms are provided to construct physically realizable quantum controllers, which are used to solve quantum entanglement and quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problems. In particular, we are interested in synthesizing a strict bounded real quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  controller for an uncertain quantum system. This quantum controller is applied to obtain a strict bounded real closed loop quantum system with a specified disturbance attenuation level. The controller matrices are formed using stabilizing solutions to complex algebraic Riccati equations parameterized by scaling constants corresponding to all uncertainties in the quantum system. The same type of quantum controller is used to solve a decentralized quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problem.

# Contents

	Stat	tement	t of Originality	i
	Pub	olicatio	ons	iii
	Ack	nowle	dgements	$\mathbf{v}$
	Abs	stract		vii
1	Intr	oducti	ion	1
	1.1	Feedb	ack Control	1
		1.1.1	Basic concepts	1
		1.1.2	Classical feedback control	3
		1.1.3	Quantum feedback control	5
	1.2	Evolu	tionary Method	8
		1.2.1	Background	8
		1.2.2	EA properties	10
		1.2.3	Existing EA-based control applications	11
		1.2.4	EA-based robust control methods	13
	1.3	Thesis	Organization	15
		1.3.1	Chapter 3: Nonlinear robust $H^{\infty}$ control	15
		1.3.2	Chapter 4: Decentralized state feedback robust $H^{\infty}$ control	17
		1.3.3	Chapter 5: Decentralized nonlinear robust $H^{\infty}$ control	19
		1.3.4	Chapter 6: Coherent control of linear quantum systems	22
		1.3.5	Chapter 7: Coherent quantum robust $H^{\infty}$ control	23
		1.3.6	Chapter 8: Decentralized coherent quantum robust $H^{\infty}$	
			control	25
<b>2</b>	Diff	erenti	al Evolution	29
	2.1	Evolu	tionary Algorithm	29
		2.1.1	Evolutionary algorithm and optimization	31
		2.1.2	Technical issues	32
	2.2	Differe	ential Evolution Algorithm	34
		2.2.1	Population	36

		2.2.2 Mutation and recombination
		2.2.3 Selection
		2.2.4 Constraint handling
		2.2.5 Drift-free mutation and recombination
		2.2.6 Parameter setting
3	Nor	nlinear Robust $H^{\infty}$ Control 45
	3.1	Introduction
	3.2	Problem Statement
		3.2.1 System description and definitions
		3.2.2 Robust $H^{\infty}$ control
	3.3	Stable Nonlinear Controller Design
		3.3.1 State feedback control problem
		3.3.2 Artificial uncertain system
		3.3.3 Stable nonlinear $H^{\infty}$ controller $\ldots \ldots \ldots$
	3.4	A Differential Evolution Approach
	3.5	Illustrative Examples
	3.6	Conclusions
4	Dec	centralized State Feedback Robust $H^{\infty}$ Control 75
	4.1	Introduction
	4.2	Problem Statement
	4.3	Decentralized Controller Design
	4.4	A Differential Evolution Approach
	4.5	An Illustrative Example
	4.6	Conclusions
<b>5</b>	Dec	centralized Nonlinear Robust $H^{\infty}$ Control 95
	5.1	Introduction
	5.2	Problem Statement
		5.2.1 System description and definitions
		5.2.2 Nonlinear error system $\ldots \ldots 101$
		5.2.3 Equivalent nonlinear uncertain system
		5.2.4 Robust $H^{\infty}$ control
	5.3	Stable Decentralized Controller Synthesis
		5.3.1 State feedback control problem
		5.3.2 Artificial uncertain system
		5.3.3 Stable output feedback controller
	5.4	A Differential Evolution Approach
	5.5	An Illustrative Example
	5.6	Conclusions

6	Coh	nerent Control of Linear Quantum Systems	131
	6.1	Introduction	131
	6.2	Linear Quantum Stochastic Systems	132
		6.2.1 Non-commutative model	133
		6.2.2 Physical realizability	134
	6.3	Quantum Feedback Control Problem	136
	6.4	Coherent Quantum Controller Synthesis	139
	6.5	Case Study: Entanglement Control	144
		6.5.1 Direct connection	146
		6.5.2 Controlled entanglement	148
	6.6	Conclusions	152
<b>7</b>	Coh	${f here}$ nerent Quantum Robust $H^\infty$ Control	153
	7.1	Introduction	153
	7.2	Linear Complex Quantum Systems	154
		7.2.1 Non-commutative model	154
		7.2.2 Physical realizability	155
		7.2.3 Bounded real property	157
	7.3	Quantum Robust $H^{\infty}$ Control Problem	160
		7.3.1 Linear uncertain complex quantum system	161
		7.3.2 Coherent quantum $H^{\infty}$ controller $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	162
		7.3.3 $H^{\infty}$ control objective	164
	7.4	Quantum $H^{\infty}$ Controller Synthesis	165
		7.4.1 Artificial uncertain quantum system	170
		7.4.2 Strict bounded real quantum $H^{\infty}$ controller	175
	7.5	A Differential Evolution Approach	180
	7.6	An Illustrative Example	183
	7.7	Conclusions	185
8	Dec	centralized Coherent Quantum Robust $H^{\infty}$ Control	187
	8.1		187
	8.2	Problem Statement	189
		8.2.1 Uncertain linear complex quantum system	189
		8.2.2 Physical realizability and the $H^{\infty}$ control objective	191
		8.2.3 A special case of quantum robust $H^{\infty}$ control	193
	~ ~	8.2.4 An equivalent uncertain linear quantum system	195
	8.3	Ordinary Decentralized Quantum $H^{\infty}$ Controller	196
		8.3.1 Synthesis algorithm	196
		8.3.2 A differential evolution approach	201
	0.4	8.3.3 An illustrative example $\dots \dots \dots$	204
	8.4	Strict Bounded Keal Decentralized Quantum $H^{\infty}$ Controller	210
		8.4.1 Synthesis algorithm	210
		8.4.2 A differential evolution approach	223

	8.5	8.4.3 Illustrative examples	26 34
9	<b>Con</b> 9.1 9.2	clusions and Future Research23Conclusions24Future Research24	<b>37</b> 37 42
References 245			15

# List of Figures

$1.1 \\ 1.2 \\ 1.3$	Closed loop feedback control; see [1]	$\begin{array}{c} 2\\ 4\\ 10 \end{array}$
2.1	The DE mutation and recombination with two-dimensional $\vartheta_{i,j}$ result in three potential trial vectors: $\xi_{i,j}^{(1)}, \xi_{i,j}^{(2)}$ or $\xi_{i,j}^{(3)}$ ; e.g., see [4].	37
2.2	For $0 < C_R < 1$ , the potential trial vectors $\xi_{i,j}^{(2)}$ and $\xi_{i,j}^{(3)}$ are rotated due to misalignment between the DE coordinates $(\vartheta_{i,j,1}, \vartheta_{i,j,2})$ and the problem coordinates $(\vartheta'_{i,j,1}, \vartheta'_{i,j,2})$ ; e.g., see [5]	41
3.1	(a) Nonlinear uncertain system with nonlinear controller. (b) Non- linear uncertain system and linear controller with repeated nonlin- earity. Here, $\psi(\cdot)$ is a known nonlinearity and $\phi(\cdot)$ is an uncer-	
2.0	tainty; see [6]	49
3.2	II; see [7]	59
$3.3 \\ 3.4$	The controlled output $z_1(t)$ for different values of $\Delta_1$ and $\Delta_2$ The controlled output $z_1(t)$ for different values of $\Delta$	70 72
4.1 4.2	Controlled outputs $z_1(t)$ and $z_2(t)$	91 92
5.1	(a) Large-scale nonlinear uncertain system with decentralized non- linear controller. (b) Large-scale nonlinear uncertain system and decentralized linear controller with repeated nonlinearity. Here,	
59	$\psi(\cdot)$ is a known nonlinearity and $\phi(\cdot)$ is an uncertainty; see [6] Block diagrams corresponding to Special case I and Special case	96
5.2	II; see [7]	115
5.3	Time responses of $z_1(t)$ and $z_2(t)$ for different values of $\Delta_1$ and $\Delta_2$ .	128
6.1 6.2	An ideal quantum network of two cascaded OPAs	144 144
$7.1 \\ 7.2$	Block diagrams corresponding to special cases I and II; see [8] Closed loop quantum system	175 184

8.1	A cascaded linear quantum system of two identical optical cavities.	204
8.2	The first decentralized quantum $H^{\infty}$ controller	207
8.3	The second decentralized quantum $H^{\infty}$ controller	208
8.4	A cascaded linear quantum system of two optical cavities	208
8.5	Block diagrams corresponding to special cases I and II; see [8]	216
8.6	The first decentralized quantum $H^{\infty}$ controller	228
8.7	The second decentralized quantum $H^{\infty}$ controller	229
8.8	A cascaded linear quantum system of three optical cavities	230
8.9	The first strict bounded real decentralized quantum $H^\infty$ controller.	233
8.10	The second strict bounded real decentralized quantum $H^{\infty}$ con-	
	troller	234

# List of Algorithms

2.1	Evolutionary Algorithm	30
2.2	Standard DE algorithm: $DE/rand/1/bin \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	38
2.3	Enhanced DE algorithm: Drift-Free $DE/rand/1/either - or$	42

# Chapter 1 Introduction

This chapter is intended not only to describe the background and motivation for all topics discussed in this thesis, but also to highlight the main contributions of our research. That is, we aim to present new systematic methods to synthesize non-decentralized and decentralized robust feedback control systems for both classical and quantum dynamical systems. An introduction to the notions of feedback control considered is thus briefly provided in Section 1.1. Then, a short discussion on evolutionary optimization methods is presented in Section 1.2 where we also describe our motivation for applying this method to solve our control problems. Moreover, specific considerations and features of our main results from Chapter 3 to Chapter 8 are presented in separate sub-sections within Section 1.3.

## 1.1 Feedback Control

In this section, we present a brief overview of the basic concepts of feedback control. Our purpose is to provide a general understanding of what we are concerned with in our research to develop algorithms to synthesize robust feedback controllers for both classical and quantum dynamical systems.

### 1.1.1 Basic concepts

Feedback control is a common strategy used to ensure stability and performance when a dynamical system is performing certain tasks. This strategy is implemented in a closed loop scheme as shown in Figure 1.1, where the system being



Figure 1.1: Closed loop feedback control; see [1].

controlled (plant) is interconnected and interacts with other systems so that the plant behaves as intended. In this case, sensors are used to fully or partially capture information about the plant dynamics, but unfortunately, the sensor outputs are usually contaminated by noise. We then feed back the acquired information through a filter with which noise effects are removed considerably. Having the filter outputs as controller inputs, we employ an algorithm to generate control commands, which drive the plant via actuators to compensate any deviation from a desired operating point with particular properties.

Often, we can make the plant work well by only applying an open loop control without feedback. This approach, however, is at times unrealistic and risky because the plant may be unstable and is not free from perturbations such as exogenous disturbances, a changing environment and undesirable noise. Another concern is that, due to incomplete knowledge of the plant dynamics and modeling errors, we often have an uncertain plant model based on which a controller is designed. Thus, it is essential to synthesize a feedback control mechanism, which not only achieves prescribed control objectives effectively and efficiently, but also is robust against the uncertainties and perturbations.

Applying feedback control is certainly beneficial to cope with the concerns mentioned above, but we should also be mindful of its potential drawbacks; e.g., see [1,9]. As shown in Figure 1.1, feedback control usually requires additional components: sensors and filters, which in turn augment the dimensionality and complexity of the closed loop system. It is also inevitable that sensors are accompanied with noise, which reduces measurement accuracy. Moreover, a carelessly designed feedback system may give rise to oscillations and instability. All these issues indicate that feedback cannot be realized arbitrarily and is not merely about having a closing loop. Thus, appropriate systematic methods are necessary to design feedback control systems, which are capable of providing robust stability and performance; e.g., see [10].

### 1.1.2 Classical feedback control

The idea to build feedback control systems originated for more than twenty centuries ago; e.g., see [11, 12]. One of the first significant inventions in industrial era was a flyball governor, which was successfully used to control the speed of a James Watt's steam engine in the 18th century. Feedback control applications at the present time are much more pervasive and ubiquitous in various technological artifacts such as computers, automobiles, aircraft, robots, telescopes and chemical processes. We can even find feedback control applied to non-engineering systems such as biological systems, ecosystems and economics; e.g., see [1]. We thus could say that feedback control has become an indispensable aspect in technology development; e.g., see [13].

Along with the above applications, feedback control theory has also achieved great advancements, which provide various mathematical methods to rigorously analyze and synthesize feedback control systems. Among others, several wellknown controller design methods are proportional-integral-derivative (PID) control, linear quadratic Gaussian (LQG) control and  $H^{\infty}$  control; e.g., see [14–17]. These methods were in fact developed to design feedback controllers for dynamical systems governed by the principles of non-quantum physics. In this sense, we thus consider them as classical feedback control methods.

In this thesis, we apply a linear robust  $H^{\infty}$  control method as described in [2] to synthesize a controller, which absolutely stabilizes an uncertain system with a specified disturbance attenuation level (see Chapter 3 – Chapter 5). The class of uncertain systems being considered is illustrated in Figure 1.2. This model is referred to as a linear fractional transformation (LFT), where a nominal plant is separated from all uncertainties  $\phi_1(\cdot), \phi_2(\cdot), \ldots, \phi_k(\cdot)$  in feedback interconnections; e.g., see [18]. In order to be admissible, each uncertainty  $\phi_j(\cdot)$  (for all  $j = 1, 2, \ldots, k$ ) is required to satisfy an integral quadratic constraint (IQC):

$$\int_0^\infty \|\xi_j(t)\|^2 \, dt \le \int_0^\infty \|\zeta_j(t)\|^2 \, dt + d_j, \quad d_j \ge 0 \tag{1.1}$$



Figure 1.2: An uncertain system with structured uncertainties; see [2].

provided these integrals exist; see [2]. Note that  $\|\cdot\|$  is the Euclidean norm.

Characterizing the structured uncertainties in terms of IQCs, we can include not only time-varying, norm bounded uncertainties, but also dynamic nonlinear uncertainties, which may appear due to unmodeled dynamics. In this case, the class of uncertainties satisfying IQCs of the form (1.1) is richer than that of uncertainties satisfying only norm bound conditions. Moreover, a natural stability notion for an uncertain system satisfying IQCs is referred to as absolute stability, which directly ensures the stability of the system trajectories and also implies asymptotic stability; see [2].

From a game viewpoint, a robust  $H^{\infty}$  controller can be view as a minimizing player, which provides absolute stability and maintains the closed loop system at a specified performance level in the presence of uncertainties. In contrast, each uncertainty in the plant can be considered as a maximizing player, which tends to impair the performance of the closed loop system; see [16]. This perspective allows us to treat the robust control problem as a constrained minimax optimization problem. Moreover, using S-procedure results, we can convert the given constrained optimization problem into an unconstrained optimization problem by applying scaling constants corresponding to the IQCs; see [2]. In this case, the S-procedure is indeed analogous to a Lagrange multiplier method in convex optimization; e.g., see [19]. However, the scaling constants used in the S-procedure are such that there exist stabilizing solutions to algebraic Riccati equations parameterized by the constants. Riccati equations are involved because the unconstrained optimization problem is treated as an  $H^{\infty}$  control problem corresponding to a scaled system. In this regard, the absolute stabilization problem is thus related to the  $H^{\infty}$  control problem; see [2].

An optimal  $H^{\infty}$  controller is the one that minimizes an induced norm  $||T_{wz}||_{\infty}$ of a linear map from the disturbance input w(t) to the controlled output z(t) of the closed loop system with zero initial condition (see Figure 1.2). Here,  $||T_{wz}||_{\infty}$ is defined as

$$||T_{wz}||_{\infty} := \sup_{w(\cdot) \in L_2[0,\infty), ||w(\cdot)||_2 \neq 0} \frac{||z(\cdot)||_2}{||w(\cdot)||_2}$$
(1.2)

where  $\|\cdot\|_2$  is the  $L_2$ -norm. Despite its optimality, finding this controller is often difficult and expensive from a numerical perspective; e.g., see [18]. Thus, in practice, we are usually more interested in having a suboptimal controller, which guarantees a certain performance level

$$||T_{wz}||_{\infty} < \gamma, \quad \gamma > 0 \tag{1.3}$$

of the closed loop system; e.g., see [2, 18].

### 1.1.3 Quantum feedback control

Rigorous theoretical studies on the topic of quantum control started about three decades ago and were documented in some initial publications e.g., [20–22]. These results serve as important references in the quantum control literature and form the foundation for later investigations. Although quantum control is a relatively young discipline, it has set a path for quantum mechanics to move from abstract scientific concepts into real applications. This allows us to employ quantum mechanics as a fundamental framework not only to explain quantum phenomena in our physical world, but also to govern future quantum technology development. Currently, the need for comprehensive theoretical and experimental research on quantum control systems grows rapidly and becomes more compelling. This rising interest is particularly driven by recent advancements in high-precision and nanoscale engineering, which undoubtedly lead us into quantum realm; e.g., see [23, 24].

Quantum feedback control has been acknowledged as a key factor, which will play a significant role in the development of quantum technology and quantum information. Potential applications of quantum control can be found in many areas such as quantum metrology, quantum computation, quantum communication, quantum optical interferometry and quantum electronics; e.g., see [23–26]. Such pervasive applications pose immense challenges to the quantum control discipline to build a unified framework, which can be used in analysis and synthesis of quantum control systems; e.g., see [27–29]. In particular, there has been significant interest in focusing research on developing mathematical models and feedback control methods for linear quantum systems; e.g., see [30–34]. This particular quantum system is commonly found in the field of quantum optics (e.g., see [35–37]), which widely appears in the above applications.

Keeping up with this situation, many researchers have exploited knowledge of classical control theory to formulate systematic methods to analyze and synthesize quantum control systems; e.g., see [38]. In particular, the development of quantum control theory has greatly benefited from the well-established classical stochastic control theory; e.g., see [39]. It has also been found that experience in the classical domain appears to provide a better comprehension of the nature of quantum mechanical problems; e.g., see [24, 40–42]. Although the classical stochastic control is a sensible starting point, it should be noted that this approach is based on classical probability theory, which is considered as a special case of noncommutative or quantum probability theory; e.g., see [43–46].

Unlike a classical stochastic system, the physical variables in a quantum system do not commute. This feature prevents us from having effective and accurate simultaneous observation of a quantum system due to the limitations imposed by Heisenberg's uncertainty principle; e.g., see [41]. Thus, the non-commutative property presents a challenging obstacle if we want to regulate a quantum plant using closed loop feedback control and classical measurements. Also, we cannot perform classical measurements without disturbing the quantum plant and destroying quantum information; e.g., see [25, 40, 47]. Such delicate circumstances then motivate the emergence of quantum measurement and filtering theory, which becomes an essential foundation for developing quantum feedback control methods; e.g., see [33, 46, 48–53]. Despite the fact that a quantum system is non-commutative, the inclusion of classical measurement devices in a quantum feedback control system is often useful as we can still partially observe the dynamics of a quantum plant. Applying classical measurement indeed allows us to exploit the state-of-the-art of the classical control methods to stabilize and provide good performance to the closed loop quantum system; e.g., see [24,40–42,47,54–61]. In this case, the measurement outputs are processed and fed into a classical controller, which can be built using analog or digital electronics. The controller outputs are then applied to the quantum plant through actuators. This approach, in particular, forms an important class of linear quantum control systems involving classical feedback loop; e.g., see [33,34,62–65].

To circumvent the quantum mechanical limitations of the system being controlled, we can avoid applying classical measurement to the quantum plant and allow the controller to be a quantum system instead. This approach gives rise to another type of quantum control methods referred to as coherent quantum feedback control. In this case, the quantum controller is directly interconnected with the quantum plant; e.g., see [30, 31, 66-73]. The use of coherent quantum feedback control can be more appealing than classical feedback control in some applications due to its ease of implementation. Also, a coherent quantum controller operates on higher speed and potentially provides better performance than a classical controller; e.g., see [34]. These promising features have raised our interest in developing systematic methods to synthesize two classes of linear quantum controllers. In the first class, we are concerned with constructing a quantum controller, which has the same structure as the quantum LQG controller presented in [72] (see Chapter 6). Then, in the second class, we aim to build a robust quantum controller, which is capable of attenuating exogenous disturbance inputs in the presence of uncertainties in the quantum plant, via an  $H^{\infty}$  control approach as described in [70,73] (see Chapter 7 and Chapter 8).

To apply the coherent quantum feedback control strategy, physical realizability of the quantum controller is an important concern. This is because the quantum controller is required to exhibit meaningful dynamics at all times according to the principles of quantum mechanics. Thus, the representation of the quantum controller cannot be arbitrary and is not as flexible as that of a classical controller, but has to satisfy physical realizability conditions; e.g., see [70,72,73]. Recently, the results in [74–76] provide a systematic method to physically construct a linear quantum controller using serial connections of optical devices such as optical cavities, optical amplifiers, optical squeezers, beam splitters and phase shifters. To apply the method in [74], the quantum controller should be represented by linear quantum stochastic differential equations (QSDEs), which is decomposed into real and complex quadratures as considered in [70,72]. This implies that the linear QSDEs of the quantum controller will have real coefficients and the order of the quantum controller will be twice that of the quantum plant.

Another approach is given by [77] to physically construct a linear quantum controller using only passive optical elements such as optical cavities, beam splitters and phase shifters. The parameters of such a quantum controller can be synthesized using the method in [73]. Even though the method in [77] is simpler than that in [74], the former is only applicable to a particular class of quantum systems represented by linear QSDEs with complex coefficients and in terms only of annihilation operators; see [73]. Further generalization of the physical realizability conditions in [73] is given by [78], which provides necessary and sufficient conditions for the physical realizability of the linear complex QSDEs written in terms of annihilation and creation operators. These conditions can be related to those in [70] via unitary transformation.

### **1.2** Evolutionary Method

In this section, we briefly describe the circumstances which lead to the emergence of evolutionary methods as numerical problem solvers. We then discuss general properties of evolutionary algorithms and particular applications of evolutionary methods in feedback control systems for both classical and quantum dynamical systems. Moreover, we also explain our motivation for applying an evolutionary approach in our research.

### 1.2.1 Background

There has been a long history of numerical method development in order to solve various real-world optimization problems found in, for example, the economy, the environment, transportation, communications and manufacturing industry. As scientific knowledge progresses, we become more able to improve existing methods and to create new computational tool in software and hardware. This increases our opportunity to obtain better solutions with more efficient methods. Also, the introduction of more powerful computers continuously speeds up and increases our capacity for problem solving using optimization methods; e.g., see [79].

Alongside this advancement, real-world optimization problems have escalated in scale and complexity during the last century. This undoubtedly lifts the demand on experts to deliver problem solvers (algorithms) with more reliable, efficient and versatile features. The primary goal is to obtain a good quality solution within a reasonable time frame so as to achieve optimality for the problem being considered. Moreover, parallelism also becomes a rising trend in both the problem and methodology domains. Ultimately, these scenarios pose immense challenges to mathematicians, computer scientists and engineers to yield high performing optimization algorithms; e.g., see [79, 80].

We are hardly able to keep up with the rapid growth in the need for sound problem-specific optimization algorithms because of the time it takes to conduct comprehensive studies; e.g., see [79]. Despite these limitations, a promising breakthrough was offered by the so-called evolutionary algorithm (EA) when its first prototypes appeared in the late 1950s; e.g., see [81,82]. This algorithm is commonly referred to as a numerical algorithm inspired by the notions of survival of the fittest and genetic evolution in biological science; e.g., see [79,80,83–85].

Historically, there were four main streams in the course of early EA development, namely evolutionary programming (EP; see [86]), evolution strategies (ES; see [87,88]), genetic algorithms (GA; see [89,90]) and genetic programming (GP; see [91]). A more complete overview of early EA history can be found in e.g., see [85,92] and the references therein. Despite the differences among these EAs, they have common operators, namely mutation, recombination and selection, which then become the basic ingredients of other variants of EA developed later; e.g., see [79]. These EA operators are usually governed by certain stochastic processes. Thus, EA can be classified as a stochastic search method as shown in Figure 1.3. In addition to those operators, EA also needs a routine to evaluate the fitness of all candidate solutions to a problem under consideration. The outcome of this routine is fitness information associated with each candidate solution and is then exploited by the EA operators to perform their tasks.



Figure 1.3: Search method classification; see [3].

### **1.2.2** EA properties

EA becomes attractive because of its favorable features, which may be absent from many analytical and conventional numerical optimization solvers; e.g., see [79, 80, 84, 85, 93]. In the following, we list some of advantageous EA properties:

- 1. EA accommodates many different types of data structure such as binary, integer, real, symbolic or finite state values. This gives EA a large degree of versatility and flexibility as a solver for various classes of optimization problems.
- 2. EA works with a population of individuals, which serve as potential candidate solutions to a given problem. These individuals are generated randomly and spread over a search space defined by boundary constraints on the decision variables. This feature liberates EA from dependency on suitable initial points to start its evolution and also enables EA to cope with a large and discontinuous search space. Moreover, operating on a population, EA is then able to provide a set of feasible solutions in one run and is compatible with parallel computing because each individual can be assessed independently.
- 3. EA is equipped with variation operators: mutation and recombination, which maintain population diversity at a high level. This makes EA much less susceptible to stagnation and premature convergence, especially when EA is used to solve nonconvex problems. Moreover, EA also brings about

competition among candidate solutions, which is triggered by a selection operator based on the fitness information of each individual in the population. In the selection process, EA is allowed to capitalize on low fitness and/or infeasible individuals to guide an evolutionary search toward a desired global solution. This is also useful to increase population diversity, especially at an early stage evolution.

4. EA yields Pareto-optimal solutions when it is used to handle constrained multi-objective problems where there may be conflicting objectives. Moreover, EA can also be implemented together with other numerical methods in order to enhance the performance of both sides as we can exploit good properties of all parties. This will result in a hybrid EA.

In spite of the useful EA characteristics, it is wise not to take them for granted when implementing EA. There are indeed some technical issues to which users should pay attention because they may greatly affect EA behavior. Among other things, these issues concern population diversity, constraint handling and parameter setting, which are left for discussion in Chapter 2. Furthermore, EA usually takes a long computational time to accomplish a whole evolution cycle. This is due to its stochastic evolutionary nature and the fact that all individuals in the population have to undergo fitness evaluation in each cycle. In particular, this concern is critical if EA is applied to real-time applications with fast dynamics. An alternative way to speed up the computation process is by applying parallel computing to which EA is adaptable; e.g., see [85,94].

### **1.2.3** Existing EA-based control applications

In the literature, we can find a multitude of EA applications in different fields, including engineering; e.g., see [95–99]. In particular, automatic control engineering has benefited from EA development in the areas of single- and multi-objective optimization; e.g., see [94, 100–103]. Here, we mention some controller synthesis and analysis algorithms based on evolutionary methods as follows:

- Linear control such as PID, LQG and  $H^{\infty}$  control: e.g., see [104–115];
- Nonlinear control such as Lyapunov's direct method, sliding mode, nonlinear dynamic inversion and nonlinear PD control: e.g., see [116–123];

- Stochastic control such as Monte Carlo probabilistic and stochastic traffic control: e.g., see [124–128];
- Adaptive control: e.g., see [129–131];
- Evolutionary control: e.g., see [132–135];
- Quantum control: e.g., see [136–139]

All of these control system algorithms are mainly constructed using ES, GA and GP, which are part of the four major classes of EAs. The pervasive success of EAs in control applications give further confirmation that EAs are reliable and effective in dealing with difficult engineering problems. This obviously becomes an impetus to enhance existing EAs and to find new evolutionary methods with better performance and efficiency. As a result, one of the recent EAs to appear is the differential evolution (DE) algorithm, which was initially designed to solve real-valued problems; e.g., see [4, 140].

Since its first appearance, DE has drawn a lot of attention from EA experts and users because it tends to outperform many preceding EAs. Hence, the DE algorithm immediately became popular as it is also relatively simple and easy to implement. When applied to continuous space optimization problems, DE is a formidable competitor for ES and GA; e.g., see [4]. However, this is not to suggest that DE is the most superior EA for any kind of problem (e.g., see [141]) because, according to *no free lunch* theorem, such an EA simply does not exist; see [142]. A more detail discussion about DE and its components is presented in Chapter 2.

Recently, DE has also been applied to various types of linear and nonlinear control applications for both classical and quantum dynamical systems; e.g., see [143–151]. It is demonstrated in those references that the DE approach is relatively more successful and efficient as compared to other EAs when searching for an optimal real-valued solution. This fact indeed confirms previous empirical studies about the performance of the DE algorithm in comparison with other EAs; e.g., see [4]. Considering the capability of the DE algorithm, we are confident to apply this algorithm to solve optimization problems arising in our research to develop new methods for synthesizing robust feedback controllers.

### **1.2.4** EA-based robust control methods

We wish to clarify our motivation to develop EA-based algorithms for constructing robust feedback control systems. We begin with specifying the classes of control problems being considered. In our research, we consider both classical (Chapter 3 – Chapter 5) and quantum (Chapter 6 – Chapter 8) dynamical systems. We assume that each dynamical system has structured uncertainties, except the quantum system in Chapter 6.

We refer to the robust  $H^{\infty}$  control methods presented in [2] to synthesize non-decentralized and decentralized robust  $H^{\infty}$  controllers for classical uncertain systems in Chapter 3 – Chapter 5. Using these controllers, we aim to absolutely stabilize the closed loop uncertain system with a specified disturbance attenuation level. In the controller synthesis algorithms, we assign a scaling constant to each structured uncertainty in the uncertain system so that the constrained robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problems can be transformed into the unconstrained standard  $H^{\infty}$ control problems. These formulations then lead to solutions, which are given in terms of stabilizing solutions to algebraic Riccati equations parameterized by the scaling constants.

In Chapter 6, we deal with a class of quantum systems with real coefficient QSDEs as considered in [70,72]. In this case, we are concerned with stabilizing a closed loop quantum system with a physically realizable linear quantum controller. The physical realizability condition for the quantum controller is then represented by a complex algebraic Riccati equation. We also allow particular control objectives to be incorporated in the quantum controller design algorithm in addition to the closed loop stability and physically realizability requirements.

Meanwhile, in Chapter 7 and Chapter 8, we are concerned with a class of uncertain quantum systems with complex coefficient QSDEs as considered in [73]. Here, we aim to synthesize non-decentralized and decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$ controllers, which robustly stabilize the closed loop uncertain quantum systems with a specified disturbance attenuation level. Here, the idea of introducing scaling constants to the structured uncertainties is also applied when designing the quantum controllers. This approach allows us to apply the results in [73] to obtain solutions to the given quantum control problems. The quantum controllers are then constructed in terms of stabilizing solutions to complex algebraic Riccati equations parameterized by the scaling constants. Also, we require the resulting quantum controllers to be physically realizable.

In order to solve the controller design problems presented in Chapter 3 – Chapter 8, we consider them as nonconvex nonlinear constrained optimization problems. From a numerical computation perspective, it is difficult to obtain optimal solutions for such problems due to the functional nonsmoothness inherently arising in our control problems. This issue has been discussed in e.g., [152–154] with an observation that regular linear matrix inequality (LMI) and algebraic Riccati equation techniques are often inapplicable to solve these problems. For some cases, there have been numerical algorithms proposed by [72, 155-157] to solve this type of controller design problems based on a rank constrained LMI approach given in [158]. However, those algorithms tend to result in complicated formulations and strongly depend on a suitable initial point in order to be effective. Furthermore, it has also been shown in [153, 159] that numerous conventional optimization methods based on, for example, quadratic programming (e.g., see [160]), augmented Lagrangian (e.g., see [161, 162]), gradient sampling (e.g., see [163]) and bilinear matrix inequality (e.g., see [164, 165]) techniques often encounter numerical difficulties or even fail when used to handle particular nonconvex  $H^{\infty}$  synthesis problems.

In fact, when dealing with a nonconvex problem, a feasible initial point is often difficult to obtain prior to numerical iteration. This is because we have very little information about a numerical environment where the optimization takes place. Unfortunately, there is no reliable systematic method to find such an initial point that can efficiently direct an iteration process toward an optimal solution. Also, in the approaches mentioned above, we can only evaluate one point as a potential candidate solution in one iteration cycle. If the given point is infeasible, it is immediately discarded and the iteration process is terminated. A new initial point is then required to begin new iteration cycles. Even if a feasible solution is found, premature convergence is likely to happen. In other words, it is very unlikely to escape from a local optimum because the iteration process only relies on information from the current search path. Hence, those approaches tend to have low success rates and often lead to unsatisfactory solutions if they are applied to solve difficult nonconvex problems.

Based on this observation, we are motivated to find another approach, which allow us to solve the controller design problems above with less dependence on a particular initial point and in a more straightforward manner. Having these concerns and considering the properties of EA discussed in sub-Section 1.2.2, we then propose to apply an evolutionary optimization approach to design feedback control systems as described in Chapter 3 – Chapter 8. In particular, we opt to use the DE algorithm, that is drift-free DE/rand/1/either - or (see Chapter 2), as it is simple and reliable in solving constrained optimization problems with real-valued decision variables. Note that our approach can also be applied to other related previous works in [2, 6, 8, 70, 73, 166] for which computational algorithms have yet to be provided.

## 1.3 Thesis Organization

We now outline the organization of this thesis. In Chapter 2, we briefly discuss general structure and technical issues associated with an EA and basic elements of the DE algorithm. As mentioned previously, robust  $H^{\infty}$  controller synthesis algorithms for classical uncertain systems are presented in Chapter 3 – Chapter 5. In Chapter 6, we discuss the construction of a physically realizable quantum controller for a quantum system represented in terms of real and complex quadratures. Then, in Chapter 7 and Chapter 8, we introduce algorithms for designing physically realizable robust quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controllers for linear complex uncertain quantum systems. Conclusions and potential future work are given in Chapter 9. Moreover, to emphasize the significance of our main results, we describe the background, main ideas and contributions from Chapter 3 to Chapter 8 in the following sub-sections.

### **1.3.1** Chapter 3: Nonlinear robust $H^{\infty}$ control

An unstable controller is not desirable in many applications because it is sensitive to actuator and sensor failures and to plant uncertainties and nonlinearities. It may also lead to implementation problems and impair the closed loop system performance in tracking reference signals and rejecting disturbances; e.g., see [167–169]. These concerns have motivated many control system experts to develop algorithms for constructing stable controllers. Such a control problem is usually referred to as a strong stabilization problem. Here, we mention some relevant previous results which address this particular control problem. In the literature, there have been characterizations of strong stabilizability for both single-input single-output (SISO) and multipleinput multiple-output (MIMO) systems based on, for example, a parity interlacing property (e.g., see [170,171]) and a notion of stable range (e.g., see [172,173]). Also, the inclusion of a strong stabilization requirement into the  $H^{\infty}$  control framework has led to various parameterization techniques; e.g., see [167–169,174– 177]. However, they deal only with linear control problems and do not consider robustness issues in controller design.

There is a similar interest in the use of a stable nonlinear controller for robust stabilization of nonlinear uncertain systems. Although many nonlinear controller synthesis methods are available in the literature such as [178–181], they do not necessarily lead to a stable nonlinear controller. This fact has motivated us to propose a new approach to solve a nonlinear robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problem via a stable nonlinear output feedback controller. A related discrete-time approach can be found in [182] for the finite-time horizon case without a controller stability requirement. Also, a method to construct a stable linear robust  $H^{\infty}$  output feedback controller has been presented in [7], but it requires that any known nonlinearity in the system be treated as an uncertainty. In contrast to the latter approach, we do not directly consider the known nonlinearity as an uncertainty in order to obtain a stable nonlinear controller, which can provide better disturbance attenuation performance; e.g., see [6].

In Chapter 3, we consider a class of nonlinear uncertain systems where admissible uncertainties and nonlinearities are described by integral quadratic constraints (IQCs) and global Lipschitz conditions (GLCs), respectively. A system of this type has also been considered in [6] for a guaranteed cost control problem, but without a controller stability requirement. There are two main ideas underlying our approach to synthesize a stable nonlinear controller for this system. Firstly, we modify a standard IQC approach to robust  $H^{\infty}$  control by adding a copy of each known plant nonlinearity to the controller so that it is able to exploit the nonlinearity. This technique has also been used in the designs of linear parameter varying controllers (e.g., see [183]), fault detection systems (e.g., see [184]), nonlinear observers (e.g., see [185]) and nonlinear observer-based controllers (e.g., see [186]). Secondly, all known nonlinearities and their copies are
combined into the plant and characterized by extra IQCs derived from the GLCs. Thus, we can apply the method in [187] to achieve an absolutely stable closed loop system with a specified disturbance attenuation level.

In order to guarantee controller stability, we first solve a state feedback control problem and then introduce an additional uncertainty to form an artificial uncertain system. For a certain value of the additional uncertainty, the artificial uncertain system reduces to the original uncertain system. If a suitable controller for the artificial uncertain system exists, then the same controller also solves the absolute stabilization problem with a specified disturbance attenuation level for the original uncertain system. Moreover, for another value of the additional uncertainty, the artificial uncertain system reduces to a specific open loop system such that any suitable controller must be stable. This approach, therefore, provides only sufficient conditions and gives rise to conservatism to some extent due to the additional uncertainty; e.g., see [7].

Our algorithm to construct the stable nonlinear controller involves stabilizing solutions to algebraic Riccati equations parameterized by scaling constants corresponding to all IQCs. With this formulation, we introduce nonconvex nonlinear constraints to the nonlinear  $H^{\infty}$  controller synthesis problem. To find a solution to this problem, we may apply the rank constrained LMI method, which was also used in [157] to construct a stable linear  $H^{\infty}$  controller. However, this approach tends to be complicated and adds more constraints to the original controller design algorithm, which makes the problem even harder to solve. Thus, to obtain a more straightforward solution and to avoid unnecessary complication, we transform this problem into a constrained nonlinear optimization problem and then solve it using an evolutionary optimization method, namely the DE algorithm as given in Chapter 2.

# **1.3.2** Chapter 4: Decentralized state feedback robust $H^{\infty}$ control

In real-world control applications, one of the great challenges is how to control a large-scale system efficiently. The large-scale system may have a particular structure and limited communications between subsystems so that it is not always possible to share complete information with the entire control system. This imposes constraints on the controller structure in order to accomplish a control task with a prescribed performance level; e.g., see [188]. A reasonable approach to cope with this situation is to apply a decentralized robust control strategy, which allows us to obtain a control system with reduced complexity. This approach is advantageous from a computation and implementation perspectives. Nevertheless, we should also beware that a simple architecture usually leads to a loss of performance because it relies only on limited (or even inaccurate) information; see [189]. Another important aspect of these problems is to consider how easy it is to implement a decentralized control system; e.g., see [190]. All of these concerns make the problem of designing a decentralized robust controller for a large-scale system an interesting research area.

It is very common to view a large-scale system as consisting of interconnected subsystems and that their interactions are sometimes uncertain. Thus, in many previous results (e.g., see [191–193]), the interconnections between subsystems are considered as sources of uncertainties in addition to uncertainties in each subsystem. Naturally, the main goal is to design a decentralized robust controller that is also capable of alleviating interconnection effects when attaining a prescribed performance level. To achieve this goal, one can take an approach that either ignores or takes into account the interconnections in the controller design; e.g., see [194–196]. In both paradigms, the interconnections are seen as the parties which contribute to the performance degradation of the overall system. A contrasting viewpoint to the previous one is that the interconnection structure may have a positive contribution to the decentralized control system, especially when the number of decentralized controllers is less than the number of subsystems; e.g., see [197].

As the main contribution of Chapter 4, we present a new method for designing a decentralized state feedback robust  $H^{\infty}$  controller, which can exploit the interconnections between subsystems. Here, we assume that the interconnections are fully (or partially) known and hence, we do not treat them as uncertainties. Instead, we neglect off-diagonal blocks in a full state feedback gain matrix and consider them as uncertainties; e.g., see [198]. This approach yields a blockdiagonal state feedback control law, which is also robust against perturbations in the controller itself. Thus, this idea is also related to non-fragile controller design methods; e.g., see [199–201].

Here, we are concerned with a class of large-scale linear uncertain systems in

which the uncertainties are described by IQCs. This uncertainty description is more general than those in e.g., [202–206]. Thus, we wish to construct a decentralized state feedback robust  $H^{\infty}$  controller that is capable of absolutely stabilizing the closed loop system while achieving a certain disturbance attenuation level. This idea is based on the results in [187] and therefore, the resulting controller design algorithm involves solving an algebraic Riccati equation parameterized by scaling constants. A stabilizing solution to the Riccati equation is then used to construct the decentralized state feedback controller.

The scaling constants are associated with the system uncertainties and norm bounds on the size of the neglected off-diagonal blocks of the controller gain matrix as in [156, 198] for a guaranteed cost control problem. This formulation leads to a nonconvex nonlinear optimization problem, which is often difficult to solve using regular optimization methods. In the approach of [156], a nonconvex optimization problem also arose and was solved using a rank constrained LMI method; see [158]. However, in Chapter 4, we are solving an  $H^{\infty}$  control problem rather than a guaranteed cost control problem and it turns out that the rank constrained LMI approach can no longer be easily applied. Moreover, we may reformulate this optimization problem in terms of bilinear matrix inequality (BMI), which can be solved using an algorithm based on, for example, homotopy methods (e.g., see [207]), cross decomposition (e.g., see, [208]), a separation procedure (e.g., see [209]) and cone complementarity linearization (e.g., see [160, 210]). However, like the rank constrained LMI algorithm, the success of the BMI approach is dependent on feasible initial parameters, which is usually unknown beforehand, to determine a suitable path toward a desired optimal solution. Considering these facts, we thus employ an evolutionary optimization approach, namely the DE algorithm (see Chapter 2), to find an optimal solution to the decentralized controller synthesis problem. In doing so, we need to satisfy nonconvex nonlinear constraints related to the parameterized Riccati equation.

## **1.3.3** Chapter 5: Decentralized nonlinear robust $H^{\infty}$ control

There have been a great variety of algorithms proposed to synthesize decentralized robust control systems, which provide sufficient margins of stability and performance robustness for a large-scale dynamical system. The strategy used in each of these algorithms is very much dependent on the information structure available for feedback, the control objective and also perturbations in the system model. These conditions have led to either a linear or a nonlinear decentralized controller design algorithm, which is only suitable to solve a robust control problem for a particular class of large-scale system. Thus, to confine the scope of our discussion, we only focus on a decentralized nonlinear robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problem for a large-scale nonlinear uncertain system where admissible uncertainties and nonlinearities satisfy IQCs and GLCs, respectively; e.g., see [6]. This particular interest originates from what we have done in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4.

A brief survey about some relevant previous research on the topic of decentralized control for large-scale nonlinear uncertain systems is given as follows. Both nonlinear state feedback and output feedback decentralized controllers can be constructed by applying methods such as Lyapunov-based nonlinear control (e.g., see [211, 212]), nonlinear adaptive control (e.g., see [213–215]), nonlinear  $H^{\infty}$  ( $L_2$ -gain) control (e.g., see [216,217]), observer-based nonlinear control (e.g., see [218–223]) and sliding mode control (e.g., see [224]). Apart from these nonlinear control techniques, there is also interest in applying linear feedback control to large-scale dynamical systems where the nonlinearities appear only in the interconnections. This latter approach can be applied using methods such as feedback domination with a growth condition (e.g., see [225, 226]), a Luenberger observer-controller synthesized using solutions to algebraic Riccati equations (e.g., see [227]) and LMIs (e.g., see [228,229]), and linear dynamic controllers (e.g., see [230]).

In those references, interconnections between subsystems are mainly considered as uncertainties and assumed to induce performance degradation of the large-scale system. This paradigm leads to a decentralized controller, which is capable of mitigating interconnection effects while achieving a prescribed control objective. This approach is suitable for decentralized control problems with unknown interconnections. Moreover, the stability of the decentralized dynamic controller does not appear in the discussions of the references above and hence, is not taken into account in the proposed controller design algorithms. This indicates that the issue of the controller stability have been less important in the decentralized nonlinear control literature. However, strong stabilization has been considered in some decentralized linear control problems; e.g., see [166, 231, 232]. These observations then inspire us to look at decentralized nonlinear control problems from a different perspective. In this case, we believe that the interconnections can be exploited for control purposes if we have sufficient knowledge of how the subsystems are interconnected. This is beneficial whenever we can only assign direct feedback control action to a limited number of subsystems. Adopting this idea in our approach, we thus do not consider the interconnections as uncertainties, but rather as useful information to facilitate robust stabilization with a certain performance level for the large-scale system (see Chapter 4). In addition, we also include the requirement in Chapter 3 that the decentralized nonlinear controllers must be stable.

Therefore, as the main contribution of Chapter 5, we present a new method to solve a robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problem for a large-scale nonlinear uncertain system using a stable decentralized nonlinear output feedback controller. In this method, the discrepancies between non-decentralized and decentralized controllers constitute a set of nonlinear error systems, which are required to be absolutely stable and considered as additional uncertainties; e.g., see [166]. Moreover, to guarantee the stability of the decentralized controllers, we first solve a state feedback  $H^{\infty}$  control problem and then introduce another additional uncertainty to form an artificial uncertain system. The latter system is used to synthesize an artificial stable output feedback controller with which we construct the decentralized nonlinear controllers. This approach, however, inherently gives rise to some conservatism; e.g., see [7].

A solution to the decentralized nonlinear control problem is given in terms of stabilizing solutions to algebraic Riccati equations, which are parameterized by scaling constants corresponding to all of the uncertainties involved. This brings nonconvexity into play when solving this problem. Thus, a numerical algorithm used to compute the solution has to cope with the nonconvex nonlinear constraints emerging in the proposed method. This motivates us to apply the DE algorithm in Chapter 2 to find an optimal solution to a constrained nonlinear optimization problem arising in our control problem.

## 1.3.4 Chapter 6: Coherent control of linear quantum systems

In Chapter 6, we are interested in developing a computational method to synthesize a linear coherent quantum feedback controller for a class of linear quantum systems represented in terms of QSDEs with real coefficients; see [70, 72]. The quantum controller has the same structure as a coherent quantum LQG controller in [72] and is required to satisfy the algebraic physical realizability condition given in [72]. Apparently, the coherent quantum control problem with such a constraint is nonconvex. Solving this problem numerically is a challenging task because its solution is often difficult to obtain using conventional optimization methods.

The authors of [72] propose to use a rank constrained LMI approach (see [158]) to synthesize a physically realizable coherent quantum LQG controller. This approach, however, is applied only to solve a relaxed feasibility version of the original quantum control problem. Therefore, the original quantum control problem, which is a nonconvex nonlinear optimization problem, remains to be solved. Moreover, the success of the rank constrained LMI method is strongly dependent on a suitable initial point, which is usually unknown, to begin a numerical iteration. In addition, when dealing with higher order quantum systems, the approach of [72] will lead to excessively complicated rank constrained LMI problems.

These concerns have motivated us to develop a more straightforward algorithm to solve the linear coherent quantum control problem reliably. Thus, as the main contribution of Chapter 6, we propose to use the DE algorithm described in Chapter 2, under which the given quantum control problem is reformulated as a constrained nonlinear optimization problem. In particular, the physically realizable condition is transformed into a complex algebraic Riccati equation, which serves as one of equality constraints. This optimization approach provides us a framework to solve various linear quantum control problems, which include the coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  and LQG control as presented in [70, 72]. Thus, we are quite flexible to determine a particular objective function to optimize and the constraints involved.

To demonstrate our DE-based approach, we carry out a case study involving entanglement enhancement for a quantum optical network using a coherent quantum controller. The quantum network consists of two optical parametric amplifiers (OPAs), which are directly interconnected through an optical field and driven by quantum noise. An initial entanglement of this network is then enhanced by applying a coherent quantum controller in place of the optical field interconnecting the two OPAs. This case study is motivated by the results in [233] where the authors successfully increase and preserve the entanglement level of a quantum optical network using both a homodyne detector and a classical feedback control gain. Also, we note the significance of entanglement as a unique physical phenomenon in quantum mechanics, which becomes a fundamental resource required in quantum information processing.

Although the notion of quantum entanglement seems to be less than fully comprehended, it is true that entanglement is useful to increase speed and security of some applications in, for example, quantum cryptography, quantum computation, quantum teleportation and quantum communication; e.g., see [25,234,235]. However, entanglement is susceptible to decoherence because of inevitable interaction between a quantum network and its environment. It is indeed a challenging problem to prevent entanglement from decaying or disappearing so that we can exploit entanglement for application purposes; e.g., see [236,237]. This has given rise to the emergence of various control techniques to generate, preserve and restore entanglement within a quantum network; e.g., see [61,233,238–244].

There are many ways to measure the entanglement level depending on properties of the quantum states; e.g., see [245, 246]. In our case, we have Gaussian quantum states, and thus, the entanglement level can be measured in terms of the logarithmic negativity as a function of the covariance matrix of the quantum network; e.g., see [233, 247–249]. The covariance matrix can be obtained as a solution of a Lyapunov equation associated with the quantum network. Then, applying our DE-based algorithm to synthesize the coherent quantum controller, we can consider the logarithmic negativity as an objective function to maximize while satisfying an entanglement criterion. This in turn leads to a physically realizable quantum controller, which is capable of stabilizing the quantum network with an enhanced entanglement level. It should also be noted that the logarithmic negativity is a nonconvex functional; see [250].

#### **1.3.5** Chapter 7: Coherent quantum robust $H^{\infty}$ control

In practice, it is often assumed that a quantum system is subject to perturbations generated by noises, exogenous disturbances and uncertainties (e.g., model mismatch and unknown dynamics). This situation imposes an essential task on a quantum feedback controller to maintain sufficient margins of stability and performance of the closed loop system in the presence of those perturbations. Thus, as in the classical control theory, robustness against perturbations also becomes a central issue in quantum control studies; e.g., see [64, 70, 251–255]. Taking perturbations into account, we then represent them explicitly in a mathematical model of the quantum system being controlled.

In Chapter 7, we consider coherent quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  control for a class of linear complex quantum stochastic systems with norm-bounded structured uncertainties. The dynamics of an uncertain quantum system in this class is determined only by annihilation operators and described in terms of QSDEs with complex coefficients; e.g., see [33,73]. The aim of applying coherent quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$ control strategy is to achieve a strict bounded real closed loop uncertain quantum system with a specified disturbance attenuation level. It is certainly possible to solve this quantum control problem based on the quantum  $H^{\infty}$  control methods presented in [70,73] by lumping all uncertainties in the quantum system into a single unstructured uncertainty. However, these methods may result in a conservative quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller, which is not always stable and strict bounded real. Hence, the quantum controller may not be physically realizable.

As the main contribution of Chapter 7, we thus propose a new method to construct a stable and strict bounded real coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller, which is guaranteed to be physically realizable. The coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller is of the same order as that of the plant. The underlying main idea of our approach is to introduce an additional uncertainty to form an artificial uncertain quantum system, based on which the desired quantum controller is designed. This idea is taken from the classical control approach in [8]. The additional uncertainty has specific properties that for one particular uncertainty value, the artificial uncertain quantum system reduces to the original uncertain quantum system and thus, any suitable coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller will also lead to the satisfaction of the  $H^{\infty}$  control objective for the original uncertain quantum system. Also, for another uncertainty value, the artificial uncertain quantum system reduces to a particular open loop configuration such that the coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller must be stable and strict bounded real, and hence, is physically realizable. Thus, we only provide sufficient conditions to construct such a coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller. Also, it should be noted that the inclusion of the additional uncertainty will introduce some extra conservatism in the quantum controller design process.

To reduce controller conservatism, we introduce scaling parameters to exploit the structure of the uncertainties. Along with the formulation in [73], this approach leads to a solution to the quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problem, which is given in terms of stabilizing solutions to parameterized complex algebraic Riccati equations. This implies that we have to deal with nonconvex nonlinear constraints, which are difficult to satisfy when solving the given quantum control problem using conventional optimization methods. Thus, we apply the DE algorithm in Chapter 2, which is a reliable way to find an optimal solution to a difficult nonconvex optimization problem.

The class of quantum systems under consideration includes quantum optical systems with purely passive optical elements such as optical cavities, beamsplitters and phase-shifters; e.g., see [73]. Thus, to demonstrate the efficacy of our DE-based algorithm, we consider an example of stabilizing a quantum optical system using a quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller, which cannot be solved using the method in [73]. We also show that the resulting quantum controller can be physically constructed using an algorithm in [77] as a cascade of n generalized m-mirror cavities using the passive optical components.

# **1.3.6** Chapter 8: Decentralized coherent quantum robust $H^{\infty}$ control

Given the current progress of quantum technology development, we would expect large-scale quantum systems in future applications of quantum information and computation; e.g., see [23,234,256]. When a quantum system is of high dimension and complexity, applying a non-decentralized coherent quantum controller may not be feasible due to the high cost of computation and implementation. These issues have also been considered in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5 for the classical decentralized control system. Meanwhile, rigorous investigation on how to control large-scale quantum systems in a decentralized manner is still in its infancy. This situation provides us an opportunity to develop new methods to design a decentralized coherent quantum control system.

In Chapter 8, we consider decentralized coherent quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  control

for a class of large-scale linear complex quantum stochastic systems with normbounded structured uncertainties. The dynamics of a quantum system in this class is determined only by annihilation operators and represented in terms of QSDEs with complex coefficients as in Chapter 7. Moreover, the  $H^{\infty}$  control objective is to obtain a closed loop uncertain quantum system, which is strict bounded real with a specified disturbance attenuation level.

The underlying main idea to synthesize the decentralized quantum controller is similar to that in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5. In this case, we view a largescale quantum system as consisting of interconnected quantum subsystems. We then assume that interconnections between quantum subsystems are known and hence, they are not treated as sources of uncertainties. Instead, we neglect the off-diagonal parts of the transfer function matrix of a non-decentralized quantum controller and consider them as additional uncertainties to the quantum plant; e.g., see [166]. This implies that the non-decentralized quantum controller has to be stable. Moreover, this approach also allows the decentralized quantum controller to exploit the interconnections, which is very useful when the number of controllers is less than that of the subsystems; e.g., see [197].

We then propose two systematic methods to synthesize decentralized quantum controllers. A direct extension of the results in [73] lead to the first method, but it does not immediately yield a physically realizable decentralized quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  controller. Therefore, we must check the physical realizability of the controller before it can be implemented. We are indeed able to guarantee the decentralized quantum controller to be physically realizable by applying the results in Chapter 7. This approach then gives rise to the second method and hence, yields a stable and strict bounded real decentralized quantum controller. However, the use of additional artificial uncertainty in the second method introduces some extra conservatism to the controller design process. Also, we need more constraints to ensure that the physical realizability condition is satisfied.

In both methods, we apply scaling constants to exploit the structure of the uncertainties involved in the quantum system in order to reduce conservatism of the resulting controller. Thus, solutions to the decentralized quantum control problem are given in terms of stabilizing solutions to parameterized complex algebraic Riccati equations. This formulation leads to nonconvex nonlinear constraints, which are difficult to satisfy when we solve the given control problem. We then employ the DE algorithm in Chapter 2 to compute all scaling parameters necessary for constructing the decentralized quantum controllers.

To demonstrate the DE-based controller design algorithms, we consider an example of a quantum optical network for each method. We also show that for a particular network, the first method fails to yield a physically realizable decentralized quantum controller, whereas the second method succeeds in doing so. Moreover, using an algorithm in [77], the resulting decentralized quantum controller can be physically constructed as a cascade of n generalized m-mirror cavities using passive optical components such as optical cavities, beam-splitters and phase-shifters.

# Chapter 2

# **Differential Evolution**

In this chapter, we present a brief description of the notion of evolutionary algorithms together with some important technical issues. We then provide a short discussion about a particular class of evolutionary algorithm, namely the differential evolution algorithm. The latter is applied to solve various controller design problems for both classical and quantum dynamical systems in subsequent chapters. Moreover, along with the characterization of principal operators of the differential evolution algorithm, we also touch on the issues of constraint handling and parameter setting.

## 2.1 Evolutionary Algorithm

The evolutionary algorithm (EA) operates on a population of candidate solutions, which is generated randomly according to a certain probability distribution function. Thus, the EA is considered as a population-based stochastic numerical solver. An initial population with sufficient diversity is necessary to begin a numerical evolution because it affects the success of the EA in returning a desirable solution. In general, a candidate solution consists of decision variables, which can be represented in various data formats such as a binary string, a real-valued vector, a symbolic expression, a finite state machine and a tree structure; e.g., see [79,80]. In some cases, it may also be a mixture of these possibilities; e.g., see [85,257]. It should be noted, however, that not all representations are suitable for a particular EA.

Given a population of candidate solutions, it is natural that they may not fit

#### Algorithm 2.1 Evolutionary Algorithm

- 1: Initialization: randomly generate an initial population
- 2: Fitness evaluation
- 3: while Termination criterion is not satisfied do
- 4: Parent selection
- 5: Recombination
- 6: Mutation
- 7: Fitness evaluation
- 8: Select the next generation candidate solutions
- 9: end while
- 10: Return

equally into the numerical environment defined by the constraints and/or objective function involved. An EA then requires an appropriate fitness assessment as a routine to rate the quality of each candidate solution and as a link to a problem under consideration. The fitness information is very important as it will affect the quality of the new population formed through evolution and selection processes. The higher the fitness of a candidate solution is, the more probable it is chosen to propagate its genetic codes (parameter values) to the next generation.

A new candidate solution (offspring) is produced by recombining two or more candidate solutions (parents) chosen from the current population. There are many ways to choose the parents randomly such as fitness proportional selection, ranking selection, tournament selection and stochastic universal sampling; e.g., see [79]. Due to the random selection, it is then possible that one of the parents has a poor fitness. However, this is beneficial in the early stage evolution as it keeps the population diversity high so as to avoid premature convergence. Also, an offspring may undergo mutation where its genetic codes are perturbed randomly. Both recombination and mutation follow particular probability distribution functions. Having recombined and mutated the population, we also need to assess the fitness of its members. It is logical to expect that the offspring will have a better fitness rate as compared to their parents. Thus, recombination and mutation is usually referred to as an adaptation process to match with the environment; e.g., see [79]. Now, on the basis of their fitness quality, all members in the parent population have to compete with those in the offspring population in order to survive and be selected as members of a new population. The evolution processes are repeated until a termination criterion is satisfied. A general pseudocode of EA is illustrated in Algorithm 2.1; e.g., see [79, 258, 259].

#### 2.1.1 Evolutionary algorithm and optimization

One of the most popular EA applications is to solve an optimization problem with constraints; e.g., see [258, 260–262]. In general, this problem can be formulated as follows (e.g., see [19, 263, 264]): Find an optimal solution  $\vartheta^*$  to solve

$$\min_{\vartheta} \mathsf{f}(\vartheta) \tag{2.1}$$

subject to

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{j}}(\vartheta) &= 0, \quad \text{for } \mathbf{j} = 1, 2, \dots, \mathbf{a}; \\ \mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{k}}(\vartheta) &\leq 0, \quad \text{for } \mathbf{k} = 1, 2, \dots, \mathbf{b} \end{split} \tag{2.2}$$

where  $\vartheta \in \mathbf{C}^n$ ;  $\mathbf{f} : \mathbf{C}^n \to \mathbf{R}$  is an objective function to be minimized;  $\mathbf{g}_j : \mathbf{C}^n \to \mathbf{C}^{p \times q}$  is an equality constraint function; and  $\mathbf{h}_k : \mathbf{C}^n \to \mathbf{C}^{r \times s}$  is an inequality constraint function. Here,  $\mathbf{a}$  and  $\mathbf{b}$  are the total number of equality and inequality constraints, respectively. In practice, the optimization problem (2.1), (2.2) does not always have nice properties from a numerical perspective so that this problem is considered as a hard problem to solve.

The EA is widely used to solve various difficult optimization problems (from a conventional perspective) with a satisfactory success rate. This is particularly true when we are dealing with an optimization problem under unfavorable circumstances such as a non-differentiable and time-varying objective function, a disjoint and nonconvex feasible space, a multimodal and noisy landscape, highly nonlinear and discontinuous constraints and an uncertain model; e.g., see [79, 80, 92, 94, 265, 266]. Although a rigorous mathematical analysis of EA is difficult to obtain (e.g., see [79,85,267]), it is often empirically evident that the EA is capable of delivering a good solution. This is often acceptable when obtaining a global optimal solution is arduous and computationally difficult, if not impossible, using, for example, fixed-point methods, bracketing methods, gradient-based methods or even stochastic direct search methods; e.g., see [79,80,261].

In real-world applications, the EA is recognized as a flexible and versatile approach toward an optimization problem at hand (e.g., see [79, 80, 94]), which

is also evident in our results from Chapter 3 to Chapter 8. These characteristics are beneficial for practitioners who might have to deal with a complex problem without an appropriate mathematical formulation and yet, a reasonably good solution is required. Hence, the EA is a legitimate choice, especially when a proven exact solver does not exist. On the other hand, if we are solving a convex optimization problem and an efficient problem-specific method is available, then applying an EA is not recommended as it is very unlikely for the EA to return a better result; e.g., see [79].

Considering recent advancements in computational technology (software and hardware), we can further exploit the capabilities and properties of EA when implemented through parallel computing for solving a large-scale optimization problems with high complexity; e.g., see [3, 102, 268–271]. If such complex problems can be divided into several sub-problems and efficient exact methods are available for some of them, it is possible to combine an EA with those methods in order to obtain a better solution. This combination then leads to a hybrid EA; e.g., see [272, 273]. Another celebrated application of EA is for solving multi-objective optimization problems; e.g., see [269, 271, 274, 275]. In practice, we may find that one objective function is in conflict with other ones. In this case, the EA will result in a so-called Pareto front, which is a set of all non-dominated solutions defining the best trade-off among all objective functions.

#### 2.1.2 Technical issues

Despite the favorable properties and versatility of EA, it has some technical issues about which we need to be cautious. If we fail to anticipate their influence, EA performance will be degraded. This indicates that EA implementation is by no means trivial, although it is acknowledged as a generic numerical solver. Such concerns are worth considering no matter which type of EA is used. Here, we mention several critical aspects by which the performance of EA is affected:

1. It is important to ensure that the initial population has sufficient diversity, which the recombination and mutation operators should maintain during the numerical evolution. If the initial population lacks of this diversity, we could find that the EA converges prematurely due to stagnation in a small search space. Conversely, an overly large population size and/or search space is used at the expense of computational time; e.g., see [80, 257].

- 2. Since a priori information about a search space is often not available, we should aim for a balance between exploration and exploitation. Otherwise, the search process could either be too long due to an extensive exploration over the search space or be trapped in a local optimum due to an intense exploitation in the neighborhood of some good candidate solutions. Despite their importance, it is not immediately clear which operators of an EA are responsible for these tasks. However, in general, many users would agree that exploration is done by the recombination and mutation operators, while exploitation is done by the selection operator; e.g., see [85, 276].
- 3. Regarding the stochastic nature of EA, defining suitable probability distribution functions to generate an initial population and to govern the recombination, mutation and selection operators is somewhat delicate. A careless choice of these functions and their parameters can lead to a poor solution or even no solution at all. Therefore, it is important to have an appropriate representation of the distribution functions because the recombination and mutation characteristics are related to the data structure of the candidate solutions; e.g., see [80, 84, 277].
- 4. Many practical problems are inherently constrained. If an EA is applied to solve such problems, it should be realized that the EA machinery does not anticipate how to handle the constraints properly. This concern is crucial as it determines how we examine the fitness of each candidate solution. Hence, a large number of direct and indirect constraint handling techniques have been proposed to restore and to improve EA capabilities in the presence of the constraints; e.g., see [260, 261, 278, 279].
- 5. The EA performance robustness may be sensitive to the choice of EA parameters such as the population size, the recombination probability, the mutation probability and the number of iteration cycles. It is indeed a time-consuming effort to find a proper set of parameters before starting the numerical evolution. This has become an impetus to the emergence of various parameter control techniques, which change the EA parameters dynamically when the EA is running; e.g., see [280–282].

There are also reciprocal relationships among those issues so that it is necessary to address them effectively at a minimum expense. As it is not easy to find a comprehensive solution to these problems, we need to be mindful regarding the advantages and disadvantages of any technique proposed in the EA literature. In this regard, *no free lunch* principle is at work because no EA performs equally well on every optimization problem; see [142]. However, this opens an opportunity for EA enhancement and development.

### 2.2 Differential Evolution Algorithm

Solving a general global optimization problem with real-valued variables remains a challenging topic, especially because the size and complexity of such a problem are steadily increasing. We often find that this problem is extremely difficult to solve using conventional optimization methods. In this situation, a direct search approach often turns out to be a useful technique used to find a global optimal solution. In particular, the EA has demonstrated its reliability as one type of stochastic direct search methods.

Among early generation EAs, evolution strategies and genetic algorithms have probably been the most widely used algorithms to solve the real-valued optimization problems, often with remarkable success. Yet, a requirement for a simpler and more powerful EA undoubtedly remains. Thus, in 1995, Kenneth V. Price and Rainer M. Storn promoted a new EA referred to as the differential evolution (DE) algorithm; e.g., see [140]. This invention was motivated by some requirements found in practical minimization tasks as follows:

- 1. Capable of dealing with ill-conditioned cost functionals;
- 2. Suitable for parallel computation to solve large problems on an affordable time scale;
- 3. Only needs a small number of EA parameters, which are easy to choose;
- 4. Less sensitive to EA parameter variation;
- 5. Have a reliable convergence behavior.

The DE algorithm is a self-reliant EA as it only employs information from within an initial population to start a numerical evolution. More precisely, it does not rely on any prescribed probability distribution function to drive its machinery, namely the recombination, mutation and selection operators. The DE algorithm only has three parameters, that is, the population size  $N_P$ , the mutation factor F and the recombination rate  $C_R$ ; e.g., see [140]. It is quite simple to choose the values of those parameters and the inventors also claimed that the DE algorithm has a good robustness against their variation. However, later investigations showed that this claim is not accurate and there are indeed some issues regarding their roles in driving the search process; e.g., see [283,284].

One way to assess the merit of DE is done by comparing its performance with that of other stochastic algorithms, which are assigned to solve a given global optimization problem. It has been reported in [140] that the DE algorithm outperforms other stochastic global optimization methods (e.g., simulated annealing (see [285]) and stochastic differential equations (see [286])) and EAs (e.g., breeder genetic algorithm (see [287]) and an evolutionary algorithm with soft genetic operators (see [288])) when solving some benchmark unconstrained optimization problems. We may also find empirical results in e.g., [4, 289, 290] which show that the DE algorithm exhibits higher success rate and more efficient, robust, accurate and consistent as compared to, for instance, random search algorithm, evolution strategies, particle swarm optimization and genetic algorithms.

Also, there have been investigations into the DE behavior when it is applied to handle constrained optimization problems with nonlinear constraints, mixedvariables and multiple objective cost functions; e.g, see [291–296]. The conclusions are that the DE algorithm is reliable, competitive and more likely to return better results in a consistent manner than those given by other EAs. However, when the DE algorithm is applied to optimize noisy cost functionals, it does not perform as well as a standard EA, which incorporates stochastic properties in its design; e.g., see [141]. Also, many experiments have been done to compare the performance of different DE variants; e.g., see [297–299]. These results offer useful guidance for users to recognize the strengths and weaknesses of the DE algorithm.

The structure of a standard DE algorithm is consistent with the one in Algorithm 2.1. The core DE components, constraint handling and parameter setting are briefly described in the following sub-sections. Moreover, a detailed account on the DE algorithm and its applications can be found in [4].

#### 2.2.1 Population

A candidate solution  $\vartheta_{i,j}$  is defined as a *D*-dimensional vector of real-valued decision variables, which is modeled as follows:

$$\vartheta_{i,j} := \begin{bmatrix} \vartheta_{i,j,1} & \vartheta_{i,j,2} & \cdots & \vartheta_{i,j,D} \end{bmatrix}^T$$
(2.3)

where *i* is the population index (i = 1, 2, ..., G) and *j* is the individual index  $(j = 1, 2, ..., N_P)$ . The *k*-th element of  $\vartheta_{i,j}$  in (2.3) is confined to an interval

$$L_k \le \vartheta_{i,j,k} \le U_k, \quad \text{for } k = 1, 2, \dots, D$$

$$(2.4)$$

where  $L_k$  is a lower bound and  $U_k$  is an upper bound. An initial population of size  $N_P$  is generated randomly and distributed uniformly within a search space defined by the lower and upper bounds on all decision variables. Thus, the k-th element of an initial candidate solution  $\vartheta_{1,j}$  is given as

$$\vartheta_{1,j,k} = \alpha_{j,k} \left( U_k - L_k \right) + L_k, \quad \forall j,k \tag{2.5}$$

where  $\alpha_{j,k}$  is a uniformly distributed random number in [0, 1].

Each individual  $\vartheta_{i,j}$  of the *i*-th population is referred to as a *target* vector. Applying the mutation and recombination operators to a target population, the DE algorithm produces a new potential candidate solution called the *trial* vector. Both the target and trial vectors are then involved in a competition in order to survive as a member of the next generation population. The competition is determined by the selection operator based on the fitness of both vectors.

#### 2.2.2 Mutation and recombination

The DE mutation and recombination on each individual  $\vartheta_{i,j}$  can be carried out element-wise. These operations depend on two parameters: the mutation factor  $F \in [0,1]$  and the recombination rate  $C_R \in [0,1]$ . Thus, a trial vector  $\xi_{i,j}$  is formed according to the following rule:

$$\xi_{i,j,k} = \begin{cases} \vartheta_{i,a,k} + F\left(\vartheta_{i,b,k} - \vartheta_{i,c,k}\right), & \text{if } \beta_{i,j,k} \le C_R \text{ or } k = \gamma_{i,j,k};\\ \vartheta_{i,j,k}, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(2.6)

where a, b, c are random indexes sampled from  $\{1, 2, ..., N_P\}$  and  $j \neq a \neq b \neq c$ ;  $\beta_{i,j,k}$  is a uniformly distributed random number in [0, 1]; and  $\gamma_{i,j,k}$  is a random index sampled from  $\{1, 2, ..., D\}$ . It is possible that F > 1, but this tends to reduce the convergence rate and result in a less reliable solution; see [4]. Moreover, if  $\xi_{i,j,k}$  exceeds the lower bound  $L_k$  or the upper bound  $U_k$ , we regenerate  $\xi_{i,j,k}$  as follows:

$$\xi_{i,j,k} = \begin{cases} \vartheta_{i,a,k} + \zeta_{i,j,k} \left( U_k - \vartheta_{i,a,k} \right), & \text{if } \xi_{i,j,k} > U_k; \\ \vartheta_{i,a,k} + \zeta_{i,j,k} \left( L_k - \vartheta_{i,a,k} \right), & \text{if } \xi_{i,j,k} < L_k \end{cases}$$

$$(2.7)$$

where  $\zeta_{i,j,k}$  is a uniformly distributed random number in [0, 1].



**Figure 2.1:** The DE mutation and recombination with two-dimensional  $\vartheta_{i,j}$  result in three potential trial vectors:  $\xi_{i,j}^{(1)}$ ,  $\xi_{i,j}^{(2)}$  or  $\xi_{i,j}^{(3)}$ ; e.g., see [4].

In the rule (2.6), recombination occurs if  $\beta_{i,j,k} \leq C_R$  or  $k = \gamma_{i,j,k}$ . That is, the k-th element  $\xi_{i,j,k}$  of the j-th trial vector equals the k-th mutated element  $[\vartheta_{i,a,k} + F(\vartheta_{i,b,k} - \vartheta_{i,c,k})]$ . In this case,  $\vartheta_{i,a,k}$  is the k-th element of the a-th base vector  $\vartheta_{i,a}$ , which is perturbed by the scaled k-th element  $F(\vartheta_{i,b,k} - \vartheta_{i,c,k})$  of the difference vector  $(\vartheta_{i,b} - \vartheta_{i,c})$ . We introduce  $\gamma_{i,j,k}$  in (2.6) in order to prevent a trial vector  $\xi_{i,j}$  from inheriting all elements of a target vector  $\vartheta_{i,j}$ . Thus, at least one element of  $\xi_{i,j}$  is different from those of  $\vartheta_{i,j}$ . This process is illustrated in Figure 2.1 for two-dimensional mutation and recombination.

The DE algorithm with the mutation and recombination scheme in (2.6) is considered as a standard variant denoted by DE/rand/1/bin (see Algorithm 2.2). In this variant, 'rand' means that  $\vartheta_{i,a}$  is chosen randomly; '1' means that only one difference vector  $(\vartheta_{i,b} - \vartheta_{i,c})$  is required for mutation; and 'bin' means that

Algorithm 2.2 Standard DE algorithm: DE/rand/1/bin

1: Parameter inputs:  $N_P, F, C_R, D, G, L_k, U_k$ 2: Initial population:  $\vartheta_{1,j,k} = \alpha_{j,k} (U_k - L_k) + L_k$ ,  $\forall j, k$ 3: Fitness evaluation of the initial population 4: Population index: i = 15: while  $i \leq G$  do for j = 1 to  $N_P$  do 6: Mutation & recombination: 7: 8: for k = 1 to D do Random sample:  $a, b, c \in \{1, 2, \dots, N_P\}$  and  $j \neq a \neq b \neq c$ 9:  $\xi_{i,j,k} = \begin{cases} \vartheta_{i,a,k} + F\left(\vartheta_{i,b,k} - \vartheta_{i,c,k}\right), & \text{if } \beta_{i,j,k} \leq C_R \text{ or } k = \gamma_{i,j,k};\\ \vartheta_{i,j,k}, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$ if  $\xi_{i,j,k} > U_k$  then 10: 11: $\vartheta_{i,a,k} + \zeta_{i,j,k} \left( U_k - \vartheta_{i,a,k} \right)$ 12:end if 13:if  $\xi_{i,j,k} < L_k$  then 14:  $\vartheta_{i,a,k} + \zeta_{i,j,k} \left( L_k - \vartheta_{i,a,k} \right)$ 15:end if 16:end for 17:Fitness evaluation of the i-th trial population 18:Select the next generation candidate solutions: 19: $\vartheta_{i+1,j} = \begin{cases} \xi_{i,j}, & \text{if } \mathsf{f}(\xi_{i,j}) \leq \mathsf{f}(\vartheta_{i,j}) \\ \vartheta_{i,j}, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$ 20:end for 21: i = i + 122:23: end while 24: Return

a binomial recombination is used. In general, this shorthand notation takes the form of DE/x/y/z; see [140]. Here, x denotes how  $\vartheta_{i,a}$  is chosen; y denotes the number of difference vectors  $(\vartheta_{i,b} - \vartheta_{i,c})$  required for mutation; and z denotes which type of recombination is applied.

#### 2.2.3 Selection

The standard DE algorithm in [140] only aims to handle an unconstrained optimization problem. Thus, a criterion to select the trial vector  $\xi_{i,j}$  in favor of the target vector  $\vartheta_{i,j}$  (or vice versa) to be a member  $\vartheta_{i+1,j}$  of a next generation population is as follows:

$$\vartheta_{i+1,j} = \begin{cases} \xi_{i,j}, & \text{if } f(\xi_{i,j}) \le f(\vartheta_{i,j}) \\ \vartheta_{i,j}, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(2.8)

where  $f(\cdot)$  is an objective function (to be minimized) of the optimization problem being considered.

If the DE algorithm is applied to solve a constrained optimization problem (e.g., see [292, 294–296, 300, 301]), we then select the trial vector  $\xi_{i,j}$  in favor of the target vector  $\vartheta_{i,j}$  whenever the following selection criteria are satisfied:

- 1.  $\xi_{i,j}$  is a feasible candidate solution, while  $\vartheta_{i,j}$  is an infeasible one; or
- 2.  $f(\xi_{i,j}) \leq f(\vartheta_{i,j})$ , when both  $\xi_{i,j}$  and  $\vartheta_{i,j}$  are feasible; or
- 3.  $\xi_{i,j}$  has a smaller number of constraint violations and/or a lower cost due to the violations than  $\vartheta_{i,j}$  does, when both  $\xi_{i,j}$  and  $\vartheta_{i,j}$  are infeasible.

The feasibility of a candidate solution informs us about its fitness with respect to all constraints involved in the optimization.

#### 2.2.4 Constraint handling

When applying the DE algorithm to solve a constrained optimization problem, it is important to pay attention to the constraint handling task as it is related to the selection operator; e.g., see [292]. There are many ways to accomplish this task in order to obtain one or more optimal solution(s); e.g., see [279,300,301]. Through a constraint handling scheme, we acquire information about the fitness of each candidate solution with respect to all constraints. For our controller synthesis application, we employ an indirect constraint handling technique by counting the number  $\mathbf{v}$  of constraint violations and assigning a penalty function  $\mathbf{p}(\cdot)$  to an infeasible candidate solution, where  $\mathbf{p}: \mathbf{C}^n \to \mathbf{R}$ . The function  $\mathbf{p}(\cdot)$  is associated with a constraint  $\mathbf{g}_j(\cdot) \leq 0$  or  $\mathbf{h}_k(\cdot) = 0$  in (2.2), which is directly violated by a target vector  $\vartheta_{i,j}$  or a trial vector  $\xi_{i,j}$ .

In particular, we apply a static penalty function, which has the following form:

$$\mathsf{p}(\sigma) = (\mathsf{q}(\sigma))^{\mathsf{s}} \tag{2.9}$$

where  $\sigma$  can be a target vector  $\vartheta_{i,j}$  or a trial vector  $\xi_{i,j}$ ; and  $\mathbf{s} \geq 1$  is a power constant; e.g., see [95,259,279]. The function  $\mathbf{q}(\cdot)$  is not necessarily the same as  $\mathbf{g}_j(\cdot)$  or  $\mathbf{h}_k(\cdot)$ , but it can be another function, which represents a desired property of  $\mathbf{g}_j(\cdot)$  or  $\mathbf{h}_k(\cdot)$ . In this case,  $\mathbf{q}(\cdot)$  can also be interpreted as a metric, which penalizes the distance from an infeasible target vector  $\vartheta_{i,j}$  or trial vector  $\xi_{i,j}$  to the violated constraint. Moreover, if there is no constraint violation ( $\mathbf{v} = 0$ ), we have

$$\mathsf{p}(\sigma) = \mathsf{f}(\sigma) \tag{2.10}$$

where  $f(\cdot)$  is the objective function in (2.1).

This penalty-based approach is simple, but it involves an extra parameter: power constant  $\mathbf{s}$ , which may affect the overall DE performance. Thus, in practice, we can take  $\mathbf{s} = 2$  or  $\mathbf{s} = 3$ , because a large  $\mathbf{s}$  may lead to a high pressure selection process. This is not beneficial during early stage numerical evolution since it tends to reduce population diversity and cause exploration-exploitation imbalance. With these concerns in mind, we realize that there are always advantages and disadvantages associated with each constraint handling technique; e.g., see [261,279]. Note that since the objective function  $f(\sigma)$  in (2.10) (see Chapter 3 – Chapter 8) may also involve power constants, we then have the same concern about them as in the case of the power constant  $\mathbf{s}$  for  $\mathbf{q}(\sigma)$  in (2.9).

We also assume that a constraint violation at a lower level implies those at the higher levels. This assumption is made in order to have an efficient fitness test routine. In fact, the levels in this routine are introduced because we have some technical assumptions to satisfy for each particular controller design method presented in Chapter 3 – Chapter 8.

#### 2.2.5 Drift-free mutation and recombination

As explained in [4,5], DE/rand/1/bin with  $0 < C_R < 1$  is not rotational invariant because its performance is dependent on the orientation of the coordinate system where the candidate solution  $\vartheta_{i,j}$  is defined. Thus, the positions of some potential trial vectors will be rotated when rotational misalignment occurs between the coordinate system of the candidate solution  $\vartheta_{i,j}$  and that in which an optimization problem is defined (see Figure 2.2). As a priori information about the coordinate system orientation is generally unavailable, this drawback may



**Figure 2.2:** For  $0 < C_R < 1$ , the potential trial vectors  $\xi_{i,j}^{(2)}$  and  $\xi_{i,j}^{(3)}$  are rotated due to misalignment between the DE coordinates  $(\vartheta_{i,j,1}, \vartheta_{i,j,2})$  and the problem coordinates  $(\vartheta'_{i,j,1}, \vartheta'_{i,j,2})$ ; e.g., see [5].

cause DE/rand/1/bin to drift and return a biased solution or no solution at all.

Considering the illustration in Figure 2.2, we notice that DE/rand/1/bin is rotational invariant only when  $C_R = 1$ , which implies that the numerical variation is only determined by mutation without recombination. In this case, we only have one potential trial vector  $\xi_{i,j}^{(1)}$  whose position does not change due to rotation. Setting  $C_R = 1$ , however, may degrade the performance of DE/rand/1/bin when this algorithm is applied to solve a multimodal optimization problem; e.g., see [4]. Thus, a remedy to the shortcoming of DE/rand/1/bin is given by an alternative DE algorithm: DE/rand/1/either - or, which is rotational invariant; see [4]. In the latter algorithm, the standard mutation-binomial recombination scheme in (2.6) is replaced by the mutation-arithmetic recombination scheme:

$$\xi_{i,j} = \begin{cases} \vartheta_{i,j} + F_1 \delta_{b,c}, & \text{if } \eta_{i,j} \le C_M; \\ \vartheta_{i,j} + F_2 \left( \delta_{b,c} - 2\vartheta_{i,j} \right), & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(2.11)

where  $\delta_{b,c} := \vartheta_{i,b} - \vartheta_{i,c}$ ;  $F_1, F_2 \in [0, 1]$ ; and  $\eta_{i,j}$  is a uniformly distributed random number in [0, 1]. Note that the recombination rate  $C_R$  in (2.6) is also replaced by the mutation rate  $C_M \in [0, 1]$  in (2.11).

Nevertheless, further investigation on DE/rand/1/either - or shows that this algorithm does not have a center-symmetric distribution, which also causes

Algorithm 2.3 Enhanced DE algorithm: Drift-Free DE/rand/1/either - or

1: Parameter inputs:  $N_P, F, C_M, D, G, L_k, U_k$ 2: Initial population:  $\vartheta_{1,j,k} = \alpha_{j,k} (U_k - L_k) + L_k$ ,  $\forall j, k$ 3: Fitness evaluation of the initial population 4: Population index: i = 15: while  $i \leq G$  do for j = 1 to  $N_P$  do 6: Mutation & recombination: 7: Random sample:  $a, b, c, d \in \{1, 2, \dots, N_P\}, j \neq a \neq b$  and  $j \neq c \neq d$ 8:  $\xi_{i,j} = \begin{cases} \vartheta_{i,j} + F\delta_{b,c}, & \text{if } \eta_{i,j} \leq 0\\ \vartheta_{i,j} + \sqrt{D} \left(\delta_{b,c} \cdot \varepsilon_{c,d}\right) \varepsilon_{c,d}, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$ if  $\eta_{i,j} \leq C_M$ ; 9: for k = 1 to D do 10: if  $\xi_{i,j,k} > U_k$  then 11:  $\vartheta_{i,a,k} + \zeta_{i,j,k} \left( U_k - \vartheta_{i,a,k} \right)$ 12:end if 13:if  $\xi_{i,j,k} < L_k$  then 14:  $\vartheta_{i,a,k} + \zeta_{i,i,k} \left( L_k - \vartheta_{i,a,k} \right)$ 15:end if 16:end for 17:Fitness evaluation of the *i*-th trial population 18:Select the next generation candidate solutions: 19: $\vartheta_{i+1,j} = \begin{cases} \xi_{i,j}, & \text{if } \mathsf{f}(\xi_{i,j}) \leq \mathsf{f}(\vartheta_{i,j}) \\ \vartheta_{i,j}, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$ 20: end for 21: 22: i = i + 123: end while 24: Return

drift in the numerical variation; see [5]. To cope with this drawback, another modification is done to the arithmetic recombination in (2.11). This results in a drift-free DE/rand/1/either - or (see Algorithm 2.3) in which the trial vector  $\xi_{i,j}$  is formed according to the following rule (see [5]):

$$\xi_{i,j} = \begin{cases} \vartheta_{i,j} + F\delta_{b,c}, & \text{if } \eta_{i,j} \le C_M; \\ \vartheta_{i,j} + \sqrt{D} \left( \delta_{b,c} \cdot \varepsilon_{c,d} \right) \varepsilon_{c,d}, & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(2.12)

where a, b, c, d are random indexes sampled from  $\{1, 2, ..., N_P\}$ ;  $j \neq a \neq b$ ;  $j \neq c \neq d$ ; and

$$\varepsilon_{c,d} := \frac{\vartheta_{i,c} + \vartheta_{i,d} - 2\vartheta_{i,j}}{\|\vartheta_{i,c} + \vartheta_{i,d} - 2\vartheta_{i,j}\|}.$$
(2.13)

Note that  $(\delta_{b,c} \cdot \varepsilon_{c,d})$  is a dot product of  $\delta_{b,c}$  and  $\varepsilon_{c,d}$ . The scheme in (2.12) is immune against drift bias due to coordinate rotation and a distribution, which is not center-symmetric; see [5].

#### 2.2.6 Parameter setting

The setting of the DE parameters  $(N_P, F, C_R \text{ or } C_M)$  is important because it affects the robustness, efficiency and convergence rate of the DE algorithm. Extensive studies on this issue have been conducted in e.g., [283,284,298,302,303]. An inappropriate choice of the DE parameters can lead to inadequate population diversity, stagnation, premature (or slow) convergence and inaccuracy. These are critical risks which may happen due to poor parameter setting. Many approaches, therefore, have been proposed to facilitate DE parameter tuning and parameter control; e.g., see [304–309]. They aims at reducing the occurrence probability of those risks while maintaining high probability of success of the DE algorithm.

To set the DE parameter values for the drift-free DE/rand/1/either - or, we follow a strategy proposed in [5]. That is,

$$F = 1; \quad C_M = 0.5; \quad N_p = k \left[ (1 - C_M) D^2 + 2C_M D \right]$$
 (2.14)

where  $k \in \{2, 4, 8, \ldots, D\}$ . Note that the strategy in (2.14) is presented in [5] as a result of empirical studies about how the variations of the DE parameters  $(N_P, D, F, C_M)$  affect the number of function evaluations per success. Applying this strategy, we can start with a small k, and if the results of the numerical evolution are not good enough, we can increase the value of  $k \leq D$ . If this does not lead to satisfactory results either, we can gradually reduce the value of  $C_M$  and then F. Also, we fix the number of iteration cycles G prior to running the DE algorithm as a stopping criterion. Besides this procedure, it is also possible to determine the values of those parameters adaptively as presented in e.g., see [305, 307–310]. This approach allows the DE parameter values and stopping criterion to vary dynamically according to the evolution progress of the population.

# Chapter 3

# Nonlinear Robust $H^{\infty}$ Control via a Stable Nonlinear Output Feedback Controller

### 3.1 Introduction

This chapter aims to present a systematic method to design a stable nonlinear robust  $H^{\infty}$  output feedback controller for a class of nonlinear uncertain systems. The admissible uncertainty and nonlinearity in the system are required to satisfy an integral quadratic constraint and a global Lipschitz condition, respectively; e.g., see [2,311]. Applying such controller, we aim to obtain an absolutely stable closed loop nonlinear uncertain system with a specified disturbance attenuation level.

There are two underlying main ideas in our method to solve this control problem. Firstly, we include a copy of each known nonlinearity of the plant in the controller in order to enable the controller to exploit the plant nonlinearity (see [6]). Secondly, we use a state feedback gain matrix and introduce an additional uncertainty used to form an artificial uncertain system (see [7]). The purpose of this construction is to guarantee that any suitable output feedback controller for the artificial uncertain system is always stable and also solves the original absolute stabilization problem. The resulting controller matrices are given in terms of the stabilizing solutions of parameterized algebraic Riccati equations.

We propose to apply an evolutionary optimization method, namely the dif-

ferential evolution (DE) algorithm, to compute all required controller design parameters. This is motivated by the fact that our control problem is subject to a set of both nonconvex and nonlinear constraints, which is often difficult to solve using regular optimization methods.

### **3.2** Problem Statement

A nonlinear robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problem is presented in this section, which begins by describing a nonlinear uncertain system under consideration and the notions of admissible uncertainty and absolute stabilizability. Additional notation is also defined in order to transform the given nonlinear control problem into a standard form based on the approach in [6].

#### **3.2.1** System description and definitions

We are concerned with a class of nonlinear uncertain systems, which can be represented as follows:

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + B_1w(t) + B_2u(t) + \sum_{s=1}^{f} E_{1,s}\xi_s(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{g} E_{2,i}\mu_i(t);$$

$$z(t) = C_1x(t) + D_{12}u(t);$$

$$\zeta_1(t) = H_{1,1}x(t) + G_{1,1}u(t);$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\zeta_f(t) = H_{1,f}x(t) + G_{1,f}u(t);$$

$$\nu_1(t) = H_{2,1}x(t) + G_{2,1}u(t);$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\nu_g(t) = H_{2,g}x(t) + G_{2,g}u(t);$$

$$y(t) = C_2x(t) + D_{21}w(t) + \sum_{s=1}^{f} F_{1,s}\xi_s(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{g} F_{2,i}\mu_i(t).$$
(3.1)

The variables involved in the state equations (3.1) are the state  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$ , the control input  $u \in \mathbf{R}^m$ , the disturbance input  $w \in \mathbf{R}^p$ , the controlled output  $z \in \mathbf{R}^q$ , the measurement output  $y \in \mathbf{R}^l$ , the uncertainty input  $\xi_s \in \mathbf{R}^{r_s}$ , the

uncertainty output  $\zeta_s \in \mathbf{R}^{h_s}$  (for s = 1, 2, ..., f), the nonlinearity input  $\mu_i \in \mathbf{R}$ and the nonlinearity output  $\nu_i \in \mathbf{R}$  (for i = 1, 2, ..., g). All coefficient matrices in (3.1) are assumed to have compatible dimensions with those of the signals.

The relation between each nonlinearity input  $\mu_i(t)$  and nonlinearity output  $\nu_i(t)$  is given by the following scalar-valued nonlinear function  $\psi_i(\cdot)$ :

$$\mu_i(t) = \psi_i(\nu_i(t)), \quad \forall i = 1, 2, \dots, g$$
(3.2)

where each nonlinear function  $\psi_i(\cdot)$  is required to satisfy  $\psi_i(0) = 0$ . The nonlinear function  $\psi_i(\cdot)$  is assumed to be known and is required to satisfy the global Lipschitz condition (GLC)

$$|\psi_i(\nu(t)) - \psi_i(\tilde{\nu}(t))| \le \beta_i |\nu(t) - \tilde{\nu}(t)|, \quad \beta_i > 0$$
(3.3)

for all pairs of  $(\nu(t), \tilde{\nu}(t))$  and i = 1, 2, ..., g. Meanwhile, each structured uncertainty in the system (3.1) is described as follows:

$$\xi_s(t) = \phi_s\left(t, \zeta_s(t)\right), \quad \forall s = 1, 2, \dots, f \tag{3.4}$$

where  $\phi_s(\cdot)$  may be considered as a nonlinear time-varying and dynamic functional; see [2]. A structured uncertainty is said to be admissible if it satisfies the integral quadratic constraint (IQC) stated in the following definition:

**Definition 3.1.** (Integral Quadratic Constraint; e.g., see [2].) An uncertainty of the form (3.4) is an admissible uncertainty for the system (3.1) if the following conditions hold: Given any locally square integrable control input  $u(\cdot)$  and locally square integrable disturbance input  $w(\cdot)$ , and any corresponding solution to the system (3.1), (3.2), (3.4), let  $(0, t_*)$  be the interval on which the solution exists. Then there exist constants  $d_{1,1} \ge 0, \ldots, d_{1,f} \ge 0$  and a sequence  $\{t_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  such that  $t_k \to t_*, t_k \ge 0$  and

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k}} \|\xi_{s}(t)\|^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \|\zeta_{s}(t)\|^{2} dt + d_{1,s}$$
(3.5)

for all k and for all s = 1, 2, ..., f. Here,  $\|\cdot\|$  denotes the standard Euclidean norm and  $\mathbf{L}_2[0, \infty)$  denotes the Hilbert space of square integrable vector valued functions defined on  $[0, \infty)$ . Note that  $t_k$  and  $t_{\star}$  may be equal to infinity. The class of all such admissible uncertainties  $\xi(\cdot) = [\xi_1(\cdot), \ldots, \xi_f(\cdot)]$  is denoted by  $\Xi$ .

Considering the nonlinear uncertain system (3.1), (3.2), (3.5), we are concerned with solving a problem of absolute stabilization with a specified level of disturbance attenuation in the presence of uncertainties and nonlinearities. Besides closed loop system stability and performance, we are also interested in achieving controller stability. This requirement is motivated by the fact that a stable controller is preferable in many applications because it is much less susceptible to sensor and actuator failures, and to system uncertainties and exogenous disturbances when it is implemented in a real system; e.g., see [7, 167–169]. This particular control problem is often referred to as a strong stabilization problem. Thus, to solve this control problem, we apply a stable nonlinear output feedback controller, which can be represented as follows:

$$\dot{x}_{c}(t) = A_{c}x_{c}(t) + B_{c}y(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{g} L_{i}\tilde{\mu}_{i}(t); \quad x_{c}(0) = x_{c_{0}};$$

$$u(t) = C_{c_{1}}x_{c}(t);$$

$$\tilde{\nu}_{1}(t) = C_{c_{2,1}}x_{c}(t);$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\tilde{\nu}_{g}(t) = C_{c_{2,g}}x_{c}(t)$$
(3.6)

where

$$\tilde{\mu}_i(t) = \psi_i\left(\tilde{\nu}_i(t)\right), \quad \forall i = 1, 2, \dots, g.$$
(3.7)

The presence of (3.7) in the controller state equations (3.6) is to include a copy of each known nonlinearity (3.2) into the controller as depicted in Figure 3.1(a). This is to enable the controller to exploit each known nonlinearity of the nonlinear uncertain system (3.1), (3.2), (3.5).

To solve the problem of constructing a stable nonlinear controller of the form (3.6), (3.7) for the nonlinear uncertain system (3.1), (3.2), (3.5), we use the approaches presented in [7] and [187]. Thus, we first need to reformulate the state equations (3.1) by incorporating the nonlinearities (3.7) into the plant description such that

$$\tilde{y}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} y(t)\\ \tilde{\mu}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{u}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} u(t)\\ \tilde{\nu}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad (3.8)$$



Figure 3.1: (a) Nonlinear uncertain system with nonlinear controller. (b) Nonlinear uncertain system and linear controller with repeated nonlinearity. Here,  $\psi(\cdot)$  is a known nonlinearity and  $\phi(\cdot)$  is an uncertainty; see [6].

$$\tilde{\mu}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\mu}_1(t) \\ \vdots \\ \tilde{\mu}_g(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{\nu}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\nu}_1(t) \\ \vdots \\ \tilde{\nu}_g(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{C}_c = \begin{bmatrix} C_{c_1} \\ C_{c_{2,1}} \\ \vdots \\ C_{c_{2,g}} \end{bmatrix};$$
$$\tilde{B}_c = \begin{bmatrix} B_c \quad L_1 \quad \cdots \quad L_g \end{bmatrix}. \tag{3.9}$$

and obtain a configuration as shown in Figure 3.1(b). Indeed, this step has also been considered in the controller design method presented in [6] (but without imposing the controller stability requirement). Then, using the expression in (3.8) and (3.9), we can rewrite the controller state equations (3.6) as

$$\dot{x}_c(t) = A_c x_c(t) + B_c \tilde{y}(t);$$
  

$$\tilde{u}(t) = \tilde{C}_c x_c(t).$$
(3.10)

This indicates that the problem of controlling the nonlinear uncertain system (3.1), (3.2), (3.5) using the nonlinear controller (3.6), (3.7) is transformed into that of controlling the nonlinear uncertain system (3.1), (3.2), (3.5), (3.7) using the linear controller (3.10). The purpose of applying such controller is to achieve

an absolutely stable closed loop nonlinear uncertain system with a specified disturbance attenuation level.

The notion of absolute stabilizability for the nonlinear uncertain system (3.1), (3.2), (3.5) is defined as follows:

**Definition 3.2.** (Absolute stabilizability; e.g., see [2].) The nonlinear uncertain system (3.1), (3.2), (3.5) is said to be absolutely stabilizable with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  via a stable nonlinear output feedback controller (3.6), (3.7) if there exists constants  $c_1 > 0$  and  $c_2 > 0$  such that the following conditions hold:

1. For any initial condition  $(x(0), x_c(0))$ , any admissible uncertainty inputs  $\xi_1(\cdot), \ldots, \xi_f(\cdot)$  and any disturbance input  $w(\cdot) \in \mathbf{L}_2[0, \infty)$ , we have

$$[x(\cdot), x_c(\cdot), u(\cdot), \xi_1(\cdot), \dots, \xi_f(\cdot)] \in \mathbf{L}_2[0, \infty)$$
(3.11)

(hence,  $t_{\star} = \infty$ ) and

$$\|x(\cdot)\|_{2}^{2} + \|x_{c}(\cdot)\|_{2}^{2} + \|u(\cdot)\|_{2}^{2} + \sum_{s=1}^{f} \|\xi_{s}(\cdot)\|_{2}^{2}$$
$$\leq c_{1} \left[ \|x(0)\|^{2} + \|x_{c}(0)\|^{2} + \|w(\cdot)\|_{2}^{2} + \sum_{s=1}^{f} d_{1,s} \right].$$
(3.12)

2. The following  $H^{\infty}$  norm bound condition is satisfied: If x(0) = 0 and  $x_c(0) = 0$ , then for  $w(\cdot) \in \mathbf{L}_2[0,\infty)$  and  $\xi_s(\cdot) \in \Xi$  (for all  $s = 1, 2, \ldots, f$ )

$$\mathcal{J} := \sup_{w(\cdot)} \sup_{\xi_s(\cdot)} \frac{\|z(\cdot)\|_2^2 - c_2 \sum_{s=1}^f d_{1,s}}{\|w(\cdot)\|_2^2} < \gamma^2.$$
(3.13)

Here,  $\|q(\cdot)\|_2$  denotes the  $\mathbf{L}_2[0,\infty)$  norm of a function  $q(\cdot)$ . That is,  $\|q(\cdot)\|_2^2 := \int_0^\infty \|q(t)\|^2 dt$ .

# **3.2.2** Robust $H^{\infty}$ control

As we intend to apply the results of [7] and [187], the nonlinearities (3.2) and their copies (3.7) need to be characterized using IQCs. For this purpose, we refer

to the GLCs (3.3), which imply that

$$(\mu_{i}(t) - \tilde{\mu}_{i}(t))^{2} \leq \beta_{i}^{2} (\nu_{i}(t) - \tilde{\nu}_{i}(t))^{2};$$
  

$$(\mu_{i}(t))^{2} \leq \beta_{i}^{2} (\nu_{i}(t))^{2};$$
  

$$(\tilde{\mu}_{i}(t))^{2} \leq \beta_{i}^{2} (\tilde{\nu}_{i}(t))^{2}$$
(3.14)

for all i = 1, 2, ..., g. It then follows from (3.14) that we have the following IQCs

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k}} (\mu_{i}(t) - \tilde{\mu}_{i}(t))^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \beta_{i}^{2} (\nu_{i}(t) - \tilde{\nu}_{i}(t))^{2} dt + d_{2,i};$$

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k}} (\mu_{i}(t))^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \beta_{i}^{2} (\nu_{i}(t))^{2} dt + d_{3,i};$$

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k}} (\tilde{\mu}_{i}(t))^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \beta_{i}^{2} (\tilde{\nu}_{i}(t))^{2} dt + d_{4,i},$$
(3.15)

which are to be satisfied for all i = 1, 2, ..., g; and for all  $\{t_k \ge 0\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ . We note that  $d_{2,i} \ge 0$ ,  $d_{3,i} \ge 0$  and  $d_{4,i} \ge 0$ . The extra IQCs (3.15) impose more constraints in addition to those in (3.5). However, the description of the system state equations (3.1) can be simplified as follows:

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + B_1 w(t) + \tilde{B}_2 \tilde{u}(t) + \sum_{s=1}^{\tilde{f}} \tilde{E}_s \tilde{\xi}_s(t);$$

$$z(t) = C_1 x(t) + \tilde{D}_{12} \tilde{u}(t);$$

$$\tilde{\zeta}_1(t) = \tilde{H}_1 x(t) + \tilde{G}_1 \tilde{u}(t);$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\tilde{\zeta}_{\tilde{f}}(t) = \tilde{H}_{\tilde{f}} x(t) + \tilde{G}_{\tilde{f}} \tilde{u}(t);$$

$$\tilde{y}(t) = \tilde{C}_2 x(t) + \tilde{D}_{21} w(t) + \sum_{s=1}^{\tilde{f}} \tilde{F}_s \tilde{\xi}_s(t)$$
(3.16)

where  $\tilde{f} = f + 2g$ ;  $h = \sum_{s=1}^{f} h_s$ ;

$$\tilde{\xi}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \xi(t) \\ \mu(t) \\ \tilde{\mu}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{\zeta}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \zeta(t) \\ \nu(t) \\ \tilde{\nu}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \xi(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \xi_1(t) \\ \vdots \\ \xi_f(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \zeta(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \zeta_1(t) \\ \vdots \\ \zeta_f(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad (3.17)$$

$$\mu(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \mu_{1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \mu_{g}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \nu(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \nu_{1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \nu_{g}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{B}_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} B_{2} & 0_{n \times g} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{D}_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} D_{12} & 0_{q \times g} \end{bmatrix};$$
$$\tilde{E} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{E}_{1} & \dots & \tilde{E}_{\tilde{f}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} E_{1,1} & \dots & E_{1,f} & E_{2,1} & \dots & E_{2,g} & 0_{n \times g} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{C}_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} C_{2} \\ 0_{g \times n} \end{bmatrix};$$
$$\tilde{F} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{F}_{1} & \dots & \tilde{F}_{\tilde{f}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} F_{1,1} & \dots & F_{1,f} & F_{2,1} & \dots & F_{2,g} & 0_{l \times g} \\ 0_{g \times r_{1}} & \dots & 0_{g \times r_{f}} & 0_{g \times 1} & \dots & 0_{g \times 1} & I_{g \times g} \end{bmatrix};$$
$$\tilde{H} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{H}_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \tilde{H}_{\tilde{f}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} H_{1} \\ H_{2} \\ 0_{g \times n} \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} H_{1,1} \\ \vdots \\ H_{1,f} \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} H_{2,1} \\ \vdots \\ H_{2,g} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{D}_{21} = \begin{bmatrix} D_{21} \\ 0_{g \times p} \end{bmatrix};$$
$$\tilde{G} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{G}_{1} & 0_{h \times g} \\ G_{2} & 0_{g \times g} \\ 0_{g \times m} & I_{g \times g} \end{bmatrix}; \quad G_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} G_{1,1} \\ \vdots \\ G_{1,f} \end{bmatrix}; \quad G_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} G_{2,1} \\ \vdots \\ G_{2,g} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.18)

We now rewrite all IQCs in (3.5), (3.15) into the following form

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k}} \tilde{\xi}(t)^{T} Q_{j} \tilde{\xi}(t) dt \leq \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \tilde{\zeta}(t)^{T} R_{j} \tilde{\zeta}(t) dt + d_{j}, \quad \forall j = 1, 2, \dots, \hat{f}$$
(3.19)

and for all  $\{t_k \ge 0\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ . Note that  $\hat{f} = f + 3g$  and  $d_j \ge 0$ . Also, the constants  $\beta_i^2$  corresponding to  $\nu_i(t)$  and  $\tilde{\nu}_i(t)$  in (3.15) are accordingly included in  $R_j$  in (3.19). The set of all admissible uncertainty inputs  $\tilde{\xi}(\cdot)$  for the uncertain system (3.16), (3.19) is defined in the same way as in Definition 3.1 and denoted by  $\tilde{\Xi}$ .

To solve the  $H^{\infty}$  strong stabilization problem for the uncertain system (3.16), (3.19) using the results of [7] and [187], we need to introduce a vector  $\lambda$  of scaling constants  $\lambda_j \in \mathbf{R}, \lambda_j \geq 0$  (see [187, Theorem 3.1])

$$\lambda := \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_1 & \lambda_2 & \cdots & \lambda_{\hat{f}} \end{bmatrix}^T$$
(3.20)

so that we can define weighting matrices  $\tilde{Q}(\lambda) \ge 0$  and  $\tilde{R}(\lambda) \ge 0$ , and a constant  $\tilde{d}(\lambda) \ge 0$  as functions of  $\lambda$ . That is,

$$\tilde{Q}(\lambda) := \sum_{j=1}^{\hat{f}} \lambda_j Q_j; \quad \tilde{R}(\lambda) := \sum_{j=1}^{\hat{f}} \lambda_j R_j; \quad \tilde{d}(\lambda) := \sum_{j=1}^{\hat{f}} \lambda_j d_j$$
(3.21)
where  $\lambda$  belongs to the set

$$\Lambda := \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbf{R}^{\hat{f}} : \lambda_j \ge 0, \ \forall j = 1, 2, \dots, \hat{f} \right\}.$$
(3.22)

This implies that the IQCs (3.19) lead to the satisfaction of an IQC parameterized by scaling constants defined in (3.20). Thus, it follows from (3.19) that

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k}} \tilde{\xi}(t)^{T} \tilde{Q}(\lambda) \tilde{\xi}(t) dt \leq \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \tilde{\zeta}(t)^{T} \tilde{R}(\lambda) \tilde{\zeta}(t) dt + \bar{d}(\lambda)$$
(3.23)

for all  $\{t_k \geq 0\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ . For our purposes, we only consider a subset  $\tilde{\Lambda} \subseteq \Lambda$  such that  $\tilde{Q}(\lambda) > 0$ . Then, for each  $\lambda \in \tilde{\Lambda}$ , the quantities defined in (3.21) can be written as

$$\tilde{Q}(\lambda) = \bar{Q}(\lambda)^T \bar{Q}(\lambda); \quad \tilde{R}(\lambda) = \bar{R}(\lambda)^T \bar{R}(\lambda)$$
(3.24)

where  $\bar{Q}(\lambda) = \bar{Q}(\lambda)^T = \tilde{Q}(\lambda)^{\frac{1}{2}} > 0$  and  $\bar{R}(\lambda)$  is a rectangular matrix. For convenience,  $\bar{R}(\lambda)$  can be chosen as a square matrix such that  $\bar{R}(\lambda) = \bar{R}(\lambda)^T = \tilde{R}(\lambda)^{\frac{1}{2}} > 0$ . Thus, using the notation in (3.24), the IQC (3.23) can be written in a more compact form as

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k}} \|\bar{\xi}(t)\|^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \|\bar{\zeta}(t)\|^{2} dt + \bar{d}(\lambda)$$
(3.25)

for all  $\{t_k \ge 0\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  with

$$\bar{\xi}(t) := \bar{Q}(\lambda)\tilde{\xi}(t); \quad \bar{\zeta}(t) := \bar{R}(\lambda)\tilde{\zeta}(t); \quad \bar{d}(\lambda) := \tilde{d}(\lambda).$$
(3.26)

Furthermore, using (3.26), (3.17) and (3.18), we can also represent the system (3.16) as

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + B_1 w(t) + \tilde{B}_2 \tilde{u}(t) + \tilde{E} \bar{Q}(\lambda)^{-1} \bar{\xi}(t);$$

$$z(t) = C_1 x(t) + \tilde{D}_{12} \tilde{u}(t);$$

$$\bar{\zeta}(t) = \bar{R}(\lambda) \tilde{H} x(t) + \bar{R}(\lambda) \tilde{G} \tilde{u}(t);$$

$$\tilde{y}(t) = \tilde{C}_2 x(t) + \tilde{D}_{21} w(t) + \tilde{F} \bar{Q}(\lambda)^{-1} \bar{\xi}(t)$$
(3.27)

which satisfies the IQC (3.25). Thus, the desired stable nonlinear controller will be constructed based on the uncertain system (3.27), (3.25).

## 3.3 Stable Nonlinear Controller Design

In this section, we provide sufficient conditions under which a controller of the form (3.10) not only achieves absolute stabilization with a specified disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  when applied to the uncertain system (3.27), (3.25), but also is stable. To meet this stability requirement, we introduce an additional uncertainty term to form an artificial uncertain system, which is then employed to synthesize the desired controller. Although the additional uncertainty is only required to be an unknown constant uncertain parameter, this approach gives rise to some degree of conservatism. However, this conservatism can be reduced by applying scaling multipliers to exploit the structure of the additional uncertainty; e.g., see [2,7,187].

Using a state feedback gain matrix obtained in a preliminary step, the artificial uncertain system is constructed in such a way that for one particular value of the additional uncertainty, the artificial uncertain system reduces to the original nonlinear uncertain system (3.1), (3.2), (3.5). Therefore, if we can find a suitable controller for the artificial uncertain system, this controller will also solve our original problem of absolute stabilization with a specified disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$ . Also, for another value of the additional uncertainty, the artificial uncertain system reduces to a particular open loop configuration, which will ensure that the same controller must be stable. Moreover, as we follow standard results of  $H^{\infty}$  control theory in [187], the solution to our nonlinear robust  $H^{\infty}$  strong stabilization problem are obtained in terms of the stabilizing solutions to a pair of parameterized algebraic Riccati equations. This approach results in a controller which has the same order as that of the plant.

### 3.3.1 State feedback control problem

Solving a state feedback control problem for the uncertain system (3.27), (3.25) is one of preliminary steps required in our approach to synthesize the required stable output feedback controller. This approach aims to guarantee the stability of any suitable controller of the form (3.10), which absolutely stabilizes the artificial uncertain system with specified disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$ . Based on *S*-procedure type results (see [187, Theorem 3.1]), we introduce a scaling constant  $\kappa > 0$  corresponding to the IQC (3.25) so that the state equations of the system

#### (3.27) can be rewritten as

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + B_1 \tilde{w}(t) + B_2 \tilde{u}(t);$$
  

$$\tilde{z}(t) = \tilde{C}_1 x(t) + \bar{D}_{12} \tilde{u}(t);$$
  

$$\tilde{y}(t) = \tilde{C}_2 x(t) + \bar{D}_{21} \tilde{w}(t)$$
(3.28)

where

$$\tilde{w}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma w(t) \\ \sqrt{\kappa} \bar{\xi}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{z}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} z(t) \\ \sqrt{\kappa} \bar{\zeta}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{B}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1} B_1 & \sqrt{\kappa}^{-1} \tilde{E} \bar{Q}(\lambda)^{-1} \end{bmatrix}; \\ \tilde{C}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} C_1 \\ \sqrt{\kappa} \bar{R}(\lambda) \tilde{H} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{D}_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{D}_{12} \\ \sqrt{\kappa} \bar{R}(\lambda) \tilde{G} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{D}_{21} = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1} \tilde{D}_{21} & \sqrt{\kappa}^{-1} \tilde{F} \bar{Q}(\lambda)^{-1} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.29)

Using a vector  $\lambda = \tilde{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Lambda}$  and a scaling constant  $\kappa > 0$  in (3.29), we exploit the structure of the uncertainty in the uncertain system (3.27), (3.25) and transform a constrained robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problem into an unconstrained one such that it can be solved using the results of standard  $H^{\infty}$  control theory; e.g., see [187].

Assumption 3.1. Given a vector  $\tilde{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Lambda}$  and constants  $\beta_1 \ge 0, \dots, \beta_g \ge 0, \kappa > 0$ , the uncertain system (3.27), (3.25) is assumed to be such that  $J = \bar{D}_{12}^T \bar{D}_{12} > 0$ .

**Lemma 3.1.** Let a vector  $\tilde{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Lambda}$  and constants  $\beta_1 \geq 0, \ldots, \beta_g \geq 0$  be given. Suppose that the uncertain system (3.27), (3.25) satisfies Assumption 3.1, and is absolutely stabilizable with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  via an output feedback controller of the form (3.10) (but which is not necessarily stable). Then, there exists a constant  $\kappa > 0$  such that the algebraic Riccati equation

$$\left( A - \tilde{B}_2 J^{-1} \bar{D}_{12}^T \tilde{C}_1 \right)^T X + X \left( A - \tilde{B}_2 J^{-1} \bar{D}_{12}^T \tilde{C}_1 \right) + X \left( \tilde{B}_1 \tilde{B}_1^T - \tilde{B}_2 J^{-1} \tilde{B}_2^T \right) X + \tilde{C}_1^T \left( I - \bar{D}_{12} J^{-1} \bar{D}_{12}^T \right) \tilde{C}_1 = 0$$
 (3.30)

has a stabilizing solution  $X \ge 0$ . Moreover, if the condition (3.30) holds, the uncertain system (3.27), (3.25) is absolutely stabilizable with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  via the state feedback controller

$$\tilde{u}(t) = Kx(t) \tag{3.31}$$

where

$$K = \begin{bmatrix} K_u \\ K_{\tilde{\nu}} \end{bmatrix} = -J^{-1} \left( \tilde{B}_2^T X + \bar{D}_{12}^T \tilde{C}_1 \right).$$
(3.32)

**Proof.** If the uncertain system (3.27), (3.25) satisfies Assumption 3.1, and is absolutely stabilizable with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  via an output feedback controller of the form (3.10), it follows from the proof of Theorem 4.1 in [187] that there exists a constant  $\kappa > 0$  such that the controller (3.10) solves the  $H^{\infty}$  control problem defined by the system (3.28) and the  $H^{\infty}$  norm bound condition

$$\tilde{\mathcal{J}} := \sup_{\tilde{w}(\cdot) \in \mathbf{L}_2[0,\infty), x(0)=0, x_c(0)=0} \frac{\|\tilde{z}(\cdot)\|_2^2}{\|\tilde{w}(\cdot)\|_2^2} < 1.$$
(3.33)

Then, it follows from a standard result on  $H^{\infty}$  control (e.g., see [312, Theorem 3.3]) that there exists a state feedback control law (3.31) that stabilizes the system (3.28) and leads to the satisfaction of (3.33). Moreover, it follows from the  $H^{\infty}$  control theory (e.g., see [312, Corollary 3.1]) that the Riccati equation (3.30) has a stabilizing solution  $X \ge 0$  and that the state feedback control law (3.31), (3.32) stabilizes the system (3.28) and leads to the satisfaction of (187, Theorem 4.1], it follows that the state feedback control law (3.31), (3.32) absolutely stabilizes the uncertain system (3.27), (3.25) with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$ .

### 3.3.2 Artificial uncertain system

We now suppose that the vector  $\tilde{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Lambda}$  and constants  $\beta_1 \geq 0, \ldots, \beta_g \geq 0, \kappa > 0$ as stated in Lemma 3.1 are given. Then, the state feedback gain matrix Kdefined in (3.32) can be constructed in terms of the stabilizing solution  $X \geq 0$ to the algebraic Riccati equation (3.30). Using the matrix K and introducing an additional uncertainty, we form an artificial uncertain system as follows:

$$\dot{x}(t) = \bar{A}x(t) + B_1w(t) + \bar{B}_2\tilde{u}(t) + \bar{E}_1\bar{\xi}_1(t) + \bar{E}_2\bar{\xi}_2(t);$$

$$z(t) = \bar{C}_1x(t) + M_1\bar{\xi}_2(t) + \check{D}_{12}\tilde{u}(t);$$

$$\bar{\zeta}_1(t) = \bar{H}_1x(t) + M_2\bar{\xi}_2(t) + \bar{G}_1\tilde{u}(t);$$

$$\bar{\zeta}_2(t) = \bar{H}_2x(t) + \bar{G}_2\tilde{u}(t);$$

$$\tilde{y}(t) = \tilde{C}_2x(t) + \tilde{D}_{21}w(t) + \bar{F}_1\bar{\xi}_1(t) + \bar{F}_2\bar{\xi}_2(t)$$
(3.34)

where

$$\bar{A} = A + \frac{1}{2}B_2K_u; \quad \bar{B}_2 = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2}B_2 & 0_{n\times g} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{E}_1 = \tilde{E}\bar{Q}(\lambda)^{-1}; \quad \bar{E}_2 = B_2N^{-1}; \\ \bar{C}_1 = C_1 + \frac{1}{2}D_{12}K_u; \quad M_1 = D_{12}N^{-1}; \quad \check{D}_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2}D_{12} & 0_{q\times g} \end{bmatrix}; \\ \bar{H}_1 = \bar{R}(\lambda) \begin{bmatrix} H_1 + \frac{1}{2}G_1K_u \\ H_2 + \frac{1}{2}G_2K_u \\ 0_{g\times n} \end{bmatrix}; \quad M_2 = \bar{R}(\lambda) \begin{bmatrix} G_1 \\ G_2 \\ 0_{g\times m} \end{bmatrix} N^{-1}; \\ \bar{G}_1 = \bar{R}(\lambda) \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2}G_1 & 0_{h\times g} \\ \frac{1}{2}G_2 & 0_{g\times g} \\ 0_{g\times m} & I_{g\times g} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{H}_2 = \frac{1}{2}NK_u; \quad \bar{G}_2 = -\frac{1}{2}N \begin{bmatrix} I_{m\times m} & 0_{m\times g} \end{bmatrix}; \\ \bar{F}_1 = \tilde{F}\bar{Q}(\lambda)^{-1}; \quad \bar{F}_2 = 0_{(l+g)\times m}. \tag{3.35}$$

Here, N is any  $m \times m$  non-singular scaling matrix and  $\lambda = \bar{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Lambda}$ . Note that the uncertainty input  $\bar{\xi}_1(t)$  and uncertainty output  $\bar{\zeta}_1(t)$  are related according to the IQC (3.25) with  $\bar{\xi}(t)$  and  $\bar{\zeta}(t)$  replaced by  $\bar{\xi}_1(t)$  and  $\bar{\zeta}_1(t)$ , respectively. The IQC (3.25) is also extended to include the additional uncertainty input  $\bar{\xi}_2(t)$  and uncertainty output  $\bar{\zeta}_2(t)$ . That is,

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k}} \|\bar{\xi}_{v}(t)\|^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \|\bar{\zeta}_{v}(t)\|^{2} dt + \bar{d}_{v}(\lambda)$$
(3.36)

with  $\bar{d}_v(\lambda) \ge 0$  for all v = 1, 2 and for all  $\{t_k \ge 0\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ , and  $\bar{\xi}_2(t), \bar{\zeta}_2(t) \in \mathbf{R}^m$ .

We consider two special cases of the uncertainty input  $\bar{\xi}_2(t)$  in order to show that any suitable output feedback controller of the form (3.10) for the artificial uncertain system (3.34), (3.36) is indeed stable and solves the original control problem as stated in Section 3.2. In this case, the relation between  $\bar{\xi}_2(t)$  and  $\bar{\zeta}_2(t)$  is described as

$$\bar{\xi}_2(t) = \Delta \,\bar{\zeta}_2(t) \tag{3.37}$$

where  $\Delta \in \mathbf{R}$  is an unknown constant uncertain parameter satisfying

$$|\Delta| \le 1. \tag{3.38}$$

**Special case I:**  $\Delta = 1$ . In this case, we have that  $\bar{\xi}_2(t) \equiv \bar{\zeta}_2(t) = \frac{1}{2}K_u x(t) - \frac{1}{2}u(t)$ . It is clear that this uncertainty input satisfies the IQC (3.36) and that

with this  $\bar{\xi}_2(t)$ , the state equation (3.34) becomes

$$\dot{x}(t) = (A + B_2 K_u) x(t) + B_1 w(t) + EQ(\lambda)^{-1} \xi(t);$$
  

$$z(t) = (C_1 + D_{12} K_u) x(t);$$
  

$$\bar{\zeta}(t) = \bar{R}(\lambda) (\tilde{H} + \tilde{G}K) x(t);$$
  

$$\tilde{y}(t) = \tilde{C}_2 x(t) + \tilde{D}_{21} w(t) + \tilde{F} \bar{Q}(\lambda)^{-1} \bar{\xi}(t)$$
(3.39)

where the IQC (3.25) is also satisfied. It then follows from (3.17), (3.18) and (3.26) that we can further decompose the state equations (3.39) as

$$\dot{x}(t) = (A + B_2 K_u) x(t) + B_1 w(t) + \sum_{s=1}^{f} E_{1,s} \xi_s(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{g} E_{2,i} \mu_i(t);$$

$$z(t) = (C_1 + D_{12} K_u) x(t);$$

$$\zeta_1(t) = (H_{1,1} + G_{1,1} K_u) x(t);$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\zeta_f(t) = (H_{1,f} + G_{1,f} K_u) x(t);$$

$$\psi_1(t) = (H_{2,1} + G_{2,1} K_u) x(t);$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\nu_g(t) = (H_{2,g} + G_{2,g} K_u) x(t);$$

$$y(t) = C_2 x(t) + D_{21} w(t) + \sum_{s=1}^{f} F_{1,s} \xi_s(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{g} F_{2,i} \mu_i(t).$$
(3.40)

where the IQCs (3.5) and GLCs (3.3) are satisfied. The state equations (3.40) represent the closed loop nonlinear uncertain system, which is obtained when the state feedback controller (3.31), (3.32) is applied to the original nonlinear uncertain system (3.1), (3.2), (3.5). Thus, it follows from the construction of the matrix K and Lemma 3.1 that the closed loop nonlinear uncertain system (3.40), (3.2), (3.5) is in fact absolutely stable with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$ .

Through Special case I, we will show that the output feedback controller (3.10) designed using our method is indeed stable. We now suppose that the artificial uncertain system (3.34), (3.36) is absolutely stabilizable with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  via the application of any suitable output feedback controller of the form (3.10), which may not be stable. It then follows from Special case



Figure 3.2: Block diagrams corresponding to Special case I and Special case II; see [7].

I that for this particular additional uncertainty input  $\bar{\xi}_2(t)$  and output  $\bar{\zeta}_2(t)$ , we will obtain a closed loop system which has an open loop configuration as shown in Figure 3.2(a). Moreover, we also notice that the system (3.40) is not affected by the control input u(t), which is the output u(t) of the controller (3.6), (3.7). Here, the block  $\tilde{\Sigma}_x$  is the absolutely stable closed loop system (3.40) and the block  $\Sigma_c$  is the output feedback controller (3.6). As we require the entire closed loop system to be absolutely stable, then the output feedback controller (3.10) must be stable.

Special case II:  $\Delta = -1$ . From this case, we have that  $\bar{\xi}_2(t) \equiv -\bar{\zeta}_2(t) = -\frac{1}{2}K_u x(t) + \frac{1}{2}u(t)$ , which satisfies the IQC (3.36) and that the state equations (3.34) becomes (3.27). Based on (3.17), (3.18) and (3.26), it is straightforward to further decompose (3.27) into the system (3.1) with the IQCs (3.5) and GLCs (3.3) satisfied. It is clear that the artificial uncertain system (3.34), (3.36) reduces to the original nonlinear uncertain system (3.1), (3.2), (3.5).

Thus, it follows from this case that when the controller (3.10) is applied to the artificial uncertain system (3.34), (3.36), the resulting closed loop system is equivalent to the one obtained by applying the controller (3.6), (3.7) to the nonlinear uncertain system (3.1), (3.2), (3.5) as shown in Figure 3.2(b). Here, the block  $\Sigma_x$  is the original system (3.1) and the block  $\Sigma_c$  is the controller (3.6). This implies that the controller (3.10) indeed solves the original problem of absolute stabilization with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$ .

As the additional uncertainty satisfying the IQCs (3.36) overbounds the scalar uncertainty (3.37), (3.38), we conclude from both special cases that the controller

(3.10) obtained by applying the method in [187] to the artificial uncertain system (3.34), (3.36) is indeed a stable controller solving the original problem of absolute stabilization with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  for the nonlinear uncertain system (3.1), (3.2), (3.5). This fact allows us to apply the method in [187] in order to obtain our main result involving the stabilizing solutions to parameterized algebraic Riccati equations.

### **3.3.3** Stable nonlinear $H^{\infty}$ controller

Introducing scaling constants  $\tau_1 > 0$  and  $\tau_2 > 0$  for the uncertainties satisfying the IQCs (3.36), we can rewrite the state equations (3.34) as follows:

$$\dot{x}(t) = \bar{A}x(t) + \hat{B}_{1}\bar{w}(t) + \hat{B}_{2}\tilde{u}(t);$$
  

$$\bar{z}(t) = \hat{C}_{1}x(t) + \hat{D}_{11}\bar{w}(t) + \hat{D}_{12}\tilde{u}(t);$$
  

$$\tilde{y}(t) = \tilde{C}_{2}x(t) + \hat{D}_{21}\bar{w}(t)$$
(3.41)

where  $r = \sum_{s=1}^{f} r_s$ ;  $\tilde{r} = r + 2g$ ;  $\tilde{h} = h + 2g$ ;

$$\bar{w}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma w(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_1} \bar{\xi}_1(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_2} \bar{\xi}_2(t) \end{bmatrix}; \ \bar{z}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} z(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_1} \bar{\zeta}_1(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_2} \bar{\zeta}_2(t) \end{bmatrix}; \ \hat{B}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1} B_1 & \sqrt{\tau_1}^{-1} \bar{E}_1 & \sqrt{\tau_2}^{-1} \bar{E}_2 \end{bmatrix}; 
\hat{B}_2 = \bar{B}_2; \ \hat{C}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{C}_1 \\ \sqrt{\tau_1} \bar{H}_1 \\ \sqrt{\tau_2} \bar{H}_2 \end{bmatrix}; \ \hat{D}_{11} = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{q \times p} & 0_{q \times \tilde{r}} & \frac{1}{\sqrt{\tau_2}} M_1 \\ 0_{\tilde{h} \times p} & 0_{\tilde{h} \times \tilde{r}} & \sqrt{\frac{\tau_1}{\tau_2}} M_2 \\ 0_{m \times p} & 0_{m \times \tilde{r}} & 0_{m \times m} \end{bmatrix}; 
\hat{D}_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} \check{D}_{12} \\ \sqrt{\tau_1} \bar{G}_1 \\ \sqrt{\tau_2} \bar{G}_2 \end{bmatrix}; \ \hat{D}_{21} = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1} \tilde{D}_{21} & \sqrt{\tau_1}^{-1} \bar{F}_1 & \sqrt{\tau_2}^{-1} \bar{F}_2 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.42)

Since a  $\hat{D}_{11}$  term explicitly appears in (3.41), the standard  $H^{\infty}$  control theory cannot immediately be used to obtain a solution to our control problem. Thus, it is necessary to apply a loop shifting transformation so that the  $\hat{D}_{11}$  term can be eliminated from (3.41). In order to achieve this, we first need to impose the following assumption in order that our  $H^{\infty}$  control problem is non-singular and well-defined; e.g., see [16, Sections 4.5.1 and 5.5.1] and [18, Section 17.2]. Assumption 3.2. Given a vector  $\bar{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Lambda}$ , constants  $\beta_1 \geq 0, \ldots, \beta_g \geq 0, \tau_1 > 0, \tau_2 > 0$  and any non-singular scaling matrix N, the artificial uncertain system (3.34), (3.36) is assumed to be such that  $\hat{D}_{11}\hat{D}_{11}^T < I$ .

We can now define

$$\Phi := I - \hat{D}_{11}^T \hat{D}_{11} > 0; \qquad \bar{\Phi} := I - \hat{D}_{11} \hat{D}_{11}^T > 0 \tag{3.43}$$

and also

$$\hat{w}(t) := \Phi^{\frac{1}{2}} \bar{w}(t) - \Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}} \hat{D}_{11}^{T} \left( \hat{C}_{1} x(t) + \hat{D}_{12} \tilde{u}(t) \right);$$

$$\hat{z}(t) := \bar{\Phi}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left( \hat{C}_{1} x(t) + \hat{D}_{12} \tilde{u}(t) \right).$$
(3.44)

From the relationships in (3.44), it is straightforward to show that

$$\bar{w}(t) = \Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}}\hat{w}(t) + \Phi^{-1}\hat{D}_{11}^T\left(\hat{C}_1x(t) + \hat{D}_{12}\tilde{u}(t)\right)$$
(3.45)

and

$$\|\bar{z}(t)\|_{2}^{2} - \|\bar{w}(t)\|_{2}^{2} \equiv \|\hat{z}(t)\|_{2}^{2} - \|\hat{w}(t)\|_{2}^{2}.$$
(3.46)

Then, assuming Assumption 3.2 and substituting (3.45) into (3.41), we can rewrite the state equations (3.41) as

$$\dot{x}(t) = \breve{A}x(t) + \breve{B}_{1}\hat{w}(t) + \breve{B}_{2}\tilde{u}(t);$$
  

$$\dot{z}(t) = \breve{C}_{1}x(t) + \breve{D}_{12}\tilde{u}(t);$$
  

$$\tilde{y}(t) = \breve{C}_{2}x(t) + \breve{D}_{21}\hat{w}(t) + \breve{D}_{22}\tilde{u}(t)$$
(3.47)

where

Furthermore, we also define

$$\bar{y}(t) := \tilde{y}(t) - \check{D}_{22}\tilde{u}(t) \tag{3.49}$$

to eliminate the  $\breve{D}_{22}$  term from (3.47). Hence, the state equations (3.47) can be rewritten as

$$\dot{x}(t) = \breve{A}x(t) + \breve{B}_{1}\hat{w}(t) + \breve{B}_{2}\tilde{u}(t);$$
  

$$\dot{z}(t) = \breve{C}_{1}x(t) + \breve{D}_{12}\tilde{u}(t);$$
  

$$\bar{y}(t) = \breve{C}_{2}x(t) + \breve{D}_{21}\hat{w}(t).$$
(3.50)

Then, the output feedback controller for the system (3.50) is of the form

$$\dot{x}_c(t) = \check{A}_c x_c(t) + \tilde{B}_c \bar{y}(t);$$
  
$$\tilde{u}(t) = \tilde{C}_c x_c(t).$$
(3.51)

If we interconnect the controller (3.51) to the system (3.50), the resulting closed loop system is required to satisfy the following  $H^{\infty}$  norm bound condition

$$\hat{\mathcal{J}} := \sup_{\hat{w}(\cdot) \in \mathbf{L}_2[0,\infty), x(0)=0, x_c(0)=0} \frac{\|\hat{z}(\cdot)\|_2^2}{\|\hat{w}(\cdot)\|_2^2} < 1.$$
(3.52)

A solution to this standard  $H^{\infty}$  control problem is given in terms of solutions to the parameterized algebraic Riccati equations:

$$\begin{pmatrix} \breve{A} - \breve{B}_{2}\breve{J}_{1}^{-1}\breve{D}_{12}^{T}\breve{C}_{1} \end{pmatrix}^{T}\breve{X} + \breve{X} \begin{pmatrix} \breve{A} - \breve{B}_{2}\breve{J}_{1}^{-1}\breve{D}_{12}^{T}\breve{C}_{1} \end{pmatrix} + \breve{X} \begin{pmatrix} \breve{B}_{1}\breve{B}_{1}^{T} - \breve{B}_{2}\breve{J}_{1}^{-1}\breve{B}_{2}^{T} \end{pmatrix}\breve{X} + \breve{C}_{1}^{T} \begin{pmatrix} I - \breve{D}_{12}\breve{J}_{1}^{-1}\breve{D}_{12}^{T} \end{pmatrix}\breve{C}_{1} = 0; \qquad (3.53) \begin{pmatrix} \breve{A} - \breve{B}_{1}\breve{D}_{21}^{T}\breve{J}_{2}^{-1}\breve{C}_{2} \end{pmatrix}\breve{Y} + \breve{Y} \begin{pmatrix} \breve{A} - \breve{B}_{1}\breve{D}_{21}^{T}\breve{J}_{2}^{-1}\breve{C}_{2} \end{pmatrix}^{T} + \breve{Y} \begin{pmatrix} \breve{C}_{1}^{T}\breve{C}_{1} - \breve{C}_{2}^{T}\breve{J}_{2}^{-1}\breve{C}_{2} \end{pmatrix}\breve{Y} + \breve{B}_{1} \begin{pmatrix} I - \breve{D}_{21}^{T}\breve{J}_{2}^{-1}\breve{D}_{21} \end{pmatrix}\breve{B}_{1}^{T} = 0 \qquad (3.54)$$

such that

1. 
$$\breve{A} - \breve{B}_{2}\breve{J}_{1}^{-1}\breve{D}_{12}^{T}\breve{C}_{1} + \left(\breve{B}_{1}\breve{B}_{1}^{T} - \breve{B}_{2}\breve{J}_{1}^{-1}\breve{B}_{2}^{T}\right)\breve{X}$$
 is Hurwitz;  
2.  $\breve{A} - \breve{B}_{1}\breve{D}_{21}^{T}\breve{J}_{2}^{-1}\breve{C}_{2} + \breve{Y}\left(\breve{C}_{1}^{T}\breve{C}_{1} - \breve{C}_{2}^{T}\breve{J}_{2}^{-1}\breve{C}_{2}\right)$  is Hurwitz;

3. The spectral radius  $\rho(\breve{X}\breve{Y})$  of the product  $\hat{X}\hat{Y}$  is strictly less than one.

The Riccati equations (3.53) and (3.54) are solvable if  $\check{J}_1$  and  $\check{J}_2$  are non-singular matrices. Thus, we need to impose the following assumption; e.g., see [187, 312].

Assumption 3.3. Given a vector  $\overline{\lambda} \in \widetilde{\Lambda}$ , constants  $\beta_1 \geq 0, \ldots, \beta_g \geq 0, \tau_1 > 0, \tau_2 > 0$  and any non-singular scaling matrix N, the artificial uncertain system (3.34), (3.36) is assumed to be such that  $J_1 > 0$  and  $J_2 > 0$ .

**Theorem 3.1.** Let vectors  $\tilde{\lambda}, \bar{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Lambda}$  and constants  $\beta_1 \geq 0, \ldots, \beta_g \geq 0$  be given. Suppose that there exists a constant  $\kappa > 0$  such that the uncertain system (3.27), (3.25) satisfies Assumption 3.1 and the algebraic Riccati equation (3.30) has a stabilizing solution  $X \geq 0$ , and let

$$K = -J^{-1} \left( \tilde{B}_2^T X + \bar{D}_{12}^T \tilde{C}_1 \right).$$

Also, suppose that there exist a non-singular scaling matrix N and constants  $\tau_1 > 0$  and  $\tau_2 > 0$  such that the artificial uncertain system (3.34), (3.36) satisfies Assumptions 3.2 and 3.3 and that both Riccati equations (3.53) and (3.54) have stabilizing solutions  $\breve{X} \ge 0$  and  $\breve{Y} \ge 0$ , and the spectral radius of the product  $\breve{X}\breve{Y}$  satisfies  $\rho(\breve{X}\breve{Y}) < 1$ . Then the nonlinear uncertain system (3.1), (3.2), (3.5) is absolutely stabilizable with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$  via a stable nonlinear output feedback controller of the form (3.6), (3.7). Moreover, the controller matrices are given as follows

$$A_{c} = \breve{A}_{c} - \tilde{B}_{c}\breve{D}_{22}\tilde{C}_{c};$$
  

$$\breve{A}_{c} = \breve{A} + \breve{B}_{2}\tilde{C}_{c} - \tilde{B}_{c}\breve{C}_{2} + \left(\breve{B}_{1} - \tilde{B}_{c}\breve{D}_{21}\right)\breve{B}_{1}^{T}\breve{X};$$
  

$$\tilde{B}_{c} = \left(I - \breve{Y}\breve{X}\right)^{-1} \left(\breve{Y}\breve{C}_{2}^{T} + \breve{B}_{1}\breve{D}_{21}^{T}\right)\breve{J}_{2}^{-1};$$
  

$$\tilde{C}_{c} = -\breve{J}_{1}^{-1} \left(\breve{B}_{2}^{T}\breve{X} + \breve{D}_{12}^{T}\breve{C}_{1}\right).$$
(3.55)

**Proof.** It follows using similar arguments to those in the proof of Theorem 4.1 in [187] that the artificial uncertain system (3.34), (3.36) is absolutely stabilizable with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  via a controller of the form (3.10) if and only if there exist constants  $\tau_1 > 0$  and  $\tau_2 > 0$  such that the controller (3.51) solves the  $H^{\infty}$  control problem defined by (3.50) and (3.52). Moreover, it follows from the results of  $H^{\infty}$  control theory (e.g., see [18, 312]) that the  $H^{\infty}$  control problem defined by (3.50) and (3.52) has a solution if and only if the algebraic Riccati equations (3.53) and (3.54) have stabilizing solutions  $\breve{X} \ge 0$  and  $\breve{Y} \ge 0$ , respectively, such that the spectral radius of the product  $\breve{X}\breve{Y}$  satisfies  $\rho(\breve{X}\breve{Y}) < 1$ . Moreover, if all conditions of the theorem hold, the controller (3.51), (3.55) will absolutely stabilize the uncertain system (3.34), (3.36) with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$ . Then, using arguments for the two special cases discussed above, it follows that the controller (3.51), (3.55) is indeed stable and absolutely stabilizes the nonlinear uncertain system (3.1), (3.2), (3.5) with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$ .

### 3.4 A Differential Evolution Approach

The stable nonlinear controller design method presented in Section 3.3 involves several design parameters, which constitute a vector of decision variables

$$\vartheta := \begin{bmatrix} \gamma & \kappa & \tau_1 & \tau_2 & \tilde{\lambda}^T & \bar{\lambda}^T \end{bmatrix}^T$$
(3.56)

where  $\vartheta \in \mathbf{R}^{\bar{f}}$ ,  $\bar{f} = 2(f+3g) + 4$ ; and  $\tilde{\lambda}$ ,  $\bar{\lambda}$  are as defined in (3.20). All elements of  $\vartheta$  are positive real numbers. As  $\vartheta$  may have a large dimension, we need to apply an optimization method to determine the value of each element of  $\vartheta$  in order to satisfy all constraints arising in the controller design algorithm. This condition leads us to formulate our controller design problem as a constrained nonlinear optimization problem stated as follows: Find an optimal vector  $\vartheta^*$  of design parameters to solve

$$\min_{\vartheta} \mathsf{f}(\theta) \tag{3.57}$$

subject to

$$\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{j}}(\vartheta) = 0; \quad \mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{k}}(\vartheta) \le 0 \tag{3.58}$$

for j = 1, 2, ..., a and k = 1, 2, ..., b. Here,  $f(\vartheta)$  is an objective function to be minimized; and  $g_j(\vartheta)$  and  $h_k(\vartheta)$  are the equality and inequality constraints, respectively.

Considering the controller design algorithm presented in Section 3.3, we in fact deal with an optimization problem that is subject to both nonconvex and nonlinear constraints. To find an optimal solution  $\vartheta^*$  to such a problem, we apply the differential evolution (DE) algorithm as described in Chapter 2. Since we are concerned with an  $H^{\infty}$  control problem, a suitable cost function  $f(\vartheta)$  to be minimized is chosen as

$$f(\vartheta) = \gamma^{n} \tag{3.59}$$

where  $n \ge 1$  is a power constant used to help the DE algorithm to return an optimal  $\gamma > 0$ . Moreover, the equality constraints are

$$g_{1}(\vartheta) = \left(A - \tilde{B}_{2}J^{-1}\bar{D}_{12}^{T}\tilde{C}_{1}\right)^{T}X + X\left(A - \tilde{B}_{2}J^{-1}\bar{D}_{12}^{T}\tilde{C}_{1}\right) + X\left(\tilde{B}_{1}\tilde{B}_{1}^{T} - \tilde{B}_{2}J^{-1}\tilde{B}_{2}^{T}\right)X + \tilde{C}_{1}^{T}\left(I - \bar{D}_{12}J^{-1}\bar{D}_{12}^{T}\right)\tilde{C}_{1} = 0; g_{2}(\vartheta) = \left(\breve{A} - \breve{B}_{2}\breve{J}_{1}^{-1}\breve{D}_{12}^{T}\breve{C}_{1}\right)^{T}\breve{X} + \breve{X}\left(\breve{A} - \breve{B}_{2}\breve{J}_{1}^{-1}\breve{D}_{12}^{T}\breve{C}_{1}\right) + \breve{X}\left(\breve{B}_{1}\breve{B}_{1}^{T} - \breve{B}_{2}\breve{J}_{1}^{-1}\breve{B}_{2}^{T}\right)\breve{X} + \breve{C}_{1}^{T}\left(I - \breve{D}_{12}\breve{J}_{1}^{-1}\breve{D}_{12}^{T}\right)\breve{C}_{1} = 0; g_{3}(\vartheta) = \left(\breve{A} - \breve{B}_{1}\breve{D}_{21}^{T}\breve{J}_{2}^{-1}\breve{C}_{2}\right)\breve{Y} + \breve{Y}\left(\breve{A} - \breve{B}_{1}\breve{D}_{21}^{T}\breve{J}_{2}^{-1}\breve{C}_{2}\right)^{T} + \breve{Y}\left(\breve{C}_{1}^{T}\breve{C}_{1} - \breve{C}_{2}^{T}\breve{J}_{2}^{-1}\breve{C}_{2}\right)\breve{Y} + \breve{B}_{1}\left(I - \breve{D}_{21}^{T}\breve{J}_{2}^{-1}\breve{D}_{21}\right)\breve{B}_{1}^{T} = 0 \quad (3.60)$$

and the inequality constraints are

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{h}_{1}(\vartheta) &= -\tilde{Q}(\tilde{\lambda}) < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{2}(\vartheta) = -\tilde{R}(\tilde{\lambda}) < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{3}(\vartheta) &= -J < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{4}(\vartheta) = -X < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{5}(\vartheta) &= -\tilde{Q}(\bar{\lambda}) < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{6}(\vartheta) = -\tilde{R}(\bar{\lambda}) < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{7}(\vartheta) &= \hat{D}_{11}\hat{D}_{11}^{T} - I < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{8}(\vartheta) = -\check{J}_{1} < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{9}(\vartheta) &= -\check{J}_{2} < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{10}(\vartheta) = -\check{X} < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{11}(\vartheta) &= -\check{Y} < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{12}(\vartheta) = \rho(\check{X}\check{Y}) - 1 < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{13}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{A}_{X}) < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{14}(\vartheta) = e_{\max,r}(\check{\mathcal{A}}_{X}) < 0; \\ \end{split}$$
(3.61)

where  $\rho(\mathcal{M})$  and  $e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{M})$  denote the spectral radius and the largest real part of the eigenvalues of the matrix  $\mathcal{M}$ , respectively; and

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathcal{A}_{X} &:= A - \tilde{B}_{2} J^{-1} \bar{D}_{12}^{T} \tilde{C}_{1} + \left( \tilde{B}_{1} \tilde{B}_{1}^{T} - \tilde{B}_{2} J^{-1} \tilde{B}_{2}^{T} \right) X; \\
\breve{\mathcal{A}}_{X} &:= \breve{A} - \breve{B}_{2} \breve{J}_{1}^{-1} \breve{D}_{12}^{T} \breve{C}_{1} + \left( \breve{B}_{1} \breve{B}_{1}^{T} - \breve{B}_{2} \breve{J}_{1}^{-1} \breve{B}_{2}^{T} \right) \breve{X}; \\
\breve{\mathcal{A}}_{Y} &:= \breve{A} - \breve{B}_{1} \breve{D}_{21}^{T} \breve{J}_{2}^{-1} \breve{C}_{2} + \breve{Y} \left( \breve{C}_{1}^{T} \breve{C}_{1} - \breve{C}_{2}^{T} \breve{J}_{2}^{-1} \breve{C}_{2} \right).
\end{aligned}$$
(3.62)

The constraints in (3.60) and (3.61) are used to evaluate the fitness of each candidate solution in a population. For a given  $\vartheta$ , the fitness test proceeds according to the following steps:

1. Compute the eigenvalues of  $\tilde{Q}(\tilde{\lambda})$ ,  $\tilde{R}(\tilde{\lambda})$  and J in order to check if the

constraints  $h_1(\vartheta)$ ,  $h_2(\vartheta)$  and  $h_3(\vartheta)$  are satisfied.

- 2. Use the constraint  $g_1(\vartheta)$  to obtain a solution X to the Riccati equation (3.30).
- 3. If the Riccati equation (3.30) has a solution X, we need to verify whether it is a positive definite stabilizing solution through the evaluation of the constraints  $h_4(\vartheta)$  and  $h_{13}(\vartheta)$ .
- 4. Compute the eigenvalues of  $\tilde{Q}(\bar{\lambda})$ ,  $\tilde{R}(\bar{\lambda})$ ,  $(\hat{D}_{11}\hat{D}_{11}^T I)$ ,  $\breve{J}_1$  and  $\breve{J}_2$  in order to check if the constraints  $h_5(\theta)$ ,  $h_6(\theta)$ ,  $h_7(\theta)$ ,  $h_8(\theta)$  and  $h_9(\theta)$  are satisfied.
- 5. Use the constraints  $\mathbf{g}_2(\vartheta)$  and  $\mathbf{g}_3(\vartheta)$  to obtain solutions  $\breve{X}$  and  $\breve{Y}$  to the Riccati equations (3.53) and (3.54).
- 6. If the Riccati equations (3.53) and (3.54) have solutions X and Y, we need to verify whether they are positive definite stabilizing solutions through the evaluation of the constraints  $h_{10}(\theta)$ ,  $h_{11}(\theta)$ ,  $h_{12}(\theta)$ ,  $h_{14}(\theta)$  and  $h_{15}(\theta)$ .
- 7. Compute the spectral radius of the product  $\check{X}\check{Y}$  to verify if the constraint  $h_{10}(\vartheta)$  is satisfied.
- 8. Compute the value of the objective function  $f(\vartheta)$  in (3.59).

Through the fitness test routine above, we acquire information above how many constraints have been violated by a candidate solution and how much penalty is incurred. Thus, from the constraints in (3.60) and (3.61), we can derive a set of penalty functions corresponding to those constraints. That is,

$$p_{1}(\vartheta) = |e_{\min}(\tilde{Q}(\tilde{\lambda}))|^{s_{1}}; \qquad p_{2}(\vartheta) = |e_{\min}(\tilde{R}(\tilde{\lambda}))|^{s_{2}};$$

$$p_{3}(\vartheta) = |e_{\min}(J)|^{s_{3}}; \qquad p_{4}(\vartheta) = \rho(\mathcal{C}_{X})^{s_{4}};$$

$$p_{5}(\vartheta) = |e_{\min}(X)|^{s_{5}}; \qquad p_{6}(\vartheta) = e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{A}_{X})^{s_{6}};$$

$$p_{7}(\theta) = |e_{\min}(\tilde{Q}(\tilde{\lambda}))|^{s_{7}}; \qquad p_{8}(\theta) = |e_{\min}(\tilde{R}(\tilde{\lambda}))|^{s_{8}};$$

$$p_{9}(\vartheta) = e_{\max}(\hat{D}_{11}\hat{D}_{11}^{T} - I)^{s_{9}}; \qquad p_{10}(\vartheta) = |e_{\min}(\tilde{J}_{1})|^{s_{10}};$$

$$p_{11}(\vartheta) = |e_{\min}(\tilde{J}_{2})|^{s_{11}}; \qquad p_{12}(\vartheta) = \rho(\mathcal{C}_{\tilde{X}})^{s_{12}};$$

$$p_{13}(\vartheta) = \rho(\mathcal{C}_{\tilde{Y}})^{s_{13}}; \qquad p_{14}(\vartheta) = |e_{\min}(\tilde{X})|^{s_{14}};$$

$$p_{15}(\vartheta) = |e_{\min}(\tilde{Y})|^{s_{15}}; \qquad p_{16}(\vartheta) = e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{A}_{\tilde{X}})^{s_{16}};$$

$$p_{17}(\vartheta) = e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{A}_{\tilde{Y}})^{s_{17}}; \qquad p_{18}(\vartheta) = (\rho(\tilde{X}\tilde{Y}) - 1)^{s_{18}};$$

$$p_{19}(\vartheta) = f(\vartheta)$$

$$(3.63)$$

where  $\mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{r}} \geq 1$  for  $\mathbf{r} = 1, 2, ..., 18$ . Here,  $e_{\min}(\mathcal{M})$  and  $e_{\max}(\mathcal{M})$  denote the smallest and the largest eigenvalue of the symmetric matrix  $\mathcal{M}$ , respectively. If the matrix  $\mathcal{M}$  is required to be positive definite, we assign  $|e_{\min}(\mathcal{M})|^{\mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{r}}}$  as a penalty because when this requirement is violated, the matrix  $\mathcal{M}$  can be either negative (semi)definite or indefinite. Moreover,  $\mathcal{C}_X, \mathcal{C}_{\check{X}}$  and  $\mathcal{C}_{\check{Y}}$  are defined as

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathcal{C}_{X} &:= \tilde{C}_{1}^{T} \left( I - \bar{D}_{12} J^{-1} \bar{D}_{12}^{T} \right) \tilde{C}_{1}; \\
\mathcal{C}_{\check{X}} &:= \breve{C}_{1}^{T} \left( I - \breve{D}_{12} \breve{J}_{1}^{-1} \breve{D}_{12}^{T} \right) \breve{C}_{1}; \\
\mathcal{C}_{\check{Y}} &:= \breve{B}_{1} \left( I - \breve{D}_{21}^{T} \breve{J}_{2}^{-1} \breve{D}_{21} \right) \breve{B}_{1}^{T}.
\end{aligned} \tag{3.64}$$

### 3.5 Illustrative Examples

In this section, we consider two examples to demonstrate the stable nonlinear controller design method presented in Section 3.3. Through these examples, we will show that if a continuous time version of the method in [182] is applied to the problem under consideration, the resulting nonlinear controller is not necessarily stable. Furthermore, we also show that our stable nonlinear controller allows for better disturbance attenuation performance as compared to its linear counterpart which can be synthesized using the method in [7]. Thus, in order to fit into our nonlinear robust  $H^{\infty}$  control framework, we modify the nominal models of both examples by adding several terms corresponding to disturbance input w(t), controlled output z(t), uncertainty input  $\xi(t)$  and output  $\zeta(t)$ , and nonlinearity input  $\mu(t)$  and output  $\nu(t)$ . All parameters required in the controller design are computed using the DE method as described in Section 3.4.

**Example 3.1.** The nominal model of the following example taken from [175] is also considered as a benchmark problem in [177]. This example is defined by the following matrices:

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} -2 & 1.7321 \\ 1.7321 & 0 \end{bmatrix}; \quad B_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.1 & -0.1 \\ -0.5 & 0.5 \end{bmatrix}; \quad B_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}; \quad E_{1,1} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix};$$
$$E_{2,1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1.7 \end{bmatrix}; \quad C_1 = \begin{bmatrix} 0.2 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}; \quad D_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{1,1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{2,1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix};$$
$$C_2 = \begin{bmatrix} 10 & 11.5470 \end{bmatrix}; \quad D_{21} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.7071 & 0.7071 \end{bmatrix}; \quad F_{1,1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix}. \quad (3.65)$$

The uncertainty and nonlinearity of the nonlinear uncertain system are respectively described as follows:

$$\xi(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \xi_1(t) \\ \xi_2(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_1 \\ \Delta_2 \end{bmatrix} \zeta(t);$$
  
$$\mu(t) = \psi(\nu(t)) = \sin \nu(t).$$
(3.66)

Thus, the IQC corresponding to the uncertainty is given by

$$\int_0^\infty \left(\xi_1^2(t) + \xi_2^2(t)\right) dt \le \int_0^\infty \zeta^2(t) dt + d_1, \quad d_1 \ge 0$$
(3.67)

and the GLC corresponding to the known nonlinearity  $\psi(\cdot)$  is given by

$$|\sin\nu(t) - \sin\tilde{\nu}(t)| \le \beta |\nu(t) - \tilde{\nu}(t)|.$$
(3.68)

From the first derivative of the nonlinear function  $\psi(\nu(\cdot))$  with respect to  $\nu(\cdot)$ , we obtain

$$\left|\frac{d\sin\nu(\cdot)}{d\nu(\cdot)}\right| = \left|\cos\nu(\cdot)\right| \le 1, \quad \forall\nu(\cdot) \in \mathbf{R}$$
(3.69)

which implies that  $\beta = 1$ . Moreover, the corresponding IQCs derived from the GLC (3.68) are as follows:

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} (\sin\nu(t) - \sin\tilde{\nu}(t))^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{\infty} (\nu(t) - \tilde{\nu}(t))^{2} dt + d_{2};$$
  
$$\int_{0}^{\infty} (\sin\nu(t))^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{\infty} \nu^{2}(t) dt + d_{3};$$
  
$$\int_{0}^{\infty} (\sin\tilde{\nu}(t))^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{\infty} \tilde{\nu}^{2}(t) dt + d_{4}$$
(3.70)

where  $d_2, d_3, d_4 \ge 0$ . Note that  $\tilde{\mu}(t) = \sin \tilde{\nu}(t)$  represents the copy of the known nonlinearity  $\psi(\cdot)$  included in the controller (3.6).

We first solve the nonlinear  $H^{\infty}$  control problem for this system using the continuous time version of [182] to show that this method may not lead to a stable controller. In this case, the required parameters are obtained as

$$\gamma = 3.1375; \quad \kappa = 0.1035; \quad \lambda_1 = 208.4058; \\ \lambda_2 = 981.5735; \quad \lambda_3 = 207.1877; \quad \lambda_4 = 498.0892$$
(3.71)

with  $\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_4$  are respectively corresponding to the IQCs (3.67) and (3.70). Then, the resulting controller matrices are

$$A_{c} = 10^{5} \times \begin{bmatrix} 0.3249 & 0.4270 \\ -3.9584 & -5.2037 \end{bmatrix};$$
  

$$\tilde{B}_{c} = 10^{4} \times \begin{bmatrix} -0.2939 & -0.4896 \\ 3.5792 & 5.9622 \end{bmatrix};$$
  

$$\tilde{C}_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} -12.6141 & -31.3799 \\ 0 & 0.6634 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(3.72)

Since the plant nonlinearity (3.66) is represented by a sine function, the stability of the corresponding nonlinear controller (3.6) can be investigated through linearization around the equilibrium point  $x_c^* = 0$ , that is when  $\tilde{\mu}(t) \approx \tilde{\nu}(t)$ . In this case, the linearized controller matrix  $\bar{A}_c$  is obtained as follows:

$$\bar{A}_c := A_c + \sum_{i=1}^g L_i C_{c_{2,i}} = 10^5 \times \begin{bmatrix} 0.3249 & 0.3945 \\ -3.9584 & -4.8081 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (3.73)

The eigenvalues of  $\bar{A}_c$  are  $e_1 = 9.9399$  and  $e_2 = -4.4833 \times 10^5$ , which implies that  $\bar{A}_c$  is unstable. Thus, the corresponding nonlinear controller is also unstable.

We now apply our main result in Theorem 3.1 to construct a stable nonlinear output feedback controller for the nonlinear uncertain system (3.65), (3.66), (3.67). The required parameters obtained using the DE method are

$$\gamma = 34.7286; \quad \kappa = 0.0806; \quad \tau_1 = 0.4314; \quad \tau_2 = 1.0057; \\ \lambda_1 = 117.9752; \quad \lambda_2 = 928.1436; \quad \lambda_3 = 216.6302; \quad \lambda_4 = 743.8695$$
(3.74)

where  $\lambda = \tilde{\lambda} = \bar{\lambda}$ . Thus, the resulting controller matrices are obtained as

$$A_{c} = 10^{6} \times \begin{bmatrix} -1.3780 & -1.5946 \\ -0.0842 & -0.0974 \end{bmatrix};$$
  

$$\tilde{B}_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} 1.3769 \times 10^{5} & 1.1773 \times 10^{4} \\ 8.4136 \times 10^{3} & 721.3153 \end{bmatrix};$$
  

$$\tilde{C}_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} -9.0971 & -34.3064 \\ 0 & 0.5551 \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.75)

and the corresponding linearized controller matrix  $\bar{A}_c$  is

$$\bar{A}_c = 10^6 \times \begin{bmatrix} -1.3780 & -1.5881 \\ -0.0842 & -0.0970 \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.76)

with eigenvalues  $e_1 = -0.2862$  and  $e_2 = -1.4750 \times 10^6$ . This indicates that the controller is at least locally stable around the equilibrium point  $x_c^* = 0$ .

In order to verify that the controller is globally asymptotically stable, we will check the stability of  $A_c$  and the  $H^{\infty}$  norm  $||T_{\tilde{\mu}\tilde{\nu}}(s)||_{\infty}$  of the transfer function from the nonlinearity input  $\tilde{\mu}(t)$  to the nonlinearity output  $\tilde{\nu}(t)$ . The eigenvalues of  $A_c$ are  $e_1 = -1.3075$  and  $e_2 = -1.4754 \times 10^6$ , and the  $H^{\infty}$  norm  $||T_{\tilde{\mu}\tilde{\nu}}(s)||_{\infty} = 0.7812$ . Thus, using the small gain theorem (e.g., see [18, Section 9.2]), we conclude that the nonlinear controller (3.75) is indeed stable.



**Figure 3.3:** The controlled output  $z_1(t)$  for different values of  $\Delta_1$  and  $\Delta_2$ .

The performance of the stable nonlinear controller (3.75) is demonstrated through a closed loop simulation using Simulink for several values of  $\Delta_1 \in$  $\{-1, -0.5, 0, 0.5, 1\}$  and  $\Delta_2$  is set to be equal to  $\Delta_1$ . The initial conditions of the system and the controller are set to be zero. The closed loop system is perturbed by an exogenous unit step function  $w_1(t)$ , while  $w_2(t) = 0$ . The response of the corresponding controlled output  $z_1(t)$  is shown in Figure 3.3 and indicates that the stable nonlinear controller (3.75) absolutely stabilizes the closed loop system with a sufficient attenuation against the disturbance input  $w_1(t)$ .

**Example 3.2.** In this example, we solve a problem of designing a stable nonlinear controller for a flexible link robot. The nominal model of this system is taken from [313], which has also been considered in [186], and is defined by the following

matrices:

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ -48.6 & -1.25 & 48.6 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 19.5 & 0 & -19.5 & 0 \end{bmatrix}; B_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}; B_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 21.6 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}; E_{1,1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix};$$
$$E_{2,1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ -3.33 \end{bmatrix}; C_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}; D_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 1 \end{bmatrix}; H_{1,1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix};$$
$$H_{2,1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 \\ -3.33 \end{bmatrix}; C_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}; D_{21} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.1 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}; F_{1,1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0.1 \end{bmatrix} (3.77)$$

where the uncertainty and nonlinearity of the system (3.77) are similarly described as in the Example 3.1. Applying the DE approach presented in Section 3.4, we obtain all parameters required for controller design as follows:

$$\gamma = 0.1866; \quad \kappa = 0.0116; \quad \tau_1 = 0.0116; \quad \tau_2 = 2.9542; \\ \lambda_1 = 14.7055; \quad \lambda_2 = 1925.5322; \quad \lambda_3 = 74.0920; \quad \lambda_4 = 38.3448$$
(3.78)

where  $\lambda = \tilde{\lambda} = \bar{\lambda}$ . Thus, the nonlinear controller matrices are given as

$$A_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} -185.6621 & 9.8266 & 44.0019 & -54.9750 \\ 974.2362 & -134.3833 & -169.6195 & 300.7635 \\ 797.5493 & -16.6491 & -189.7179 & 237.3781 \\ -945.3289 & -85.1382 & 210.8858 & -283.8434 \end{bmatrix};$$
  
$$\tilde{B}_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} 11.4628 & -23.9149 & -3.1943 \\ -101.2022 & 203.8707 & 30.6886 \\ -47.8036 & 81.8149 & 14.0482 \\ 60.9064 & 5.4548 & -208754 \end{bmatrix};$$
  
$$\tilde{C}_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} -30.1101 & -3.0441 & 8.2684 & -9.0469 \\ 0 & 0 & 0.9807 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (3.79)

Through the same analysis as in the Example 3.1, the nonlinear controller (3.79) is at least locally stable around the equilibrium point  $x_c^* = 0$  since the eigenvalues

of  $\bar{A}_c$  are

$$e_1 = -614.2753; \quad e_2 = -0.9460;$$
  
 $e_3 = -133.6701; \quad e_4 = -30.9376.$  (3.80)

Moreover,  $A_c$  in (3.79) is also Hurwitz with eigenvalues

$$e_1 = -630.5257; \quad e_2 = -0.9175;$$
  
 $e_3 = -136.7811; \quad e_4 = -25.3824$  (3.81)

and the  $H^{\infty}$  norm  $||T_{\tilde{\mu}\tilde{\nu}}(s)||_{\infty} = 0.5636$ . Thus, using the small gain theorem (e.g., see [18, Section 9.2]), we conclude that the nonlinear controller (3.79) is globally asymptotically stable. The performance of the closed loop system is then simulated using Simulink under similar conditions as in the Example 3.1. That is, we assume that  $\xi(t) = \Delta \zeta(t)$ , where  $\Delta \in \{-1, -0.5, 0, 0.5, 1\}$ . The response of the controlled output  $z_1(t)$  is shown in Figure 3.4.



**Figure 3.4:** The controlled output  $z_1(t)$  for different values of  $\Delta$ .

If we apply the linear controller design method in [7] to this example, the required parameters are obtained as

$$\gamma = 0.2352;$$
  $\tau_1 = 0.2112;$   $\tau_2 = 2.0932;$   
 $\tilde{\tau}_1 = 0.1669;$   $\tilde{\tau}_2 = 2.9655;$   $\tilde{\tau}_3 = 4.3449$  (3.82)

and the corresponding controller is defined by the matrices as follows:

$$A_{c} = 10^{4} \times \begin{bmatrix} 0.1142 & 0.0486 & 0.0041 & 0.0268 \\ -0.4892 & -0.2076 & -0.0098 & -0.1141 \\ -0.8237 & -0.3503 & -0.0295 & -0.1929 \\ -3.0739 & -1.3049 & -0.1121 & -0.7206 \end{bmatrix};$$
  
$$B_{c} = 10^{4} \times \begin{bmatrix} -0.0406 & -0.0420 \\ 0.1676 & 0.1785 \\ 0.2925 & 0.3032 \\ 1.0932 & 1.1289 \end{bmatrix};$$
  
$$C_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} -5.4683 & -0.8526 & 0.7404 & -1.5737 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (3.83)

The eigenvalues of  $A_c$  in (3.83) are

$$e_1 = -8.3973 \times 10^3;$$
  $e_2 = -0.5988;$   
 $e_3 = -18.1361 + i17.1584;$   $e_4 = -18.1361 - i17.1584$  (3.84)

and therefore, the controller is stable. Comparing the value of  $\gamma = 0.1866$  obtained with the nonlinear controller (3.79) to that of  $\gamma = 0.2352$  obtained with the linear controller (3.83), we notice that the nonlinear controller (3.79) allows for a significant improvement in disturbance attenuation performance.

### 3.6 Conclusions

We have presented a systematic methodology to design a stable nonlinear robust  $H^{\infty}$  output feedback controller for a class of nonlinear uncertain systems. All admissible uncertainties of the systems are described in terms of IQCs and each known nonlinearity of the systems has to satisfy a GLC. The underlying main idea of our method is to add a copy of each known plant nonlinearity to the linear part of the controller. We then characterize the nonlinearities and their copies with extra IQCs derived from the GLCs. The nonlinear controller is synthesized based on existing results of robust  $H^{\infty}$  control theory applied to an artificial uncertain system, which is formed using a state feedback gain matrix and an additional uncertainty. This approach is used to guarantee that the resulting controller is stable and achieves absolute stability of the closed loop system with a specified

disturbance attenuation level. The solution to this control problem involves the stabilizing solutions to algebraic Riccati equations, which are dependent on a set of scaling parameters. We then reformulate the absolute stabilization problem into an optimization problem with those parameters as decision variables and subjected to nonconvex nonlinear constraints. This latter problem is solved using an evolutionary optimization method, namely the DE algorithm.

To demonstrate the merit of the proposed nonlinear controller design method, we have also shown through Example 3.1 that our method indeed results in a stable nonlinear output feedback controller. Such a controller may not be achievable if we apply the nonlinear robust control method in [182] because controller stability is not required. Moreover, as shown in Example 3.2, the stable nonlinear controller synthesized using our method may have better disturbance attenuation performance than that synthesized using the method presented in [7]. This is because we do not directly treat known nonlinearities of the system as uncertainties, but rather exploit them as useful information for control purposes. Despite beneficial features of our method, we note that introducing additional artificial uncertainty to impose controller stability may give rise to some degree of conservatism in the controller design process.

# Chapter 4

# Decentralized State Feedback Robust $H^{\infty}$ Control

### 4.1 Introduction

The main contribution of this chapter is to present a new method for designing a decentralized state feedback robust  $H^{\infty}$  controller for a large-scale linear uncertain system, which consists of interconnected subsystems. In this case, the interconnections between subsystems are not treated as uncertainties. Instead, we neglect the off-diagonal blocks in the controller gain matrix and consider them as uncertainties; e.g., see [156,198], which also use this approach for a guaranteed cost control problem. This approach thus yields a block-diagonal state feedback controller, which is able to exploit the interconnections between subsystems and is also robust against perturbations in the controller itself.

We are concerned with a class of linear uncertain systems in which the uncertainties are described by the integral quadratic constraints. For these systems, we aim to construct a decentralized state feedback robust  $H^{\infty}$  controller that is capable of absolutely stabilizing the corresponding closed loop system while achieving a certain disturbance attenuation level. The solution to this control problem is given in terms of a stabilizing solution to an algebraic Riccati equation parameterized by a set of scaling constants.

The required scaling constants are associated with the system uncertainties and norm bounds on the size of the neglected off-diagonal blocks of the controller gain matrix. This formulation leads to a nonconvex nonlinear optimization problem which is often difficult to solve using regular optimization methods. Thus, we employ an evolutionary optimization approach, namely the differential evolution (DE) algorithm (see Chapter 2), which is a population-based stochastic optimization method. The DE approach is used to find an optimal solution to a suitable objective function for the decentralized controller synthesis problem.

### 4.2 Problem Statement

We consider a decentralized state feedback robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problem for a largescale linear uncertain system of the type described in [187]. The state equations of this system are given as follows:

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + B_1 w(t) + B_2 u(t) + \sum_{s=1}^k B_{3,s} \xi_s(t);$$

$$z(t) = C_1 x(t) + D_{12} u(t);$$

$$\zeta_1(t) = F_1 x(t) + G_1 u(t);$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\zeta_k(t) = F_k x(t) + G_k u(t)$$
(4.1)

where  $x(t) \in \mathbf{R}^n$  is the state,  $w(t) \in \mathbf{R}^g$  is the disturbance input,  $u(t) \in \mathbf{R}^m$  is the control input,  $z(t) \in \mathbf{R}^q$  is the controlled output,  $\zeta_1(t) \in \mathbf{R}^{h_1}, \ldots, \zeta_k(t) \in \mathbf{R}^{h_k}$ are the uncertainty outputs and  $\xi_1(t) \in \mathbf{R}^{r_1}, \ldots, \xi_k(t) \in \mathbf{R}^{r_k}$  are the uncertainty inputs.

All of the uncertainties in this system are described by a set of equations of the form

$$\xi_s(t) = \phi_s\left(t, \zeta_s(\cdot)|_0^t\right), \text{ for } s = 1, 2, \dots, k$$
(4.2)

where  $\phi(\cdot)$  is a nonlinear time-varying and dynamic functional; see [2]. Those uncertainties are said to be admissible if they satisfy the following integral quadratic constraints (IQCs).

**Definition 4.1.** (Integral Quadratic Constraint; e.g., see [2]) An uncertainty of the form (4.2) is an admissible uncertainty for the system (4.1) if the following conditions hold: Given any locally square integrable control input  $u(\cdot)$  and locally square integrable disturbance input  $w(\cdot)$ , and any corresponding solution to the

system (4.1), (4.2), let  $(0, t_*)$  be the interval on which the solution exists. Then there exist constants  $d_1 \ge 0, \ldots, d_k \ge 0$  and a sequence  $\{t_j\}_{j=1}^{\infty}$  such that  $t_j \to t_*$ ,  $t_j \ge 0$  and

$$\int_{0}^{t_{j}} \|\xi_{s}(t)\|^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{t_{j}} \|\zeta_{s}(t)\|^{2} dt + d_{s}$$
(4.3)

for s = 1, ..., k and  $\forall j$ . Note that  $t_j$  and  $t_\star$  may be equal to infinity. The class of all such admissible uncertainties  $\xi(\cdot) = [\xi_1(\cdot), \ldots, \xi_k(\cdot)]$  is denoted by  $\Xi$ .

We assume that the large-scale system (4.1) comprises p interconnected subsystems. Thus, the state vector  $x(t) \in \mathbf{R}^n$  can be partitioned into p components as follows:

$$x(t) = \begin{bmatrix} x_1(t) \\ x_2(t) \\ \vdots \\ x_p(t) \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.4)

where  $x_i(t) \in \mathbf{R}^{n_i}$  and  $n = \sum_{i=1}^p n_i$ . If the large-scale uncertain system (4.1), (4.3) is to be controlled using a decentralized state feedback controller, then the decentralized control input  $\tilde{u}(t) \in \mathbf{R}^m$  also has p components as follows:

$$\tilde{u}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{u}_1(t) \\ \tilde{u}_2(t) \\ \vdots \\ \tilde{u}_p(t) \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.5)

where  $\tilde{u}_i(t) \in \mathbf{R}^{m_i}$  and  $m = \sum_{i=1}^p m_i$ . Each component  $\tilde{u}_i(t)$  is dependent only on the corresponding state component  $x_i(t)$  although no assumptions are made concerning the structure of the system matrices A and  $B_2$ . Thus, each local controller  $\tilde{u}_i(t)$  can be written as

$$\tilde{u}_i(t) = K_{ii}x_i(t), \text{ for } i = 1, 2, \dots, p$$
(4.6)

where  $K_{ii}$  is the *i*-th diagonal block of the state feedback gain matrix K. Indeed, the decentralized control input (4.5) can also be considered as a special case of the non-decentralized state feedback control input of the form

$$u(t) = Kx(t) \tag{4.7}$$

such that the matrix K has a block-diagonal structure.

Moreover, when constructing the decentralized state feedback controller (4.5), (4.6), we do not treat interconnections between subsystems as uncertainties. This approach then allows us to exploit any useful structural information of the large-scale uncertain system (4.1), (4.3); e.g., see [197, 229]. The purpose of applying the decentralized state feedback controller (4.5), (4.6) is to achieve an absolutely stable closed loop system with a specified disturbance attenuation level.

**Definition 4.2.** (Absolute stabilizability; e.g., see [2]) The large-scale uncertain system (4.1), (4.3) is said to be absolutely stabilizable with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  via the state feedback controller (4.7) if there exists constants  $\varepsilon_1 > 0$  and  $\varepsilon_2 > 0$  such that the following conditions hold:

1. For any initial condition x(0), any admissible uncertainty inputs  $\xi_1(\cdot), \ldots, \xi_k(\cdot)$  and any disturbance input  $w(\cdot) \in \mathbf{L}_2[0, \infty)$ , we have  $[x(\cdot), \xi_1(\cdot), \ldots, \xi_k(\cdot)] \in \mathbf{L}_2[0, \infty)$  (hence,  $t_\star = \infty$ ) and

$$\|x(\cdot)\|_{2}^{2} + \sum_{s=1}^{k} \|\xi_{s}(\cdot)\|_{2}^{2} \le \varepsilon_{1} \left[ \|x(0)\|^{2} + \|w(\cdot)\|_{2}^{2} + \sum_{s=1}^{k} d_{s} \right].$$
(4.8)

2. The following  $H^{\infty}$  norm bound condition is satisfied: If x(0) = 0, then for  $w(\cdot) \in \mathbf{L}_2[0,\infty)$  and  $\xi_s(\cdot) \in \Xi$  (for all  $s = 1, 2, \ldots, k$ )

$$\mathcal{J} := \sup_{w(\cdot)} \sup_{\xi_s(\cdot)} \frac{\|z(\cdot)\|_2^2 - \varepsilon_2 \sum_{s=1}^k d_s}{\|w(\cdot)\|_2^2} < \gamma^2.$$
(4.9)

### 4.3 Decentralized Controller Design

In this section, we present a systematic procedure to synthesize a decentralized state feedback controller (4.5), (4.6) for the large-scale uncertain system (4.1), (4.3). The key idea of our approach is to partition a non-decentralized state feedback gain matrix K according to the partition of x(t) in (4.4) and  $\tilde{u}(t)$  in (4.5). That is,

$$K = \begin{bmatrix} K_{11} & K_{12} & \dots & K_{1p} \\ K_{21} & K_{22} & \dots & K_{2p} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ K_{p1} & K_{p2} & \dots & K_{pp} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (4.10)

The off-diagonal blocks of matrix K are then neglected and treated as additional uncertainties, which are added to the uncertainties in the original uncertain system (4.1), (4.3). This implies that the decentralized state feedback gain matrix  $\tilde{K}$  is constructed by taking only diagonal blocks of the matrix K. That is,

$$\widetilde{K} = \begin{bmatrix} K_{11} & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & K_{22} & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & K_{pp} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.11)

Accordingly, a sequence of uncertainty matrices is then obtained from the off-diagonal blocks of the matrix K in (4.10) as follows:

$$\Delta_{1}^{u} := \begin{bmatrix} K_{12} & K_{13} & K_{14} & \dots & K_{1p} \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\Delta_{2}^{u} := \begin{bmatrix} K_{21} & K_{23} & K_{24} & \dots & K_{2p} \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\Delta_{3}^{u} := \begin{bmatrix} K_{31} & K_{32} & K_{34} & \dots & K_{3p} \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\Delta_{p}^{u} := \begin{bmatrix} K_{p1} & K_{p2} & K_{p3} & \dots & K_{p(p-1)} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.12)

Also, we define an additional uncertainty input  $\xi_i^u(t)$  and uncertainty output  $\zeta_i^u(t)$  corresponding to each  $\Delta_i^u$  in (4.12) as

$$\xi_{i}^{u}(t) := -\Delta_{i}^{u} \zeta_{i}^{u}(t); \quad \zeta_{i}^{u}(t) := F_{i}^{u} x(t)$$
(4.13)

for i = 1, 2, ..., p. The matrices  $F_1^u, F_2^u, ..., F_p^u$  are expressed as follows:

$$F_{1}^{u} = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{\tilde{n}_{1} \times n_{1}} & I_{\tilde{n}_{1} \times \tilde{n}_{1}} \end{bmatrix};$$

$$F_{l}^{u} = \begin{bmatrix} I_{\bar{n}_{l-1} \times \bar{n}_{l-1}} & 0_{\bar{n}_{l-1} \times n_{l}} & 0_{\bar{n}_{l-1} \times \tilde{n}_{l}} \\ 0_{\tilde{n}_{l} \times \bar{n}_{l-1}} & 0_{\tilde{n}_{l} \times n_{l}} & I_{\tilde{n}_{l} \times \tilde{n}_{l}} \end{bmatrix};$$

$$F_{p}^{u} = \begin{bmatrix} I_{\bar{n}_{p-1} \times \bar{n}_{p-1}} & 0_{\bar{n}_{p-1} \times n_{p}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.14)

for l = 2, ..., p - 1. Here,  $\bar{n}_i = \sum_{k=1}^i n_k$  and  $\tilde{n}_i = n - \bar{n}_i$ . Then, using the construction of the matrix  $\tilde{K}$  in (4.11), we can use the relationships in (4.7) and

(4.13) to express the decentralized control input (4.5) as

$$\widetilde{u}(t) = \widetilde{K}x(t) = Kx(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{p} J_i^u \xi_i^u(t)$$
(4.15)

where

$$J_1^u = \begin{bmatrix} I_{m_1 \times m_1} \\ 0_{\tilde{m}_1 \times m_1} \end{bmatrix}; \quad J_l^u = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{\tilde{m}_{l-1} \times m_l} \\ I_{m_l \times m_l} \\ 0_{\tilde{m}_l \times m_l} \end{bmatrix}; \quad J_p^u = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{\tilde{m}_{p-1} \times m_p} \\ I_{m_p \times m_p} \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.16)

for l = 2, ..., p - 1. Here  $\bar{m}_i = \sum_{k=1}^i m_k$  and  $\tilde{m}_i = m - \bar{m}_i$ .

Now, it follows from the above formulation that if we apply the decentralized state feedback controller (4.15) to the large-scale uncertain system (4.1), (4.3), we will obtain the same closed loop system as if we apply the non-decentralized state feedback controller (4.7) to the following uncertain system:

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + B_1w(t) + B_2u(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{p} B_2 J_i^u \xi_i^u(t) + \sum_{s=1}^{k} B_{3,s} \xi_s(t);$$

$$z(t) = C_1 x(t) + D_{12}u(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{p} D_{12} J_i^u \xi_i^u(t);$$

$$\zeta_1(t) = F_1 x(t) + G_1 u(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{p} G_1 J_i^u \xi_i^u(t);$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\zeta_k(t) = F_k x(t) + G_k u(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{p} G_k J_i^u \xi_i^u(t);$$

$$\zeta_1^u(t) = F_1^u x(t);$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\zeta_p^u(t) = F_p^u x(t).$$
(4.17)

Also, for a given matrix K, we define constant  $\beta_i > 0$  to bound the size of each additional uncertainty  $\Delta_i^u$  defined in (4.12). That is,

$$\|\Delta_i^u\|^2 \le \beta_i, \quad \text{for } i = 1, 2, \dots, p.$$
 (4.18)

Here,  $\|\cdot\|$  denotes the induced matrix norm and each  $\Delta_i^u$  is defined as in (4.12). From (4.18), it follows that the uncertainty input  $\xi_i^u(t)$  and output  $\zeta_i^u(t)$  will satisfy an IQC of the form

$$\int_{0}^{t_{j}} \|\xi_{i}^{u}(t)\|^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{t_{j}} \beta_{i} \|\zeta_{i}^{u}(t)\|^{2} dt + d_{i}^{u}$$
(4.19)

with  $d_i^u \ge 0$  for all  $\{t_j \ge 0\}_{j=1}^\infty$  and for all  $i = 1, 2, \ldots, p$ .

In order to construct a state feedback controller for the uncertain system (4.17), (4.3), (4.19) based on the state feedback interpretation of Theorem 4.1 in [187], we first apply S-procedure type results (see [187, Theorem 3.1]) by introducing scaling constants  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_{k+p} > 0$  corresponding to the IQCs (4.3), (4.19) so that the state equations (4.17) can be represented as

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + \tilde{B}_1 \tilde{w}(t) + \tilde{B}_2 u(t);$$
  
$$\tilde{z}(t) = \tilde{C}_1 x(t) + \tilde{D}_{11} \tilde{w}(t) + \tilde{D}_{12} u(t)$$
(4.20)

where

$$\begin{split} \tilde{B}_{1} &= \left[ \begin{array}{ccc} \gamma^{-1}B_{1} & \tilde{B}_{3} & \tilde{B}_{2}^{u} \end{array} \right]; \quad \tilde{B}_{2} = B_{2}; \\ \tilde{B}_{3} &= \left[ \begin{array}{ccc} \sqrt{\tau_{1}}^{-1}B_{3,1} & \dots & \sqrt{\tau_{k}}^{-1}B_{3,k} \end{array} \right]; \\ \tilde{B}_{2}^{u} &= \left[ \begin{array}{ccc} \sqrt{\tau_{1}}^{-1}B_{2}J_{1}^{u} & \dots & \sqrt{\tau_{k+p}}^{-1}B_{2}J_{p}^{u} \end{array} \right]; \\ \tilde{B}_{2}^{u} &= \left[ \begin{array}{ccc} C_{1} \\ \sqrt{\tau_{1}}F_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\tau_{1}}F_{k} \\ \sqrt{\beta_{1}}\tau_{k+1}F_{1}^{u} \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\beta_{p}}\tau_{k+p}F_{p}^{u} \end{array} \right]; \quad \tilde{D}_{11} = \left[ \begin{array}{ccc} 0_{q\times g} & 0_{q\times r} & \tilde{D}_{12}^{u} \\ 0_{h\times g} & 0_{h\times r} & \tilde{G}_{u} \\ 0_{n\times g} & 0_{n\times r} & 0_{n\times m} \end{array} \right]; \quad \tilde{D}_{12} = \left[ \begin{array}{ccc} D_{12} \\ \sqrt{\tau_{1}}G_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\tau_{k}}G_{k} \\ 0_{n\times m} \end{array} \right]; \\ \tilde{D}_{12}^{u} &= \left[ \begin{array}{ccc} \sqrt{\tau_{k+1}}^{-1}D_{12}J_{1}^{u} & \dots & \sqrt{\tau_{k+p}}^{-1}D_{12}J_{p}^{u} \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\tau_{k+1}}}G_{1}J_{1}^{u} & \dots & \sqrt{\tau_{k+p}}G_{1}J_{p}^{u} \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\tau_{k+1}}G_{k}J_{1}^{u} & \dots & \sqrt{\tau_{k+p}}G_{k}J_{p}^{u} \end{array} \right]; \\ \tilde{G}_{u} &= \left[ \begin{array}{ccc} \sqrt{\frac{\tau_{k}}{\tau_{k+1}}}G_{k}J_{1}^{u} & \dots & \sqrt{\frac{\tau_{k}}{\tau_{k+p}}}G_{k}J_{p}^{u} \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\frac{\tau_{k}}{\tau_{k+1}}}G_{k}J_{1}^{u} & \dots & \sqrt{\frac{\tau_{k}}{\tau_{k+p}}}G_{k}J_{p}^{u} \end{array} \right]; \end{aligned}$$

$$\tilde{w}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma w(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_{1}} \xi_{1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\tau_{k}} \xi_{k}(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_{k+1}} \xi_{1}^{u}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\tau_{k+p}} \xi_{p}^{u}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{z}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} z(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_{1}} \zeta_{1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\tau_{k}} \zeta_{k}(t) \\ \sqrt{\beta_{1} \tau_{k+1}} \zeta_{1}^{u}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\beta_{p} \tau_{k+p}} \zeta_{p}^{u}(t) \end{bmatrix}. \quad (4.22)$$

Here,  $h = \sum_{s=1}^{k} h_s$ ,  $r = \sum_{s=1}^{k} r_s$ ,  $\breve{n} = \sum_{i=1}^{p} \tilde{n}_i + \bar{n}_{i-1}$  ( $\bar{n}_0 = 0$  and  $\tilde{n}_p = 0$ ).

As a  $\tilde{D}_{11}$  term appears in (4.20), we cannot immediately apply the state feedback results of [187] to synthesize a state feedback controller of the form (4.7) for the system (4.20). To eliminate the  $\tilde{D}_{11}$  term, it is necessary to impose the following assumption:

Assumption 4.1. Given constants  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_{k+p} > 0, \beta_1 > 0, \ldots, \beta_p > 0$ , the uncertain system (4.17), (4.3), (4.19) is assumed to be such that  $\tilde{D}_{11}\tilde{D}_{11}^T < I$ .

Now, we are able to apply a loop shifting transformation (e.g., see [16, Sections 4.5.1 and 5.5.1] and [18, Section 17.2]) to the system (4.20) by first defining

$$\Phi := I - \tilde{D}_{11}^T \tilde{D}_{11} > 0;$$

$$\bar{\Phi} := I - \tilde{D}_{11} \tilde{D}_{11}^T > 0;$$

$$\bar{w}(t) := \Phi^{\frac{1}{2}} \tilde{w}(t) - \Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}} \tilde{D}_{11}^T \left( \tilde{C}_1 x(t) + \tilde{D}_{12} u(t) \right);$$

$$\bar{z}(t) := \bar{\Phi}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left( \tilde{C}_1 x(t) + \tilde{D}_{12} u(t) \right).$$
(4.23)

From (4.23), it is straightforward to verify that

$$\tilde{w}(t) = \Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}}\bar{w}(t) + \Phi^{-1}\tilde{D}_{11}^T \left(\tilde{C}_1 x(t) + \tilde{D}_{12} u(t)\right)$$
(4.24)

and

$$\|\tilde{z}(t)\|_{2}^{2} - \|\tilde{w}(t)\|_{2}^{2} \equiv \|\bar{z}(t)\|_{2}^{2} - \|\bar{w}(t)\|_{2}^{2}.$$
(4.25)

Hence, the state equations (4.20) can now be rewritten as

$$\dot{x}(t) = \bar{A}x(t) + \bar{B}_1\bar{w}(t) + \bar{B}_2u(t);$$
  
$$\bar{z}(t) = \bar{C}_1x(t) + \bar{D}_{12}u(t)$$
(4.26)

where

$$\bar{A} = A + \tilde{B}_{1}\tilde{D}_{11}^{T}\bar{\Phi}^{-1}\tilde{C}_{1};$$

$$\bar{B}_{1} = \tilde{B}_{1}\Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}};$$

$$\bar{B}_{2} = \tilde{B}_{2} + \tilde{B}_{1}\tilde{D}_{11}^{T}\bar{\Phi}^{-1}\tilde{D}_{12};$$

$$\bar{C}_{1} = \bar{\Phi}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\tilde{C}_{1};$$

$$\bar{D}_{12} = \bar{\Phi}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\tilde{D}_{12}.$$
(4.27)

The results of [187] involve solving an  $H^{\infty}$  control problem corresponding to the system (4.26) and the  $H^{\infty}$  norm bound condition

$$\bar{\mathcal{J}} := \sup_{\bar{w}(\cdot) \in \mathbf{L}_2[0,\infty), x(0)=0} \frac{\|\bar{z}(\cdot)\|_2^2}{\|\bar{w}(\cdot)\|_2^2} < 1.$$
(4.28)

The solution to the  $H^{\infty}$  control problem defined by (4.26), (4.28) is then given in terms of the stabilizing solution to the parameterized algebraic Riccati equation defined as follows: Let  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_{k+p} > 0, \beta_1 > 0, \ldots, \beta_p > 0$  be given constants. The Riccati equation is then written as (e.g., see [187])

$$(\bar{A} - \bar{B}_2 E^{-1} \bar{D}_{12}^T \bar{C}_1)^T X + X(\bar{A} - \bar{B}_2 E^{-1} \bar{D}_{12}^T \bar{C}_1) + X \left( \bar{B}_1 \bar{B}_1^T - \bar{B}_2 E^{-1} \bar{B}_2^T \right) X + \bar{C}_1^T (I - \bar{D}_{12} E^{-1} \bar{D}_{12}^T) \bar{C}_1 = 0$$
(4.29)

where  $E := \bar{D}_{12}^T \bar{D}_{12}$ .

We now present our main results relating the Riccati equation (4.29) to the problem of absolute stabilization with a specified disturbance attenuation level via a state feedback controller. Here, we only provide sufficient conditions for absolute stabilization via a decentralized state feedback controller because the main results only hold for a specific realization of the additional uncertainties defined by (4.12), (4.13). To solve the Riccati equation (4.29), we need to impose the following assumption; e.g., see [187, 312].

Assumption 4.2. Given constants  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_{k+p} > 0, \beta_1 > 0, \ldots, \beta_p > 0$ , the uncertain system (4.17), (4.3), (4.19) is assumed to be such that  $\bar{D}_{12}^T \bar{D}_{12} > 0$ .

**Theorem 4.1.** Suppose  $\beta_1 > 0, \ldots, \beta_p > 0$  are given constants such that the uncertain system (4.17), (4.3), (4.19) is absolutely stabilizable with a specified

disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  via a controller of the form (4.7)

$$u(t) = Kx(t)$$

Then there exists  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_{k+p} > 0$  such that conditions in Assumption 4.1 and Assumption 4.2 hold, and the Riccati equation (4.29) has a stabilizing solution  $X \ge 0$ . Moreover, if these conditions hold, then the state feedback gain matrix K given by

$$K = -E^{-1}(\bar{B}_2^T X + \bar{D}_{12}^T \bar{C}_1)$$
(4.30)

is such that the resulting closed loop system is absolutely stable with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ .

**Proof.** If all conditions of the theorem hold, then it follows from the proof of Theorem 4.1 in [187] that there exist constants  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_{k+p} > 0$  such that conditions in Assumption 4.1 and Assumption 4.2 hold, and the controller (4.7) solves the  $H^{\infty}$  control problem defined by the system (4.26) and the  $H^{\infty}$  norm bound condition (4.28). Also, standard results on  $H^{\infty}$  control (e.g., see Theorem 3.3 and Corollary 3.1 in [312]) confirm the existence of a stabilizing solution  $X \ge 0$  to the Riccati equation (4.29). Moreover, if the Riccati equation (4.29) has a stabilizing solution  $X \ge 0$ , then the state feedback control law (4.7), (4.30) absolutely stabilizes the uncertain system (4.17), (4.3), (4.19) with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  (see the proof of Theorem 4.1 in [187]).

**Theorem 4.2.** Let  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_{k+p} > 0$ ,  $\beta_1 > 0, \ldots, \beta_p > 0$  be given constants such that Assumption 4.1 and Assumption 4.2 hold, and the Riccati equation (4.29) has a stabilizing solution  $X \ge 0$ . Also, suppose that the state feedback controller gain matrix K defined by (4.30) is such that the neglected off-diagonal blocks of K defined by (4.12) satisfy the bounds (4.18). Then the uncertain system (4.1), (4.3) is absolutely stabilizable with a specified disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  via a decentralized state feedback controller of the form (4.15)

$$\tilde{u}(t) = \tilde{K}x(t)$$

where  $\widetilde{K}$  is the decentralized state feedback gain matrix of the form (4.11) with block diagonal elements of the full state feedback gain matrix K given by (4.30).

**Proof**. If all conditions of the theorem hold, then it follows from Theorem 4.1

that the uncertain system (4.17), (4.3), (4.19) is absolutely stabilizable with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  via the state feedback controller of the form (4.7), (4.30). Also, if the full state feedback gain matrix K defined by (4.30) is such that the neglected off-diagonal blocks of K defined by (4.12) satisfy the bounds (4.18), then the uncertainties (4.13) satisfy the IQCs (4.19). Moreover, from the construction of the uncertain system (4.17), (4.3), (4.19), the closed loop system obtained by applying the decentralized controller (4.15) to the original uncertain system (4.1), (4.3) is identical to the closed loop system obtained by applying the controller (4.7) to the uncertain system (4.17), (4.3), (4.19) when the uncertainties (4.13) are applied. Therefore, it follows that the original uncertain system (4.1), (4.3) is absolutely stabilized with a specified disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  via a decentralized state feedback controller (4.15).  $\Box$ 

# 4.4 A Differential Evolution Approach

From the decentralized controller synthesis method presented in Section 4.3, we can reformulate the decentralized state feedback control problem stated in Section 4.2 as a nonlinear optimization problem with nonconvex constraints. It involves a decision variable

$$\vartheta := \begin{bmatrix} \gamma & \tau_1 & \tau_2 & \dots & \tau_{k+p} & \beta_1 & \beta_2 & \dots & \beta_p \end{bmatrix}^T.$$
(4.31)

where the dimension of  $\vartheta$  is k + 2p + 1. All elements of  $\vartheta$  are positive real numbers and they correspond to the parameterized algebraic Riccati equation (4.29). To compute their values, we then propose apply an evolutionary optimization method, namely the differential evolution (DE) algorithm, as described in Chapter 2. Thus, we aim to find an optimal vector  $\vartheta^*$  of design parameters to solve

$$\min_{\vartheta} \mathsf{f}(\vartheta) \tag{4.32}$$

that is subject to

$$\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{j}}(\vartheta) = 0; \quad \mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{k}}(\vartheta) \le 0 \tag{4.33}$$

for j = 1, 2, ..., a and k = 1, 2, ..., b. Here,  $f(\vartheta)$  is an objective function to be minimized, and  $g_j(\vartheta)$  and  $h_k(\vartheta)$  are the equality and inequality constraints, respectively.

As we are concerned with a decentralized robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problem as formulated in Section 4.2 and Section 4.3, a suitable objective function to be minimized is

$$f(\vartheta) = \eta_0 \gamma^{\kappa_0} + \sum_{i=1}^p \eta_i \beta_i^{\kappa_i}.$$
(4.34)

This objective function  $f(\vartheta)$  is defined in order to obtain a decentralized state feedback controller that absolutely stabilizes the closed loop system with a specified disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$ . Here,  $\eta_0, \eta_i \ge 1$  are weighting factors used to set priority between  $\gamma$  and each  $\beta_i$  term in (4.34). The  $\sum_{i=1}^p \eta_i \beta_i^{\kappa_i}$  term is used to force the DE algorithm to produce a state feedback gain matrix K such that each of its off-diagonal blocks are small. Moreover, the power constants  $\kappa_0, \kappa_i \ge 1$  are chosen such that the numerical iteration evolves toward an optimal solution  $\vartheta^*$  at a considerable rate.

In addition to the objective function  $f(\vartheta)$  in (4.34), we also define a set of constraints parameterized by  $\vartheta$ , which are defined using the assumptions and main results in Section 4.3. In this case, the equality constraint is

$$g_{1}(\vartheta) = (\bar{A} - \bar{B}_{2}E^{-1}\bar{D}_{12}^{T}\bar{C}_{1})^{T}X + X(\bar{A} - \bar{B}_{2}E^{-1}\bar{D}_{12}^{T}\bar{C}_{1}) + X\left(\bar{B}_{1}\bar{B}_{1}^{T} - \bar{B}_{2}E^{-1}\bar{B}_{2}^{T}\right)X + \bar{C}_{1}^{T}(I - \bar{D}_{12}E^{-1}\bar{D}_{12}^{T})\bar{C}_{1} = 0$$
(4.35)

and the inequality constraints are

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{h}_{1}(\vartheta) &= \tilde{D}_{11}\tilde{D}_{11}^{T} - I < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{2}(\vartheta) &= -E < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{3}(\vartheta) &= -X < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{4}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{A}) < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{5,i}(\vartheta) &= \|\Delta_{i}^{u}\|^{2} - \beta_{i} \leq 0 \end{aligned}$$

$$\end{aligned}$$

$$\begin{aligned} (4.36)$$

for i = 1, 2, ..., p. Here,  $e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{A})$  denotes the largest real part of the eigenvalues of the matrix  $\mathcal{A}$  defined as follows:

$$\mathcal{A} := \bar{A} - \bar{B}_2 E^{-1} \bar{D}_{12}^T \bar{C}_1 + \left( \bar{B}_1 \bar{B}_1^T - \bar{B}_2 E^{-1} \bar{B}_2^T \right) X.$$
(4.37)

Based on the constraints (4.35), (4.36), we then form a penalty-based fitness test procedure through which all candidate solutions in the population are evaluated. Thus, the fitness test proceeds as follows:

1. Compute the eigenvalues of  $(\tilde{D}_{11}\tilde{D}_{11}^T - I)$  and E in order to examine if the

constraints  $h_1(\vartheta)$  and  $h_2(\vartheta)$  hold.

- 2. Compute the solution of the Riccati equation (4.29) using the constraint  $g_1(\vartheta)$  in (4.35).
- 3. Evaluate the constraints  $h_3(\vartheta)$  and  $h_4(\vartheta)$  in (4.36) to check if the solution X to the Riccati equation (4.29) is a stabilizing positive definite solution;
- 4. Evaluate the constraints  $h_{5,i}(\vartheta)$  (for i = 1, 2, ..., p) in (4.36) to check if the *i*-th off-diagonal block of the matrix K satisfies the norm bound condition in (4.18).
- 5. Calculate the value of the objective function  $f(\vartheta)$  in (4.34).

Through this routine, we acquire information about how many constraints have been violated by each candidate solution and the accompanying violation cost or the value of the objective function if no constraint violation has occurred. We also assume that a constraint violation in a lower level implies the one(s) in the higher level.

The penalty functions corresponding to the violation of each constraint in (4.35), (4.36) are as follows:

$$p_{1}(\vartheta) = e_{\max}(\tilde{D}_{11}\tilde{D}_{11}^{T} - I)^{n_{1}}; \quad p_{2}(\vartheta) = |e_{\min}(E)|^{n_{2}};$$

$$p_{3}(\vartheta) = \rho(\mathcal{C})^{n_{3}}; \qquad p_{4}(\vartheta) = |e_{\min}(X)|^{n_{4}};$$

$$p_{5}(\vartheta) = e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{A})^{n_{5}}; \qquad p_{6}(\vartheta) = \sum_{i=1}^{p} \mathcal{D}_{i}^{m_{i}};$$

$$p_{7}(\vartheta) = f(\vartheta) \qquad (4.38)$$

for  $n_j, m_i \geq 1$  for j = 1, 2, ..., 5 and i = 1, 2, ..., p. Here,  $\rho(\mathcal{M})$  denotes the spectral radius of the matrix  $\mathcal{M}$ ;  $e_{\min}(\mathcal{M})$  and  $e_{\max}(\mathcal{M})$  denote the smallest and the largest eigenvalue of the symmetric matrix  $\mathcal{M}$ , respectively. If the matrix  $\mathcal{M}$ is required to be positive definite, we assign  $|e_{\min}(\mathcal{M})|^{n_j}$  as a penalty for the case when this requirement is violated. Here, the matrix  $\mathcal{M}$  can be either negative (semi)definite or indefinite. Moreover,  $\mathcal{C}$  and  $\mathcal{D}_i$  in (4.38) are defined as follows:

$$\mathcal{C} := \bar{C}_1^T \left( I - \bar{D}_{12} E^{-1} \bar{D}_{12}^T \right) \bar{C}_1;$$
  
$$\mathcal{D}_i := \begin{cases} \|\Delta_i^u\|^2, & \text{if } \mathsf{h}_{5,i}(\vartheta) \text{ is violated}; \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(4.39)

Each penalty function in (4.38) has a positive value and is evaluated only when a violation occurs.

## 4.5 An Illustrative Example

To demonstrate the controller design method in Section 4.3, we consider a decentralized robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problem for two inverted pendulums interconnected by a spring. The linearized and normalized model of this system is adjusted from that in [230] and is given as follows:

$$\dot{x}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0.1 & 0 & 0.9 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0.9 & 0 & 0.1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} x(t) + \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} w(t) + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} u(t) + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0.1 \end{bmatrix} \xi(t);$$

$$z(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} x(t) + \begin{bmatrix} 0.2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0.2 \end{bmatrix} u(t);$$

$$\zeta(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} x(t).$$
(4.40)

Since the system (4.40) consists of two interconnected subsystems, both the state x(t) and the control input u(t) are partitioned into two components (p = 2) so that  $n_i = 2$  and  $m_i = 1$  for i = 1, 2. The interconnection between subsystems is assumed to consist of 90% known linear part and 10% unknown nonlinear part. The latter is then considered as uncertainty in the system. The relationship between the uncertainty input  $\xi(t)$  and the uncertainty output  $\zeta(t)$  in the system (4.40) is represented as

$$\xi(t) = \Delta(\mu) \zeta(t), \quad \Delta(\mu) := \mu \begin{bmatrix} -1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 \end{bmatrix}, \text{ for } -0.5 \le \mu \le 0.5$$
 (4.41)

with  $\|\Delta(\mu)\|^2 \leq 1$  such that the following IQC is satisfied. That is,

$$\int_0^\infty \|\xi(t)\|^2 \, dt \le \int_0^\infty \|\zeta(t)\|^2 \, dt + d, \quad \forall \, d \ge 0.$$
(4.42)

Applying Theorem 4.1 and the DE approach to this problem, we obtain the
disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma = 0.5181$  and other constants as follows:

$$\tau = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0200 & 0.0153 & 0.0400 & 0.0401 \end{bmatrix}; \quad \beta = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0536 & 0.0903 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.43)

Given these parameters, we solve the Riccati equation (4.29) and use its stabilizing solution  $X \ge 0$  to construct the non-decentralized and decentralized state feedback gain matrices K and  $\tilde{K}$ , respectively. That is,

$$K = \begin{bmatrix} -5.3744 & -0.9078 & 0.1178 & 0.1985 \\ 0.2255 & 0.1985 & -5.4123 & -0.9461 \end{bmatrix};$$
  
$$\widetilde{K} = \begin{bmatrix} -5.3744 & -0.9078 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -5.4123 & -0.9461 \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.44)

where  $\|\Delta_1^u\|^2 \leq 0.0536$  and  $\|\Delta_2^u\|^2 \leq 0.0903$ . It thus follows from Theorem 4.2 that the decentralized state feedback controller  $\tilde{u}(t) = \tilde{K}x(t)$  absolutely stabilizes the uncertain system (4.40), (4.42).

For comparison purpose, we apply the method in [191] to synthesize a decentralized state feedback robust  $H^{\infty}$  controller for the same interconnected pendulums as in (4.40). Here, we consider the interconnection between the two subsystems as uncertainty. Thus, the linearized model of this uncertain system is written as follows:

$$\dot{x}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} x(t) + \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} u(t) + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -1 \end{bmatrix} \xi(t) + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \eta(t);$$

$$z(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} x(t) + \begin{bmatrix} 0.2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0.2 \end{bmatrix} u(t);$$

$$\zeta(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} x(t)$$

$$(4.45)$$

where  $\eta(t)$  is an uncertainty input due to interconnection effect on each subsystem. From [191, 230], the uncertainty inputs  $\xi(t)$  and  $\eta(t)$ , and the uncertainty output  $\zeta(t)$  in (4.45) are related according to

$$\xi(t) = \Delta \zeta(t); \quad \eta(t) = \Delta \zeta(t); \quad \text{for } 0 \le \Delta \le 1.$$
(4.46)

Thus, the following IQCs

$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \|\xi(t)\|^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{\infty} \|\zeta(t)\|^{2} dt + d_{1};$$
  
$$\int_{0}^{\infty} \|\eta(t)\|^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{\infty} \|\zeta(t)\|^{2} dt + d_{2}$$
(4.47)

are satisfied for any  $d_1, d_2 \ge 0$ . Note that the paper [191] does not provide a numerical algorithm for computing the required parameters. Thus, in this example, we also apply the DE method to this problem and obtain

$$\gamma = 0.5308; \quad \tau = \begin{bmatrix} 0.3609 & 0.3526 \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{\theta} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.3427 & 0.3592 \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.48)

where  $\bar{\theta}$  is a vector of scaling constants associated with uncertainty due to interconnection. Given the constants in (4.48), we then use them to compute stabilizing solutions to two Riccati equations of the form (4.29) corresponding to the two inverted pendulums in (4.45). Thus, the decentralized state feedback gain matrices are obtained as follows:

$$\widetilde{K} = 10^3 \times \begin{bmatrix} -8.9995 & -3.8592 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & 0 & -6.8909 & -2.9499 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(4.49)

Having the numerical outcomes above, we notice that our method results in a smaller disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma$  than that given by the method in [191]. This fact confirms that our knowledge about the interconnection between subsystems is useful to improve the disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma$  and to reduce conservatism of the resulting decentralized controller. Moreover, the decentralized state feedback gains in (4.44) are much smaller those in (4.49). This is a consequence of our method which involves reducing the size of the neglected off-diagonal blocks of the non-decentralized state feedback gain matrix K. Small decentralized state feedback gains are indeed preferable in practice because they are less likely to cause control input saturation, noise amplification and instability due to unmodeled dynamics.



**Figure 4.1:** Controlled outputs  $z_1(t)$  and  $z_2(t)$ .

To demonstrate the performance of the decentralized state feedback controller  $\widetilde{K}$  in (4.44), we simulate the resulting decentralized control system using Simulink for different  $\Delta(\mu)$  as defined in (4.41). The closed loop system is only perturbed by an initial condition

$$x(0) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}^T.$$
(4.50)

The trajectories of both controlled outputs  $z_1(t)$  and  $z_2(t)$  are then shown in Figure 4.1. Moreover, the  $H^{\infty}$  norms of the closed loop transfer function matrix  $T_{wz}(s)$  from w(t) to z(t) for different values of  $\mu$  are obtained as follows:

$$\frac{\mu}{\|T_{wz}(s)\|_{\infty}} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.5 & -0.2 & 0 & 0.2 & 0.5 \\ 0.4776 & 0.4801 & 0.4818 & 0.4834 & 0.4859 \end{bmatrix}$$
(4.51)

and the maximum singular values  $\sigma_{\max}$  of the closed loop system are shown in Figure 4.2. It is evident from (4.51) that the decentralized state feedback controller  $\tilde{K}$  in (4.44) results in the closed loop  $H^{\infty}$  norms which are less than the specified value of  $\gamma = 0.5181$ . These results show that the closed loop system is absolutely stable and the decentralized controller is capable of maintaining good disturbance attenuation performance of the closed loop system in the presence of uncertainties.

**Remark 4.1.** We compare our method with that in [191] because the latter also applies an IQC-based framework to solve the decentralized state feedback



Figure 4.2: Maximum singular value  $\sigma_{\text{max}}$ .

robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problem. Here, we show that the (partially) known interconnections between subsystems can be exploited to improve the performance of the decentralized controller. Moreover, when there is an unstable subsystem which cannot be controlled directly, our method still can be used to synthesize an absolutely stabilizing decentralized controller provided the interconnections are known. However, this latter case is not solvable using the method in [191] since the interconnections are considered as uncertainties rather than as useful structural information which can be exploited for control purposes.

# 4.6 Conclusions

We have presented a new method for constructing a decentralized state feedback robust  $H^{\infty}$  controller for a large-scale linear time-invariant uncertain system with IQCs. The main idea is to treat the neglected off-diagonal blocks of the controller gain matrix as uncertainties. This approach enables the controller to exploit the interconnections between subsystems. Moreover, the decentralized controller is required to provide an absolutely stable closed loop system with a specified disturbance attenuation level.

We have also applied an evolutionary optimization approach, namely the DE algorithm, to solve a nonconvex nonlinear optimization problem arising in the proposed decentralized controller synthesis method. The decentralized controller is then constructed using a stabilizing solution to an algebraic Riccati equation, which is dependent on a set of scaling constants. These constants correspond to the system uncertainties and norm bounds of the neglected off-diagonal blocks.

An example with numerical and simulation results is presented in order to demonstrate the efficacy of the proposed decentralized controller design method. Through this example, we also provide a comparison with another relevant IQCbased method as presented in [191]. It is evident that our decentralized state feedback controller has better features as compared to that constructed using the method in [191] whenever the interconnections between subsystems are (partially) known and can be exploited for control purposes.

# Chapter 5

# Decentralized Nonlinear Robust $H^{\infty}$ Control

# 5.1 Introduction

Combining the ideas in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4, we propose a new method to synthesize stable decentralized nonlinear robust  $H^{\infty}$  controllers for a class of large-scale nonlinear uncertain systems. The structured uncertainties and known nonlinearities in the system are characterized in terms of integral quadratic constraints (IQCs) and global Lipschitz conditions (GLCs), respectively. It is common to view a large-scale system as consisting of interconnected subsystems. We assume that the interconnections are well known and are therefore not treated as uncertainties because they may provide useful structural information about the large-scale system being controlled. On the basis of this perspective, we allow the decentralized control system to exploit the interconnections while achieving absolute stability with a specified disturbance attenuation level.

Each decentralized controller is assumed to be dependent only on the measurement output of the corresponding local subsystem although no assumptions are made regarding the structure of the large-scale system. However, we cannot simply ignore the influence of the measurement outputs of other subsystems as in the case of controlling a large-scale nonlinear system using a single nondecentralized nonlinear controller of the same structure. This then results in nonlinear error systems, which originate from the difference between the decentralized and non-decentralized nonlinear controllers. Thus, in constructing the decentralized nonlinear controllers, we consider the nonlinear error system corresponding to each decentralized controller as an additional uncertainty for the original nonlinear plant. Consequently, the decentralized nonlinear controllers are required to be stable and robust against both the plant and additional uncertainties. In fact, decentralized controllers with these features have also been considered in [166] for a linear robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problem.



Figure 5.1: (a) Large-scale nonlinear uncertain system with decentralized nonlinear controller. (b) Large-scale nonlinear uncertain system and decentralized linear controller with repeated nonlinearity. Here,  $\psi(\cdot)$  is a known nonlinearity and  $\phi(\cdot)$  is an uncertainty; see [6].

A particular way to obtain our decentralized nonlinear controllers is through the addition of a copy of the plant nonlinearity to the linear part of the controllers as shown in Figure 5.1(a). The aim of this inclusion is to enable the decentralized controllers to exploit the plant nonlinearity without directly treating it as uncertainty such that we can obtain decentralized nonlinear controllers with better disturbance attenuation performance. As we use the results on linear robust  $H^{\infty}$  control in [187] to solve our decentralized control problem, the copy of the nonlinearity is then incorporated into the plant (see Figure 5.1(b)) and it is required to satisfy extra IQCs derived from the GLCs. Therefore, the solution to the decentralized nonlinear control problem is given in terms of the stabilizing solutions to algebraic Riccati equations, which are dependent on a set of scaling parameters. This approach to designing decentralized nonlinear controllers only provides us with sufficient conditions. Moreover, it also results in a numerical algorithm, which involves parameterized nonconvex nonlinear constraints. We realize that this type of numerical problem is often difficult to solve using regular optimization methods. Thus, all design parameters are computed using an evolutionary optimization method, namely the differential evolution (DE) algorithm as described in Chapter 2.

### 5.2 Problem Statement

In this section, we introduce the nonlinear uncertain systems being considered and formulate a corresponding decentralized nonlinear control problem. This formulation includes all necessary notation and definitions, which closely follow those in previous chapters.

#### 5.2.1 System description and definitions

We are concerned with a decentralized nonlinear robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problem for a class of large-scale nonlinear uncertain systems represented as follows:

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + B_1w(t) + B_2u(t) + \sum_{s=1}^{f} E_{1,s}\xi_s(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{g} E_{2,i}\mu_i(t), \quad x(0) = x_0;$$

$$z(t) = C_1x(t) + D_{12}u(t);$$

$$\zeta_1(t) = H_{1,1}x(t) + G_{1,1}u(t);$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\zeta_f(t) = H_{1,f}x(t) + G_{1,f}u(t);$$

$$\nu_1(t) = H_{2,1}x(t) + G_{2,1}u(t);$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\nu_g(t) = H_{2,g}x(t) + G_{2,g}u(t);$$

$$y(t) = C_2x(t) + D_{21}w(t) + \sum_{s=1}^{f} F_{1,s}\xi_s(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{g} F_{2,i}\mu_i(t)$$
(5.1)

where  $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$  is the state,  $u \in \mathbf{R}^m$  is the control input,  $w \in \mathbf{R}^d$  is the disturbance input,  $z \in \mathbf{R}^q$  is the controlled output,  $y \in \mathbf{R}^l$  is the measurement output,  $\xi_1 \in \mathbf{R}^{r_1}, \ldots, \xi_f \in \mathbf{R}^{r_f}$  are the uncertainty inputs,  $\zeta_1 \in \mathbf{R}^{h_1}, \ldots, \zeta_f \in \mathbf{R}^{h_f}$  are the uncertainty outputs,  $\mu_1 \in \mathbf{R}, \ldots, \mu_g \in \mathbf{R}$  are the nonlinearity inputs, and  $\nu_1 \in \mathbf{R}, \ldots, \nu_g \in \mathbf{R}$  are the nonlinearity outputs. All coefficient matrices in (5.1) have compatible dimensions with those of the signals.

The relationship between the nonlinearity input  $\mu_i(t)$  and nonlinearity output  $\nu_i(t)$  in the system (5.1) is described as

$$\mu_i(t) = \psi_i\left(\nu_i(t)\right), \quad \forall i = 1, 2, \dots, g \tag{5.2}$$

and satisfies condition  $\psi_i(0) = 0$ . Each nonlinear function  $\psi_i(\cdot)$  is assumed to be known and satisfies the global Lipschitz condition written as

$$|\psi_i(\nu(t)) - \psi_i(\tilde{\nu}(t))| \le \beta_i |\nu(t) - \tilde{\nu}(t)|, \quad \forall i = 1, 2, \dots, g$$

$$(5.3)$$

for all  $(\nu(t), \tilde{\nu}(t))$  and  $\beta_i \geq 0$ . Moreover, the uncertainty input  $\xi_s(t)$  and uncertainty output  $\zeta_s(t)$  in the system (5.1) are related as follows:

$$\xi_s(t) = \phi_s\left(t, \zeta_s(\cdot)|_0^t\right), \quad \forall s = 1, 2, \dots, f.$$
(5.4)

where  $\phi_s(\cdot)$  can be a nonlinear time-varying and dynamic functional; see [2]. The uncertainty input  $\xi_s(t)$  is said to be admissible if it satisfies the integral quadratic constraint defined as follows:

**Definition 5.1.** (Integral Quadratic Constraint; e.g., see [2]) An uncertainty of the form (5.4) is an admissible uncertainty for the system (5.1) if the following conditions hold: Given any locally square integrable control input  $u(\cdot)$  and locally square integrable disturbance input  $w(\cdot)$ , and any corresponding solution to the system (5.1), (5.4), let  $(0, t_{\star})$  be the interval on which the solution exists. Then there exist constants  $d_{1,1} \geq 0, \ldots, d_{1,f} \geq 0$  and a sequence  $\{t_k\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  such that  $t_k \to t_{\star}, t_k \geq 0$  and

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k}} \|\xi_{s}(t)\|^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \|\zeta_{s}(t)\|^{2} dt + d_{1,s}$$
(5.5)

for all k and for all  $s = 1, 2, \ldots, f$ . Note that  $t_k$  and  $t_*$  may be equal to infinity.

The class of all admissible uncertainties  $\xi(\cdot) = [\xi_1(\cdot), \ldots, \xi_f(\cdot)]$  is denoted by  $\Xi$ .

We wish to synthesize a stable decentralized nonlinear controller for the nonlinear uncertain system (5.1), (5.2), (5.5) based on the results in Chapter 3. In this case, the general form of a nonlinear robust  $H^{\infty}$  output feedback controller is given as follows:

$$\dot{x}_{c}(t) = Nx_{c}(t) + My(t) + \sum_{i=1}^{g} L_{i}\tilde{\mu}_{c_{i}}(t); \quad x_{c}(0) = x_{c_{0}};$$

$$u(t) = Kx_{c}(t);$$

$$\tilde{\nu}_{c_{1}}(t) = P_{1}x_{c}(t);$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\tilde{\nu}_{c_{g}}(t) = P_{g}x_{c}(t)$$
(5.6)

where  $x_c \in \mathbf{R}^n$  and

$$\tilde{\mu}_{c_i}(t) = \psi_i \left( \tilde{\nu}_{c_i}(t) \right) \quad \text{for } i = 1, 2, \dots, g.$$
(5.7)

Indeed, the nonlinear controller (5.6), (5.7) is of *n*-th order and is constructed by adding a copy of each nonlinearity (5.2) to the linear part of the controller. The purpose of this inclusion is to enable the controller to exploit the plant nonlinearity while achieving a desired control objective.

It is assumed that the large-scale nonlinear uncertain system (5.1), (5.2), (5.5) consists of p interconnected subsystems. This structure then leads to a decomposition of the measurement output  $y(t) \in \mathbf{R}^{l}$  into p components as follows:

$$y(t) = \begin{bmatrix} y_1(t) \\ y_2(t) \\ \vdots \\ y_p(t) \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.8)

where the output  $y_j(t) \in \mathbf{R}^{l_j}$ , for j = 1, 2, ..., p, is only available to the controller for the *j*-th subsystem. Therefore, an output feedback control input  $\tilde{u}_j(t)$  for *j*-th subsystem is assumed to be dependent only on the measurement output  $y_j(t)$ . This assumption leads to a decentralized control input  $\tilde{u}(t) \in \mathbf{R}^m$ , which also has p components as follows:

$$\tilde{u}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{u}_1(t) \\ \tilde{u}_2(t) \\ \vdots \\ \tilde{u}_p(t) \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.9)

where  $\tilde{u}_j(t) \in \mathbf{R}^{m_j}$  for j = 1, 2, ..., p. The assumption on the relation between  $y_j(t)$  and  $\tilde{u}_j(t)$  is made regardless of the structure of A,  $B_2$  and  $C_2$  in (5.1).

The structure of j-th decentralized nonlinear output feedback controller is the same as that of the non-decentralized one as shown in (5.6), (5.7). Thus, each decentralized controller can be viewed as a special case of its non-decentralized counterpart. That is,

$$\dot{x}_{d_j}(t) = N x_{d_j}(t) + M_j y_j(t) + \sum_{i=1}^g L_i \tilde{\mu}_{d_i}(t); \quad x_{d_j}(0) = x_{d_{j_0}}$$
$$\tilde{u}_j(t) = K_j x_{d_j}(t);$$
$$\tilde{\nu}_{d_1}(t) = P_1 x_{d_j}(t);$$
$$\vdots$$
$$\tilde{\nu}_{d_g}(t) = P_g x_{d_j}(t)$$
(5.10)

where  $x_{d_j} \in \mathbf{R}^n$  and

$$\tilde{\mu}_{d_i}(t) = \psi_i \left( \tilde{\nu}_{d_i}(t) \right) \tag{5.11}$$

for j = 1, 2, ..., p and i = 1, 2, ..., g. The purpose of applying the decentralized controller (5.10), (5.11) to the large-scale nonlinear uncertain system (5.1), (5.2), (5.5) is to obtain an absolutely stable closed loop system with a specified disturbance attenuation level.

**Definition 5.2.** (Absolute Stabilizability; e.g., see [2]) The nonlinear uncertain system (5.1), (5.2), (5.5) is said to be absolutely stabilizable with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma$  via the decentralized stable output feedback controller (5.10), (5.11) if there exist constants  $c_1 > 0$  and  $c_2 > 0$  such that the following conditions hold:

1. For any initial condition  $[x(0), x_{d_1}(0), \ldots, x_{d_p}(0)]$ , any admissible uncertainty inputs  $\xi_1(\cdot), \ldots, \xi_f(\cdot)$  and any disturbance input  $w(\cdot) \in \mathbf{L}_2[0, \infty)$ , then  $[x(\cdot), x_{d_1}(\cdot), \ldots, x_{d_p}(\cdot), u(\cdot), \xi_1(\cdot), \ldots, \xi_f(\cdot)] \in \mathbf{L}_2[0, \infty)$  (hence,  $t_{\star} = \infty$ ) and

$$\|x(\cdot)\|_{2}^{2} + \sum_{j=1}^{p} \|x_{d_{j}}(\cdot)\|_{2}^{2} + \|u(\cdot)\|_{2}^{2} + \sum_{s=1}^{f} \|\xi_{s}(\cdot)\|_{2}^{2}$$
$$\leq c_{1} \left[ \|x(0)\|^{2} + \sum_{j=1}^{p} \|x_{d_{j}}(0)\|^{2} + \|w(\cdot)\|_{2}^{2} + \sum_{s=1}^{f} d_{1,s} \right].$$
(5.12)

2. The following  $H^{\infty}$  norm bound condition is satisfied: If x(0) = 0 and  $x_{d_1}(0) = \ldots = x_{d_p}(0) = 0$ , then for  $w(\cdot) \in \mathbf{L}_2[0,\infty)$  and  $\xi_s(\cdot) \in \Xi$  (for all  $s = 1, 2, \ldots, f$ )

$$\mathcal{J} := \sup_{w(\cdot)} \sup_{\xi_s(\cdot)} \frac{\|z(\cdot)\|_2^2 - c_2 \sum_{s=1}^f d_{1,s}}{\|w(\cdot)\|_2^2} < \gamma^2.$$
(5.13)

When constructing a decentralized control system, it is common to consider the interconnections between subsystems as uncertainties in addition to those of the plant under consideration; e.g., see [216, 219, 220, 224]. This is in contrast to our approach where they are assumed to be known and hence, not considered as additional sources of uncertainties for the whole large-scale system. The same assumption has been introduced in Chapter 4. It is based on an observation that in some applications, the interconnections may provide useful structural information for the entire decentralized control system. This paradigm allows the decentralized controllers to exploit the interconnections while achieving the control objective. However, we need to take into account the influence of other components of y(t) apart from  $y_j(t)$  on *j*-th decentralized nonlinear controller. Thus, they are considered to give rise additional uncertainties in the plant. Using this approach, the resulting decentralized controller is expected to be robust against uncertainties in itself and of the plant.

#### 5.2.2 Nonlinear error system

Although the decentralized control input  $\tilde{u}_j(t)$  depends only on the measurement output  $y_j(t)$ , the other components of y(t) may also affect the dynamics of *j*th decentralized controller as it is a nonlinear output feedback controller. This situation constitutes a difference between the non-decentralized control input  $u_j(t)$  and the decentralized control input  $\tilde{u}_j(t)$ , which can be described as

$$\Delta u_j(t) := u_j(t) - \tilde{u}_j(t) = K_j \left( x_c(t) - x_{d_j}(t) \right)$$
(5.14)

for j = 1, 2, ..., p. The error signal  $\Delta u_j(t)$  is considered as an output of the *j*-th nonlinear error system defined as follows:

$$\begin{bmatrix} \dot{x}_{c}(t) \\ \dot{x}_{d_{j}}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \mathcal{N} \begin{bmatrix} x_{c}(t) \\ x_{d_{j}}(t) \end{bmatrix} + \mathcal{M}y(t) + \mathcal{L} \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\mu}_{c}(t) \\ \tilde{\mu}_{d}(t) \end{bmatrix};$$
  

$$\Delta u_{j}(t) = \mathcal{K} \begin{bmatrix} x_{c}(t) \\ x_{d_{j}}(t) \end{bmatrix};$$
  

$$\begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\nu}_{c}(t) \\ \tilde{\nu}_{d}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \mathcal{P} \begin{bmatrix} x_{c}(t) \\ x_{d_{j}}(t) \end{bmatrix}$$
(5.15)

where

$$\mathcal{N} = \begin{bmatrix} N & 0 \\ 0 & N \end{bmatrix}; \quad \mathcal{M} = \begin{bmatrix} M \\ MV_j \end{bmatrix}; \quad \mathcal{L} = \begin{bmatrix} L & 0 \\ 0 & L \end{bmatrix}; \quad \mathcal{P} = \begin{bmatrix} P & 0 \\ 0 & P \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\mathcal{K} = \begin{bmatrix} Z_j K & -Z_j K \end{bmatrix}; \quad M = \begin{bmatrix} M_1 & \cdots & M_p \end{bmatrix}; \quad L = \begin{bmatrix} L_1 & \cdots & L_g \end{bmatrix};$$

$$K = \begin{bmatrix} K_1 \\ \vdots \\ K_p \end{bmatrix}; \quad P = \begin{bmatrix} P_1 \\ \vdots \\ P_g \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{\mu}_c(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \mu_{c_1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \mu_{c_g}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{\mu}_d(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \mu_{d_1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \mu_{d_g}(t) \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\tilde{\nu}_c(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \nu_{c_1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \nu_{c_g}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{\nu}_d(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \nu_{d_1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \nu_{d_g}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad V_1 = \begin{bmatrix} I_{l_1 \times l_1} & 0_{l_1 \times \tilde{l}_1} \\ 0_{\tilde{l}_1 \times l_1} & 0_{\tilde{l}_1 \times \tilde{l}_1} \\ 0_{\tilde{l}_p \times \tilde{l}_{p-1}} & I_{l_p \times l_p} \end{bmatrix};$$

$$V_b = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{\tilde{l}_{p-1} \times \tilde{l}_{b-1}} & 0_{\tilde{l}_{b-1} \times l_b} & 0_{l_b \times \tilde{l}_b} \\ 0_{\tilde{l}_b \times \tilde{l}_{b-1}} & 0_{\tilde{l}_b \times l_b} & 0_{\tilde{l}_b \times \tilde{l}_b} \\ 0_{\tilde{l}_b \times \tilde{l}_{b-1}} & 0_{\tilde{l}_b \times l_b} & 0_{\tilde{l}_b \times \tilde{l}_b} \end{bmatrix}; \quad V_p = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{\tilde{l}_{p-1} \times \tilde{l}_{p-1}} & 0_{\tilde{l}_p \times l_p} \\ 0_{l_p \times \tilde{l}_{p-1}} & I_{l_p \times l_p} \end{bmatrix};$$

$$Z_1 = \begin{bmatrix} I_{m_1 \times m_1} & 0_{m_1 \times \tilde{m}_1} \end{bmatrix}; \quad Z_b = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{m_b \times \tilde{m}_{b-1}} & I_{m_b \times m_b} & 0_{m_b \times \tilde{m}_b} \end{bmatrix};$$
(5.16)

for b = 2, 3, ..., p - 1 and j = 1, 2, ..., p. Note that  $\bar{l}_j = \sum_{k=1}^j l_k$ ;  $\tilde{l}_j = l - \bar{l}_j$ ;  $\bar{m}_j = \sum_{k=1}^j m_k$  and  $\tilde{m}_j = m - \bar{m}_j$ .

The nonlinearity input and output in (5.15) are represented as follows:

$$\rho(t) := \begin{bmatrix} \rho_1(t) \\ \vdots \\ \rho_{\bar{g}}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\mu}_c(t) \\ \tilde{\mu}_d(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \eta(t) := \begin{bmatrix} \eta_1(t) \\ \vdots \\ \eta_{\bar{g}}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\nu}_c(t) \\ \tilde{\nu}_d(t) \end{bmatrix} \tag{5.17}$$

with  $\bar{g} = 2g$  and therefore,

$$\rho_a(t) = \psi_a(\eta_a(t)), \quad \psi_a(0) = 0, \quad \text{for } a = 1, 2, \dots, \bar{g}.$$
(5.18)

The nonlinear function  $\psi_a(\cdot)$  in (5.18) is also required to satisfy the GLC as follows:

$$|\psi_a(\eta) - \psi_a(\tilde{\eta})| \le \beta_a |\eta - \tilde{\eta}|, \quad \beta_a \ge 0.$$
(5.19)

Note that  $\beta_i = \beta_{g+i}$  for i = 1, 2, ..., g. From the GLCs in (5.19), we can define an additional set of IQCs as follows:

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k}} \left(\rho_{a}(t)\right)^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \beta_{a}^{2} \left(\eta_{a}(t)\right)^{2} dt + d_{5,a}$$
(5.20)

with  $d_{5,a} \geq 0$ , for all  $a = 1, 2, ..., \bar{g}$  and for all  $\{t_k \geq 0\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ . The set of all admissible uncertainty inputs  $\rho_a(\cdot)$  is analogously defined as in the Definition 5.1 and denoted by  $\Xi_e$ .

Moreover, we define a constant  $\delta_j > 0$  associated with the *j*-th nonlinear error system (5.15), (5.20) such that the following  $H^{\infty}$  norm bound condition

$$\mathcal{J}_{e,j} := \sup_{y(\cdot) \in \mathbf{L}_2[0,\infty)} \sup_{\rho_a(\cdot) \in \Xi_e} \frac{\|\Delta u_j(\cdot)\|_2^2 - \varepsilon_j \sum_{a=1}^g d_{5,a}}{\|y(\cdot)\|_2^2} < \delta_j^2$$
(5.21)

is satisfied for all  $\rho_a(\cdot) \in \Xi_e$ , a given constant  $\varepsilon_j > 0$ ,  $x_c(0) = 0$  and  $x_{d_j}(0) = 0$ . The condition (5.21) then imposes an absolute stability constraint on the *j*-th nonlinear error system (5.15), (5.20) and thus leads to the following lemma:

**Lemma 5.1.** Let  $\beta_1 \geq 0, \ldots, \beta_g \geq 0$ ,  $\delta_j > 0$  be given constants. Suppose that

 $\mathcal{A}_{e_j}$  is stable and there exist constants  $\theta_{j,1} > 0, \ldots, \theta_{j,\bar{g}} > 0$  such that

$$\| C_{e_j}(sI - A_{e_j})^{-1} \mathcal{B}_{e_j} \|_{\infty} < 1, \text{ for } j = 1, 2, \dots, p$$
 (5.22)

where  $\mathcal{A}_{e_j} = \mathcal{N};$ 

$$\mathcal{B}_{e_{j}} = \begin{bmatrix} \delta_{j}^{-1}M & \sqrt{\theta_{j,1}}^{-1}L_{1} & \dots & \sqrt{\theta_{j,g}}^{-1}L_{g} & 0 & \dots & 0\\ \delta_{j}^{-1}MV_{j} & 0 & \dots & 0 & \sqrt{\theta_{j,g+1}}^{-1}L_{1} & \dots & \sqrt{\theta_{j,\bar{g}}}^{-1}L_{g} \end{bmatrix}; \\ \mathcal{C}_{e_{j}} = \begin{bmatrix} Z_{j}K & -Z_{j}K \\ \beta_{1}\sqrt{\theta_{j,1}}P_{1} & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ \beta_{g}\sqrt{\theta_{j,g}}P_{g} & 0 \\ 0 & \beta_{1}\sqrt{\theta_{j,g+1}}P_{1} \\ \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & \beta_{g}\sqrt{\theta_{j,\bar{g}}}P_{g} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(5.23)

Then, the  $H^{\infty}$  norm bound

$$\tilde{\mathcal{J}}_{e,j} := \sup_{\tilde{y}_j(\cdot) \in \mathbf{L}_2[0,\infty), x_c(0) = 0, x_{d_j}(0) = 0} \frac{\|\Delta \tilde{u}_j(\cdot)\|_2^2}{\|\tilde{y}_j(\cdot)\|_2^2} < 1$$
(5.24)

is satisfied, where

$$\tilde{y}_{j}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \delta_{j}y(t) \\ \sqrt{\theta_{j,1}}\,\rho_{1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\theta_{j,\bar{g}}}\,\rho_{\bar{g}}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \Delta \tilde{u}_{j} = \begin{bmatrix} \Delta u_{j} \\ \beta_{1}\sqrt{\theta_{j,1}}\,\eta_{1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \beta_{\bar{g}}\sqrt{\theta_{j,\bar{g}}}\,\eta_{\bar{g}}(t) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(5.25)

Moreover, if this condition holds, then the *j*-th nonlinear error system (5.15), (5.20) is absolutely stable with disturbance attenuation level  $\delta_j > 0$ . Hence, the  $H^{\infty}$  norm bound (5.21) is satisfied.

**Remark 5.1.** The proof of this lemma follows via the same arguments as the sufficiency proof of Theorem 4.1 in [187]. Since the *j*-th nonlinear error system (5.15), (5.20) is such that  $\mathcal{A}_{e_j}$  is stable, then we can always find a constant  $\delta_j > 0$  such that (5.22) is satisfied.

#### 5.2.3 Equivalent nonlinear uncertain system

To solve the decentralized nonlinear control problem described in sub-Section 5.2.1 using the stable nonlinear controller design method presented in Chapter 3, we first need to form an equivalent nonlinear uncertain system. For this purpose, we consider the error output  $\Delta u_j(t)$  in (5.15) as an additional uncertainty input  $\xi_j^u(t)$  to the original nonlinear uncertain system (5.1), (5.2), (5.5). Then, referring to (5.14), we can write  $\tilde{u}_j(t)$  as

$$\tilde{u}_j(t) = u_j(t) + \xi_j^u(t)$$
(5.26)

for j = 1, 2, ..., p. According to (5.15), the additional uncertainty input  $\xi_j^u(t)$  and uncertainty output  $\zeta_j^u(t)$  can then be defined as follows:

$$\xi_j^u(t) := -\Delta u_j(t);$$
  

$$\zeta_j^u(t) := y(t)$$
(5.27)

for j = 1, 2, ..., p. Now, we can rewrite the decentralized control input  $\tilde{u}(t)$  as

$$\tilde{u}(t) = u(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{p} J_{j}^{u} \xi_{j}^{u}(t)$$
(5.28)

where, for b = 2, 3, ..., p - 1,

$$J_{1}^{u} = \begin{bmatrix} I_{m_{1} \times m_{1}} \\ 0_{\tilde{m}_{1} \times m_{1}} \end{bmatrix};$$

$$J_{b}^{u} = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{\bar{m}_{b-1} \times m_{b}} \\ I_{m_{b} \times m_{b}} \\ 0_{\tilde{m}_{b} \times m_{b}} \end{bmatrix};$$

$$J_{p}^{u} = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{\bar{m}_{p-1} \times m_{p}} \\ I_{m_{p} \times m_{p}} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(5.29)

Applying the decentralized control input  $\tilde{u}(t)$  in (5.28) to the nonlinear uncertain system (5.1), (5.2), (5.5), we obtain the same closed loop system as if we apply a non-decentralized control input u(t) to an equivalent nonlinear uncertain

system defined as follows:

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + B_1w(t) + B_2u(t) + B_2J_u\xi_u(t) + E_1\xi(t) + E_2\mu(t);$$

$$z(t) = C_1x(t) + D_{12}u(t) + D_{12}J_u\xi_u(t);$$

$$\zeta(t) = H_1x(t) + G_1u(t) + G_1J_u\xi_u(t);$$

$$\nu(t) = H_2x(t) + G_2u(t) + G_2J_u\xi_u(t);$$

$$\zeta_u(t) = \bar{I}\left[C_2x(t) + D_{21}w(t) + F_1\xi(t) + F_2\mu(t)\right];$$

$$y(t) = C_2x(t) + D_{21}w(t) + F_1\xi(t) + F_2\mu(t)$$
(5.30)

where

$$\begin{aligned} \xi(t) &= \begin{bmatrix} \xi_{1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \xi_{f}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \zeta(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \zeta_{1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \zeta_{f}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \mu(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \mu_{1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \mu_{g}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \\ \nu(t) &= \begin{bmatrix} \nu_{1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \nu_{g}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \xi_{u}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \xi_{1}^{u}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \xi_{p}^{u}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \zeta_{u}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \zeta_{1}^{u}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \zeta_{p}^{u}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \\ J_{u} &= \begin{bmatrix} J_{1}^{u} & \cdots & J_{p}^{u} \end{bmatrix}; \quad E_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} E_{1,1} & \cdots & E_{1,f} \end{bmatrix}; \quad E_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} E_{2,1} & \cdots & E_{2,g} \end{bmatrix}; \\ H_{1} &= \begin{bmatrix} H_{1,1} \\ \vdots \\ H_{1,f} \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} H_{2,1} \\ \vdots \\ H_{2,g} \end{bmatrix}; \quad G_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} G_{1,1} \\ \vdots \\ G_{1,f} \end{bmatrix}; \quad G_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} G_{2,1} \\ \vdots \\ G_{2,g} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{I} = \begin{bmatrix} I_{1} \\ \vdots \\ I_{p} \end{bmatrix}; \\ F_{1} &= \begin{bmatrix} F_{1,1} & \cdots & F_{1,f} \end{bmatrix}; \quad F_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} F_{2,1} & \cdots & F_{2,g} \end{bmatrix}; \\ I_{j} &= I_{l \times l} \end{aligned}$$

$$(5.31)$$

for all j = 1, 2, ..., p. Note that l is the dimension of the measurement output y. Each pair of additional uncertainty input  $\xi_j^u(t)$  and output  $\zeta_j^u(t)$  as defined in (5.27) has to satisfy an IQC of the form

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k}} \|\xi_{j}^{u}(t)\|^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \delta_{j}^{2} \|\zeta_{j}^{u}(t)\|^{2} dt + d_{j}^{u}$$
(5.32)

with  $d_j^u \ge 0$ , for all j = 1, 2, ..., p and for all  $\{t_k \ge 0\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ . It then follows from Definition 5.1 that an admissible uncertainty input  $\xi_j^u(t)$  belongs to a set  $\Xi_u$ .

#### **5.2.4** Robust $H^{\infty}$ control

Following from the construction in sub-Section 5.2.3, we transform the problem of designing a stable decentralized nonlinear controller of the form (5.10), (5.11)for the original nonlinear uncertain system (5.1), (5.2), (5.5) to that of designing a stable non-decentralized nonlinear controller of the form (5.6), (5.7) for the equivalent nonlinear uncertain system (5.30), (5.2), (5.5), (5.32). Then, in order to construct the stable non-decentralized nonlinear controller (5.6), (5.7) using the results in Chapter 3, we first incorporate all copies of the nonlinearities (5.7)into the plant description (5.30). This step allows us to rewrite the nonlinear controller (5.6), (5.7) as

$$\dot{x}_c(t) = Nx_c(t) + M\bar{y}(t);$$
  
$$\bar{u}(t) = \tilde{K}x_c(t)$$
(5.33)

where

$$\tilde{M} := \begin{bmatrix} M & L \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{K} := \begin{bmatrix} K \\ P \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{y}(t) := \begin{bmatrix} y(t) \\ \tilde{\mu}(t) \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\bar{u}(t) := \begin{bmatrix} u(t) \\ \tilde{\nu}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{\mu}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\mu}_1(t) \\ \vdots \\ \tilde{\mu}_g(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{\nu}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{\nu}_1(t) \\ \vdots \\ \tilde{\nu}_g(t) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(5.34)

Furthermore, referring to the GLCs (5.3), the nonlinearities (5.2) and their copies (5.7) can be characterized in terms of the IQCs:

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k}} (\mu_{i}(t) - \tilde{\mu}_{i}(t))^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \beta_{i}^{2} (\nu_{i}(t) - \tilde{\nu}_{i}(t))^{2} dt + d_{2,i};$$

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k}} (\mu_{i}(t))^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \beta_{i}^{2} (\nu_{i}(t))^{2} dt + d_{3,i};$$

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k}} (\tilde{\mu}_{i}(t))^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \beta_{i}^{2} (\tilde{\nu}_{i}(t))^{2} dt + d_{4,i}$$
(5.35)

with  $d_{2,i} \ge 0$ ,  $d_{3,i} \ge 0$  and  $d_{4,i} \ge 0$ , and for all i = 1, 2, ..., g and for all  $\{t_k \ge 0\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ .

Using the expressions in (5.34) and (5.35), we can further simplify the equivalent nonlinear uncertain system (5.30), (5.2), (5.5), (5.32) into a linear uncertain system as follows:

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + B_1 w(t) + \bar{B}_2 \bar{u}(t) + \bar{E}\xi(t);$$

$$z(t) = C_1 x(t) + \bar{D}_{12} \bar{u}(t) + \bar{D}_{12}^J \tilde{\xi}(t);$$

$$\tilde{\zeta}(t) = \bar{H}x(t) + \bar{G}_w w(t) + \bar{G}\bar{u}(t) + \bar{G}_J \tilde{\xi}(t);$$

$$\bar{y}(t) = \bar{C}_2 x(t) + \bar{D}_{21} w(t) + \bar{F} \tilde{\xi}(t)$$
(5.36)

where  $\bar{f} = f + \bar{g} + p$ ;  $r = \sum_{s=1}^{f} r_s$ ;  $\bar{r} = r + \bar{g}$ ;  $h = \sum_{s=1}^{f} h_s$ ;  $\bar{h} = h + \bar{g}$ ; and

$$\tilde{\xi}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \xi(t) \\ \mu(t) \\ \tilde{\mu}(t) \\ \tilde{\mu}(t) \\ \tilde{\xi}_{u}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{\zeta}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \zeta(t) \\ \nu(t) \\ \tilde{\nu}(t) \\ \zeta_{u}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{B}_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} B_{2} & 0_{n \times g} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{E} = \begin{bmatrix} E_{1} & E_{2} & 0_{n \times g} & B_{2}J_{u} \end{bmatrix}; \\ \bar{D}_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} D_{12} & 0_{q \times g} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{D}_{12}^{J} = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{q \times \bar{r}} & D_{12}J_{u} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{G}_{w} = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{\bar{h} \times d} \\ \bar{I}D_{21} \end{bmatrix}; \\ \bar{H} = \begin{bmatrix} H_{1} \\ H_{2} \\ 0_{g \times n} \\ \bar{I}C_{2} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{G} = \begin{bmatrix} G_{1} & 0_{h \times g} \\ G_{2} & 0_{g \times g} \\ 0_{g \times m} & I_{g \times g} \\ 0_{g \times m} & 0_{p \mid \times g} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{G}_{J} = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{h \times r} & 0_{h \times g} & 0_{h \times g} & G_{1}J_{u} \\ 0_{g \times r} & 0_{g \times g} & 0_{g \times g} & G_{2}J_{u} \\ 0_{g \times r} & 0_{g \times g} & 0_{g \times g} & 0_{g \times m} \\ \bar{I}F_{1} & \bar{I}F_{2} & 0_{p \mid \times g} & 0_{p \mid \times m} \end{bmatrix}; \\ \bar{C}_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} C_{2} \\ 0_{g \times n} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{D}_{21} = \begin{bmatrix} D_{21} \\ 0_{g \times d} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{F} = \begin{bmatrix} F_{1} & F_{2} & 0_{l \times g} & 0_{l \times m} \\ 0_{g \times r} & 0_{g \times g} & 0_{g \times m} \end{bmatrix}. \quad (5.37)$$

The uncertainties of the system (5.36) are represented by rewriting all IQCs in (5.5), (5.35), (5.32) in the following form:

$$\int_0^{t_k} \tilde{\xi}(t)^T Q_\alpha \tilde{\xi}(t) \, dt \le \int_0^{t_k} \tilde{\zeta}(t)^T R_\alpha \tilde{\zeta}(t) \, dt + d_\alpha \tag{5.38}$$

with  $d_{\alpha} \geq 0$ , for all  $\alpha = 1, 2, ..., \hat{f}$  and for all  $\{t_k \geq 0\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ . Note that  $\hat{f} = f + 3g + p$ , and  $Q_{\alpha}$  and  $R_{\alpha}$  are symmetric matrices. Also, the constants  $\delta_j^2$  in (5.32) and  $\beta_i^2$  in (5.35) are accordingly included in  $R_{\alpha}$  in (5.38) corresponding to  $\zeta_j^u(t), \nu_i(t)$  and  $\tilde{\nu}_i(t)$ , respectively. The admissible uncertainty input  $\tilde{\xi}(\cdot)$  is an element of  $\tilde{\Xi}$  as defined in Definition 5.1.

However, we notice that the IQCs (5.38) are not expressed in the standard form as given in (5.5). Therefore, it is necessary to introduce scaling constants

 $\lambda_{\alpha} \geq 0, \lambda_{\alpha} \in \mathbf{R}$  corresponding to each IQC in (5.38) as we use the results of [187] to solve our control problem. This approach allows us to define weighting matrices  $\tilde{Q}(\lambda) \geq 0$  and  $\tilde{R}(\lambda) \geq 0$ , and a constant  $\tilde{d}(\lambda) \geq 0$  as functions of

$$\lambda := \begin{bmatrix} \lambda_1 & \lambda_2 & \cdots & \lambda_{\hat{f}} \end{bmatrix}^T.$$
(5.39)

That is,

$$\tilde{Q}(\lambda) := \sum_{\alpha=1}^{\hat{f}} \lambda_{\alpha} Q_{\alpha}; \quad \tilde{R}(\lambda) := \sum_{\alpha=1}^{\hat{f}} \lambda_{\alpha} R_{\alpha}; \quad \tilde{d}(\lambda) := \sum_{\alpha=1}^{\hat{f}} \lambda_{\alpha} d_{\alpha}$$
(5.40)

where  $\lambda$  belongs to the set

$$\Lambda := \left\{ \lambda \in \mathbf{R}^{\hat{f}} : \lambda_{\alpha} \ge 0, \ \forall \alpha = 1, 2, \dots, \hat{f} \right\}.$$
(5.41)

This implies that the IQCs (5.38) lead to the satisfaction of an IQC parameterized by scaling constants as defined in (5.39). It then follows from (5.38) that

$$\int_0^{t_k} \tilde{\xi}(t)^T \tilde{Q}(\lambda) \tilde{\xi}(t) \, dt \le \int_0^{t_k} \tilde{\zeta}(t)^T \tilde{R}(\lambda) \tilde{\zeta}(t) \, dt + \tilde{d}(\lambda) \tag{5.42}$$

for all  $\{t_k \geq 0\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ . Using this formulation, we are particularly interested in a subset  $\tilde{\Lambda} \subseteq \Lambda$  such that  $\tilde{Q}(\lambda) > 0$ . Then, for each  $\lambda \in \tilde{\Lambda}$ , the weighting matrices defined in (5.40) can be written as

$$\tilde{Q}(\lambda) = \bar{Q}(\lambda)^T \bar{Q}(\lambda);$$

$$\tilde{R}(\lambda) = \bar{R}(\lambda)^T \bar{R}(\lambda)$$
(5.43)

where  $\bar{Q}(\lambda) = \bar{Q}(\lambda)^T = \tilde{Q}(\lambda)^{\frac{1}{2}} > 0$  and  $\bar{R}(\lambda)$  is a rectangular matrix. However,  $\bar{R}(\lambda)$  can be chosen as a square matrix such that  $\bar{R}(\lambda) = \bar{R}(\lambda)^T = \tilde{R}(\lambda)^{\frac{1}{2}} > 0$ . The IQC (5.42) can then be reformulated as

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k}} \|\bar{\xi}(t)\|^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \|\bar{\zeta}(t)\|^{2} dt + \bar{d}(\lambda)$$
(5.44)

for all  $\{t_k \ge 0\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$  with

$$\bar{\xi}(t) := \bar{Q}(\lambda)\tilde{\xi}(t); \quad \bar{\zeta}(t) := \bar{R}(\lambda)\tilde{\zeta}(t); \quad \bar{d}(\lambda) := \tilde{d}(\lambda).$$
(5.45)

Using the expressions in (5.45), the state equations (5.36) can be rewritten as

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + B_1 w(t) + B_2 \bar{u}(t) + EQ(\lambda)^{-1} \xi(t);$$

$$z(t) = C_1 x(t) + \bar{D}_{12} \bar{u}(t) + \bar{D}_{12}^J \bar{Q}(\lambda)^{-1} \bar{\xi}(t);$$

$$\bar{\zeta}(t) = \bar{R}(\lambda) \left[ \bar{H}x(t) + \bar{G}_w w(t) + \bar{G}\bar{u}(t) + \bar{G}_J \bar{Q}(\lambda)^{-1} \bar{\xi}(t) \right];$$

$$\bar{y}(t) = \bar{C}_2 x(t) + \bar{D}_{21} w(t) + \bar{F} \bar{Q}(\lambda)^{-1} \bar{\xi}(t).$$
(5.46)

The stable decentralized nonlinear controller (5.10), (5.11) will then be constructed based on the uncertain system (5.46), (5.44).

# 5.3 Stable Decentralized Controller Synthesis

Based on the decentralized nonlinear control problem stated in Section 5.2, we present an algorithm to synthesize a stable decentralized nonlinear controller (5.10), (5.11) for the nonlinear uncertain system (5.1), (5.2), (5.5). For this purpose, we apply the results in Chapter 3 where we first solve a state feedback control problem for the uncertain system (5.46), (5.44) using the approach of [187]. The resulting state feedback gain matrix is then used to introduce an additional uncertainty to the uncertain system (5.46), (5.44) in order to form an artificial uncertain system. Any suitable output feedback controller for the artificial uncertain system is guaranteed to be stable and provides absolute stability with a specified disturbance attenuation level for the closed loop system (see [7]).

#### 5.3.1 State feedback control problem

Solving a state feedback control problem for the uncertain system (5.46), (5.44) using the results of [187], we expect that the resulting closed loop system be absolutely stable with a specified disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$ . To achieve this goal, we first need to introduce a scaling constant  $\kappa > 0$  corresponding to the IQC (5.44). This allows us to rewrite the state equations (5.46) as follows:

$$\dot{x}(t) = Ax(t) + B_1 \bar{w}(t) + B_2 \bar{u}(t);$$
  

$$\bar{z}(t) = \bar{C}_1 x(t) + \bar{D}_{11} \bar{w}(t) + \tilde{D}_{12} \bar{u}(t);$$
  

$$\bar{y}(t) = \bar{C}_2 x(t) + \tilde{D}_{21} \bar{w}(t)$$
(5.47)

where

$$\bar{w}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma w(t) \\ \sqrt{\kappa} \bar{\xi}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \ \bar{z}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} z(t) \\ \sqrt{\kappa} \bar{\zeta}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \ \bar{B}_{1}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1}B_{1} & \sqrt{\kappa}^{-1}\bar{E}\bar{Q}(\lambda)^{-1} \end{bmatrix};$$
$$\bar{C}_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} C_{1} \\ \sqrt{\kappa}\bar{R}(\lambda)\bar{H} \end{bmatrix}; \ \bar{D}_{11} = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{q\times d} & \sqrt{\kappa}^{-1}\bar{D}_{12}^{J}\bar{Q}(\lambda)^{-1} \\ \gamma^{-1}\sqrt{\kappa}\bar{R}(\lambda)\bar{G}_{w} & \bar{R}(\lambda)\bar{G}_{J}\bar{Q}(\lambda)^{-1} \end{bmatrix};$$
$$\tilde{D}_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{D}_{12} \\ \sqrt{\kappa}\bar{R}(\lambda)\bar{G} \end{bmatrix}; \ \tilde{D}_{21} = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1}\bar{D}_{21} & \sqrt{\kappa}^{-1}\bar{F}\bar{Q}(\lambda)^{-1} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(5.48)

Note that  $\lambda = \tilde{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Lambda}$ . In (5.47), a  $\bar{D}_{11}$  term appears explicitly so that the results of [187] cannot be applied immediately. However, this term can be eliminated via a loop shifting transformation so that (5.47) can be written in a non-singular  $H^{\infty}$ standard form; e.g., see [16, Sections 4.5.1 and 5.5.1] and [18, Section 17.2]. Thus, to perform this transformation, we need to satisfy the following assumption.

Assumption 5.1. Given a vector  $\tilde{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Lambda}$  and constants  $\beta_1 \geq 0, \ldots, \beta_g \geq 0$ ,  $\delta_1 > 0, \ldots, \delta_p > 0$ ,  $\kappa > 0$ , the uncertain system (5.46), (5.44) is such that  $\bar{D}_{11}\bar{D}_{11}^T < I$ .

On the basis of Assumption 5.1, we define

$$\Theta := I - \bar{D}_{11}^T \bar{D}_{11} > 0; \quad \bar{\Theta} := I - \bar{D}_{11} \bar{D}_{11}^T > 0;$$
  
$$\check{w}(t) := \Theta^{\frac{1}{2}} \bar{w}(t) - \Theta^{-\frac{1}{2}} \bar{D}_{11}^T \left( \bar{C}_1 x(t) + \tilde{D}_{12} \bar{u}(t) \right);$$
  
$$\check{z}(t) := \bar{\Theta}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left( \bar{C}_1 x(t) + \tilde{D}_{12} \bar{u}(t) \right)$$
(5.49)

such that

$$\bar{w}(t) = \Theta^{-\frac{1}{2}} \check{w}(t) + \Theta^{-1} \bar{D}_{11}^T \left( \bar{C}_1 x(t) + \tilde{D}_{12} \bar{u}(t) \right);$$
  
$$\|\bar{z}(t)\|^2 - \|\bar{w}(t)\|^2 \equiv \|\check{z}(t)\|^2 - \|\check{w}(t)\|^2.$$
(5.50)

Applying the relations in (5.49) and (5.50) to (5.47), we then obtain

$$\dot{x}(t) = \check{A}x(t) + \check{B}_{1}\check{w}(t) + \check{B}_{2}\bar{u}(t);$$
  

$$\dot{z}(t) = \check{C}_{1}x(t) + \check{D}_{12}\bar{u}(t);$$
  

$$\bar{y}(t) = \check{C}_{2}x(t) + \check{D}_{21}\check{w}(t) + \check{D}_{22}\bar{u}(t)$$
(5.51)

where

$$\begin{split}
\check{A} &= A + \bar{B}_{1} \bar{D}_{11}^{T} \bar{\Theta}^{-1} \bar{C}_{1}; & \check{B}_{1} &= \bar{B}_{1} \Theta^{-\frac{1}{2}}; \\
\check{B}_{2} &= \bar{B}_{2} + \bar{B}_{1} \bar{D}_{11}^{T} \bar{\Theta}^{-1} \tilde{D}_{12}; & \check{C}_{1} &= \bar{\Theta}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \bar{C}_{1}; \\
\check{C}_{2} &= \bar{C}_{2} + \tilde{D}_{21} \bar{D}_{11}^{T} \bar{\Theta}^{-1} \bar{C}_{1}; & \check{D}_{12} &= \bar{\Theta}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \tilde{D}_{12}; \\
\check{D}_{22} &= \tilde{D}_{21} \bar{D}_{11}^{T} \bar{\Theta}^{-1} \tilde{D}_{12}; & \check{D}_{21} &= \tilde{D}_{21} \Theta^{-\frac{1}{2}}.
\end{split}$$
(5.52)

The solution to our state feedback control problem involves a stabilizing solution to a parameterized algebraic Riccati equation, which is solvable if the following assumption is satisfied; e.g., see [187,312].

Assumption 5.2. Given a vector  $\lambda \in \tilde{\Lambda}$  and constants  $\beta_1 \geq 0, \ldots, \beta_g \geq 0$ ,  $\delta_1 > 0, \ldots, \delta_p > 0$ ,  $\kappa > 0$ , the uncertain system (5.46), (5.44) is assumed to be such that  $J = \check{D}_{12}^T \check{D}_{12} > 0$ .

**Lemma 5.2.** Let a vector  $\tilde{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Lambda}$  and constants  $\beta_1 \geq 0, \ldots, \beta_g \geq 0$ ,  $\delta_1 > 0, \ldots, \delta_p > 0$  be given. Also, suppose that the uncertain system (5.46), (5.44) satisfies Assumption 5.2, and is absolutely stabilizable with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  via a controller of the form (5.33) (but which is not necessarily stable). Then, there exists a constant  $\kappa > 0$  satisfying Assumption 5.1 and such that the algebraic Riccati equation

$$(\check{A} - \check{B}_2 J^{-1} \check{D}_{12}^T \check{C}_1)^T X + X (\check{A} - \check{B}_2 J^{-1} \check{D}_{12}^T \check{C}_1) + X (\check{B}_1 \check{B}_1^T - \check{B}_2 J^{-1} \check{B}_2^T) X + \check{C}_1^T (I - \check{D}_{12} J^{-1} \check{D}_{12}^T) \check{C}_1 = 0.$$
 (5.53)

has a stabilizing solution  $X \ge 0$  (see [187]). Moreover, the uncertain system (5.46), (5.44) is absolutely stabilizable with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  via the state feedback controller

$$\bar{u}(t) = \bar{K}x(t) \tag{5.54}$$

where

$$\bar{K} = \begin{bmatrix} \bar{K}_u \\ \bar{K}_{\tilde{\nu}} \end{bmatrix} = -J^{-1} \left( \check{B}_2^T X + \check{D}_{12}^T \check{C}_1 \right).$$
(5.55)

**Proof.** The proof of this lemma follows similar arguments to those in the proof of Lemma 3.1 in Chapter 3.  $\Box$ 

#### 5.3.2 Artificial uncertain system

Considering Lemma 5.2, we suppose that the vector  $\lambda \in \tilde{\Lambda}$  and constants  $\beta_1 \geq 0, \ldots, \beta_g \geq 0, \ \delta_1 > 0, \ldots, \delta_p > 0, \ \kappa > 0$  have been obtained such that Assumptions 5.1 and 5.2 are satisfied, and the algebraic Riccati equation (5.53) has a stabilizing solution  $X \geq 0$ . Then, using the state feedback gain matrix  $\bar{K}$  in (5.55) and adding an additional artificial uncertainty, an artificial uncertain system is formed based on the uncertain system (5.46), (5.44) as follows:

$$\dot{x}(t) = \bar{A}x(t) + B_1w(t) + \tilde{B}_2\bar{u}(t) + \tilde{E}_1\bar{\xi}_1(t) + \tilde{E}_2\bar{\xi}_2(t);$$

$$z(t) = \tilde{C}_1x(t) + \tilde{D}_{\bar{u}}\bar{u}(t) + \tilde{D}_J\bar{\xi}_1(t) + W_1\bar{\xi}_2(t);$$

$$\bar{\zeta}_1(t) = \tilde{H}_1x(t) + \tilde{G}_ww(t) + \tilde{G}_1\bar{u}(t) + \tilde{G}_J\bar{\xi}_1(t) + W_2\bar{\xi}_2(t);$$

$$\bar{\zeta}_2(t) = \tilde{H}_2x(t) + \tilde{G}_2\bar{u}(t);$$

$$\bar{y}(t) = \bar{C}_2x(t) + \bar{D}_{21}w(t) + \tilde{F}_1\bar{\xi}_1(t) + \tilde{F}_2\bar{\xi}_2(t)$$
(5.56)

where

$$\bar{A} = A + \frac{1}{2}B_{2}\bar{K}_{u}; \quad \tilde{B}_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2}B_{2} & 0_{n\times g} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{E}_{1} = \bar{E}\bar{Q}(\lambda)^{-1}; \quad \tilde{E}_{2} = B_{2}U^{-1}; \\
\tilde{C}_{1} = C_{1} + \frac{1}{2}D_{12}\bar{K}_{u}; \quad \tilde{D}_{\bar{u}} = \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2}D_{12} & 0_{q\times g} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{D}_{J} = \bar{D}_{12}^{J}\bar{Q}(\lambda)^{-1}; \quad W_{1} = D_{12}U^{-1}; \\
\tilde{H}_{1} = \bar{R}(\lambda) \begin{bmatrix} H_{1} + \frac{1}{2}G_{1}\bar{K}_{u} \\ H_{2} + \frac{1}{2}G_{2}\bar{K}_{u} \\ 0_{g\times n} \\ \bar{I}C_{2} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{G}_{1} = \bar{R}(\lambda) \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{2}G_{1} & 0_{h\times g} \\ \frac{1}{2}G_{2} & 0_{g\times g} \\ 0_{g\times m} & I_{g\times g} \\ 0_{pl\times m} & 0_{pl\times g} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{G}_{w} = \bar{R}(\lambda)\bar{G}_{w}; \\
W_{2} = \bar{R}(\lambda) \begin{bmatrix} G_{1} \\ G_{2} \\ 0_{g\times m} \\ 0_{pl\times m} \end{bmatrix} U^{-1}; \quad \tilde{G}_{J} = \bar{R}(\lambda)\bar{G}_{J}\bar{Q}(\lambda)^{-1}; \quad \tilde{H}_{2} = \frac{1}{2}U\bar{K}_{u}; \\
\tilde{G}_{2} = -\frac{1}{2}U \begin{bmatrix} I_{m\times m} & 0_{m\times g} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{F}_{1} = \bar{F}\bar{Q}(\lambda)^{-1}; \quad \tilde{F}_{2} = 0_{(l+g)\times m}.$$
(5.57)

Here, U is any  $m \times m$  non-singular scaling matrix and  $\lambda = \bar{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Lambda}$ . The uncertainty input  $\bar{\xi}_1(t)$  and uncertainty output  $\bar{\zeta}_1(t)$  are related according to the IQC (5.44) with  $\bar{\xi}_1(t) = \bar{\xi}(t)$  and  $\bar{\zeta}_1(t) = \bar{\zeta}(t)$ . Moreover, the IQC (5.44) is also extended to include the additional artificial uncertainty input  $\bar{\xi}_2(t)$  and uncertainty output  $\overline{\zeta}_2(t)$ . That is,

$$\int_{0}^{t_{k}} \|\bar{\xi}_{v}(t)\|^{2} dt \leq \int_{0}^{t_{k}} \|\bar{\zeta}_{v}(t)\|^{2} dt + \bar{d}_{v}(\lambda)$$
(5.58)

for all v = 1, 2 and for all  $\{t_k \ge 0\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ , and  $\bar{\xi}_2(t), \bar{\zeta}_2(t) \in \mathbf{R}^m$ . An output feedback controller of the form (5.33) is then synthesized for the artificial uncertain system (5.56), (5.58). We then consider two special cases to show that any absolutely stabilizing output feedback controller for the artificial uncertain system (5.56), (5.58) is indeed stable and solves the robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problem for the equivalent nonlinear uncertain system (5.30), (5.2), (5.5), (5.32). Thus, we suppose that the relation between  $\bar{\xi}_2(t)$  and  $\bar{\zeta}_2(t)$  is given by

$$\bar{\xi}_2(t) = \Delta \bar{\zeta}_2(t) \tag{5.59}$$

where  $\Delta \in \mathbf{R}$  is an unknown constant uncertain parameter satisfying

$$\Delta| \le 1 \tag{5.60}$$

such that the IQC (5.58) holds.

Special case I:  $\Delta = 1$ . In this case, we have that  $\bar{\xi}_2(t) = \bar{\zeta}_2(t) = \frac{1}{2}\bar{K}_u x(t) - \frac{1}{2}u(t)$ . Therefore, using the expressions in (5.36), (5.37) and (5.45), it follows that the state equations (5.56) can be decomposed into

$$\dot{x}(t) = \left(A + B_2 \bar{K}_u\right) x(t) + B_1 w(t) + E_1 \xi(t) + E_2 \mu(t) + B_2 J_u \xi_u(t);$$

$$z(t) = \left(C_1 + D_{12} \bar{K}_u\right) x(t) + D_{12} J_u \xi_u(t);$$

$$\zeta(t) = \left(H_1 + G_1 \bar{K}_u\right) x(t) + G_1 J_u \xi_u(t);$$

$$\nu(t) = \left(H_2 + G_2 \bar{K}_u\right) x(t) + G_2 J_u \xi_u(t);$$

$$\zeta_u(t) = \bar{I} \left[C_2 x(t) + D_{21} w(t) + F_1 \xi(t) + F_2 \mu(t)\right];$$

$$y(t) = C_2 x(t) + D_{21} w(t) + F_1 \xi(t) + F_2 \mu(t)$$
(5.61)

where the IQCs (5.5), (5.32) and the GLCs (5.2) are satisfied. We notice that in fact, the state equations (5.61) represent the closed loop system when the state feedback controller (5.54), (5.55) is applied to the uncertain system (5.46), (5.44). Thus, it follows from the construction of the matrix  $\bar{K}_u$  in (5.55) and Lemma 5.2 that the system (5.61) is absolutely stable with the disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$ .



Figure 5.2: Block diagrams corresponding to Special case I and Special case II; see [7].

Moreover, for Special case I, if we can find a suitable output feedback controller of the form (5.33) for the artificial uncertain system (5.56), (5.58), the resulting closed loop system will have an open loop configuration as shown in Figure 5.2(a). Apparently, the output u(t) of the controller does not affect the system to be controlled. Here, the block  $\tilde{\Sigma}_x$  is the absolutely stable system (5.61) and the block  $\Sigma_c$  is the output feedback controller (5.33). As we require that the entire closed loop system to be absolutely stable with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$ , then the output feedback controller (5.33) must be stable.

Special case II:  $\Delta = -1$ . For this case, we have that  $\bar{\xi}_2(t) = -\bar{\zeta}_2(t) = -\frac{1}{2}\bar{K}_u x(t) + \frac{1}{2}u(t)$  and the state equations (5.56) reduce to (5.46). Furthermore, using (5.36), (5.37) and (5.45), we are able to decompose (5.46) into the equivalent nonlinear uncertain system (5.30) with the IQCs (5.5), (5.32) and the GLCs (5.2). Thus, if we can find an absolutely stabilizing output feedback controller  $\Sigma_c$  of the form (5.33) for the artificial uncertain system (5.56), (5.58), then the same controller will also absolutely stabilize the equivalent nonlinear uncertain system (5.30), (5.2), (5.5), (5.32) with a specified disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$ . The resulting closed loop system is as shown in Figure 5.2(b), where  $\Sigma_x$  denotes the system (5.30).

Given the fact that the additional artificial uncertainty satisfying the IQC (5.58) overbounds the scalar uncertainty (5.59), (5.60), we can infer from both special cases that the nonlinear output feedback controller (5.6), (5.7) is indeed stable and absolutely stabilize the equivalent nonlinear uncertain system (5.30),

(5.2), (5.5), (5.32) with a specified disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$ . However, we should note that the additional artificial uncertainty may result in some additional conservatism to the controller design process.

#### 5.3.3 Stable output feedback controller

To construct the output feedback controller (5.33), we introduce scaling constants  $\tau_1 > 0$  and  $\tau_2 > 0$  corresponding to the IQCs (5.58) and then rewrite the state equations (5.56) as

$$\dot{x}(t) = \bar{A}x(t) + \hat{B}_{1}\hat{w}(t) + \hat{B}_{2}\bar{u}(t);$$
  

$$\dot{z}(t) = \hat{C}_{1}x(t) + \hat{D}_{11}\hat{w}(t) + \hat{D}_{12}\bar{u}(t);$$
  

$$\bar{y}(t) = \bar{C}_{2}x(t) + \hat{D}_{21}\hat{w}(t)$$
(5.62)

where  $\hat{r} = \bar{r} + m$ ;

$$\hat{w}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma \, w(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_1} \, \bar{\xi}_1(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_2} \, \bar{\xi}_2(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \hat{z}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} z(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_1} \, \bar{\zeta}_1(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_2} \, \bar{\zeta}_2(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \hat{B}_2 = \tilde{B}_2; \\ \hat{B}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1} B_1 \quad \sqrt{\tau_1}^{-1} \tilde{E}_1 \quad \sqrt{\tau_2}^{-1} \tilde{E}_2 \end{bmatrix}; \quad \hat{B}_2 = \tilde{B}_2; \\ \hat{C}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{C}_1 \\ \sqrt{\tau_1} \, \tilde{H}_1 \\ \sqrt{\tau_2} \, \tilde{H}_2 \end{bmatrix}; \quad \hat{D}_{11} = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{q \times d} \quad \sqrt{\tau_1}^{-1} \tilde{D}_J \quad \sqrt{\tau_2}^{-1} W_1 \\ \gamma^{-1} \sqrt{\tau_1} \, \tilde{G}_w \quad \tilde{G}_J \quad \sqrt{\frac{\tau_1}{\tau_2}} \, W_2 \\ 0_{m \times d} \quad 0_{m \times \hat{r}} \quad 0_{m \times m} \end{bmatrix}; \\ \hat{D}_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{D}_{\bar{u}} \\ \sqrt{\tau_1} \, \tilde{G}_1 \\ \sqrt{\tau_2} \, \tilde{G}_2 \end{bmatrix}; \quad \hat{D}_{21} = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1} \bar{D}_{21} \quad \sqrt{\tau_1}^{-1} \tilde{F}_1 \quad \sqrt{\tau_2}^{-1} \tilde{F}_2 \end{bmatrix}. \quad (5.63)$$

Moreover, we again apply a loop shifting transformation so that the  $\hat{D}_{11}$  term in (5.62) can be eliminated and the state equations (5.62) can be transformed into a non-singular  $H^{\infty}$  standard form; e.g., see [16, Sections 4.5.1 and 5.5.1] and [18, Section 17.2].

Assumption 5.3. Given a vector  $\bar{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Lambda}$ , constants  $\beta_1 \geq 0, \ldots, \beta_g \geq 0, \delta_1 > 0, \ldots, \delta_p > 0, \tau_1 > 0, \tau_2 > 0$ , and any non-singular scaling matrix U, the artificial uncertain system (5.56), (5.58) is assumed to be such that  $\hat{D}_{11}\hat{D}_{11}^T < I$ .

Assuming that Assumption 5.3 holds, we can define

$$\Phi := I - \hat{D}_{11}^T \hat{D}_{11} > 0;$$

$$\bar{\Phi} := I - \hat{D}_{11} \hat{D}_{11}^T > 0;$$

$$\breve{w}(t) := \Phi^{\frac{1}{2}} \hat{w}(t) - \Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}} \hat{D}_{11}^T \left( \hat{C}_1 x(t) + \hat{D}_{12} \bar{u}(t) \right);$$

$$\breve{z}(t) := \bar{\Phi}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left( \hat{C}_1 x(t) + \hat{D}_{12} \bar{u}(t) \right)$$
(5.64)

such that

$$\hat{w}(t) = \Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}} \breve{w}(t) + \Phi^{-1} \hat{D}_{11}^{T} \left( \hat{C}_{1} x(t) + \hat{D}_{12} \bar{u}(t) \right);$$
  
$$\|\hat{z}(t)\|^{2} - \|\hat{w}(t)\|^{2} \equiv \|\breve{z}(t)\|^{2} - \|\breve{w}(t)\|^{2}.$$
 (5.65)

Therefore, the state equations (5.62) can be rewritten as

$$\dot{x}(t) = \breve{A}x(t) + \breve{B}_{1}\breve{w}(t) + \breve{B}_{2}\bar{u}(t);$$
  

$$\breve{z}(t) = \breve{C}_{1}x(t) + \breve{D}_{12}\bar{u}(t);$$
  

$$\bar{y}(t) = \breve{C}_{2}x(t) + \breve{D}_{21}\breve{w}(t) + \breve{D}_{22}\bar{u}(t)$$
(5.66)

where

$$\begin{array}{lll}
\breve{A} &= \bar{A} + \hat{B}_{1}\hat{D}_{11}^{T}\bar{\Phi}^{-1}\hat{C}_{1} & \breve{B}_{1} &= \hat{B}_{1}\Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}}; \\
\breve{B}_{2} &= \hat{B}_{2} + \hat{B}_{1}\hat{D}_{11}^{T}\bar{\Phi}^{-1}\hat{D}_{12}; & \breve{C}_{1} &= \bar{\Phi}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\hat{C}_{1}; \\
\breve{C}_{2} &= \bar{C}_{2} + \hat{D}_{21}\hat{D}_{11}^{T}\bar{\Phi}^{-1}\hat{C}_{1}; & \breve{D}_{12} &= \bar{\Phi}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\hat{D}_{12}; \\
\breve{D}_{22} &= \hat{D}_{21}\hat{D}_{11}^{T}\bar{\Phi}^{-1}\hat{D}_{12}; & \breve{D}_{21} &= \hat{D}_{21}\Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}}; \\
\breve{J}_{1} &= \breve{D}_{12}^{T}\breve{D}_{12}; & \breve{J}_{2} &= \breve{D}_{21}\breve{D}_{21}^{T}.
\end{array}$$
(5.67)

Furthermore, the  $\breve{D}_{22}$  term in (5.66) is also eliminated by defining

$$\breve{y}(t) := \bar{y}(t) - \breve{D}_{22}\bar{u}(t).$$
(5.68)

Hence, the state equations (5.66) can be rewritten as

$$\dot{x}(t) = \breve{A}x(t) + \breve{B}_{1}\breve{w}(t) + \breve{B}_{2}\bar{u}(t);$$
  

$$\breve{z}(t) = \breve{C}_{1}x(t) + \breve{D}_{12}\bar{u}(t);$$
  

$$\breve{y}(t) = \breve{C}_{2}x(t) + \breve{D}_{21}\breve{w}(t)$$
(5.69)

and the output feedback controller for (5.69) is of the form

$$\dot{x}_c(t) = Nx_c(t) + M\breve{y}(t);$$
  
$$\bar{u}(t) = \tilde{K}x_c(t).$$
(5.70)

If the controller (5.70) is applied to the system (5.69), the resulting closed loop system is required to satisfy the following  $H^{\infty}$  norm bound condition

$$\breve{\mathcal{J}} := \sup_{\breve{w}(\cdot) \in \mathbf{L}_2[0,\infty), x(0)=0, x_c(0)=0} \frac{\|\breve{z}(\cdot)\|_2^2}{\|\breve{w}(\cdot)\|_2^2} < 1.$$
(5.71)

The solution to this standard  $H^{\infty}$  control problem is given in terms of the solutions  $\check{X} \ge 0$  and  $\check{Y} \ge 0$  to the algebraic Riccati equations given as

$$\begin{pmatrix} \breve{A} - \breve{B}_{2}\breve{J}_{1}^{-1}\breve{D}_{12}^{T}\breve{C}_{1} \end{pmatrix}^{T}\breve{X} + \breve{X} \begin{pmatrix} \breve{A} - \breve{B}_{2}\breve{J}_{1}^{-1}\breve{D}_{12}^{T}\breve{C}_{1} \end{pmatrix} + \breve{X} \begin{pmatrix} \breve{B}_{1}\breve{B}_{1}^{T} - \breve{B}_{2}\breve{J}_{1}^{-1}\breve{B}_{2}^{T} \end{pmatrix}\breve{X} + \breve{C}_{1}^{T} \begin{pmatrix} I - \breve{D}_{12}\breve{J}_{1}^{-1}\breve{D}_{12}^{T} \end{pmatrix}\breve{C}_{1} = 0; \qquad (5.72) \begin{pmatrix} \breve{A} - \breve{B}_{1}\breve{D}_{21}^{T}\breve{J}_{2}^{-1}\breve{C}_{2} \end{pmatrix}\breve{Y} + \breve{Y} \begin{pmatrix} \breve{A} - \breve{B}_{1}\breve{D}_{21}^{T}\breve{J}_{2}^{-1}\breve{C}_{2} \end{pmatrix}^{T} + \breve{Y} \begin{pmatrix} \breve{C}_{1}^{T}\breve{C}_{1} - \breve{C}_{2}^{T}\breve{J}_{2}^{-1}\breve{C}_{2} \end{pmatrix}\breve{Y} + \breve{B}_{1} \begin{pmatrix} I - \breve{D}_{21}^{T}\breve{J}_{2}^{-1}\breve{D}_{21} \end{pmatrix}\breve{B}_{1}^{T} = 0 \qquad (5.73)$$

such that

1. 
$$\breve{A} - \breve{B}_{2}\breve{J}_{1}^{-1}\breve{D}_{12}^{T}\breve{C}_{1} + \left(\breve{B}_{1}\breve{B}_{1}^{T} - \breve{B}_{2}\breve{J}_{1}^{-1}\breve{B}_{2}^{T}\right)\breve{X}$$
 is Hurwitz;  
2.  $\breve{A} - \breve{B}_{1}\breve{D}_{21}^{T}\breve{J}_{2}^{-1}\breve{C}_{2} + \breve{Y}\left(\breve{C}_{1}^{T}\breve{C}_{1} - \breve{C}_{2}^{T}\breve{J}_{2}^{-1}\breve{C}_{2}\right)$  is Hurwitz;

3. The spectral radius  $\rho(\breve{X}\breve{Y})$  of the product  $\hat{X}\hat{Y}$  is strictly less than one.

To solve the Riccati equations (5.72) and (5.73), we require the following assumption to be satisfied; e.g., see [187, 312].

Assumption 5.4. Given a vector  $\overline{\lambda} \in \widetilde{\Lambda}$ , constants  $\beta_1 \geq 0, \ldots, \beta_g \geq 0, \delta_1 > 0, \ldots, \delta_p > 0, \tau_1 > 0, \tau_2 > 0$ , and any non-singular scaling matrix U, the artificial uncertain system (5.56), (5.58) is assumed to be such that  $J_1 > 0$  and  $J_2 > 0$ .

**Theorem 5.1.** Let vectors  $\tilde{\lambda}, \bar{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Lambda}$  and constants  $\beta_1 \geq 0, \ldots, \beta_g \geq 0, \delta_1 > 0, \ldots, \delta_p > 0$  be given. Also, suppose that the uncertain system (5.46), (5.44) satisfies Assumption 5.2 and that there exists a constant  $\kappa > 0$  such that Assumption

5.1 is satisfied and the Riccati equation (5.53) has a stabilizing solution  $X \ge 0$ ; and let  $\bar{K}$  be given as in (5.55). Moreover, suppose that there exist constants  $\tau_1 > 0$  and  $\tau_2 > 0$ , and a non-singular scaling matrix U such that Assumption 5.3 and Assumption 5.4 are satisfied and the Riccati equations (5.72) and (5.73) have stabilizing solutions  $\check{X} \ge 0$  and  $\check{Y} \ge 0$  such that the spectral radius of the product  $\check{X}\check{Y}$  satisfies  $\varrho(\check{X}\check{Y}) < 1$ . Then the equivalent nonlinear uncertain system (5.30), (5.2), (5.5), (5.32) is absolutely stabilizable with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  via a stable nonlinear output feedback controller (5.6), (5.7), where the controller matrices are given as follows:

$$N = \breve{N} - \widetilde{M}\breve{D}_{22}\breve{K};$$
  

$$\breve{N} = \breve{A} + \breve{B}_{2}\breve{K} - \widetilde{M}\breve{C}_{2} + \left(\breve{B}_{1} - \widetilde{M}\breve{D}_{21}\right)\breve{B}_{1}^{T}\breve{X};$$
  

$$\widetilde{M} = \left(I - \breve{Y}\breve{X}\right)^{-1} \left(\breve{Y}\breve{C}_{2}^{T} + \breve{B}_{1}\breve{D}_{21}^{T}\right)\breve{J}_{2}^{-1};$$
  

$$\breve{K} = -\breve{J}_{1}^{-1} \left(\breve{B}_{2}^{T}\breve{X} + \breve{D}_{12}^{T}\breve{C}_{1}\right).$$
(5.74)

**Proof.** It follows using similar arguments to those in the proof of Theorem 4.1 in [187] that the uncertain system (5.56), (5.58) is absolutely stablizable with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  via a controller of the form (5.33) if and only if there exist constants  $\tau_1 > 0$  and  $\tau_2 > 0$  such that the controller (5.33) solves the  $H^{\infty}$  control problem defined by (5.62) and the  $H^{\infty}$  norm bound condition

$$\hat{\mathcal{J}} := \sup_{\hat{w}(\cdot) \in \mathbf{L}_2[0,\infty), x(0)=0, x_c(0)=0} \frac{\|\hat{z}(\cdot)\|_2^2}{\|\hat{w}(\cdot)\|_2^2} < 1.$$
(5.75)

Moreover, using a loop shifting transformation, the  $H^{\infty}$  control problem defined by (5.62), (5.75) has a solution if and only if the Riccati equations (5.72) and (5.73) have stabilizing solutions  $\breve{X} \ge 0$  and  $\breve{Y} \ge 0$  such that the spectral radius of the product  $\breve{X}\breve{Y}$  satisfies  $\rho(\breve{X}\breve{Y}) < 1$ . Thus, a controller of the form (5.33) solving the  $H^{\infty}$  control problem (5.62), (5.75) is defined by (5.74).

If all the conditions of the theorem hold, the controller (5.33), (5.74) is absolutely stabilizing with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$  for the artificial uncertain system (5.56), (5.58). Then, from the arguments in the two special cases given above, it follows that the controller (5.33), (5.74), or equivalently (5.6), (5.7), is indeed stable and absolutely stabilizing for the equivalent nonlinear uncertain

system (5.30), (5.2), (5.5), (5.32) with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ .

As described in Section 5.2, the equivalent nonlinear uncertain system (5.30), (5.2), (5.5), (5.32) is formed such that if a stable nonlinear controller of the form (5.6), (5.7) is absolutely stabilizing with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$  and is such that the nonlinear error systems (5.15), (5.20) satisfy the bound (5.21), the stable decentralized nonlinear controller (5.10), (5.11) is also absolutely stabilizing with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ . This argument leads to the following theorem.

**Theorem 5.2.** Let vectors  $\tilde{\lambda}, \bar{\lambda} \in \tilde{\Lambda}$  and constants  $\beta_1 \geq 0, \ldots, \beta_g \geq 0, \delta_1 > 0, \ldots, \delta_p > 0$  be given. Also, suppose that there exists a constant  $\kappa > 0$  such that Assumptions 5.1 and 5.2 are satisfied and the Riccati equation (5.53) has a stabilizing solution  $X \geq 0$ . Moreover, suppose there exist constants  $\tau_1 > 0$  and  $\tau_2 > 0$ , and a non-singular scaling matrix U such that Assumption 5.3 and Assumption 5.4 are satisfied and the Riccati equations (5.72) and (5.73) have stabilizing solutions  $\breve{X} \geq 0$  and  $\breve{Y} \geq 0$  such that the spectral radius of the product  $\breve{X}\breve{Y}$  satisfies  $\varrho(\breve{X}\breve{Y}) < 1$ . Also, suppose that the stable nonlinear controller defined by (5.6), (5.74) is such that the nonlinear error systems defined by (5.15), (5.20) satisfy the bound (5.21) as guaranteed by Lemma 5.1. Then the corresponding stable decentralized nonlinear output feedback controller defined by (5.10), (5.11) is absolutely stabilizing with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  for the large-scale nonlinear uncertain system (5.1), (5.2), (5.5).

**Proof.** If the conditions of the theorem are satisfied, then it follows from Theorem 5.1 that the equivalent nonlinear uncertain system (5.30), (5.2), (5.5), (5.32) is absolutely stabilizable with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  via a stable nonlinear controller of the form (5.6), (5.7), (5.74). Moreover, if the controller is such that the nonlinear error systems defined by (5.15), (5.20) satisfy the bound (5.21) as guaranteed by Lemma 5.1, then it follows that the corresponding uncertainties defined by (5.27) satisfy the IQCs (5.32). Also, as described in the construction of the equivalent nonlinear uncertain system (5.30), (5.2), (5.5), (5.32), the closed loop system obtained by applying the decentralized controller (5.10), (5.11), (5.74) to the large-scale nonlinear uncertain system (5.1), (5.2), (5.5) is equivalent to the closed loop system obtained by applying the controller (5.6), (5.7), (5.74) to the equivalent nonlinear uncertain system (5.30), (5.2), (5.5), (5.32) when the uncertainties defined by (5.27) are applied. Hence, it follows that the decentralized nonlinear output feedback controller (5.10), (5.11), (5.74) is stable and absolutely stabilizing for the large-scale nonlinear uncertain system (5.1), (5.2), (5.5) with disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$ .

# 5.4 A Differential Evolution Approach

The decentralized nonlinear controller design method presented in Section 5.3 involves a set of design parameters corresponding to uncertainties, nonlinearities and disturbance attenuation level. All of these parameters can be collected into a single vector defined as

$$\vartheta := \begin{bmatrix} \gamma & \kappa & \tau_1 & \tau_2 & \tilde{\lambda}^T & \bar{\lambda}^T & \delta \end{bmatrix}^T$$
(5.76)

where

$$\delta = \begin{bmatrix} \delta_1 & \delta_2 & \dots & \delta_p \end{bmatrix}^T \tag{5.77}$$

for j = 1, 2, ..., p; and  $\tilde{\lambda}, \bar{\lambda}$  are as defined in (5.39). All elements of  $\vartheta$  in (5.76) are positive real numbers and the dimension of  $\vartheta$  is 2(f + 3g) + 3p + 4. To determine the values of these parameters, we propose to apply an evolutionary optimization method, namely the differential evolution (DE) algorithm, as described in Chapter 2. This means that we consider the stable decentralized nonlinear controller design problem as the following optimization problem subject to nonconvex nonlinear constraints: Find an optimal solution  $\vartheta^*$  to solve

$$\min_{\vartheta} \mathsf{f}(\vartheta) \tag{5.78}$$

subject to

$$\mathsf{g}_{\mathsf{j}}(\vartheta) = 0; \quad \mathsf{h}_{\mathsf{k}}(\vartheta) \le 0 \tag{5.79}$$

for j = 1, 2, ..., a and k = 1, 2, ..., b. Here, a and b are the total number of equality and inequality constraints, respectively.

It follows from Section 5.2 that our control objectives are to achieve an absolutely stable closed loop system with a specified disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$  and to bound the  $H^{\infty}$  norm (5.21) of the nonlinear error systems (5.15), (5.20). Thus, a suitable objective function to be minimized is

$$\mathsf{f}(\vartheta) = \mathsf{c}_0 \gamma^{\mathsf{n}_0} + \sum_{j=1}^p \mathsf{c}_j \delta_j^{\mathsf{n}_j}$$
(5.80)

where  $c_q \ge 1$  is a weighting factor and  $n_q \ge 1$  is a power constant for q = 0, 1, 2, ..., p. Moreover, the equality constraints are given by algebraic Riccati equations as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{g}_{1}(\vartheta) &= \left(\check{A} - \check{B}_{2}J^{-1}\check{D}_{12}^{T}\check{C}_{1}\right)^{T}X + X\left(\check{A} - \check{B}_{2}J^{-1}\check{D}_{12}^{T}\check{C}_{1}\right) \\ &+ X\left(\check{B}_{1}\check{B}_{1}^{T} - \check{B}_{2}J^{-1}\check{B}_{2}^{T}\right)X + \check{C}_{1}^{T}\left(I - \check{D}_{12}J^{-1}\check{D}_{12}^{T}\right)\check{C}_{1} = 0; \\ \mathbf{g}_{2}(\vartheta) &= \left(\check{A} - \check{B}_{2}\check{J}_{1}^{-1}\check{D}_{12}^{T}\check{C}_{1}\right)^{T}\check{X} + \check{X}\left(\check{A} - \check{B}_{2}\check{J}_{1}^{-1}\check{D}_{12}^{T}\check{C}_{1}\right) \\ &+ \check{X}\left(\check{B}_{1}\check{B}_{1}^{T} - \check{B}_{2}\check{J}_{1}^{-1}\check{B}_{2}^{T}\right)\check{X} + \check{C}_{1}^{T}\left(I - \check{D}_{12}\check{J}_{1}^{-1}\check{D}_{12}^{T}\right)\check{C}_{1} = 0; \\ \mathbf{g}_{3}(\vartheta) &= \left(\check{A} - \check{B}_{1}\check{D}_{21}^{T}\check{J}_{2}^{-1}\check{C}_{2}\right)\check{Y} + \check{Y}\left(\check{A} - \check{B}_{1}\check{D}_{21}^{T}\check{J}_{2}^{-1}\check{C}_{2}\right)^{T} \\ &+ \check{Y}\left(\check{C}_{1}^{T}\check{C}_{1} - \check{C}_{2}^{T}\check{J}_{2}^{-1}\check{C}_{2}\right)\check{Y} + \check{B}_{1}\left(I - \check{D}_{21}^{T}\check{J}_{2}^{-1}\check{D}_{21}\right)\check{B}_{1}^{T} = 0. \end{aligned}$$
(5.81)

From all assumptions and conditions to be satisfied, we also obtain the inequality constraints as follows:

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{h}_{1}(\vartheta) &= -\tilde{Q}(\tilde{\lambda}) < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{2}(\vartheta) = -\tilde{R}(\tilde{\lambda}) < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{3}(\vartheta) &= \bar{D}_{11}\bar{D}_{11}^{T} - I < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{4}(\vartheta) = -J < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{5}(\vartheta) &= -X < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{6}(\vartheta) = -\tilde{Q}(\bar{\lambda}) < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{7}(\vartheta) &= -\tilde{R}(\bar{\lambda}) < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{8}(\vartheta) = \hat{D}_{11}\hat{D}_{11}^{T} - I < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{9}(\vartheta) &= -\check{J}_{1} < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{10}(\vartheta) = -\check{J}_{2} < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{11}(\vartheta) &= -\check{X} < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{12}(\vartheta) = -\check{Y} < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{13}(\vartheta) &= \varrho(\check{X}\check{Y}) - 1 < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{14}(\vartheta) = e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{A}_{X}) < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{15}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r}(\check{\mathcal{A}}_{X}) < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{16}(\vartheta) = e_{\max,r}(\check{\mathcal{A}}_{Y}) < 0 \end{split}$$
(5.82)

and

$$h_{17,j}(\vartheta) = \| C_{e_j}(sI - A_{e_j})^{-1} \mathcal{B}_{e_j} \|_{\infty} - 1 < 0$$
(5.83)

for  $j = 1, 2, \ldots, p$ . Here, we have

$$\mathcal{A}_X := \check{A} - \check{B}_2 J^{-1} \check{D}_{12}^T \check{C}_1 + \left(\check{B}_1 \check{B}_1^T - \check{B}_2 J^{-1} \check{B}_2^T\right) X;$$
(5.84)

$$\vec{\mathcal{A}}_{X} := \vec{A} - \vec{B}_{2}\vec{J}_{1}^{-1}\vec{D}_{12}^{T}\vec{C}_{1} + \left(\vec{B}_{1}\vec{B}_{1}^{T} - \vec{B}_{2}\vec{J}_{1}^{-1}\vec{B}_{2}^{T}\right)\vec{X};$$

$$\vec{\mathcal{A}}_{Y} := \vec{A} - \vec{B}_{1}\vec{D}_{21}^{T}\vec{J}_{2}^{-1}\vec{C}_{2} + \vec{Y}\left(\vec{C}_{1}^{T}\vec{C}_{1} - \vec{C}_{2}^{T}\vec{J}_{2}^{-1}\vec{C}_{2}\right)$$
(5.85)

and  $\rho(\mathcal{G})$  and  $e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{G})$  denote the spectral radius and the largest real part of the eigenvalues of the matrix  $\mathcal{G}$ , respectively.

All constraints in (5.81), (5.82) and (5.83) are included into a fitness test procedure, which is used to evaluate the fitness of each candidate solution  $\vartheta$ . Thus, for a given  $\vartheta$ , the fitness test proceeds as follows:

- 1. Compute the eigenvalues of  $\tilde{Q}(\tilde{\lambda})$ ,  $\tilde{R}(\tilde{\lambda})$ ,  $(\bar{D}_{11}\bar{D}_{11}^T I)$  and J in order to check if the constraints  $h_1(\vartheta)$ ,  $h_2(\vartheta)$ ,  $h_3(\vartheta)$  and  $h_4(\vartheta)$  are satisfied.
- 2. Evaluate the constraint  $g_1(\vartheta)$  to obtain a solution X to the Riccati equation (5.53).
- 3. If the Riccati equation (5.53) has a solution X, we need to verify whether it is a stabilizing positive definite solution through the evaluation of the constraints  $h_5(\vartheta)$  and  $h_{14}(\vartheta)$ .
- 4. Compute the eigenvalues of  $\tilde{Q}(\bar{\lambda})$ ,  $\tilde{R}(\bar{\lambda})$ ,  $(\hat{D}_{11}\hat{D}_{11}^T I)$ ,  $\breve{J}_1$  and  $\breve{J}_2$  in order to check if the constraints  $h_6(\vartheta)$ ,  $h_7(\vartheta)$ ,  $h_8(\vartheta)$ ,  $h_9(\vartheta)$  and  $h_{10}(\vartheta)$  are satisfied.
- 5. Evaluate the constraints  $g_2(\vartheta)$  and  $g_3(\vartheta)$  to obtain solutions  $\check{X}$  and  $\check{Y}$  to the Riccati equations (5.72) and (5.73).
- 6. If the Riccati equations (5.72) and (5.73) have solutions  $\check{X}$  and  $\check{Y}$ , we need to verify whether they are stabilizing positive definite solutions through the evaluation of the constraints  $h_{11}(\vartheta)$ ,  $h_{12}(\vartheta)$ ,  $h_{15}(\vartheta)$  and  $h_{16}(\vartheta)$ .
- 7. Compute the spectral radius of the product  $\check{X}\check{Y}$  to verify if the constraint  $h_{13}(\theta)$  is satisfied.
- 8. Compute the decentralized controller matrices (5.74) and check if *j*-th nonlinear error system satisfies the constraint  $h_{17,j}(\vartheta)$ .
- 9. Calculate the value of the objective function  $f(\vartheta)$  in (5.80).

As a penalty-based fitness test is applied, we have to pay for a penalty incurred for each constraint violation by a candidate solution. Referring to the fitness test procedure above, the penalty functions are then formed according to the constraints in (5.81), (5.82) and (5.83). That is,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{p}_{1}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(\tilde{Q}(\tilde{\lambda}))|^{\mathbf{s}_{1}}; & \mathbf{p}_{2}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(\tilde{R}(\tilde{\lambda}))|^{\mathbf{s}_{2}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{3}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max}(\bar{D}_{11}\bar{D}_{11}^{T}-I)^{\mathbf{s}_{3}}; & \mathbf{p}_{4}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(J)|^{\mathbf{s}_{4}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{5}(\vartheta) &= \varrho(\mathcal{C}_{X})^{\mathbf{s}_{5}}; & \mathbf{p}_{6}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(X)|^{\mathbf{s}_{6}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{7}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{A}_{X})^{\mathbf{s}_{7}}; & \mathbf{p}_{8}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(\tilde{Q}(\bar{\lambda}))|^{\mathbf{s}_{8}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{9}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(\tilde{R}(\bar{\lambda}))|^{\mathbf{s}_{9}}; & \mathbf{p}_{10}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max}(\hat{D}_{11}\hat{D}_{11}^{T}-I)^{\mathbf{s}_{10}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{11}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(\check{J}_{1})|^{\mathbf{s}_{11}}; & \mathbf{p}_{12}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(\check{J}_{2})|^{\mathbf{s}_{12}}; & (5.86) \\ \mathbf{p}_{13}(\vartheta) &= \varrho(\mathcal{C}_{\check{X}})^{\mathbf{s}_{13}}; & \mathbf{p}_{14}(\vartheta) &= \varrho(\mathcal{C}_{\check{Y}})^{\mathbf{s}_{14}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{15}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(\check{X})|^{\mathbf{s}_{15}}; & \mathbf{p}_{16}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(\check{Y})|^{\mathbf{s}_{16}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{17}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{A}_{\check{X}})^{\mathbf{s}_{17}}; & \mathbf{p}_{18}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{A}_{\check{Y}})^{\mathbf{s}_{18}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{19}(\vartheta) &= (\varrho(\check{X}\check{Y})-1)^{\mathbf{s}_{19}}; & \mathbf{p}_{20}(\vartheta) &= \sum_{j=1}^{p} \mathcal{D}_{j}^{\mathbf{m}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{21}(\vartheta) &= \mathbf{f}(\vartheta) \end{aligned}$$

where  $\mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{r}}, \mathbf{m}_j \geq 1$  for  $\mathbf{r} = 1, 2, ..., 19$  and j = 1, 2, ..., p. Here,  $e_{\min}(\mathcal{G})$  and  $e_{\max}(\mathcal{G})$  denote the smallest and the largest eigenvalue of the symmetric matrix  $\mathcal{G}$ , respectively. If the matrix  $\mathcal{G}$  is required to be positive definite, we assign  $|e_{\min}(\mathcal{G})|^{\mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{r}}}$  as a penalty because when this requirement is violated, the matrix  $\mathcal{G}$  can be either negative (semi)definite or indefinite. Moreover,  $\mathcal{C}_X, \mathcal{C}_{\check{X}}, \mathcal{C}_{\check{Y}}$  and  $\mathcal{D}_j$  are defined as follows:

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathcal{C}_{X} &:= \check{C}_{1}^{T} \left( I - \check{D}_{12} J^{-1} \check{D}_{12}^{T} \right) \check{C}_{1}; \\
\mathcal{C}_{\check{X}} &:= \check{C}_{1}^{T} \left( I - \check{D}_{12} \check{J}_{1}^{-1} \check{D}_{12}^{T} \right) \check{C}_{1}; \\
\mathcal{C}_{\check{Y}} &:= \check{B}_{1} \left( I - \check{D}_{21}^{T} \check{J}_{2}^{-1} \check{D}_{21} \right) \check{B}_{1}^{T}; \\
\mathcal{D}_{j} &:= \begin{cases} \| \mathcal{C}_{e_{j}} (sI - \mathcal{A}_{e_{j}})^{-1} \mathcal{B}_{e_{j}} \|_{\infty}, & \text{if } \mathsf{h}_{15,j}(\vartheta) \text{ in } (5.82) \text{ is violated}; \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases} 
\end{aligned} \tag{5.87}$$

# 5.5 An Illustrative Example

To demonstrate the decentralized stable nonlinear controller design method presented in Section 5.3, we consider an example of a nonlinear uncertain system comprising of two inverted pendulums interconnected with a nonlinear spring. This example is adapted from an example presented in [314]. In this case, the
nonlinear uncertain system being considered has two subsystems and can be represented as follows:

$$\dot{x}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0.02 & -0.1 & -0.02 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \\ -0.02 & 0 & 0.02 & -0.05 \end{bmatrix} x(t) + \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} w(t) + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} u(t)$$

$$+ \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0.2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0.2 \end{bmatrix} \xi(t) + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0.98 & 0 \\ 0 & 0.98 \\ 0 & 0.98 \end{bmatrix} \mu(t);$$

$$z(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} x(t) + \begin{bmatrix} 0.1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0.1 \end{bmatrix} u(t);$$

$$\zeta(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} x(t);$$

$$\psi(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ -1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} x(t);$$

$$y(t) = \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \end{bmatrix} x(t) + \begin{bmatrix} 0.1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0.1 \end{bmatrix} w(t)$$
(5.88)

The interconnection between the two pendulums consists of both linear and nonlinear parts, which are assumed to be known. The uncertainties in the system (5.88) are modeled as follows:

$$\xi(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \Delta_1 & 0\\ 0 & \Delta_2 \end{bmatrix} \zeta(t)$$
(5.89)

where  $\Delta_s \in \mathbf{R}$ ,  $|\Delta_s| \leq 1$  for all s = 1, 2 and hence, the uncertainties (5.89) satisfy the IQCs (5.5) for any  $d_{1,s} \geq 0$ . Moreover, the nonlinearities in the system (5.88) are given as

$$\mu_i(t) = \psi_i(\nu_i(t)) = \sin \nu_i(t)$$
(5.90)

and satisfy the following GLCs

$$\left|\sin\nu_i(t) - \sin\tilde{\nu}_i(t)\right| \le \beta_i \left|\nu_i(t) - \tilde{\nu}_i(t)\right| \tag{5.91}$$

with  $\beta_i \geq 0$  for i = 1, 2. From the first derivative of  $\sin(\nu_i(\cdot))$  with respect to  $\nu_i(\cdot)$ , we obtain

$$\left|\frac{d\sin\nu_i(\cdot)}{d\nu_i(\cdot)}\right| = \left|\cos\nu_i(\cdot)\right| \le 1, \quad \forall\nu(\cdot) \in \mathbf{R}$$
(5.92)

which implies that  $\beta_i = 1$ . From the GLCs (5.91), the nonlinearities (5.90) and their copies can be characterized in terms of IQCs as described in (5.35).

We now can synthesize two decentralized nonlinear controllers of the form (5.10) for the nonlinear uncertain system (5.88), (5.89), (5.90) using the decentralized controller design method developed in Section 5.3. The required design parameters were computed using the DE approach presented in Section 5.4 and are then given as follows:

$\gamma = 0.4520;$	$\kappa = 1.3951 \times 10^{-4};$	$\tau_1 = 1.4495 \times 10^{-4};$	$\tau_2 = 0.0194;$
$\delta_1 = 0.7245;$	$\delta_2 = 0.6593;$	$\tilde{\lambda}_1 = 1603.5095;$	$\tilde{\lambda}_2 = 992.3272;$
$\tilde{\lambda}_3 = 944.4646;$	$\tilde{\lambda}_4 = 1615.9850;$	$\tilde{\lambda}_5 = 142.0642;$	$\tilde{\lambda}_6 = 357.4983;$
$\tilde{\lambda}_7 = 1746.6423;$	$\tilde{\lambda}_8 = 731.8955;$	$\tilde{\lambda}_9 = 1371.3715;$	$\tilde{\lambda}_{10} = 745.8950;$
$\bar{\lambda}_1 = 1544.7904;$	$\bar{\lambda}_2 = 701.6927;$	$\bar{\lambda}_3 = 1877.8732;$	$\bar{\lambda}_4 = 587.5819;$
$\bar{\lambda}_5 = 163.0875;$	$\bar{\lambda}_6 = 400.8780;$	$\bar{\lambda}_7 = 388.7251;$	$\bar{\lambda}_8 = 71.1934;$
$\bar{\lambda}_9 = 1404.8656;$	$\bar{\lambda}_{10} = 1279.2498.$		
			(5.93)

Note that  $(\lambda_1, \lambda_2)$ ,  $(\lambda_3, \ldots, \lambda_8)$  and  $(\lambda_9, \lambda_{10})$  correspond to the IQCs (5.5), (5.35) and (5.32), respectively, for  $\lambda = \tilde{\lambda}$  and  $\lambda = \bar{\lambda}$  in (5.93). Using these parameters, we can compute coefficient matrices of both decentralized nonlinear controllers, which are given as follows:

$$N = \begin{bmatrix} -622.2520 & -25.2206 & 12.7291 & 5.4402 \\ -8026.0342 & -347.0469 & 101.6167 & 70.1597 \\ -59.7382 & -1.3785 & -157.9092 & -3.5601 \\ -1029.8417 & -27.5612 & -1938.9203 & -61.1766 \end{bmatrix}; M_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 467.2367 \\ 5982.3974 \\ 49.7723 \\ 839.2038 \end{bmatrix}; M_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 11.7370 \\ 207.0494 \\ 127.1357 \\ 1531.0732 \end{bmatrix}; L_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 8.0600 \\ 106.5139 \\ 0.8242 \\ 14.0880 \end{bmatrix}; L_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.0306 \\ 0.1770 \\ 1.2636 \\ 17.1505 \end{bmatrix}; (5.94)$$

$$K_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} -19.5962 & -5.2182 & 2.1814 & 0.6503 \end{bmatrix};$$
  

$$K_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} 2.1615 & 0.6469 & -17.6790 & -4.6460 \end{bmatrix};$$
  

$$P_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.8285 & 0 & -0.8285 & 0 \end{bmatrix}; \quad P_{2} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.8919 & 0 & 0.8919 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (5.95)

In order to show that both decentralized nonlinear controllers are stable, the stability of their equilibrium points:  $x_{d_1}^* = 0$  and  $x_{d_2}^* = 0$  are examined by following the same steps as those in Section 3.5. As the plant nonlinearities are represented by sine functions, we have  $\tilde{\mu}_i(t) \approx \tilde{\nu}_i(t)$  around the equilibrium points. Therefore, we can have

$$\bar{N} := N + \sum_{i=1}^{g} L_i P_i$$
 (5.96)

where  $\bar{N}$  is the linearized controller system matrix around the equilibrium point  $x_{d_1}^* = x_{d_2}^* = 0$ . The eigenvalues of the matrix  $\bar{N}$  are given as follows:

$$e_1 = -938.0871; \quad e_2 = -213.8854; \quad e_3 = -14.4219; \quad e_4 = -14.8412 \quad (5.97)$$

which indicate that both decentralized nonlinear controllers are locally stable around the equilibrium points. Furthermore, to verify that they are globally asymptotically stable, it is necessary to examine the stability of the matrix Nand the  $H^{\infty}$  norm  $||T_{\tilde{\mu}_j \tilde{\nu}_j}(s)||_{\infty}$  of the transfer function of the *j*-th decentralized nonlinear controller from the nonlinearity input  $\tilde{\mu}_j(t)$  to the nonlinearity output  $\tilde{\nu}_j(t)$  (for j = 1, 2). The eigenvalues of the matrix N are

$$e_1 = -944.1716; \quad e_2 = -214.9509; \quad e_3 = -14.4212; \quad e_4 = -14.8411 \quad (5.98)$$

and hence, the matrix N is Hurwitz. Meanwhile,

$$||T_{\tilde{\mu}_1\tilde{\nu}_1}(s)||_{\infty} = 0.0064; \quad ||T_{\tilde{\mu}_2\tilde{\nu}_2}(s)||_{\infty} = 0.0049.$$
(5.99)

Then, using the small gain theorem (e.g., see [18, Section 9.2]), we conclude that both decentralized nonlinear controllers are globally asymptotically stable.

Interconnecting the nonlinear uncertain system (5.88), (5.89), (5.90) and the decentralized nonlinear controllers (5.94), (5.95), we then simulated the resulting

closed loop system using Simulink for different values of  $\Delta_1$  and  $\Delta_2$ . In this simulation, we take  $\Delta_1 = \Delta_2 = \Delta \in \{-1, -0.5, 0, 0.5, 1\}$ . The initial conditions of both subsystems are set to be  $x_1(0) = x_2(0) = \begin{bmatrix} -2 & 0 \end{bmatrix}^T$  and w(t) = 0 for all  $t \ge 0$ . The time responses of the controlled outputs  $z_1(t)$  and  $z_2(t)$  depicted in Figure 5.3 show that the decentralized nonlinear controllers (5.94), (5.95) have a good performance in the presence of perturbations.



**Figure 5.3:** Time responses of  $z_1(t)$  and  $z_2(t)$  for different values of  $\Delta_1$  and  $\Delta_2$ .

For comparison purpose, we apply the method in [166] to synthesize decentralized stable linear robust  $H^{\infty}$  controllers to absolutely stabilize the nonlinear uncertain system (5.88), (5.89), (5.90). In this case, each nonlinearity  $\psi_i(\cdot)$  in the system is necessarily considered as an uncertainty and thus, we only need to solve a linear robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problem. This approach, however, may result in decentralized linear controllers with a degraded performance in attenuating exogenous disturbances w(t) as compared to the performance of the decentralized nonlinear controllers (5.94), (5.95). This is indicated by the disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma = 0.4932$  obtained using the method in [166] and it is apparently larger than  $\gamma = 0.4520$  obtained using our method.

# 5.6 Conclusions

In this chapter, we have proposed a new method to synthesis stable decentralized nonlinear robust  $H^{\infty}$  controllers for a class of large-scale nonlinear uncertain systems. The admissible uncertainties and nonlinearities in this system are characterized by IQCs and GLCs, respectively. We assume that the large-scale nonlinear system consists of interconnected subsystems and their interconnections are well known. Thus, we do not consider the interconnections between subsystems as uncertainties, but rather as useful structural information on the entire large-scale system. With this approach, the decentralized nonlinear controllers are able to exploit the interconnections although no assumption is made on how all subsystems are interconnected.

The  $H^{\infty}$  control objective is to guarantee an absolute stability for the resulting closed loop large-scale nonlinear uncertain system with a specified disturbance attenuation level. Along with this objective, we require the decentralized nonlinear controllers to be stable. The controller stability requirement is imposed because we consider all nonlinear error systems arising from the discrepancies between the decentralized and the non-decentralized nonlinear controllers as additional uncertainties. These error systems are also required to have bounded  $H^{\infty}$ norms. Thus, the resulting decentralized nonlinear controllers have to be robust against not only the plant uncertainties, but also the additional uncertainties due to the nonlinear error systems.

To guarantee the controller stability, we first solve a state feedback control problem for the given nonlinear uncertain system. Then, using the resulting state feedback gain matrix and introducing an additional artificial uncertainty, we form an artificial uncertain system for which a robust  $H^{\infty}$  output feedback controller is designed. If there exists a suitable controller for this latter system, we argue that this controller must be stable and also solves the original decentralized nonlinear control problem. Therefore, we only provide sufficient conditions for synthesizing the stable decentralized nonlinear controllers as our approach involves particular realization of nonlinear error systems and artificial uncertain system. However, we should note that the additional artificial uncertainty may give rise to some extra conservatism to the controller design process.

The solution to our control problem is then given in terms of the stabilizing solutions to algebraic Riccati equations, which are dependent on a set of scaling parameters. This formulation leads to a nonconvex decentralized nonlinear control problem, which is generally difficult to solve using regular optimization methods. We thus propose to use an evolutionary optimization method, namely the DE algorithm, to compute the required design parameters.

Moreover, we have shown through an example that our method is capable of

resulting in a decentralized nonlinear controller which allows for a better performance in attenuating exogenous disturbances as compared to its linear counterpart designed using the method in [166]. This is achievable because we do not directly treat the admissible known nonlinearities in the system as uncertainties so that we can exploit them for control purposes.

# Chapter 6

# Coherent Control of Linear Quantum Systems

# 6.1 Introduction

This chapter presents a computational algorithm to solve a coherent quantum feedback control problem for a class of non-commutative linear quantum stochastic systems. It has been pointed out in [70, 72, 73] that a coherent quantum controller must satisfy a physical realizability condition in order to exhibit meaningful dynamic behavior according to quantum mechanical principles. This requirement in turn leads to a coherent quantum controller synthesis problem, which involves a constraint that is naturally nonconvex and nonlinear. From numerical perspective, it is often considered to be difficult to solve this problem. Thus, inspired by the results of [72] on coherent quantum LQG control, we propose to use an optimization approach to solve a coherent quantum feedback control problem. In particular, we apply an evolutionary optimization method, namely the differential evolution (DE) algorithm, as presented in Chapter 2. The main ideas of our approach are to obtain a straightforward and less complicated algorithm and to avoid a critical dependence on a suitable initial point to start a numerical iteration.

We then demonstrate our DE-based approach through a case study on the problem of quantum network entanglement control. This problem has drawn a lot of attention in the quantum information and computation literature. This is due to the fact that entanglement is a fundamental property used in quantum information processing; e.g., see [25, 234, 235]. Thus, entanglement generation, preservation and restoration have been extensively studied and many techniques have been proposed to attain these goals; e.g., see [61, 233, 238–244]. For our purposes, we consider a simple ideal quantum network consisting of two cascaded optical parametric amplifiers interacting through an optical field. This quantum network has been entangled, but we aim to increase its entanglement level using a dynamic coherent quantum controller to replace the simple optical field connection. Thus, the quantum controller is required not only to satisfy the physical realizability condition (e.g., see [70,72]), but also to drive the controlled quantum system so that an entanglement criterion is satisfied.

There are many ways to measure the entanglement level depending on properties of the quantum states; e.g., see [245, 246]. In our case, we have Gaussian quantum states, and thus, the entanglement level can be measured in terms of the logarithmic negativity as a function of the covariance matrix of the quantum network; e.g., see [233, 247–249]. The covariance matrix can be obtained as a solution of a Lyapunov equation associated with the quantum network. Thus, applying our DE-based algorithm to synthesize the coherent quantum controller, we can consider the logarithmic negativity as an objective function to maximize. This in turn leads to a physically realizable quantum controller, which is capable of stabilizing the quantum network with an enhanced entanglement level. Moreover, it should also be noted that the logarithmic negativity is a nonconvex functional; see [250].

We use the following notation throughout this chapter. If  $M = [m_{jk}]$  is a  $p \times q$  complex matrix, then  $M^*$ ,  $M^T$  and  $M^{\dagger}$  denote the operation of taking the complex conjugate of each entry of M, the transpose of M, and the complex conjugate transpose of M, respectively. That is,  $M^* = [m_{jk}^*]$ ,  $M^T = [m_{kj}]$  and  $M^{\dagger} = [m_{kj}^*] = (M^*)^T$ . Moreover, if M is an operator matrix, then  $M^*$  denotes the operation of taking the adjoint of each entry of M.

# 6.2 Linear Quantum Stochastic Systems

As a preliminary discussion, we recall a linear quantum stochastic system modeled in terms of its real and imaginary quadratures, which has been described in [70, 72] on the basis of quantum probability theory; e.g., see [46]. This model is used to represent a non-commutative quantum system, which may consist of both quantum and non-quantum components. Moreover, we also define the physical realizability of this quantum system in terms of the realization of an open quantum harmonic oscillator.

#### 6.2.1 Non-commutative model

The linear non-commutative quantum stochastic system under consideration is described in terms of linear quantum stochastic differential equations (QSDEs) as follows:

$$dx(t) = A x(t) dt + B dw(t); \quad x(0) = x_0; dy(t) = C x(t) dt + D dw(t)$$
(6.1)

where the matrices A, B, C and D are real matrices belonging to  $\mathbf{R}^{n \times n}, \mathbf{R}^{n \times n_w}, \mathbf{R}^{n_y \times n}$  and  $\mathbf{R}^{n_y \times n_w}$ , respectively. We assume that  $n_y$  is even and  $n_w \ge n_y$ ; see [70]. Moreover,  $x(t) := \begin{bmatrix} x_1(t) & \dots & x_n(t) \end{bmatrix}^T$  is an  $n \times 1$  vector of non-commutative system variables whose initial condition x(0) satisfies the following commutation relation

$$x(0)x(0)^{T} - (x(0)x(0)^{T})^{T} = 2i\Theta$$
(6.2)

where  $\Theta$  is a real skew-symmetric canonical commutation matrix defined as

$$\Theta := \operatorname{diag}(J, J, \dots, J). \tag{6.3}$$

Note that diag(·) denotes a block diagonal matrix; the zero matrix in (6.3) is an  $m \times m$  matrix with  $0 < m \le n$ ; and J is a real skew-symmetric matrix

$$J = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (6.4)

The linear quantum system (6.1) is driven by an  $n_w \times 1$  vector of input signals w(t), which is assumed to be decomposed as follows (see [70, 72, 73]):

$$dw(t) = \beta_w(t) dt + d\tilde{w}(t).$$
(6.5)

Here,  $\beta_w(t)$  and  $\tilde{w}(t)$  are respectively the self-adjoint adapted process and quan-

tum noise components of w(t). A rigorous description of the notion of adapted process can be found in [43, 44, 46]. The adapted process  $\beta_w(t)$  can be used to represent variables of other systems interacting with the quantum system (6.1). This leads to our assumption that  $\beta_w(t)$  commutes with x(t) and  $\tilde{w}(t)$  for all  $t \ge 0$  because they live in different Hilbert spaces; see [70, 72].

The self-adjoint quantum noise  $\tilde{w}(t)$  is characterized by the Ito table

$$d\tilde{w}(t)d\tilde{w}(t)^T = F_{\tilde{w}} dt$$
(6.6)

where the Ito matrix  $F_{\tilde{w}}$  is a non-negative Hermitian matrix; e.g., see [44, 49]. It is also common to consider the quantum noise  $\tilde{w}(t)$  as a vector of self-adjoint operators belonging to a particular Fock space; e.g., see [44, 50, 70]. The relation in (6.6) leads to the following non-commutative relation

$$d\tilde{w}(t)d\tilde{w}(t)^{T} - \left(d\tilde{w}(t)d\tilde{w}(t)^{T}\right)^{T} = 2T_{\tilde{w}}dt$$
(6.7)

where  $T_{\tilde{w}} := \frac{1}{2} \left( F_{\tilde{w}} - F_{\tilde{w}}^T \right)$  is a Hermitian commutation matrix. As in [70], we assume that  $F_{\tilde{w}}$  is canonical

$$F_{\tilde{w}} := I + i \operatorname{diag}(J, J, \dots, J) \tag{6.8}$$

and hence,  $n_w$  must be even.

Since the dynamics of the quantum system (6.1) is represented in terms of a linear QSDE, the integral operation with respect to dw(t) is a quantum stochastic integral. This operation then results in an evolution x(t) of the linear quantum system (6.1), which depends only on the past input signal w(s) for  $0 \le s \le t$ . Thus, x(t) is also a quantum adapted process which commutes with the Ito increment  $d\tilde{w}(t)$ ; see [70].

#### 6.2.2 Physical realizability

In order to be physically realizable, the representation  $\{A, B, C, D\}$  of the quantum system (6.1) cannot be arbitrary as it is subject to the requirement that it has to preserve the canonical commutation relation

$$x(t)x(t)^{T} - (x(t)x(t)^{T})^{T} = 2i\Theta, \quad \forall t \ge 0.$$
 (6.9)

According to Theorem 2.1 in [70], the relation (6.9) is equivalent to

$$iA\Theta + i\Theta A^T + BT_{\tilde{w}}B^T = 0. \tag{6.10}$$

This property is well described by an open physical system unitarily evolving for all time; e.g., see [36, 70]. Thus, we relate the physical realizability of the quantum system (6.1) to the realization of an open quantum harmonic oscillator.

**Definition 6.1.** (*Open quantum harmonic oscillator*; see [70, Definition 3.1]) The quantum system (6.1) with  $\beta_w(t) = 0$  is said to be an open quantum harmonic oscillator if  $\Theta$  is canonical and there exists a quadratic Hamiltonian  $H := \frac{1}{2}x(0)^T Rx(0)$  ( $R \in \mathbf{R}^{n \times n}$  is a symmetric Hamiltonian matrix) and a coupling operator  $L := \Lambda x(0)$  ( $\Lambda \in \mathbf{C}^{n_w \times n}$  is a coupling matrix) such that

$$x_k(t) = U(t)^* x_k(0) U(t), \quad \forall k = 1, 2, \dots, n;$$
  

$$y_l(t) = U(t)^* w_l(t) U(t), \quad \forall l = 1, 2, \dots, n_y.$$
(6.11)

Here,  $\{U(t); t \ge 0\}$  is an adapted process of unitary operators satisfying the following QSDE

$$dU(t) = \left(-iH\,dt - \frac{1}{2}L^{\dagger}L + \begin{bmatrix}-L^{\dagger} & L^{T}\end{bmatrix}\Upsilon\,dw(t)\right)U(t), \quad U(0) = I \qquad (6.12)$$

where

$$\begin{split} \Upsilon &:= \mathsf{P}_{n_w/2} \operatorname{diag}_{n_w/2}(\mathsf{M}); \\ \mathsf{M} &= \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} 1 & i \\ 1 & -i \end{bmatrix} \end{split} \tag{6.13}$$

and  $\mathsf{P}_{n_w/2}$  is an  $n_w \times n_w$  permutation matrix satisfying

$$\mathsf{P}_{n_w/2} \begin{bmatrix} a_1 & \dots & a_{n_w} \end{bmatrix}^T = \begin{bmatrix} a_1 & a_3 & \dots & a_{n_w-1} & a_2 & a_4 & \dots & a_{n_w} \end{bmatrix}^T.$$
(6.14)

Thus, for the quantum system (6.1),

$$A = 2\Theta \left( R + \Im \left( \Lambda^{\dagger} \Lambda \right) \right); \quad B = 2i\Theta \left[ -\Lambda^{\dagger} \quad \Lambda^{T} \right] \Upsilon; \tag{6.15}$$

$$C = \mathsf{P}_{n_y/2}^T \operatorname{diag}(\Xi, \Xi) \begin{bmatrix} \Lambda + \Lambda^* \\ -i\Lambda + i\Lambda^* \end{bmatrix}; \quad D = \begin{bmatrix} I_{n_y \times n_y} & 0_{n_y \times (n_w - n_y)} \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.16)

where  $\Xi := \begin{bmatrix} I_{(n_y/2) \times (n_y/2)} & 0_{(n_y/2) \times ((n_w/2) - (n_y/2))} \end{bmatrix}$  and  $\Im(\cdot)$  denotes an imaginary part of  $(\cdot)$ .

**Definition 6.2.** (*Physical realizability*; see [70, Definition 3.3]) The quantum system (6.1) is said to be physically realizable if  $\Theta$  is canonical and (6.1) represents the dynamics of an open quantum harmonic oscillator.

**Lemma 6.1.** (see [70, Theorem 3.4] or [72, Theorem 1]) The quantum system (6.1) is physically realizable if and only if

$$iA\Theta + i\Theta A^{T} + BT_{\tilde{w}}B^{T} = 0;$$
  
$$B\begin{bmatrix}I_{n_{y}\times n_{y}}\\0_{(n_{w}-n_{y})\times n_{y}}\end{bmatrix} = \Theta C^{T}\operatorname{diag}_{n_{y}/2}(J); \quad D = \begin{bmatrix}I_{n_{y}\times n_{y}} & 0_{n_{y}\times(n_{w}-n_{y})}\end{bmatrix}$$
(6.17)

where  $T_{\tilde{w}} := i \operatorname{diag}(J, \ldots, J)$ . Moreover, if  $\Theta$  is canonical, the Hamiltonian matrix R and the coupling matrix  $\Lambda$  are uniquely given by

$$R = \frac{1}{4} \left( -\Theta A + A^T \Theta \right);$$
  

$$\Lambda = -\frac{1}{2} i \begin{bmatrix} 0_{(n_w/2) \times (n_w/2)} & I_{(n_w/2) \times (n_w/2)} \end{bmatrix} (\Upsilon^{-1})^T B^T \Theta.$$
(6.18)

**Remark 6.1.** Considering a coherent quantum feedback control problem, we do not include in this section a discussion about the degenerate canonical case, which can be found in [70, 72].

## 6.3 Quantum Feedback Control Problem

We consider a linear quantum system described by the following non-commutative stochastic dynamic model in terms of QSDEs:

$$dx(t) = A x(t) dt + B du(t) + B_w dw(t); \quad x(0) = x_0;$$
  

$$dy(t) = C x(t) dt + D_w dw(t)$$
(6.19)

where x(t) is a vector of non-commutative system variables; w(t) is a quantum Wiener process; u(t) is a control input; and y(t) is a system output. The dimensions of x(t), w(t), u(t) and y(t) are compatible with those of the plant coefficient matrices whose entries are real numbers. That is,  $A \in \mathbf{R}^{n \times n}$ ,  $B \in \mathbf{R}^{n \times n_u}$ ,  $B_w \in \mathbf{R}^{n \times n_w}$ ,  $C \in \mathbf{R}^{n_y \times n}$  and  $D_w \in \mathbf{R}^{n_y \times n_w}$ . A detailed account of the linear quantum stochastic system (6.19) can also be found in [70] and [72].

The control input u(t) of the quantum system (6.19) is modeled as

$$du(t) = \beta_u(t) dt + d\tilde{u}(t) \tag{6.20}$$

where  $\beta_u(t)$  and  $\tilde{u}(t)$  denote signal and quantum noise components of u(t), respectively. Moreover,  $\beta_u(t)$  is considered as an adapted, self-adjoint process commuting with x(t) and therefore,

$$\beta_u(t)x(t)^T - (x(t)\beta_u(t)^T)^T = 0.$$
(6.21)

The quantum noise  $\tilde{u}(t)$  is independent of w(t) as they belong to different Fock spaces. The corresponding Ito matrices  $F_{\tilde{u}}$  and  $F_w$  are non-negative Hermitian matrices. Moreover, it is also assumed that the initial condition x(0) of the quantum system (6.19) is a non-commutative process satisfying (6.2).

For the quantum system (6.19), we intend to construct a dynamic coherent quantum controller, which is also assumed to be a non-commutative quantum stochastic system. Plant-controller coherency means that a closed loop quantum system is formed without direct measurement of the system variables as in the classical control case. A general dynamic quantum controller is written as

$$dx_{c}(t) = A_{K}x_{c}(t)dt + \sum_{j=1}^{2} B_{K_{j}} dw_{K_{j}}(t) + B_{K_{3}} dy(t); \quad x_{c}(0) = x_{c_{0}};$$
  
$$du(t) = C_{K}x_{c}(t)dt + dw_{K_{1}}(t)$$
(6.22)

where  $x_c(t)$  is a vector of self-adjoint operators (controller variables) and each  $w_{K_j}(t)$  (for j = 1, 2) is a non-commutative quantum Wiener process, which is also independent of w(t). The quantum controller (6.22) is assumed to be of *n*-th order, and hence  $A_K \in \mathbf{R}^{n \times n}$ . Also,  $B_{K_2}$  has the same dimension as  $A_K$ , and  $B_{K_1}$  has the same number of columns as the rows of  $C_K$ . The initial condition  $x_c(0) =$ 

 $x_{c_0}$  of the quantum controller (6.22) is also assumed to be a non-commutative process. Therefore,

$$x_c(0)x_c(0)^T - (x_c(0)x_c(0)^T)^T = 2i\Theta_K$$
(6.23)

where  $\Theta_K$  is a real skew-symmetric commutation matrix of the quantum controller (6.22). Moreover, we assume that there is no initial coupling between the plant and the controller. That is,

$$x(0)x_c(0)^T - (x_c(0)x(0)^T)^T = 0.$$
(6.24)

Unlike its classical (non-quantum) controller counterpart, a quantum controller of the form (6.22) has to be physically realizable as the representation in (6.22) does not necessarily lead to a meaningful physical system governed by quantum mechanics principles. This requires the canonical commutation relation

$$x_{c}(t)x_{c}(t)^{T} - (x_{c}(t)x_{c}(t)^{T})^{T} = 2i\Theta_{K}$$
(6.25)

to be preserved for all  $t \ge 0$ ; e.g., see [70, 72]. Thus, referring to the notion of physical realizability of a quantum system as in Definition 6.2, the quantum controller (6.22) is said to be physically realizable if it represents the dynamics of an open quantum harmonic oscillator as defined in Definition 6.1.

Consequently, based on Lemma 6.1, the physical realizability condition of the quantum controller (6.22) can be stated as follows:

**Corollary 6.1.** (see also [70, 72]) Let  $\Theta_K$  be a given real skew-symmetric commutation matrix. Then the coherent quantum controller (6.22) is physically realizable if and only if its coefficient matrices:  $A_K$ ,  $B_{K_1}$ ,  $B_{K_2}$ ,  $B_{K_3}$  and  $C_K$  are such that

$$A_{K}\Theta_{K} + \Theta_{K}A_{K}^{T} + \sum_{j=1}^{3} B_{K_{j}}\Gamma_{j}B_{K_{j}}^{T} = 0; \qquad (6.26)$$

$$B_{K_1} = \Theta_K C_K^T \operatorname{diag}_{n_u/2}(J) \tag{6.27}$$

where  $\Gamma_j := \operatorname{diag}_{n_j/2}(J)$  for j = 1, 2, 3; and  $n_j$  is the dimension of  $w_{K_j}$  with  $w_{K_3}(t) \equiv y(t)$ .

**Remark 6.2.** The physical realizability condition (6.26), (6.27) given in Corol-

lary 6.1 can be derived from Lemma 6.1 with the following notation:

$$A = A_K; \quad B = \begin{bmatrix} B_{K_1} & B_{K_2} & B_{K_3} \end{bmatrix}; \quad C = C_K;$$
  
$$D = \begin{bmatrix} I_{n_u \times n_u} & 0 \end{bmatrix}; \quad w = \begin{bmatrix} w_{K_1}^T & w_{K_2}^T & y^T \end{bmatrix}^T.$$
 (6.28)

**Remark 6.3.** To construct a coherent quantum controller, we could require that  $\Theta_K$  is a canonical commutation matrix, which implies that each of its diagonal blocks is equal to J as in (6.3). However, in our approach, we allow  $\Theta_K$  to be a general skew-symmetric matrix. A suitable similarity transformation can then be applied to the quantum controller (6.22) to obtain  $\Theta_K$  in canonical or degenerate canonical form; see also [72]. Moreover, the equality condition (6.26) is a nonconvex nonlinear constraint, which poses difficulty if we solve the quantum controller synthesis problem using a regular optimization method. It has also been claimed in [72] that an analytical solution to this problem has not yet been developed.

Interconnecting the quantum controller (6.22) with the open loop quantum system (6.19), we obtain a closed loop quantum system written as

$$d\eta(t) = \mathcal{A}\eta(t)dt + \mathcal{B}d\omega(t) \tag{6.29}$$

where

$$\eta(t) = \begin{bmatrix} x(t) \\ x_c(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \omega(t) = \begin{bmatrix} w(t) \\ w_{K_1}(t) \\ w_{K_2}(t) \end{bmatrix};$$
$$\mathcal{A} = \begin{bmatrix} A & BC_K \\ B_{K_3}C & A_K \end{bmatrix}; \quad \mathcal{B} = \begin{bmatrix} B_w & B & 0 \\ B_{K_3}D_w & B_{K_1} & B_{K_2} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(6.30)

Here,  $\beta_u(t) \equiv C_K x_c(t)$  and  $\tilde{u}(t) \equiv w_{K_1}(t)$ . The closed loop quantum system matrix  $\mathcal{A}$  in (6.29) is required to be Hurwitz.

## 6.4 Coherent Quantum Controller Synthesis

In this section, we present a computational algorithm in order to systematically obtain a solution to the coherent quantum control problem presented in Section 6.3. This is a nonconvex nonlinear problem as the stabilizing coherent quantum controller (6.22) is required to satisfy the physical realizability condition (6.26). This characteristic has also been pointed out, for example, in [72], where a coherent quantum LQG control problem is addressed using the rank constrained LMI algorithm (see [158]). However, this approach tends to become very complicated if it is used to solve a higher dimension quantum control problem. Also, as with many nonconvex problem solvers, the success of the rank constrained LMI approach is strongly dependent on the initial point from which a numerical iteration is started. Then, as an immediate consequence, the numerical iteration tends to become unreliable and less tractable.

Those concerns above have motivated us to propose an alternative method to solve the coherent quantum controller synthesis problem using a populationbased stochastic optimization method, namely the differential evolution (DE) algorithm, as described in Chapter 2. Interestingly, it is straightforward to adapt the DE algorithm to the original coherent quantum control problem to be solved. This fact indicates a potential application of DE-based methods to other classes of coherent quantum control problem such as those presented in [70, 72, 73].

Based on the DE approach, we then reformulate the coherent quantum control problem described in Section 6.3 as a constrained nonlinear optimization problem. That is, we want to find an optimal solution  $\mathcal{K}^*$  to solve

$$\min_{\mathcal{K}} \mathsf{f}(\mathcal{K}) \tag{6.31}$$

subject to

$$\mathbf{g}_k(\mathcal{K}) = 0; \quad \mathbf{h}_l(\mathcal{K}) \le 0 \tag{6.32}$$

for k = 1, 2, ..., a and l = 1, 2, ..., b, where a and b are the total number of equality and inequality constraints, respectively. In this case,  $f(\mathcal{K})$  is the objective function to be minimized, which is a function of

$$\mathcal{K} := (A_K, B_{K_1}, B_{K_2}, B_{K_3}, C_K).$$
(6.33)

Moreover, applying the DE approach, we in fact have some flexibility to define the objective function  $f(\mathcal{K})$  in accordance with a particular quantum control problem to be solved. Since the physical realizability condition (6.26) is an essential property of the coherent quantum controller (6.22) and the closed loop quantum system (6.29) is required to be asymptotically stable, we then have

$$\mathbf{g}_{1}(\mathcal{K}) = A_{K}\Theta_{K} + \Theta_{K}A_{K}^{T} + \sum_{j=1}^{3} B_{K_{j}}\Gamma_{j}B_{K_{j}}^{T} = 0; \qquad (6.34)$$

$$\mathsf{h}_1(\mathcal{K}) = e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{A}) < 0 \tag{6.35}$$

where  $e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{A})$  denotes the largest real part of the eigenvalues of  $\mathcal{A}$ . The constraints (6.34) and (6.35) must always be taken into account and satisfied in the synthesis of the quantum controller (6.22).

For a second order quantum system, we only need to solve a quadratic equation to obtain a solution  $\Theta_K$  to (6.34). However, for a higher order quantum system, this is generally not the case. Hence, we transform (6.34) into a complex algebraic Riccati equation in order to obtain a solution  $\Theta_K$  to (6.34). We first substitute (6.27) into (6.34) and then multiply by  $i = \sqrt{-1}$ . This leads to a complex algebraic Riccati equation

$$A_K \Sigma_K + \Sigma_K A_K^T + \Sigma_K C_K^T \widetilde{\Gamma}_1 C_K \Sigma_K + B_{K_2} \widetilde{\Gamma}_2 B_{K_2}^T + B_{K_3} \widetilde{\Gamma}_3 B_{K_3}^T = 0$$
(6.36)

where

$$\Sigma_K := i\Theta_K; \quad \Sigma_K^{\dagger} = \Sigma_K; \quad \widetilde{\Gamma}_j := i\Gamma_j; \quad \widetilde{\Gamma}_j^{\dagger} = \widetilde{\Gamma}_j$$

$$(6.37)$$

for j = 1, 2, 3. Thus, we can replace the constraint (6.34) with (6.36). That is,

$$\mathbf{g}_1(\mathcal{K}) = A_K \Sigma_K + \Sigma_K A_K^T + \Sigma_K C_K^T \widetilde{\Gamma}_1 C_K \Sigma_K + B_{K_2} \widetilde{\Gamma}_2 B_{K_2}^T + B_{K_3} \widetilde{\Gamma}_3 B_{K_3}^T = 0.$$
(6.38)

To compute the solution to the Riccati equation (6.38), we use an approach based on an invariant subspace of a Hamiltonian matrix corresponding to (6.38), which is defined as

$$\mathcal{H} := \begin{bmatrix} A_K^T & C_K^T \widetilde{\Gamma}_1 C_K \\ -\left(B_{K_2} \widetilde{\Gamma}_2 B_{K_2}^T + B_{K_3} \widetilde{\Gamma}_3 B_{K_3}^T\right) & -A_K \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (6.39)

Thus, the existence of a solution to the Riccati equation (6.38) is characterized in the following lemma.

**Lemma 6.2.** (see [18, Theorem 13.1 and Theorem 13.3]) Let  $\mathcal{V} \subset \mathbf{C}^{2n}$  be an *n*-dimensional invariant subspace of the Hamiltonian matrix (6.39) and let  $\mathcal{X}, \mathcal{Y} \in$ 

 $\mathbf{C}^{n \times n}$  be two complex matrices such that

$$\mathcal{V} = \operatorname{Im} \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{X} \\ \mathcal{Y} \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (6.40)

Then,

- 1. If  $\mathcal{X}$  is invertible, then  $\Sigma_K := \mathcal{Y}\mathcal{X}^{-1}$  is a solution to the Riccati equation (6.38) and  $\sigma(A_K^T + C_K^T \widetilde{\Gamma}_1 C_K \Sigma_K) = \sigma(\mathcal{H}|_{\mathcal{V}})$ . Furthermore, the solution  $\Sigma_K$ is independent of a particular choice of bases of  $\mathcal{V}$ .
- 2. If  $e_k + e_l^* \neq 0$ ,  $\forall k, l = 1, 2, ..., n$ ,  $e_k, e_l \in \sigma(\mathcal{H}|_{\mathcal{V}})$ , then  $\mathcal{X}^*\mathcal{Y}$  is Hermitian, that is,  $\mathcal{X}^*\mathcal{Y} = (\mathcal{X}^*\mathcal{Y})^*$ . Moreover, if  $\mathcal{X}$  is nonsingular, then  $\Sigma_K = \mathcal{Y}\mathcal{X}^{-1}$ is Hermitian.

Here, Im(M) denotes the image of the matrix M; and  $\sigma(M)$  denotes a set of eigenvalues of the matrix M.

**Remark 6.4.** A particular choice for the bases of the  $\mathcal{H}$ -invariant subspace  $\mathcal{V}$  can be taken as the (generalized) eigenvectors of the Hamiltonian matrix (6.39).

If the conditions in Lemma 6.2 hold, we are assured that there exists a Hermitian solution  $\Sigma_K$  to (6.36) although it is not a unique solution. However, we need to confirm that  $\Sigma_K$  is a purely imaginary solution as defined in (6.37). The following lemma and theorem provide conditions to obtain such a  $\Sigma_K$ .

Lemma 6.3. (e.g., see [18, Lemma 2.7]) Consider the Lyapunov equation

$$AX + XA^{\dagger} = B \tag{6.41}$$

where  $A, B \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}$ . There exists a unique solution  $X \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}$  to (6.41) if and only if  $e_k(A) + e_l^*(A) \neq 0$  for all k, l = 1, 2, ..., n.

**Theorem 6.1.** Suppose that the complex Riccati equation (6.36) has a Hermitian solution  $\Sigma_K = \Phi_K + i \Pi_K$  such that

$$e_k(\tilde{A}_K) + e_l^*(\tilde{A}_K) \neq 0, \quad \forall k, l = 1, 2, \dots, n$$
 (6.42)

where  $\tilde{A}_K := A_K - \prod_K C_K^T \Gamma_1 C_K$ . Then,  $\Sigma_K$  is indeed an imaginary solution, that is  $\Sigma_K = i \prod_K$ , which satisfies the physical realizability condition (6.26).

**Proof.** Suppose that a Hermitian matrix  $\Sigma_K = \Phi_K + i \Pi_K$  satisfies (6.36), where  $\Phi_K$  is a real symmetric matrix and  $\Pi_K$  is a real skew-symmetric matrix. Then, substituting  $\Sigma_K$  into (6.36), we obtain

$$(A_K - \Pi_K C_K^T \Gamma_1 C_K) \Phi_K + \Phi_K (A_K - \Pi_K C_K^T \Gamma_1 C_K)^T + i (A_K \Pi_K + \Pi_K A_K^T + \Phi_K C_K^T \Gamma_1 C_K \Phi_K - \Pi_K C_K^T \Gamma_1 C_K \Pi_K + B_{K_2} \Gamma_2 B_{K_2}^T + B_{K_3} \Gamma_3 B_{K_3}^T) = 0.$$
 (6.43)

The left-hand side of (6.43) is equal to zero if and only if its real and imaginary parts are equal to zero. That is,

$$(A_K - \Pi_K C_K^T \Gamma_1 C_K) \Phi_K + \Phi_K (A_K - \Pi_K C_K^T \Gamma_1 C_K)^T = 0;$$

$$A_K \Pi_K + \Pi_K A_K^T + \Phi_K C_K^T \Gamma_1 C_K \Phi_K$$

$$(6.44)$$

$$-\Pi_{K}C_{K}^{T}\Gamma_{1}C_{K}\Pi_{K} + B_{K_{2}}\Gamma_{2}B_{K_{2}}^{T} + B_{K_{3}}\Gamma_{3}B_{K_{3}}^{T} = 0.$$
(6.45)

It follows from Lemma 6.3 that if condition (6.42) is satisfied, then  $\Phi_K$  must equal to zero in order that the real part (6.44) holds. Therefore,  $\Sigma_K$  is indeed an imaginary solution, that is,  $\Sigma_K = i \Pi_K$ . Furthermore, the imaginary part (6.45) will lead to the satisfaction of the physical realizability condition (6.26). That is,  $\Theta_K = \Pi_K$ .

Note that  $e_k(M)$  denotes the k-th eigenvalue of the matrix M and  $e_l^*(M)$  denotes the complex conjugate of the l-th eigenvalue of the matrix M.

**Remark 6.5.** Although a coherent quantum LQG control problem as described in [72] is not particularly addressed in this chapter, we can also use the DE-based approach to solve this quantum control problem. In this regard, when solving the same example as in [72], our DE-method is capable of returning a cost function value  $f(\mathcal{K}^*) = 4.0801$ , which is smaller than  $f(\mathcal{K}^*) = 4.1793$  as given in [72]. These numerical results indicate that, apart from being more straightforward, our DE-method is likely to outperform the rank constrained LMI method used in [72]. This fact then becomes an impetus for us to demonstrate the efficacy of our DE-method when it is used to design a coherent quantum controller of the form (6.22) for solving a more general linear quantum control problem with a higher dimension. Thus, in the next section, we apply the DE-method to solve a quantum entanglement control problem, which is considered as one of essential aspects in quantum technology development.

### 6.5 Case Study: Entanglement Control

We utilize a dynamic coherent quantum controller designed using the method developed in Section 6.4 to increase quantum entanglement level of two cascaded optical parametric amplifiers (OPAs) (e.g., see [37]) interacting through an ideal optical field as shown in Figure 6.1. This particular application is motivated by [233] where the OPAs are referred to as damped optical cavities. The entanglement control mechanism used in [233] is applied to avoid finite-time entanglement sudden-death as well as to enhance entanglement level. It is attained through direct measurement feedback from a homodyne detector to control the dynamic behaviour of both OPAs using a static gain controller. This is in contrast to our approach where we apply a coherent quantum controller without a feedback loop to achieve enhanced entanglement as shown in Figure 6.2.



Figure 6.1: An ideal quantum network of two cascaded OPAs.

$\hat{w}_1$	OPA 1	$\hat{y}_1$	Coherent	$\hat{u}_2$	OPA 2
	$\hat{a}_1$		Quantum Controller		$\hat{a}_2$

Figure 6.2: Dynamic entanglement control.

The dynamic model of the first OPA is described in terms of complex linear QSDEs (e.g., see [78]):

$$d\hat{a}_{1}(t) = \chi_{1} \hat{a}_{1}^{*}(t)dt - \kappa_{1} \hat{a}_{1}(t)dt - i\Delta_{1} \hat{a}_{1}(t)dt + \sqrt{2\kappa_{1}} d\hat{w}_{1}(t);$$
  

$$d\hat{y}_{1}(t) = -\sqrt{2\kappa_{1}} \hat{a}_{1}(t)dt + d\hat{w}_{1}(t)$$
(6.46)

and that of the second OPA is

$$d\hat{a}_2(t) = \chi_2 \,\hat{a}_2^*(t)dt - \kappa_2 \,\hat{a}_2(t)dt - i\Delta_2 \,\hat{a}_2(t)dt + \sqrt{2\kappa_2} \,d\hat{u}_2(t) \tag{6.47}$$

where, for each OPA,  $\hat{a}$  is an annihilation operator with  $\hat{a}^*$  as its corresponding creation operator;  $\hat{w}$  and  $\hat{u}$  are the input signals;  $\hat{y}$  is the output signal;  $\chi := \alpha + i\beta$ is a complex coupling constant;  $\Delta$  is a detuning parameter; and  $\kappa$  is the loss rate of the OPA. The dynamic models (6.46) and (6.47) can also be found in [37]. We can decompose the annihilation and creation operators, and the input and output signals in (6.46) and (6.47) into amplitude and phase quadratures as follows:

• Amplitude quadrature:

$$q_{1} := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\hat{a}_{1} + \hat{a}_{1}^{*}); \quad q_{2} := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\hat{a}_{2} + \hat{a}_{2}^{*}); \quad w_{11} := \hat{w}_{1} + \hat{w}_{1}^{*}; y_{11} := \hat{y}_{1} + \hat{y}_{1}^{*}; \qquad u_{21} := \hat{u}_{2} + \hat{u}_{2}^{*}.$$
(6.48)

• Phase quadrature:

$$p_1 := \frac{-i}{\sqrt{2}}(\hat{a}_1 - \hat{a}_1^*); \quad p_2 := \frac{-i}{\sqrt{2}}(\hat{a}_2 - \hat{a}_2^*); \quad w_{12} := -i(\hat{w}_1 - \hat{w}_1^*); y_{12} := -i(\hat{y}_1 - \hat{y}_1^*); \quad u_{22} := -i(\hat{u}_2 - \hat{u}_2^*).$$
(6.49)

Based on the expressions in (6.48) and (6.49), the dynamic models (6.46) and (6.47) can then be written in the form of QSDEs (6.19) with the system matrices:

$$A = \begin{bmatrix} -\alpha_1 - \kappa_1 & -\beta_1 + \Delta_1 & 0 & 0 \\ -\beta_1 - \Delta_1 & \alpha_1 - \kappa_1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & -\alpha_2 - \kappa_2 & -\beta_2 + \Delta_2 \\ 0 & 0 & -\beta_2 - \Delta_2 & \alpha_2 - \kappa_2 \end{bmatrix}; \quad B = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ \sqrt{\kappa_2} & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{\kappa_2} \end{bmatrix};$$
$$B_w = \begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{\kappa_1} & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{\kappa_1} \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}; \quad C = \begin{bmatrix} -2\sqrt{\kappa_1} & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -2\sqrt{\kappa_1} & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}; \quad D_w = I_{2\times 2} \quad (6.50)$$

and the system variable vector x, control input vector u, quantum noise vector w and output vector y are defined as follows:

$$x := \begin{bmatrix} q_1^T & p_1^T & q_2^T & p_2^T \end{bmatrix}^T; \quad u := \begin{bmatrix} u_{21} \\ u_{22} \end{bmatrix}; \quad w := \begin{bmatrix} w_{11} \\ w_{12} \end{bmatrix}; \quad y := \begin{bmatrix} y_{11} \\ y_{12} \end{bmatrix}. \quad (6.51)$$

To consider the same example as in [233], we take the parameter values of the quantum system (6.50) to be:

$$\alpha = 0; \quad \beta = -0.4; \quad \kappa_1 = 1; \quad \kappa_2 = 1; \quad \Delta_1 = 0.6; \quad \Delta_2 = 0.6.$$
 (6.52)

#### 6.5.1 Direct connection

We first examine the quantum entanglement level of two OPAs (6.50), which are directly connected through an ideal optical field. That is, when the output yof the first OPA becomes the control input u to the second OPA as depicted in Figure 6.1, we obtain

$$dx(t) = \bar{\mathcal{A}} x(t) dt + \bar{\mathcal{B}} dw(t)$$
(6.53)

where

$$\bar{\mathcal{A}} = \begin{bmatrix} -\alpha_1 - \kappa_1 & -\beta_1 + \Delta_1 & 0 & 0 \\ -\beta_1 - \Delta_1 & \alpha_1 - \kappa_1 & 0 & 0 \\ -2\sqrt{\kappa_1\kappa_2} & 0 & -\alpha_2 - \kappa_2 & -\beta_2 + \Delta_2 \\ 0 & -2\sqrt{\kappa_1\kappa_2} & -\beta_2 - \Delta_2 & \alpha_2 - \kappa_2 \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{\mathcal{B}} = \begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{\kappa_1} & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{\kappa_1} \\ \sqrt{\kappa_2} & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{\kappa_2} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(6.54)

**Definition 6.3.** (Entanglement criterion) A quantum system

$$dx(t) = A x(t) dt + B dw(t)$$
 (6.55)

is said to be entangled if there exists a complex vector  $d_c = d_r + i d_i$  such that

$$\mathcal{N} := d_c^{\dagger} \,\mathcal{M} \, d_c < 0 \tag{6.56}$$

where

$$\mathcal{M} := V + \frac{i}{2}\Omega; \quad \mathcal{M}^{\dagger} = \mathcal{M}; \quad \Omega := \begin{bmatrix} J & 0\\ 0 & -J \end{bmatrix}$$
(6.57)

and V is the solution to a Lyapunov equation

$$AV + VA^T + BB^T = 0. (6.58)$$

**Remark 6.6.** Since all eigenvalues of the Hermitian matrix  $\mathcal{M}$  in (6.57) are real numbers, the entanglement condition (6.56) implies that at least one of the eigenvalues of  $\mathcal{M}$  has to be a negative real number. In this case, the complex vector  $d_c$  can be taken as the corresponding eigenvector of  $\mathcal{M}$ .

Since the system variable vector x in (6.53) is Gaussian, the entanglement of the cascaded OPAs (6.53) can be measured in terms of logarithmic negativity (e.g., see [233, 247-249]):

$$\mathcal{E} := \max\{0, -\ln(2\nu)\}$$
(6.59)

where

$$V := \begin{bmatrix} V_1 & V_2 \\ V_2^T & V_3 \end{bmatrix}; \quad \nu := \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \sqrt{\Psi - \sqrt{\Psi^2 - 4 \det(V)}}; \quad (6.60)$$

$$\Psi := \det(V_1) + \det(V_3) - 2\det(V_2).$$
(6.61)

From (6.59), we infer that if the quantum system (6.53) is entangled, then  $\mathcal{E} > 0$ . Otherwise,  $\mathcal{E} = 0$ . The logarithmic negativity (6.59) is defined as a function of the covariance matrix V, which can be obtained as a solution to the following Lyapunov equation (e.g., see [233])

$$\bar{\mathcal{A}}V + V\bar{\mathcal{A}}^T + \bar{\mathcal{B}}\bar{\mathcal{B}}^T = 0.$$
(6.62)

Thus, for the cascaded OPAs (6.53), we need to choose suitable parameter values such that  $\overline{\mathcal{A}}$  is Hurwitz,  $\overline{\mathcal{B}}\overline{\mathcal{B}}^T \geq 0$  and therefore, the Lyapunov equation (6.62) has a unique solution V > 0 as stated in the following lemma.

**Lemma 6.4.** (see [315, Lemma 12.1]) If  $Q \ge 0$  and A is stable, the linear equation

$$A^T P + P A + Q = 0 \tag{6.63}$$

has a unique solution  $P \ge 0$ .

With the parameter values in (6.52), the quantum system (6.53) directly connected through the optical field is entangled with

$$\mathcal{N} = -0.0892 \; ; \quad \mathcal{E} = 0.2256 \tag{6.64}$$

and a corresponding complex vector  $d_c$  in (6.56) is

$$\begin{bmatrix} -0.3084 + i0.4196 & 0.5410 - i0.2104 & 0.0827 - i0.2942 & -0.5463 \end{bmatrix}^{T}.$$
 (6.65)

#### 6.5.2 Controlled entanglement

It is possible to increase the quantum entanglement level given in (6.64) by applying a coherent quantum controller (6.22) such that the controlled quantum system has a configuration as shown in Figure 6.2. The problem of designing this quantum controller can be considered as an optimization problem and then solved using the DE algorithm described in Chapter 2. Thus, based on Definition 6.3, the objective function to be minimized is taken as

$$f(\mathcal{K}) = \varrho(\mathcal{M})^{\mathsf{n}} \tag{6.66}$$

where  $\rho(\mathcal{M})$  is the smallest eigenvalue of the matrix  $\mathcal{M}$  as in (6.57); and  $n \geq 1$  is a power constant. The constraints related to  $f(\mathcal{K})$  are (6.38), (6.35) and

$$g_{2}(\mathcal{K}) = \mathcal{A}P + P\mathcal{A}^{T} + \mathcal{B}\mathcal{B}^{T} = 0;$$
  

$$h_{2}(\mathcal{K}) = -P < 0;$$
  

$$g_{3}(\mathcal{K}) = \Re(\Sigma_{K}) = 0;$$
  

$$g_{4}(\mathcal{K}) = \Sigma_{K} - \Sigma_{K}^{\dagger} = 0$$
(6.67)

where the matrices  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $\mathcal{B}$  are of the form (6.30); and

$$P = \begin{bmatrix} P_{11} & P_{12} \\ P_{12}^T & P_{22} \end{bmatrix}; \quad V = P_{11}.$$
 (6.68)

Note that  $\Re(\Sigma_K) = \Phi_K$  is the real part of matrix  $\Sigma_K$  as in Theorem 6.1.

Considering all constraints involved, we form a fitness test procedure to rate the fitness of each candidate solution  $\mathcal{K}$  as follows:

- 1. Evaluate the stability of the controlled quantum system  $\mathcal{A}$  by referring to  $h_1(\mathcal{K})$  in (6.35);
- 2. Compute the solution  $\Sigma_K$  to the Riccati equation represented by  $g_1(\mathcal{K})$  in (6.38);
- 3. Evaluate  $g_3(\mathcal{K})$  and  $g_4(\mathcal{K})$  in (6.67) to check if the solution  $\Sigma_K$  is of imaginary Hermitian;

- 4. Compute the solution P of  $g_2(\mathcal{K})$  in (6.67) and ensure that  $h_2(\mathcal{K})$  in (6.67) is satisfied;
- 5. Calculate the value of the objective function  $f(\mathcal{K})$  in (6.66).

Along with this fitness test routine, we also form a set of penalty functions, which correspond to the violation of each constraint in (6.38), (6.35) and (6.67). That is,

$$p_{1}(\mathcal{K}) = e_{\max,r}(A_{K})^{s_{1}}; \qquad p_{2}(\mathcal{K}) = |\log (\det(\mathcal{X}))|^{s_{2}}; p_{3}(\mathcal{K}) = \ell_{\max} (\Re(\Sigma_{K}))^{s_{3}}; \qquad p_{4}(\mathcal{K}) = \ell_{\max} \left(\Sigma_{K} - \Sigma_{K}^{\dagger}\right)^{s_{4}}; p_{5}(\mathcal{K}) = e_{\max} \left(\mathcal{B}\mathcal{B}^{T}\right)^{s_{5}}; \qquad p_{6}(\mathcal{K}) = |e_{\min}(P)|^{s_{6}}; p_{7}(\mathcal{K}) = f(\mathcal{K})$$

$$(6.69)$$

where  $\mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{r}} \geq 1$  for  $\mathbf{r} = 1, 2, ..., 6$ . Here,  $e_{\max,r}(M)$  denotes the largest real part of the eigenvalues of the matrix M;  $e_{\max}(M)$  denotes the largest eigenvalue of a symmetric matrix M; and  $\ell_{\max}(M)$  denotes the largest magnitude of all elements of the matrix M. Moreover, we are particularly concerned with the penalty function  $\mathbf{p}_2(\mathcal{K})$  in (6.69), which is applied whenever  $\mathcal{X}$  is very close to singularity, that is,  $0 < |\det(\mathcal{X})| \leq \varepsilon < 1$ . In this case,  $\varepsilon$  is a sufficiently small real positive number and  $\mathcal{X}$  is as defined in Lemma 6.2.

We now can apply the DE algorithm solve the quantum entanglement problem for the quantum system (6.50), (6.51), (6.52). The quantum controller matrices are then obtained as follows:

$$A_{K} = \begin{bmatrix} -907.6167 & -344.0940 & -86.2280 & -97.4048\\ 236.9691 & -963.4073 & -377.8802 & -78.7616\\ -145.2300 & 219.1872 & -904.0325 & 392.0398\\ 10.1165 & -33.0976 & -517.4231 & -987.2990 \end{bmatrix};$$
  
$$B_{K_{1}} = \begin{bmatrix} -14.3498 & -81.5469\\ -4.7526 & 28.2512\\ -5.7654 & 0.6262\\ -66.3267 & -12.5105 \end{bmatrix};$$
$$B_{K_{3}} = \begin{bmatrix} 29.3006 & -60.5369\\ -33.2270 & 28.8097\\ 18.6475 & 4.8260\\ -28.5866 & -54.1088 \end{bmatrix};$$
  
$$C_{K} = \begin{bmatrix} -3.3050 & -1.9170 & 3.1872 & 17.3733\\ 10.2118 & -10.3368 & -4.5259 & -1.0752 \end{bmatrix};$$
 (6.70)

$$B_{K_2} = \begin{bmatrix} -12.0745 & -5.7322 & -26.4841 & -15.6115 \\ -6.7239 & -3.2510 & -14.7481 & -8.7313 \\ -13.5743 & -5.2675 & -1.4916 & -3.2254 \\ -7.1492 & -2.9682 & -8.0450 & -5.2909 \end{bmatrix};$$
  
$$\Theta_K = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -0.6382 & -0.6076 & -4.6528 \\ 0.6382 & 0 & -0.0264 & 1.7524 \\ 0.6076 & 0.0264 & 0 & 0.1545 \\ 4.6528 & -1.7524 & -0.1545 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (6.71)

Alternatively, if  $B_{K2}$  is assumed to be zero, the quantum controller matrices are obtained as:

$$A_{K} = \begin{bmatrix} -997.6993 & -212.1764 & -38.0295 & -89.1340 \\ 24.6918 & -903.4779 & -181.4780 & -129.7399 \\ -55.2244 & 23.8663 & -925.4836 & -100.2914 \\ -25.7120 & 40.2243 & 47.9460 & -888.8602 \end{bmatrix};$$

$$B_{K_{1}} = \begin{bmatrix} -3.1086 & 10.7631 \\ 13.9274 & -8.6766 \\ 13.3195 & -3.1036 \\ -9.8868 & 1.3991 \end{bmatrix};$$

$$B_{K_{3}} = \begin{bmatrix} 6.7045 & -7.0180 \\ -14.1398 & -3.9128 \\ -7.7089 & -7.0357 \\ 7.3145 & 6.3358 \end{bmatrix};$$

$$C_{K} = \begin{bmatrix} -48.8473 & -43.8428 & -59.7859 & -28.7381 \\ -101.7984 & 3.2332 & -83.3746 & -75.7597 \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\Theta_{K} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -0.1264 & -0.1381 & 0.1055 \\ 0.1264 & 0 & 0.0746 & -0.0681 \\ 0.1381 & -0.0746 & 0 & -0.0129 \\ -0.1055 & 0.0681 & 0.0129 & 0 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(6.72)

The assumption that  $B_{K_2} = 0$  is based on the experience of [72] where  $B_{K_2}$  has very small entries. Therefore, it has an insignificant effect on the performance of the controlled quantum system.

In our example, we also find that the entanglement levels of the controlled quantum systems obtained by applying controllers (6.70), (6.71) and (6.72) are the same. That is, in both cases, we obtain

$$\mathcal{N} = -0.1237; \quad \mathcal{E} = 0.2944$$
 (6.73)

and the corresponding complex vectors  $d_c$  are

$$\begin{bmatrix} -0.0669 + i0.4613 & -0.4932 + i0.1997 & -0.0010 + i0.4652 & 0.5322 \end{bmatrix}^{T};$$
  
$$\begin{bmatrix} -0.0694 + i0.4609 & -0.4921 + i0.2023 & -0.0017 + i0.4655 & 0.5319 \end{bmatrix}^{T} (6.74)$$

for the quantum controllers (6.70), (6.71) and (6.72), respectively. In particular, from (6.70) and (6.71), we notice that  $B_{K_2}$  is not necessarily small or equal to zero. However, this example does not show that any improvement in the objective function can be obtained by using a nonzero  $B_{K_2}$ . This is consistent with the example presented in [72].

Another interesting aspect of this example is that we obtain approximately 30% entanglement improvement in terms of logarithmic negativity through the application of a coherent quantum controller as opposed to the direct interconnection of the two OPAs. This result is not surprising because it is hard to drastically enhance the entanglement level of this type of quantum network as reported in [233]. However, our method has shown a potential approach to improve the entanglement level of a realistic quantum network using a dynamic coherent quantum controller.

**Remark 6.7.** Besides the objective function in (6.66), another possible objective function to be minimized is

$$\mathbf{f}(\mathcal{K}) = \left(\ln(2\nu)\right)^{\mathbf{n}} \tag{6.75}$$

which is subject to (6.38), (6.35), (6.67) and

$$\mathbf{h}_3(\mathcal{K}) = e_{\min}(\mathcal{M}) < 0 \tag{6.76}$$

where  $e_{\min}(\mathcal{M})$  denotes the smallest eigenvalue of the Hermitian matrix  $\mathcal{M}$  as defined in (6.57). Having an additional constraint  $h_3(\mathcal{K})$ , we thus need to include an additional step in the fitness test routine to ensure that the entanglement criterion (6.56) holds before calculating the value of the objective function (6.75). The penalty function corresponding to the violation of (6.76) is

$$\mathbf{p}_7(\mathcal{K}) = e_{\min}(\mathcal{M})^{\mathbf{s}_7} \tag{6.77}$$

where  $s_7 \ge 1$ . Thus, if there is no constraint violation by a candidate solution throughout the fitness test, the objective function (6.75) will be

$$\mathsf{p}_8(\mathcal{K}) = \mathsf{f}(\mathcal{K}). \tag{6.78}$$

Applying this algorithm to solve the same entanglement control problem as the one discussed above, we obtain approximately the same amount of entanglement level (with or without  $B_{K_2}$ ), that is,  $\mathcal{E} = 0.2954$ . This fact implies that both algorithms have a comparable performance.

# 6.6 Conclusions

We have presented a new method to solve a linear coherent quantum control problem based on a DE approach. The solution to this problem involves the solution to a complex algebraic Riccati equation. As a case study, we consider a quantum entanglement control problem for two cascaded OPAs. Applying a suitable coherent quantum controller, we show that the entanglement level can be increased. This result indicates that our method can have potential future applications to realistic quantum networks. Interestingly, with or without the  $B_{K_2}$  term in the quantum controller, we obtain the same amount of entanglement in terms of logarithmic negativity. This fact motivates a further investigation on the significance of the inclusion of  $B_{K_2}$  in the realization of a dynamic coherent quantum controller.

# Chapter 7

# Coherent Quantum Robust $H^{\infty}$ Control via A Strict Bounded Real Quantum Controller

## 7.1 Introduction

In this chapter, we consider coherent quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  control for a class of linear complex quantum stochastic systems with norm-bounded structured uncertainties. The corresponding quantum  $H^{\infty}$  control objective is to achieve a strict bounded real closed loop uncertain quantum system with a specified disturbance attenuation level. It is possible to solve this quantum control problem based on the quantum  $H^{\infty}$  control methods presented in [70, 73] by lumping all structured uncertainties into a single unstructured uncertainty. However, this may lead to a conservative quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller and these methods do not necessarily lead to a stable and strict bounded real quantum controller. Hence, the resulting quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller may not be physically realizable.

This concern has motivated us to propose a systematic method to construct a stable and strict bounded real coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller, which is guaranteed to be physically realizable. The underlying main idea of our approach is to introduce an additional uncertainty to form an artificial uncertain quantum system, based on which our quantum controller is to be designed. A similar idea has also been applied in [8] for the classical robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problem. The additional uncertainty has specific properties such that any suitable coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller solves the original quantum control problem and is also stable and strict bounded real. The resulting quantum controller then must be physically realizable and is of the same order as that of the quantum plant. However, the additional uncertainty also introduces some extra conservatism to this controller design method.

An algorithm to synthesize such a quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  controller involves finding the stabilizing solutions to complex algebraic Riccati equations parameterized by a non-singular scaling matrix and scaling parameters; e.g., see [8]. The Riccati equations then constitute nonconvex nonlinear constraints, which are often difficult to satisfy, in our quantum control problem. Therefore, to compute a solution, we apply an evolutionary optimization method, namely the differential evolution (DE) algorithm, as presented in Chapter 2.

As both complex and operator matrices are involved in this chapter, we then use the following notation:  $M = [m_{jk}], M^* = [m_{jk}^*], M^T = [m_{kj}]$  and  $M^{\dagger} = [m_{kj}^*] = (M^*)^T$  to denote the same operations as those explained in Section 6.1.

# 7.2 Linear Complex Quantum Systems

In this section, we briefly recall some preliminary results on linear complex quantum systems. Instead of the quadrature representation of a linear quantum system presented in Chapter 6, we are concerned with a linear complex quantum stochastic system modeled in terms of annihilation operators as presented in [73]. This formulation is described using quantum probability theory to characterize the non-commutative nature of the quantum system; e.g., see [46]. Moreover, the physical realizability condition for these quantum systems is presented in relation to the realization of a complex open quantum harmonic oscillator.

#### 7.2.1 Non-commutative model

We now consider a particular class of linear quantum stochastic systems described in terms of linear quantum stochastic differential equations (QSDEs) as follows:

$$da(t) = F a(t) dt + G dw(t); \quad a(0) = a_0; dy(t) = H a(t) dt + J dw(t)$$
(7.1)

where the matrices F, G, H and J are respectively complex matrices in  $\mathbb{C}^{n \times n}$ ,  $\mathbb{C}^{n \times n_w}$ ,  $\mathbb{C}^{n_y \times n}$  and  $\mathbb{C}^{n_y \times n_w}$ . Moreover,  $a(t) := \begin{bmatrix} a_1(t) & \dots & a_n(t) \end{bmatrix}^T$  is an  $n \times 1$ vector of annihilation operators; and w(t) is an  $n_w \times 1$  vector of input signals. Here, we assume that  $n_w$  is equal to  $n_y$ . As described in Section 6.2, we also assume that w(t) can be decomposed into two components as follows:

$$dw(t) = \beta_w(t) dt + d\nu(t) \tag{7.2}$$

where  $\beta_w(t)$  and  $\nu(t)$  are respectively adapted process and quantum noise parts of w(t). As the quantum system (7.1) may interact with other systems, the variables of those systems determine the adapted process  $\beta_w(t)$ . Thus, we assume that  $\beta_w(t)$  commutes with a(t) and  $\nu(t)$  for all  $t \ge 0$  because they are operating on distinct Hilbert spaces; e.g., see [70, 72, 73]. The notion of an adapted process is rigorously described in [43, 44, 46].

Moreover, the quantum noise  $\nu(t)$  is a vector of operators on a Fock space, which is characterized by the Ito table

$$d\nu(t)d\nu(t)^{\dagger} = F_{\nu} dt \tag{7.3}$$

where the Ito matrix  $F_{\tilde{w}}$  is a non-negative Hermitian matrix; e.g., see [44, 49]. This leads to a commutation relation of the form

$$d\nu(t)d\nu(t)^{\dagger} - \left(d\nu(t)^{*}d\nu(t)^{T}\right)^{T} = T_{\nu} dt$$
(7.4)

where  $T_{\nu}$  is a Hermitian commutation matrix.

Since the dynamic equation of the quantum system (7.1) is expressed as a linear quantum stochastic differential equation, integration with respect to dw(t)is a quantum stochastic integral. Therefore, the evolution of a(t) in (7.1) depends only on w(s) for  $0 \le s \le t$  and is then adapted. Moreover, the annihilation operator a(t) also commutes with the Ito increment  $d\nu(t)$ ; see [70].

#### 7.2.2 Physical realizability

For a quantum system (7.1), the realization  $\{F, G, H, J\}$  cannot be arbitrary because it may not represent meaningful dynamics governed by quantum mechanical principles. In order to be physically realizable, the quantum system (7.1) has to satisfy the following commutation relation

$$a(t)a(t)^{\dagger} - \left(a(t)^*a(t)^T\right)^T = \Theta$$
(7.5)

for all  $t \ge 0$ , where  $\Theta$  is a complex commutation matrix; see [70, 73]. Referring to [73, Theorem 4.1], the commutation relation (7.5) is equivalent to

$$F\Theta + \Theta F^{\dagger} + GT_{\nu}G^{\dagger} = 0. \tag{7.6}$$

This condition is satisfied by a complex open quantum harmonic oscillator evolving unitarily; e.g., see [36, 46, 70, 73]. Thus, the physical realizability of the quantum system (7.1) is then defined in relation to the realization of a complex open quantum harmonic oscillator.

If  $\Theta$  is canonical, we have that  $\Theta = I$ ,  $F_{\nu} = I$  and  $T_{\nu} = I$ . In this case, the commutation relation (7.5) holds if and only if

$$F + F^{\dagger} + GG^{\dagger} = 0. \tag{7.7}$$

However, if  $\Theta$  is generalized canonical, we have that  $\Theta$  is a positive definite Hermitian matrix,  $F_{\nu} = I$  and  $T_{\nu} = I$ . In this case, the commutation relation (7.5) holds if and only if

$$F\Theta + \Theta F^{\dagger} + GG^{\dagger} = 0. \tag{7.8}$$

For this latter case, we are always be able to find a similarity transformation  $\bar{a} = Sa$  such that the transformed quantum system

$$\bar{F} = SFS^{-1}; \quad \bar{G} = SG; \quad \bar{H} = HS^{-1}; \quad \bar{J} = J$$
 (7.9)

satisfies (7.7) with  $\overline{\Theta} = I$ ,  $F_{\nu} = I$  and  $T_{\nu} = I$ ; see [73].

A complex open quantum harmonic oscillator is characterized by a Hamiltonian operator  $\mathcal{H}$  and a coupling operator  $\mathcal{C}$ , which are respectively defined as follows:

$$\mathcal{H} := a^{\dagger} \mathcal{M} a; \quad \mathcal{C} := \Lambda a. \tag{7.10}$$

Here,  $\mathcal{M}$  is an  $n \times n$  complex Hermitian matrix; and  $\Lambda$  is an  $n_w \times n$  complex coupling matrix. Using the quantum Langevin equation and Lindblad generator,

the dynamical equations of a complex open quantum harmonic oscillator can be written as follows (e.g., see [73, 316, 317]):

$$da(t) = -\Theta \left( i\mathcal{M} + \frac{1}{2}\Lambda^{\dagger}\Lambda \right) a(t) dt - \Theta\Lambda^{\dagger} dw(t);$$
  

$$dy(t) = \Lambda a(t) dt + dw(t).$$
(7.11)

Therefore, matching (7.1) with (7.11), we obtain

$$F = -\Theta \left( i\mathcal{M} + \frac{1}{2}\Lambda^{\dagger}\Lambda \right); \quad G = -\Theta\Lambda^{\dagger}; \quad H = \Lambda; \quad J = I.$$
(7.12)

**Definition 7.1.** (*Physical realizability*; see [73, Definition 5.1 and Definition 5.2]) A linear complex quantum system (7.1) is said to be physically realizable if it satisfies the commutation relation (7.5) for (generalized) canonical  $\Theta$  and represents the dynamics of a complex open quantum harmonic oscillator (7.11).

**Lemma 7.1.** (see [73, Theorem 5.1]) A linear complex quantum system (7.1) is physically realizable if and only if there exists  $\Theta = \Theta^{\dagger} > 0$  such that (7.8) and (7.12) hold.

#### 7.2.3 Bounded real property

We also need to consider the bounded real property of the linear complex quantum system (7.1). This will enable us to relate the physical realizability condition given in Definition 7.1 and Lemma 7.1 to the realization of a coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller discussed in subsequent sections.

**Definition 7.2.** (*Dissipativity*; see [70, Definition 4.1] and [73, Definition 6.1]) Given an operator-valued quadratic form

$$\mathbf{r}(a,\beta_w) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} a^{\dagger} & \beta_w^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix} \mathcal{R} \begin{bmatrix} a \\ \beta_w \end{bmatrix} + \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} a^T & \beta_w^T \end{bmatrix} \mathcal{R} \begin{bmatrix} a^* \\ \beta_w^* \end{bmatrix}$$
(7.13)

where

$$\mathcal{R} = \begin{bmatrix} R_{11} & R_{12} \\ R_{21} & R_{22} \end{bmatrix}$$
(7.14)

is a given complex Hermitian matrix, we say that the quantum system (7.1) is dissipative with supply rate  $\mathfrak{r}(a, \beta_w)$  if there exists a positive operator-valued quadratic form

$$\mathcal{V}(a) = \frac{1}{2}a^{\dagger}\mathcal{X}a + \frac{1}{2}a^{T}\mathcal{X}a^{*}$$
(7.15)

(where  $\mathcal{X}$  is a positive definite Hermitian matrix) and a constant  $\lambda > 0$  such that

$$\langle \mathcal{V}(a(t)) \rangle + \int_0^t \langle \mathfrak{r}(a(s), \beta_w(s)) \rangle \, ds \le \langle \mathcal{V}(a(0)) \rangle + \lambda t, \quad \forall t > 0$$
 (7.16)

for all Gaussian state  $\mathfrak{g}$  for the initial variables a(0). Note that we use  $\langle \cdot \rangle$  to denote a quantum expectation over all initial variables and noises. We say that the quantum system (7.1) is strictly dissipative if there exists a constant  $\varepsilon > 0$ such that the inequality (7.15) holds with the matrix  $\mathcal{R}$  replaced by the matrix  $\mathcal{R} + \varepsilon I$ .

**Definition 7.3.** (Bounded real; see [70, Definition 4.3] and [73, Definition 6.2]) The linear complex quantum system (7.1) is said to be bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$  if the system (7.1) is dissipative with supply rate

$$\mathbf{\mathfrak{r}}(a,\beta_w) = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \beta_z^{\dagger}\beta_z - \gamma^2 \beta_w^{\dagger}\beta_w \end{pmatrix} + \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} \beta_z^T \beta_z^* - \gamma^2 \beta_w^T \beta_w^* \end{pmatrix}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} a^{\dagger} & \beta_w^{\dagger} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} H^{\dagger}H & H^{\dagger}J \\ J^{\dagger}H & J^{\dagger}J - \gamma^2 I \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a \\ \beta_w \end{bmatrix}$$
$$+ \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} a^T & \beta_w^T \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} H^T H^* & H^T J^* \\ J^T H^* & J^T J^* - \gamma^2 I \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a^* \\ \beta_w^* \end{bmatrix}$$
(7.17)

where  $\beta_z := H a(t) + J \beta_w(t)$ . Moreover, The linear complex quantum system (7.1) is said to be strictly bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$  if the system (7.1) is strictly dissipative with the supply rate (7.17).

**Definition 7.4.** (*Minimal realization*; see [73, Definition 6.4] and [318]) The quantum system (7.1) is said to be minimal if the following conditions hold:

- 1. Controllability:  $a^{\dagger}F = \lambda a^{\dagger}$  for some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $a^{\dagger}G = 0$  implies that a = 0.
- 2. Observability:  $F a = \lambda a$  for some  $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$  and H a = 0 implies that a = 0.

**Definition 7.5.** (*Lossless bounded real*; see [73, Definition 6.3] and [319, Chapter 7]) The linear complex quantum system (7.1) is said to be lossless bounded real if the following conditions hold:

- 1. F is Hurwitz.
- 2. The transfer function matrix  $Q(s) := H(sI F)^{-1}G + J$  satisfies

$$Q(i\omega)^{\dagger}Q(i\omega) = I, \quad \forall \, \omega \in \mathbf{R}.$$
(7.18)

**Lemma 7.2.** (see [73, Theorem 6.4 and Theorem 6.5] and [319, Theorem 6.4 and Theorem 6.5]) Suppose that the quantum system (7.1) has a minimal realization  $\{F, G, H, J\}$ . Then, it is lossless bounded real if and only if there exists  $X = X^{\dagger} > 0$  such that

$$XF + F^{\dagger}X + H^{\dagger}H = 0;$$
  

$$H^{\dagger}J = -XG;$$
  

$$J^{\dagger}J = I.$$
(7.19)

Furthermore, the minimal realization  $\{F, G, H, J\}$  of the quantum system (7.1) is physically realizable if and only if it is lossless bounded real with J = I.

**Lemma 7.3.** (Complex bounded real lemma I; see [73, Theorem 6.1]) The quantum system (7.1) is bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$  if and only if there exists a Hermitian matrix X > 0 such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} F^{\dagger}X + XF + H^{\dagger}H & G^{\dagger}X + J^{\dagger}H \\ XG + H^{\dagger}J & J^{\dagger}J - \gamma^{2}I \end{bmatrix} \leq 0.$$
(7.20)

**Lemma 7.4.** (Complex bounded real lemma II; see [73, Theorem 6.2] and [319, Chapter 7]) Suppose that the quantum system (7.1) has a minimal realization  $\{F, G, H, J\}$  and satisfies  $\gamma^2 I - J^{\dagger} J > 0$  for  $\gamma > 0$ . Then, the following statements are equivalent:

- 1. The quantum system (7.1) is bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma$ .
- 2. F is Hurwitz and  $||H(sI-F)^{-1}G+J||_{\infty} \leq \gamma$ .
- 3. The complex algebraic Riccati equation

$$F^{\dagger}X + XF + H^{\dagger}H + (XG + H^{\dagger}J)(\gamma^{2}I - J^{\dagger}J)^{-1}(G^{\dagger}X + J^{\dagger}H) = 0 \quad (7.21)$$

has a positive definite Hermitian solution X.

**Lemma 7.5.** (Complex strict bounded real lemma I; see [73, Theorem 6.3]) The quantum system (7.1) is strictly bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$  if and only if  $\gamma^2 I - J^{\dagger} J > 0$  and there exists a Hermitian matrix X > 0 such that

$$\begin{bmatrix} F^{\dagger}X + XF + H^{\dagger}H & G^{\dagger}X + J^{\dagger}H \\ XG + H^{\dagger}J & J^{\dagger}J - \gamma^{2}I \end{bmatrix} < 0.$$
(7.22)

**Lemma 7.6.** (Complex strict bounded real lemma II; see [73, Theorem 6.3], [312, Theorem 2.1] and [320]) For the quantum system (7.1), the following statements are equivalent:

- 1. The quantum system (7.1) is strictly bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ .
- 2. F is Hurwitz and  $||H(sI-F)^{-1}G+J||_{\infty} < \gamma$ .
- 3.  $\gamma^2 I J^{\dagger} J > 0$  and the complex algebraic Riccati inequality

$$F^{\dagger}\tilde{X} + \tilde{X}F + H^{\dagger}H + \left(\tilde{X}G + H^{\dagger}J\right)\left(\gamma^{2}I - J^{\dagger}J\right)^{-1}\left(G^{\dagger}\tilde{X} + J^{\dagger}H\right) < 0$$
(7.23)

has a positive definite Hermitian solution  $\tilde{X}$ .

4.  $\gamma^2 I - J^{\dagger} J > 0$  and the complex algebraic Riccati equation

$$F^{\dagger}X + XF + H^{\dagger}H + \left(XG + H^{\dagger}J\right)\left(\gamma^{2}I - J^{\dagger}J\right)^{-1}\left(G^{\dagger}X + J^{\dagger}H\right) = 0 \quad (7.24)$$

has a stabilizing solution  $X \ge 0$ .

Furthermore, if these statements hold, then  $X < \tilde{X}$ .

# 7.3 Quantum Robust $H^{\infty}$ Control Problem

In this section, we describe the quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problem for a class of linear uncertain complex quantum systems. Applying a coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller to solve this control problem, we require this quantum controller to be physically realizable. Also, the resulting closed loop uncertain quantum system has to satisfy an  $H^{\infty}$  control objective. These issues are considered in the following sub-sections.
### 7.3.1 Linear uncertain complex quantum system

We consider a class of linear complex quantum stochastic systems with structured uncertainties (see [70, 72, 73]):

$$da(t) = F a(t)dt + G_0 dv(t) + G_1 dw(t) + G_2 du(t) + \sum_{j=1}^k G_{3,j} d\xi_j(t); \ a(0) = a_0;$$
  

$$dz(t) = H_1 a(t)dt + J_{12} du(t);$$
  

$$d\zeta_1(t) = L_1 a(t)dt + M_1 du(t);$$
  

$$\vdots$$
  

$$d\zeta_k(t) = L_k a(t)dt + M_k du(t);$$
  

$$dy(t) = H_2 a(t)dt + J_{20} dv(t) + J_{21} dw(t)$$
(7.25)

where a is an  $n \times 1$  vector of the plant annihilation operators; v is an  $n_v \times 1$  vector of quantum noises; w is an  $n_w \times 1$  vector of disturbance inputs; u is an  $n_u \times 1$  vector of control inputs;  $\xi_j$  is an  $n_{q_j} \times 1$  vector of uncertainty inputs (for j = 1, 2, ..., k);  $\zeta_j$  is an  $n_{s_j} \times 1$  vector of uncertainty outputs (for j = 1, 2, ..., k); z is an  $n_z \times 1$ vector of controlled outputs; and y is an  $n_y \times 1$  vector of 'measurement' outputs. All coefficient matrices in (7.25) are complex matrices, which have compatible dimensions with those of the operators and signals in (7.25). Quantum systems of this form, defined only in terms of annihilation operators, can be used to represent interconnections of linear passive optical components such as optical cavities, beam-splitters and phase-shifters; e.g., see [73,77].

The disturbance input w(t) and the control input u(t) in (7.25) are represented respectively as

$$dw(t) = \beta_w(t) dt + d\nu(t); \qquad (7.26)$$

$$du(t) = \beta_u(t) dt + d\mu(t) \tag{7.27}$$

where  $\beta_w(t)$  and  $\beta_u(t)$  are adapted processes; and  $d\nu(t)$  and  $d\mu(t)$  are the noise parts of (7.26) and (7.27). Meanwhile, dv(t) represents an additional quantum noise in the plant. The quantum noises dv(t),  $d\nu(t)$  and  $d\mu(t)$  have corresponding Hermitian Ito matrices  $F_v$ ,  $F_\nu$  and  $F_\mu$ , and Hermitian commutation matrices  $T_v$ ,  $T_{\nu}$  and  $T_{\mu}$ , which are assumed to be

$$F_v = F_\nu = F_\mu = I;$$
 (7.28)

$$T_v = T_{\mu} = I. \tag{7.29}$$

The *j*-th structured uncertainty in (7.25) is modeled as an additional unknown linear time-invariant complex quantum stochastic system:

$$d\tilde{a}_{j}(t) = A_{j} \,\tilde{a}_{j}(t) \,dt + B_{j} \,d\zeta_{j}(t); \quad \tilde{a}_{j}(0) = \tilde{a}_{0,j}; d\xi_{j}(t) = C_{j} \,\tilde{a}_{j}(t) \,dt + D_{j} \,d\zeta_{j}(t)$$
(7.30)

with  $A_j$  Hurwitz and transfer function matrix

$$\Delta_j(s) = C_j(sI - A_j)^{-1}B_j + D_j \tag{7.31}$$

which is required to satisfy

$$\|\Delta_j(s)\|_{\infty} \le 1 \tag{7.32}$$

for all j = 1, 2, ..., k.

### 7.3.2 Coherent quantum $H^{\infty}$ controller

We aim to control the uncertain quantum system (7.25), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32) using a coherent dynamic quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller, which is assumed to be a non-commutative quantum stochastic system. A general form of this quantum controller can be written as

$$dc(t) = F_c c(t)dt + G_{c_0} dw_{c_0}(t) + G_{c_1} dw_{c_1}(t) + G_c dy(t); \quad c(0) = c_0$$
  
$$du(t) = H_c c(t)dt + dw_{c_0}(t)$$
(7.33)

where c is an  $n \times 1$  vector of the controller annihilation operators;  $w_{c_0}$  and  $w_{c_1}$ are respectively  $n_{c_0} \times 1$  and  $n_{c_1} \times 1$  vectors of non-commutative quantum Wiener processes. For the quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller (7.33), we assume that the Ito matrices  $F_{w_{c_0}}$  and  $F_{w_{c_1}}$ , and commutation matrices  $T_{w_{c_0}}$  and  $T_{w_{c_1}}$  of  $w_{c_0}$  and  $w_{c_1}$  are respectively

$$F_{w_{c_0}} = F_{w_{c_1}} = I;$$
  

$$T_{w_{c_0}} = T_{w_{c_1}} = I.$$
(7.34)

Also, at time t = 0, it is assumed that a(0) and  $\tilde{a}(0)$  commute with c(0). Moreover, the quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller (7.33) is required to be stable and strict bounded real, which will imply that it is physically realizable. Therefore, referring to [73], we present a physical realizability condition for the quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller (7.33) in terms of its bounded real property.

**Definition 7.6.** (*Physical realizability of a quantum controller*; see [73, Definition 7.1]) The realization  $\{F_c, G_c, H_c\}$  is said to define a physically realizable quantum controller of the form (7.33) if there exist matrices  $G_{c_0}$ ,  $G_{c_1}$ ,  $H_{c_1}$  and  $H_{c_2}$  such that

$$dc(t) = F_{c} c(t)dt + G_{c_{0}} dw_{c_{0}}(t) + G_{c_{1}} dw_{c_{1}}(t) + G_{c} dy(t); \quad c(0) = c_{0};$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} du(t) \\ du_{1}(t) \\ du_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} H_{c} \\ H_{c_{1}} \\ H_{c_{2}} \end{bmatrix} c(t)dt + \begin{bmatrix} dw_{c_{0}}(t) \\ dw_{c_{1}}(t) \\ dy(t) \end{bmatrix}$$
(7.35)

is physically realizable according to Definition 7.1 when

$$T_y := J_{20} T_v J_{20}^{\dagger} + J_{21} T_v J_{21}^{\dagger} = I.$$
(7.36)

**Lemma 7.7.** (see [73, Theorem 7.2]) Suppose that  $\{F_c, G_c, H_c\}$  is a minimal realization of the quantum controller (7.33). Then, the quantum controller (7.33) is physically realizable if and only if  $F_c$  is Hurwitz and

$$||H_c(sI - F_c)^{-1}G_c||_{\infty} \le 1.$$
(7.37)

This implies that the quantum controller (7.33) is bounded real.

**Remark 7.1.** (see [73, Theorem 7.2]) The matrices  $G_{c_1}$  and  $H_{c_1}$  can be set to zero as the exogenous quantum noise  $dw_{c_1}$  term is not needed in the realization of the quantum controller (7.33). Moreover, an immediate consequence of Lemma

7.7 is that a strict bounded real quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller of the form (7.33) must always be physically realizable, where  $F_c$  is Hurwitz and  $\|H_c(sI - F_c)^{-1}G_c\|_{\infty} < 1$ .

# 7.3.3 $H^{\infty}$ control objective

Interconnecting the quantum controller (7.33) with the uncertain quantum system (7.25), (7.32), we obtain the following closed loop uncertain quantum system

$$\begin{bmatrix} da(t) \\ dc(t) \\ d\tilde{a}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} (F+G_3DL) & (G_2H_c+G_3DMH_c) & G_3C \\ G_cH_2 & F_c & 0 \\ BL & BMH_c & A \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a(t) \\ c(t) \\ \tilde{a}(t) \end{bmatrix} dt + \begin{bmatrix} G_0 & (G_2+G_3DM) & 0 \\ G_cJ_{20} & G_{c_0} & G_{c_1} \\ 0 & BM & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} dv(t) \\ dw_{c_0}(t) \\ dw_{c_1}(t) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} G_1 \\ G_cJ_{21} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} dw(t); dz(t) = \begin{bmatrix} H_1 & J_{12}H_c & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a(t) \\ c(t) \\ \tilde{a}(t) \end{bmatrix} dt + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & J_{12} & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} dv(t) \\ dw_{c_0}(t) \\ dw_{c_1}(t) \end{bmatrix}$$
(7.38)

where

$$d\tilde{a}(t) := \begin{bmatrix} d\tilde{a}_{1}(t) \\ d\tilde{a}_{2}(t) \\ \vdots \\ d\tilde{a}_{k}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad M := \begin{bmatrix} M_{1} \\ M_{2} \\ \vdots \\ M_{k} \end{bmatrix}; \quad L := \begin{bmatrix} L_{1} \\ L_{2} \\ \vdots \\ L_{k} \end{bmatrix};$$

$$A := \begin{bmatrix} A_{1} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & A_{2} & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & A_{k} \end{bmatrix}; \quad B := \begin{bmatrix} B_{1} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & B_{2} & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & B_{k} \end{bmatrix};$$

$$C := \begin{bmatrix} C_{1} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & C_{2} & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & C_{k} \end{bmatrix}; \quad D := \begin{bmatrix} D_{1} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & D_{2} & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & D_{k} \end{bmatrix};$$

$$G_{3} := \begin{bmatrix} G_{3,1} & G_{3,2} & \cdots & G_{3,k} \end{bmatrix}. \quad (7.39)$$

We require the closed loop uncertain quantum system (7.38) to satisfy the following  $H^{\infty}$  control objective

$$\int_{0}^{t} \left\langle z(s)^{\dagger} z(s) + z(s)^{T} z(s)^{*} + \varepsilon \left( \eta(s)^{\dagger} \eta(s) + \eta(s)^{T} \eta(s)^{*} \right) \right\rangle ds$$
  
$$\leq \left( \gamma^{2} - \varepsilon^{2} \right) \int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \beta_{w}(s)^{\dagger} \beta_{w}(s) + \beta_{w}(s)^{T} \beta_{w}(s)^{*} \right\rangle ds + \pi_{1} + \pi_{2} t \qquad (7.40)$$

where  $\varepsilon, \pi_1, \pi_2 > 0$  are real constants and

$$d\eta(t) := \begin{bmatrix} da(t)^T & dc(t)^T & d\tilde{a}(t)^T \end{bmatrix}^T.$$
(7.41)

This objective is attained if the closed loop quantum system (7.38) is strict bounded real with a specified disturbance attenuation level  $\gamma > 0$ ; see [70, 73].

# 7.4 Quantum $H^{\infty}$ Controller Synthesis

An algorithm to construct a coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller of the form (7.33) has been provided in [70,73]. However, these algorithms do not guarantee that the resulting quantum controller is stable and strict bounded real, and hence, the controller may not be physically realizable. Thus, we are motivated to provide a new systematic method to synthesize a stable and strict bounded real quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller based on the approach used in [8]. In this case, we force the quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller to be physically realizable.

The main idea of our approach is to introduce an additional uncertainty to form an artificial uncertain quantum system based on which the desired coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller is to be designed. Thus, this approach only provides a sufficient condition such that any suitable quantum controller of the form (7.33) will lead to a strict bounded real closed loop uncertain quantum system with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$  when applied to the original uncertain quantum system (7.25), (7.32). Moreover, the same quantum controller must be stable and strict bounded real when it is applied to a particular open loop uncertain quantum system while achieving the closed loop  $H^{\infty}$  control objective. These properties hold even when the quantum controller is detached from the open loop quantum system; see [8].

In order to apply this idea, we first consider the following uncertain quantum

system:

$$da(t) = F a(t) dt + G_0 dv(t) + G_1 dw(t) + \sum_{j=1}^k G_{2,j} d\xi_j(t); \quad a(0) = a_0;$$
  

$$dz(t) = H_1 a(t) dt + J_1 dw(t) + \sum_{j=1}^k J_{2,j} d\xi_j(t);$$
  

$$d\zeta_1(t) = H_{2,1} a(t) dt + K_1 dw(t) + \sum_{j=1}^k L_{1,j} d\xi_j(t);$$
  

$$\vdots$$
  

$$d\zeta_k(t) = H_{2,k} a(t) dt + K_k dw(t) + \sum_{j=1}^k L_{1,j} d\xi_j(t).$$
  
(7.42)

Here, the *j*-th structured uncertainty in (7.42) is modeled as an unknown quantum system:

$$d\bar{a}_j(t) = \tilde{A}_j \,\bar{a}_j(t) \,dt + \tilde{B}_j \,d\zeta_j(t); \quad \bar{a}_j(0) = \bar{a}_{0,j};$$
  

$$d\xi_j(t) = \tilde{C}_j \,\bar{a}_j(t) \,dt + \tilde{D}_j \,d\zeta_j(t)$$
(7.43)

with  $\tilde{A}_j$  Hurwitz and transfer function matrix

$$\tilde{\Delta}_j(s) = \tilde{C}_j(sI - \tilde{A}_j)^{-1}\tilde{B}_j + \tilde{D}_j$$
(7.44)

which is required to satisfy

$$\|\tilde{\Delta}_j(s)\|_{\infty} \le 1 \tag{7.45}$$

for all j = 1, 2, ..., k. Now, we present the following lemma, which is required in subsequent sub-sections.

**Lemma 7.8.** Consider the uncertain quantum system (7.42), (7.43), (7.44), (7.45) and let  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_k > 0$  be given constants. Suppose that F in (7.42) is Hurwitz and the scaled quantum system

$$da(t) = F a(t) dt + G_0 dv(t) + \breve{G}_1 d\breve{w}(t);$$
  
$$d\breve{z}(t) = \breve{H} a(t) dt + \breve{J} d\breve{w}(t)$$
(7.46)

where

$$\begin{split} \vec{G}_{1} &= \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1} G_{1} & \sqrt{\tau_{1}}^{-1} G_{2,1} & \sqrt{\tau_{2}}^{-1} G_{2,2} & \dots & \sqrt{\tau_{k}}^{-1} G_{2,k} \end{bmatrix}; \\ \vec{H} &= \begin{bmatrix} H_{1} \\ \sqrt{\tau_{1}} H_{2,1} \\ \sqrt{\tau_{2}} H_{2,2} \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\tau_{k}} H_{2,k} \end{bmatrix}; \quad d\vec{w}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma dw(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_{1}} d\xi_{1}(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_{2}} d\xi_{2}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\tau_{k}} d\xi_{k}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad d\vec{z}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} dz(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_{1}} d\zeta_{1}(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_{2}} d\zeta_{2}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\tau_{k}} d\zeta_{k}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \\ \vec{J} &= \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1} J_{1} & \sqrt{\tau_{1}}^{-1} J_{2,1} & \sqrt{\tau_{2}}^{-1} J_{2,2} & \dots & \sqrt{\tau_{k}}^{-1} J_{2,k} \\ \gamma^{-1} \sqrt{\tau_{1}} K_{1} & L_{1,1} & \sqrt{\tau_{1}}^{-1} J_{2,2} & \dots & \sqrt{\tau_{k}}^{-1} J_{2,k} \\ \gamma^{-1} \sqrt{\tau_{2}} K_{2} & \sqrt{\tau_{2}}^{\tau_{2}} L_{2,1} & L_{2,2} & \dots & \sqrt{\tau_{k}}^{\tau_{2}} L_{2,k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \gamma^{-1} \sqrt{\tau_{k}} K_{k} & \sqrt{\tau_{k}}^{\tau_{k}} L_{k,1} & \sqrt{\tau_{k}}^{\tau_{k}} L_{k,2} & \dots & L_{k,k} \end{bmatrix} \end{split}$$
(7.47)

is such that  $\breve{J}\breve{J}^{\dagger} < I$  and strict bounded real with

$$\left\| \breve{H}(sI - F)^{-1}\breve{G}_1 + \breve{J} \right\|_{\infty} < 1.$$
 (7.48)

Then, the uncertain quantum system (7.42), (7.43), (7.44), (7.45) is strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ .

**Proof.** The proof of this lemma follows from the proofs of Proposition 8.6 ((i) to (iii)) and Proposition 9.9 ((c) to (a)) in [321], and also from [73, Theorem 7.2] (Lemma 7.6). That is, suppose that all conditions in the lemma are satisfied and

$$\left\| \breve{H}(sI-F)^{-1}\breve{G}_{1} + \breve{J} \right\|_{\infty} = \left\| \bar{\mathcal{T}} \left[ \bar{H}(sI-F)^{-1}\bar{G}_{1} + \bar{J} \right] \bar{\mathcal{T}}^{-1} \right\|_{\infty} < 1 \qquad (7.49)$$

where

$$\bar{T} := \begin{bmatrix} I & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{\tau_1} & \cdots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & \sqrt{\tau_k} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{H} := \begin{bmatrix} H_1 \\ H_{2,1} \\ \vdots \\ H_{2,k} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{J} := \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1}J_1 & J_{2,1} & \cdots & J_{2,k} \\ \gamma^{-1}K_1 & L_{1,1} & \cdots & L_{1,k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & & \vdots \\ \gamma^{-1}K_k & L_{k,1} & \cdots & K_{k,k} \end{bmatrix};$$
$$\bar{G}_1 := \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1}G_1 & G_{2,1} & \cdots & G_{2,k} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(7.50)

We also let  $\bar{\mathcal{P}}: L_2[0,\infty) \to L_2[0,\infty)$  be the time-invariant bounded operator corresponding to the transfer function matrix  $\bar{H}(sI-F)^{-1}\bar{G}_1 + \bar{J}$ . That is,  $\bar{\mathcal{P}}$ represents a classical linear time-invariant system

$$\dot{x}(t) = Fx(t) + \bar{G}_1 \bar{w}(t);$$
  
$$\bar{z}(t) = \bar{H}x(t) + \bar{J}\bar{w}(t)$$
(7.51)

where

$$\bar{w}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma w(t) \\ \xi_1(t) \\ \xi_2(t) \\ \vdots \\ \xi_k(t) \end{bmatrix}; \bar{z}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} z(t) \\ \zeta_1(t) \\ \zeta_2(t) \\ \vdots \\ \zeta_k(t) \end{bmatrix}; \bar{H} = \begin{bmatrix} H_1 \\ H_{2,1} \\ H_{2,2} \\ \vdots \\ H_{2,k} \end{bmatrix}; \bar{J} = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1} J_1 & J_{2,1} & J_{2,2} & \dots & J_{2,k} \\ \gamma^{-1} K_1 & L_{1,1} & L_{1,2} & \dots & L_{1,k} \\ \gamma^{-1} K_2 & L_{2,1} & L_{2,2} & \dots & L_{2,k} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \gamma^{-1} K_k & L_{k,1} & L_{k,2} & \dots & L_{k,k} \end{bmatrix}$$
$$\bar{G}_1 = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1} G_1 & G_{2,1} & G_{2,2} & \dots & G_{2,k} \end{bmatrix}.$$
(7.52)

For the system (7.51), the relationship between the uncertainty input  $\xi_j(t)$  and output  $\zeta_j(t)$  are represented by an unknown linear system as follows:

$$\dot{\mathfrak{p}}_{j}(t) = \mathfrak{A}_{j}\mathfrak{p}_{j}(t) + \mathfrak{B}_{j}\zeta_{j}(t);$$
  

$$\xi_{j}(t) = \mathfrak{C}_{j}\mathfrak{p}_{j}(t) + \mathfrak{D}_{j}\zeta_{j}(t)$$
(7.53)

with  $\mathfrak{A}_j$  Hurwitz and transfer function matrix

$$\mathfrak{U}_{j}(s) = \mathfrak{C}_{j} \left( sI - \mathfrak{A}_{j} \right)^{-1} \mathfrak{B}_{j} + \mathfrak{D}_{j}$$

$$(7.54)$$

which is required to satisfy

$$\|\mathfrak{U}_j(s)\|_{\infty} \le 1 \tag{7.55}$$

for all j = 1, 2, ..., k.

It then follows from (7.49) that

$$\left\|\bar{\mathcal{T}}\bar{\mathcal{P}}\bar{\mathcal{T}}^{-1}\phi(t)\right\|_{2}^{2} \le (1-\delta)\left\|\phi(t)\right\|_{2}^{2}$$
(7.56)

for any  $\phi(t) \in L_2[0,\infty)$  and some  $\delta > 0$ . Furthermore, we can rewrite (7.56) as

$$\|\bar{\mathcal{T}}\bar{\mathcal{P}}\psi(t)\|_{2}^{2} \leq (1-\delta) \|\bar{\mathcal{T}}\psi(t)\|_{2}^{2}$$
 (7.57)

or equivalently

$$\left\|\bar{\mathcal{T}}\bar{\mathcal{P}}\psi(t)\right\|_{2}^{2} - \left\|\bar{\mathcal{T}}\psi(t)\right\|_{2}^{2} \le -\delta \left\|\bar{\mathcal{T}}\psi(t)\right\|_{2}^{2}$$
(7.58)

where  $\psi(t) := \overline{\mathcal{T}}^{-1}\phi(t), \ \psi(t) \in L_2[0,\infty)$ . From (7.58), we obtain that

$$\left\langle \psi(t), \left( \bar{\mathcal{P}}^{\dagger} \bar{\mathcal{T}}^{\dagger} \bar{\mathcal{T}} \bar{\mathcal{P}} - \bar{\mathcal{T}}^{\dagger} \bar{\mathcal{T}} \right) \psi(t) \right\rangle < 0$$
 (7.59)

where  $\langle f, g \rangle$  denotes the inner product  $\int_0^\infty f(t)^{\dagger} g(t) dt$  for  $f(\cdot), g(\cdot) \in L_2[0, \infty)$ ; and thus,

$$\bar{\mathcal{P}}^{\dagger}\bar{\mathcal{T}}^{\dagger}\bar{\mathcal{T}}\bar{\mathcal{P}} - \bar{\mathcal{T}}^{\dagger}\bar{\mathcal{T}} < 0.$$
(7.60)

Now, we define

$$\bar{\mathcal{T}}^{\dagger}\bar{\mathcal{T}} := \begin{bmatrix} I & 0\\ 0 & \mathcal{T} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \mathcal{T} := \begin{bmatrix} \tau_1 & \cdots & 0\\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots\\ 0 & \cdots & \tau_k \end{bmatrix}$$
(7.61)

and for some  $\epsilon > 0$ , (7.60) leads to

$$0 \ge \bar{\mathcal{P}}^{\dagger} \begin{bmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & \mathcal{T} \end{bmatrix} \bar{\mathcal{P}} - \begin{bmatrix} (1-\epsilon)I & 0 \\ 0 & \mathcal{T} \end{bmatrix}$$
(7.62)

which implies that

$$0 \geq \left\langle \begin{bmatrix} \gamma w(t) \\ \xi(t) \end{bmatrix}, \bar{\mathcal{P}}^{\dagger} \begin{bmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & \mathcal{T} \end{bmatrix} \bar{\mathcal{P}} \begin{bmatrix} \gamma w(t) \\ \xi(t) \end{bmatrix} \right\rangle$$
$$- \left\langle \begin{bmatrix} \gamma w(t) \\ \xi(t) \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} (1-\epsilon)I & 0 \\ 0 & \mathcal{T} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \gamma w(t) \\ \xi(t) \end{bmatrix} \right\rangle$$
$$= \left\langle \begin{bmatrix} z(t) \\ \zeta(t) \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} I & 0 \\ 0 & \mathcal{T} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} z(t) \\ \zeta(t) \end{bmatrix} \right\rangle - \left\langle \begin{bmatrix} \gamma w(t) \\ \xi(t) \end{bmatrix}, \begin{bmatrix} (1-\epsilon)I & 0 \\ 0 & \mathcal{T} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} \gamma w(t) \\ \xi(t) \end{bmatrix} \right\rangle$$
$$= \|z(t)\|_{2}^{2} + \langle \zeta(t), \mathcal{T}\zeta(t) \rangle - (1-\epsilon) \|\gamma w(t)\|_{2}^{2} - \langle \xi(t), \mathcal{T}\xi(t) \rangle$$
$$= \|z(t)\|_{2}^{2} - \gamma^{2}(1-\epsilon) \|w(t)\|_{2}^{2} + \sum_{j=1}^{k} \tau_{j} \left( \|\zeta(t)\|_{2}^{2} - \|\xi(t)\|_{2}^{2} \right)$$
(7.63)

where

$$\xi(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \xi_1(t) \\ \vdots \\ \xi_k(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \zeta(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \zeta_1(t) \\ \vdots \\ \zeta_k(t) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(7.64)

Since (7.55) is satisfied, (7.63) results in

$$0 \ge ||z(t)||_{2}^{2} - \gamma^{2}(1-\epsilon) ||w(t)||_{2}^{2}$$
  
>  $||z(t)||_{2}^{2} - \gamma^{2} ||w(t)||_{2}^{2}$  (7.65)

which implies that

$$\left\| H_1 \left( sI - F \right)^{-1} G_1 + J_1 \right\|_{\infty} < 1.$$
(7.66)

Using Lemma 7.6, we conclude that the uncertain quantum system (7.42), (7.43), (7.44), (7.45) is strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ .

### 7.4.1 Artificial uncertain quantum system

Prior to forming an artificial uncertain quantum system based on the original uncertain quantum system (7.25), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32), we need to construct a matrix K such that  $(F + G_2K)$  is Hurwitz and the uncertain quantum system

$$da(t) = (F + G_2 K) a(t) dt + G_0 dv(t) + G_1 dw(t) + \sum_{j=1}^k G_{3,j} d\xi_j(t); a(0) = a_0;$$
  

$$dz(t) = (H_1 + J_{12} K) a(t) dt;$$
  

$$d\zeta_1(t) = (L_1 + M_1 K) a(t) dt;$$
  

$$\vdots$$
  

$$d\zeta_k(t) = (L_k + M_k K) a(t) dt;$$
  

$$dy(t) = H_2 a(t) dt + J_{20} dv(t) + J_{21} dw(t)$$
  
(7.67)

with (7.30), (7.31), (7.32) is strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ . This requirement is satisfied under a condition, which is dependent on the existence of a solution to a parameterized algebraic Riccati equation defined as follows: Let  $\kappa_1 > 0, \ldots, \kappa_k > 0$  be given constants and consider a complex

algebraic Riccati equation

$$\left( F - G_2 E_1^{-1} \bar{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \bar{H}_1 \right)^{\dagger} X + X \left( F - G_2 E_1^{-1} \bar{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \bar{H}_1 \right) + X \left( \bar{G}_1 \bar{G}_1^{\dagger} - G_2 E_1^{-1} G_2^{\dagger} \right) X + \bar{H}_1^{\dagger} \left( I - \bar{J}_{12} E_1^{-1} \bar{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \right) \bar{H}_1 = 0$$
 (7.68)

where

$$\bar{G}_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1} G_{1} & \sqrt{\kappa_{1}}^{-1} G_{3,1} & \cdots & \sqrt{\kappa_{k}}^{-1} G_{3,k} \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\bar{H}_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} H_{1} \\ \sqrt{\kappa_{1}} L_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\kappa_{k}} L_{1} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{J}_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} J_{12} \\ \sqrt{\kappa_{1}} M_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\kappa_{k}} M_{k} \end{bmatrix}; \quad E_{1} = \bar{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \bar{J}_{12}.$$
(7.69)

Assumption 7.1. Given constants  $\kappa_1 > 0, \ldots, \kappa_k > 0$ , the uncertain quantum system (7.25), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32) is assumed to be such that  $E_1 > 0$ .

**Lemma 7.9.** Let  $\kappa_1 > 0, \ldots, \kappa_k > 0$  be given constants. Suppose that the uncertain quantum system (7.25), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32) is such that Assumption 7.1 is satisfied and the complex algebraic Riccati equation (7.68) has a stabilizing solution  $X \ge 0$ . Then, there exists a matrix K such that the uncertain quantum system (7.67), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32) is strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ . That is,  $(F + G_2K)$  is Hurwitz and

$$\|(H_1 + J_{12}K)(sI - (F + G_2K))^{-1}G_1\|_{\infty} < \gamma$$
(7.70)

where

$$K = -E_1^{-1} \left( G_2^{\dagger} X + \bar{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \bar{H}_1 \right).$$
 (7.71)

**Proof.** Consider the uncertain quantum system (7.25), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32) and let  $\kappa_1 > 0, \ldots, \kappa_k > 0$  be given constants. Also, suppose that the scaled quantum system

$$da(t) = F a(t)dt + G_0 dv(t) + \bar{G}_1 d\bar{w}(t) + G_2 du(t);$$
  

$$d\bar{z}(t) = \bar{H}_1 a(t)dt + \bar{J}_{12} du(t)$$
(7.72)

is such that Assumption 7.1 is satisfied and the complex algebraic Riccati equation

(7.68) has a stabilizing solution  $X \ge 0$ . Then, we let  $K = -E_1^{-1}(G_2^{\dagger}X + \bar{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\bar{H}_1)$  be such that

$$da(t) = (F + G_2 K) a(t) dt + G_0 dv(t) + \bar{G}_1 d\bar{w}(t);$$
  

$$d\bar{z}(t) = (\bar{H}_1 + \bar{J}_{12} K) a(t) dt$$
(7.73)

is strict bounded real with  $(F + G_2 K)$  Hurwitz and

$$\|(\bar{H}_1 + \bar{J}_{12}K)(sI - (F + G_2K))^{-1}\bar{G}_1\|_{\infty} < 1.$$
(7.74)

Moreover,  $X \ge 0$  is also a stabilizing solution to the following complex algebraic Riccati equation

$$(F+G_2K)^{\dagger}X + X(F+G_2K) + XG_1G_1^{\dagger}X + (H_1+J_{12}K)^{\dagger}(H_1+J_{12}K) = 0.$$
(7.75)

It then follows from Lemma 7.6 that there exists a matrix P > 0 such that

$$(F+G_2K)^{\dagger}P + P(F+G_2K) + PG_1G_1^{\dagger}P + (H_1+J_{12}K)^{\dagger}(H_1+J_{12}K) < 0 \quad (7.76)$$

where X < P. Thus, together with Lemma 7.8, we conclude that the uncertain quantum system (7.67), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32) is strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ .

Using the matrix K as described in (7.71) and introducing additional uncertainty input  $d\xi_{k+1}(t)$  and uncertainty output  $d\zeta_{k+1}(t)$ , we form an artificial uncertain quantum system as follows: (see [8])

$$da(t) = \tilde{F} a(t) dt + G_0 dv(t) + \tilde{G}_1 d\tilde{w}(t) + \tilde{G}_2 du(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{k+1} G_{3,j} d\xi_j(t);$$
  

$$d\tilde{z}(t) = \tilde{H}_1 a(t) dt + \tilde{J}_{12} du(t) + N_0 d\xi_{k+1}(t);$$
  

$$d\zeta_1(t) = \tilde{L}_1 a(t) dt + \tilde{M}_1 du(t) + N_1 d\xi_{k+1}(t);$$
  

$$\vdots$$
  

$$d\zeta_k(t) = \tilde{L}_k a(t) dt + \tilde{M}_k du(t) + N_k d\xi_{k+1}(t);$$
  

$$d\zeta_{k+1}(t) = \tilde{L}_{k+1} a(t) dt + \tilde{M}_{k+1} du(t) + P d\tilde{w}(t);$$
  

$$dy(t) = \tilde{H}_2 a(t) dt + J_{20} dv(t) + \tilde{J}_{21} d\tilde{w}(t) + N_{k+1} d\xi_{k+1}(t)$$
(7.77)

where  $a(0) = a_0$ ;  $d\tilde{w}(t) = \tilde{\beta}_w(t) dt + d\tilde{\nu}(t)$ ;

$$\begin{split} d\tilde{w}(t) &= \begin{bmatrix} dw_1(t) \\ dw_2(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad d\tilde{z}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} dz_1(t) \\ dz_2(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{F} = F + \frac{1}{2}G_2K; \\ \tilde{G}_1 &= \begin{bmatrix} G_1 & 0 \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{G}_2 = \frac{1}{2}G_2; \quad G_{3,k+1} = \begin{bmatrix} G_2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} R^{-1}; \\ \tilde{H}_1 &= \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} H_1 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{J}_{12} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} J_{12} \\ \gamma I \end{bmatrix}; \quad N_0 = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -I & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I & 0 \end{bmatrix} R^{-1}; \\ \tilde{L}_1 &= L_1 + \frac{1}{2}M_1K; \quad \tilde{M}_1 = \frac{1}{2}M_1; \quad N_1 = \begin{bmatrix} M_1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} R^{-1}; \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \tilde{L}_k &= L_k + \frac{1}{2}M_kK; \quad \tilde{M}_k = \frac{1}{2}M_k; \quad N_k = \begin{bmatrix} M_k & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} R^{-1}; \\ \tilde{L}_{k+1} &= \frac{1}{2}R \begin{bmatrix} K \\ H_1 \\ 0 \\ H_2 \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{M}_{k+1} = \frac{1}{2}R \begin{bmatrix} -I \\ J_{12} \\ \gamma I \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}; \quad P = \frac{1}{2}R \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ J_{21} & -I \end{bmatrix}; \\ \tilde{H}_2 &= \frac{1}{2}H_2; \quad \tilde{J}_{21} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} J_{21} & I \end{bmatrix}; \quad N_{k+1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & -I \end{bmatrix} R^{-1}. \end{split}$$

$$(7.78)$$

Note that R is any  $n_r \times n_r$  non-singular scaling matrix, where  $n_r = 2n_u + n_z + n_y$ ;  $w_2$  and  $z_2$  have the same dimensions as those of y and u, respectively.

In (7.77), the uncertainty input  $d\xi_j(t)$  is related to the uncertainty output  $d\zeta_j(t)$  according to (7.30) for j = 1, 2, ..., k. Also, the additional uncertainty input  $d\xi_{k+1}(t)$  is related to the additional uncertainty output  $d\zeta_{k+1}(t)$  according to

$$d\xi_{k+1}(t) = \Delta_{k+1} \, d\zeta_{k+1}(t) \tag{7.79}$$

where  $\Delta_{k+1} \in \mathbf{R}$  is a real unknown scalar uncertain parameter satisfying  $|\Delta_{k+1}| \leq 1$ . Moreover, the  $H^{\infty}$  control objective for the artificial uncertain quantum system (7.77), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32), (7.79) is as follows:

$$\int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \tilde{z}(s)^{\dagger} \tilde{z}(s) + \tilde{z}(s)^{T} \tilde{z}(s)^{*} + \varepsilon \left( \eta(s)^{\dagger} \eta(s) + \eta(s)^{T} \eta(s)^{*} \right) \right\rangle ds$$

$$\leq (1 - \varepsilon^{2}) \int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \tilde{\beta}_{w}(s)^{\dagger} \tilde{\beta}_{w}(s) + \tilde{\beta}_{w}(s)^{T} \tilde{\beta}_{w}(s)^{*} \right\rangle ds + \pi_{1} + \pi_{2}t \qquad (7.80)$$

where  $\varepsilon, \pi_1, \pi_2 > 0$  are real constants.

Now, we consider two special cases for  $\Delta_{k+1}$  to verify that any suitable coherent quantum controller of the form (7.33) for the artificial uncertain quantum system (7.77), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32), (7.79) is indeed stable and strict bounded real, and solves the original quantum control problem.

**Special case I:**  $\Delta_{k+1} = 1$ . With this value of  $\Delta_{k+1}$ , it immediately follows that the QSDEs (7.77) become

$$da(t) = (F + G_2 K) a(t) dt + G_0 dv(t) + G_1 dw_1(t) + \sum_{j=1}^k G_{3,j} d\xi_j(t); a(0) = a_0;$$
  

$$dz_1(t) = 0;$$
  

$$dz_2(t) = \gamma du(t);$$
  

$$d\zeta_1(t) = (L_1 + M_1 K) a(t) dt;$$
  

$$\vdots$$
  

$$d\zeta_k(t) = (L_k + M_k K) a(t) dt;$$
  

$$dy(t) = J_{20} dv(t) + dw_2(t)$$
  
(7.81)

with (7.30), (7.31), (7.32). We notice that the uncertain quantum system (7.81), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32) is the same as the uncertain quantum system (7.67), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32). Hence, the uncertain quantum system (7.81), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32) is strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$  according to the construction of the matrix K in (7.71) and Lemma 7.9. It is apparent from the QSDEs (7.81) that the control input u(t) does not affect the quantum plant, but only affects the controlled output  $z_2(t)$ . Also, the measurement output y(t) is not affected by the quantum plant but is only affected by the disturbance input  $w_2(t)$  and the quantum noise v(t). This situation is shown in Figure 7.1(a) where the coherent quantum controller  $\Sigma_c$  of the form (7.33) is detached from the uncertain quantum system ( $\widetilde{\Sigma}_a, \Delta(\cdot)$ ) defined by (7.81), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32). It thus follows from the block diagram in Figure 7.1(a) and the closed loop  $H^{\infty}$ control objective (7.80) that the coherent quantum controller  $\Sigma_c$  must be stable and strict bounded real.

Special case II:  $\Delta_{k+1} = -1$ . It is straightforward to show that with this value of  $\Delta_{k+1}$ , the QSDEs (7.77) reduce to the original QSDEs (7.25) with (7.30), (7.31), (7.32). Thus, if the coherent quantum controller  $\Sigma_c$  of the form (7.33) is



Figure 7.1: Block diagrams corresponding to special cases I and II; see [8].

applied to the artificial uncertain quantum system (7.77), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32), (7.79), we will obtain a closed loop uncertain quantum system as shown in Figure 7.1(b) where  $(\Sigma_a, \Delta(\cdot))$  corresponds to the original uncertain quantum system (7.25), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32). This implies that the coherent quantum controller of the form (7.33) indeed solves the original quantum control problem where the closed loop uncertain quantum system (7.38), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32) is required to be strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ .

From both cases, we conclude that if there exists a suitable coherent quantum controller of the form (7.33), which stabilizes the artificial uncertain quantum system (7.77), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32), (7.79) such that the resulting closed loop uncertain quantum system is strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ , then this quantum controller also provides the same closed loop properties when it is applied to the original uncertain quantum system (7.25), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32). Also, the quantum controller itself must be stable and strict bounded real.

## 7.4.2 Strict bounded real quantum $H^{\infty}$ controller

Along with the results in [73], we use the approach of robust  $H^{\infty}$  control theory presented in [187] and Lemma 7.8 to synthesize a coherent quantum controller of the form (7.33) for the artificial uncertain quantum system (7.77), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32), (7.79). To proceed with this approach, we need to introduce scaling constants  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_{k+1} > 0$  so that we can rewrite the QSDEs (7.77) of the artificial uncertain quantum system as follows:

$$da(t) = \tilde{F} a(t) dt + G_0 dv(t) + \check{G}_1 d\check{w}(t) + \check{G}_2 du(t); \quad a(0) = a_0;$$
  

$$d\check{z}(t) = \check{H}_1 a(t) dt + \check{N} d\check{w}(t) + \check{J}_{12} du(t);$$
  

$$dy(t) = \tilde{H}_2 a(t) dt + J_{20} dv(t) + \check{J}_{21} d\check{w}(t)$$
(7.82)

where  $d\check{w}(t) = \check{\beta}_w(t) dt + d\check{\nu}(t);$ 

$$\check{G}_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1} \, \tilde{G}_{1} & \sqrt{\tau_{1}}^{-1} G_{3,1} & \cdots & \sqrt{\tau_{k+1}}^{-1} G_{3,k+1} \end{bmatrix}; \\
\check{J}_{21} = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1} \, \tilde{J}_{21} & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \sqrt{\tau_{k+1}}^{-1} N_{k+1} \end{bmatrix}; \\
d\check{w}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma \, d\check{w}(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_{1}} \, d\xi_{1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\tau_{k+1}} \, d\xi_{k+1}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \, d\check{z}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} d\check{z}(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_{1}} \, d\zeta_{1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\tau_{k+1}} \, d\zeta_{k+1}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \, \check{H}_{1}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{H}_{1} \\ \sqrt{\tau_{1}} \, \tilde{L}_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\tau_{k+1}} \, \tilde{L}_{k+1} \end{bmatrix}; \\
\check{J}_{12}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \tilde{J}_{12} \\ \sqrt{\tau_{1}} \, \tilde{M}_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\tau_{k+1}} \, \tilde{M}_{k+1} \end{bmatrix}; \, \check{N} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \sqrt{\tau_{k+1}}^{-1} N_{0} \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \sqrt{\frac{\tau_{k}}{\tau_{k+1}}} \, N_{1} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \sqrt{\frac{\tau_{k}}{\tau_{k+1}}} \, N_{k} \\ \gamma^{-1} \sqrt{\tau_{k+1}} \, P & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}. \quad (7.83)$$

The  $H^{\infty}$  control objective corresponding to the quantum system (7.82) is

$$\int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \check{z}(s)^{\dagger}\check{z}(s) + \check{z}(s)^{T}\check{z}(s)^{*} + \varepsilon \left( \eta(s)^{\dagger}\eta(s) + \eta(s)^{T}\eta(s)^{*} \right) \right\rangle ds$$

$$\leq (1 - \varepsilon^{2}) \int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \check{\beta}_{w}(s)^{\dagger}\check{\beta}_{w}(s) + \check{\beta}_{w}(s)^{T}\check{\beta}_{w}(s)^{*} \right\rangle ds + \pi_{1} + \pi_{2}t \qquad (7.84)$$

where  $\varepsilon, \pi_1, \pi_2 > 0$  are real constants. Since an  $\check{N}$ -term in (7.82) leads to a non-standard  $H^{\infty}$  control problem, we apply a loop shifting transformation to eliminate this term; e.g., see [16, Sections 4.5.1 and 5.5.1] and [18, Section 17.2]. This can be done by first imposing the following assumption:

Assumption 7.2. Given constants  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_{k+1} > 0$  and any non-singular scaling matrix R, the uncertain quantum system (7.77), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32), (7.79) is assumed to be such that  $\check{N}\check{N}^{\dagger} < I$ .

Then, we can define

$$\Phi := I - \check{N}^{\dagger} \check{N} > 0; \quad \check{\Phi} := I - \check{N} \check{N}^{\dagger} > 0 \tag{7.85}$$

and also

$$d\hat{w}(t) := \Phi^{\frac{1}{2}} d\check{w}(t) - \Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}} \check{N}^{\dagger} \left[ \check{H}_{1} a(t) dt + \check{J}_{12} du(t) \right];$$
  
$$d\hat{z}(t) := \check{\Phi}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left[ \check{H}_{1} a(t) dt + \check{J}_{12} du(t) \right].$$
(7.86)

From (7.86), it is straightforward to verify that

$$d\check{w}(t) = \Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}} d\hat{w}(t) + \Phi^{-1} \check{N}^{\dagger} \left[ \check{H}_{1} a(t) dt + \check{J}_{12} du(t) \right];$$
  
$$\|\check{w}(t)\|_{2}^{2} - \|\check{z}(t)\|_{2}^{2} \equiv \|\hat{w}(t)\|_{2}^{2} - \|\hat{z}(t)\|_{2}^{2}.$$
 (7.87)

Now, we can rewrite the QSDEs (7.82) as

$$da(t) = \hat{F} a(t)dt + G_0 dv(t) + \hat{G}_1 d\hat{w}(t) + \hat{G}_2 du(t); \quad a(0) = a_0;$$
  

$$d\hat{z}(t) = \hat{H}_1 a(t)dt + \hat{J}_{12} du(t);$$
  

$$dy(t) = \hat{H}_2 a(t)dt + J_{20} dv(t) + \hat{J}_{21} d\hat{w}(t) + \hat{J}_{22} du(t)$$
(7.88)

where  $d\hat{w}(t) = \hat{\beta}_w(t)dt + d\hat{\nu}(t);$ 

$$\hat{F} = \tilde{F} + \check{G}_{1}\check{N}^{\dagger}\check{\Phi}^{-1}\check{H}_{1}; \qquad \hat{G}_{1} = \check{G}_{1}\Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}}; 
\hat{G}_{2} = \tilde{G}_{2} + \check{G}_{1}\check{N}^{\dagger}\check{\Phi}^{-1}\check{J}_{12}; \qquad \hat{H}_{1} = \check{\Phi}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\check{H}_{1}; 
\hat{H}_{2} = \tilde{H}_{2} + \check{J}_{21}\check{N}^{\dagger}\check{\Phi}^{-1}\check{H}_{1}; \qquad \hat{J}_{12} = \check{\Phi}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\check{J}_{12}; 
\hat{J}_{22} = \check{J}_{21}\check{N}^{\dagger}\check{\Phi}^{-1}\check{J}_{12}; \qquad \hat{J}_{21} = \check{J}_{21}\Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(7.89)

Furthermore, we also define

$$d\hat{y}(t) := dy(t) - \hat{J}_{22} \, du(t) \tag{7.90}$$

and substituting (7.90) into (7.88), we obtain

$$da(t) = \hat{F} a(t)dt + G_0 dv(t) + \hat{G}_1 d\hat{w}(t) + \hat{G}_2 du(t); \quad a(0) = a_0;$$
  

$$d\hat{z}(t) = \hat{H}_1 a(t)dt + \hat{J}_{12} du(t);$$
  

$$d\hat{y}(t) = \hat{H}_2 a(t)dt + J_{20} dv(t) + \hat{J}_{21} d\hat{w}(t).$$
(7.91)

The  $H^{\infty}$  control objective corresponding to the quantum system (7.91) is

$$\int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \hat{z}(s)^{\dagger} \hat{z}(s) + \hat{z}(s)^{T} \hat{z}(s)^{*} + \varepsilon \left( \eta(s)^{\dagger} \eta(s) + \eta(s)^{T} \eta(s)^{*} \right) \right\rangle ds$$

$$\leq (1 - \varepsilon^{2}) \int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \hat{\beta}_{w}(s)^{\dagger} \hat{\beta}_{w}(s) + \hat{\beta}_{w}(s)^{T} \hat{\beta}_{w}(s)^{*} \right\rangle ds + \pi_{1} + \pi_{2}t \qquad (7.92)$$

where  $\varepsilon, \pi_1, \pi_2 > 0$  are real constants.

The solution to the coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  control problem for the linear quantum system (7.91) is given in terms of solutions to the parameterized complex algebraic Riccati equations:

$$\left( \hat{F} - \hat{G}_{2} \hat{E}_{1}^{-1} \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \hat{H}_{1} \right)^{\dagger} \hat{X} + \hat{X} \left( \hat{F} - \hat{G}_{2} \hat{E}_{1}^{-1} \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \hat{H}_{1} \right) + \hat{X} \left( \hat{G}_{1} \hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger} - \hat{G}_{2} \hat{E}_{1}^{-1} \hat{G}_{2}^{\dagger} \right) \hat{X} + \hat{H}_{1}^{\dagger} \left( I - \hat{J}_{12} \hat{E}_{1}^{-1} \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \right) \hat{H}_{1} = 0; \left( \hat{F} - \hat{G}_{1} \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_{2}^{-1} \hat{H}_{2} \right) \hat{Y} + \hat{Y} \left( \hat{F} - \hat{G}_{1} \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_{2}^{-1} \hat{H}_{2} \right)^{\dagger} + \hat{Y} \left( \hat{H}_{1}^{\dagger} \hat{H}_{1} - \hat{H}_{2}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_{2}^{-1} \hat{H}_{2} \right) \hat{Y} + \hat{G}_{1} \left( I - \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_{2}^{-1} \hat{J}_{21} \right) \hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger} = 0$$
(7.93)

such that the following conditions hold:

- 1.  $\hat{F} \hat{G}_2 \hat{E}_1^{-1} \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \hat{H}_1 + \left( \hat{G}_1 \hat{G}_1^{\dagger} \hat{G}_2 \hat{E}_1^{-1} \hat{G}_2^{\dagger} \right) \hat{X}$  is Hurwitz; 2.  $\hat{F} - \hat{G}_1 \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_2^{-1} \hat{H}_2 + \hat{Y} \left( \hat{H}_1^{\dagger} \hat{H}_1 - \hat{H}_2^{\dagger} \hat{E}_2^{-1} \hat{H}_2 \right)$  is Hurwitz;
- 3. The spectral radius  $\rho(\hat{X}\hat{Y})$  of matrix  $\hat{X}\hat{Y}$  is strictly less than one.

To obtain the solutions to the Riccati equations (7.93), we require the following assumption to be satisfied.

Assumption 7.3. Given constants  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_{k+1} > 0$  and any non-singular scaling matrix R, the uncertain quantum system (7.77), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32), (7.79) is assumed to be such that

- 1.  $\hat{E}_1 = \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \hat{J}_{12} > 0;$
- 2.  $\hat{E}_2 = \hat{J}_{21}\hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger} > 0.$

**Theorem 7.1.** Suppose that there exist constants  $\kappa_1 > 0, \ldots, \kappa_k > 0$  satisfying Assumption 7.1 such that the complex algebraic Riccati equation (7.68) has a stabilizing solution  $X \ge 0$  and let

$$K = -E_1^{-1} \left( G_2^{\dagger} X + \bar{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \bar{H}_1 \right).$$

Also, suppose that there exist a non-singular scaling matrix R and constants  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_{k+1} > 0$  satisfying Assumption 7.2 and Assumption 7.3 such that the complex algebraic Riccati equations (7.93) have stabilizing solutions  $\hat{X} \ge 0$  and  $\hat{Y} \ge 0$  such that the spectral radius  $\rho(\hat{X}\hat{Y}) < 1$ . Then the closed loop uncertain quantum system obtained by applying the coherent quantum controller (7.33) with

$$F_{c} = \hat{F}_{c} - G_{c}\hat{J}_{22}H_{c};$$

$$\hat{F}_{c} = \hat{F} + \hat{G}_{2}H_{c} - G_{c}\hat{H}_{2} + \left(\hat{G}_{1} - G_{c}\hat{J}_{21}\right)\hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger}\hat{X};$$

$$G_{c} = \left(I - \hat{Y}\hat{X}\right)^{-1}\left(\hat{Y}\hat{H}_{2}^{\dagger} + \hat{G}_{1}\hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger}\right)\hat{E}_{2}^{-1};$$

$$H_{c} = -\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\left(\hat{G}_{2}^{\dagger}\hat{X} + \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1}\right)$$
(7.94)

to the uncertain quantum system (7.25), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32) is strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ .

**Proof.** It follows from loop shifting arguments in the classical  $H^{\infty}$  control theory (e.g., see [16, Sections 4.5.1 and 5.5.1] and [18, Section 17.2]) that the  $H^{\infty}$ quantum control problem (7.82), (7.84) has a solution if and only if the complex Riccati equations in (7.93) have stabilizing solutions  $\hat{X} \ge 0$  and  $\hat{Y} \ge 0$  such that  $\rho(\hat{X}\hat{Y}) < 1$ . Moreover, a coherent quantum controller of the form (7.33) (but not necessarily stable and strict bounded real), which solves the  $H^{\infty}$  quantum control problem (7.82), (7.84) is defined by (7.94).

Therefore, if the conditions of the theorem are satisfied, it follows from the arguments in the proofs of Theorem 4.1 in [187] and of Theorem 7.1 in [73] that the closed loop uncertain quantum system obtained by applying the coherent quantum controller (7.33), (7.94) to the artificial uncertain quantum system (7.77), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32), (7.79) is strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ . Moreover, it follows from the construction of the artificial uncertain quantum system (7.77), (7.32), (7.79) that the coherent quantum controller (7.33), (7.94) must be stable and satisfy condition (7.37). Thus, if this controller is applied to the original uncertain quantum system (7.25), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32), the resulting closed loop uncertain quantum system is also strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ .

**Remark 7.2.** Although the coherent quantum controller (7.33), (7.94) is guaranteed to be physically realizable, the additional uncertainty in the artificial uncertain quantum system (7.77), (7.30), (7.31), (7.32), (7.79) introduces some conservatism to the design process.

# 7.5 A Differential Evolution Approach

We recognize from Section 7.4 that the problem of designing a strict bounded real quantum controller (7.33) involves several parameter dependent nonlinear constraints. To find a solution to this problem, we propose to apply an evolutionary optimization method, namely the differential evolution (DE) algorithm, as given in Chapter 2. Thus, we reformulate the quantum controller design problem into an optimization problem, which is subject to nonconvex nonlinear constraints. The required parameters form a vector of decision variables defined as

$$\vartheta := \begin{bmatrix} \gamma & \kappa_1 & \cdots & \kappa_k & \tau_1 & \cdots & \tau_{k+1} \end{bmatrix}^T$$
(7.95)

where the dimension of  $\vartheta$  is 2(k+1) and each element of  $\vartheta$  is a positive real number. Then, the optimization problem can be stated as follows: Find an optimal solution  $\vartheta^*$  to solve

$$\min_{\vartheta} \mathsf{f}(\vartheta) \tag{7.96}$$

subject to

$$\mathsf{g}_{\mathsf{j}}(\vartheta) = 0; \quad \mathsf{h}_{\mathsf{k}}(\vartheta) \le 0 \tag{7.97}$$

for j = 1, 2, ..., a and k = 1, 2, ..., b. Here, a and b are the total number of equality and inequality constraints, respectively; and  $f(\vartheta)$  is an objective function to be minimized.

Since we deal with an  $H^{\infty}$  control problem, a suitable objective function is

$$\mathbf{f}(\vartheta) = \gamma^{\mathbf{n}} \tag{7.98}$$

where  $n \ge 1$  is a power constant. Referring to Section 7.4, we determine the

equality constraints as

$$g_{1}(\vartheta) = \left(F - G_{2}E_{1}^{-1}\bar{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\bar{H}_{1}\right)^{\dagger}X + X\left(F - G_{2}E_{1}^{-1}\bar{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\bar{H}_{1}\right) + X\left(\bar{G}_{1}\bar{G}_{1}^{\dagger} - G_{2}E_{1}^{-1}G_{2}^{\dagger}\right)X + \bar{H}_{1}^{\dagger}\left(I - \bar{J}_{12}E_{1}^{-1}\bar{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\right)\bar{H}_{1} = 0;$$

$$g_{2}(\vartheta) = \left(\hat{F} - \hat{G}_{2}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1}\right)^{\dagger}\hat{X} + \hat{X}\left(\hat{F} - \hat{G}_{2}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1}\right) + \hat{X}\left(\hat{G}_{1}\hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger} - \hat{G}_{2}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{G}_{2}^{\dagger}\right)\hat{X} + \hat{H}_{1}^{\dagger}\left(I - \hat{J}_{12}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\right)\hat{H}_{1} = 0;$$

$$g_{3}(\vartheta) = \left(\hat{F} - \hat{G}_{1}\hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{H}_{2}\right)\hat{Y} + \hat{Y}\left(\hat{F} - \hat{G}_{1}\hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{H}_{2}\right)^{\dagger} + \hat{Y}\left(\hat{H}_{1}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1} - \hat{H}_{2}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{H}_{2}\right)\hat{Y} + \hat{G}_{1}\left(I - \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{J}_{21}\right)\hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger} = 0$$
(7.99)

and the inequality constraints as

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{h}_{1}(\vartheta) &= -E_{1} < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{2}(\vartheta) = -X < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{3}(\vartheta) &= \check{N}\check{N}^{\dagger} - I < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{4}(\vartheta) = -\hat{E}_{1} < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{5}(\vartheta) &= -\hat{E}_{2} < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{6}(\vartheta) = -\hat{X} < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{7}(\vartheta) &= -\hat{Y} < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{8}(\vartheta) = \rho\left(\hat{X}\hat{Y}\right) - 1 < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{9}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r}\left(\mathcal{A}_{X}\right) < 0; & \mathbf{h}_{10}(\vartheta) = e_{\max,r}\left(\mathcal{A}_{\hat{X}}\right) < 0; \\ \mathbf{h}_{11}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r}\left(\mathcal{A}_{\hat{Y}}\right) < 0. \end{split}$$
(7.100)

Note that  $\rho(\mathcal{M})$  and  $e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{M})$  denote the spectral radius and the largest real part of the eigenvalues of the matrix  $\mathcal{M}$ , respectively. Moreover, we define  $\mathcal{A}_X$ ,  $\mathcal{A}_{\hat{X}}$  and  $\mathcal{A}_{\hat{Y}}$  as follows:

$$\mathcal{A}_{X} := F - G_{2}E_{1}^{-1}\bar{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\bar{H}_{1} + \left(\bar{G}_{1}\bar{G}_{1}^{\dagger} - G_{2}E_{1}^{-1}G_{2}^{\dagger}\right)X;$$
  
$$\mathcal{A}_{\hat{X}} := \hat{F} - \hat{G}_{2}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1} + \left(\hat{G}_{1}\hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger} - \hat{G}_{2}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{G}_{2}^{\dagger}\right)\hat{X};$$
  
$$\mathcal{A}_{\hat{Y}} := \hat{F} - \hat{G}_{1}\hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{H}_{2} + \hat{Y}\left(\hat{H}_{1}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1} - \hat{H}_{2}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{H}_{2}\right).$$
(7.101)

We employ the equality and inequality constraints defined in (7.99) and (7.100) to examine the fitness of each candidate solution  $\vartheta$ . Thus, the fitness evaluation proceeds as follows:

- 1. Compute the eigenvalues of  $E_1$  to verify if  $h_1(\vartheta)$  is satisfied.
- 2. Evaluate  $g_1(\vartheta)$  to obtain a solution X to the Riccati equation in (7.68).

- 3. Verify if X is a stabilizing positive definite solution through the evaluation of  $h_2(\vartheta)$  and  $h_9(\vartheta)$ .
- 4. Compute the eigenvalues of  $(\check{N}\check{N}^{\dagger} I)$ ,  $\hat{E}_1$  and  $\hat{E}_2$  to verify if  $h_3(\vartheta)$ ,  $h_4(\vartheta)$  and  $h_5(\vartheta)$  are satisfied.
- 5. Evaluate  $\mathbf{g}_2(\vartheta)$  and  $\mathbf{g}_3(\vartheta)$  to obtain solutions  $\hat{X}$  and  $\hat{Y}$  to the Riccati equations in (7.93).
- 6. Verify if  $\hat{X}$  and  $\hat{Y}$  are stabilizing positive definite solutions through the evaluation of  $h_6(\vartheta)$ ,  $h_7(\vartheta)$ ,  $h_{10}(\vartheta)$  and  $h_{11}(\vartheta)$ .
- 7. Compute the spectral radius of the product  $\hat{X}\hat{Y}$  to verify if  $h_8(\vartheta)$  is satisfied.
- 8. Evaluate the objective function  $f(\vartheta)$  in (7.98).

Having the fitness test routine above, we also define a set of penalty functions corresponding to the violation of each constraint in (7.99) and (7.100). That is,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{p}_{1}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(E_{1})|^{\mathbf{s}_{1}}; & \mathbf{p}_{2}(\vartheta) &= \rho(\mathcal{C}_{X})^{\mathbf{s}_{2}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{3}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(X)|^{\mathbf{s}_{3}}; & \mathbf{p}_{4}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r} (\mathcal{A}_{X})^{\mathbf{s}_{4}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{5}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max}(\check{N}\check{N}^{\dagger} - I)^{\mathbf{s}_{5}}; & \mathbf{p}_{6}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(\hat{E}_{1})|^{\mathbf{s}_{6}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{7}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(\hat{E}_{2})|^{\mathbf{s}_{7}}; & \mathbf{p}_{8}(\vartheta) &= \rho(\mathcal{C}_{\hat{X}})^{\mathbf{s}_{8}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{9}(\vartheta) &= \rho(\mathcal{C}_{\hat{Y}})^{\mathbf{s}_{9}}; & \mathbf{p}_{10}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(\hat{X})|^{\mathbf{s}_{10}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{11}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(\hat{Y})|^{\mathbf{s}_{11}}; & \mathbf{p}_{12}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r} (\mathcal{A}_{\hat{X}})^{\mathbf{s}_{12}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{13}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r} (\mathcal{A}_{\hat{Y}})^{\mathbf{s}_{13}}; & \mathbf{p}_{14}(\vartheta) &= (\rho(\hat{X}\hat{Y}) - 1)^{\mathbf{s}_{14}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{15}(\vartheta) &= \mathbf{f}(\vartheta) \end{aligned}$$

$$(7.102)$$

where  $\mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{r}} \geq 1$  for  $\mathbf{r} = 1, 2, ..., 14$ . Here,  $e_{\min}(\mathcal{M})$  and  $e_{\max}(\mathcal{M})$  denote the smallest and the largest eigenvalue of a Hermitian matrix  $\mathcal{M}$ , respectively. If the matrix  $\mathcal{M}$  is required to be positive definite, we assign  $|e_{\min}(\mathcal{M})|^{\mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{r}}}$  as a penalty. This is because when this requirement is violated, the matrix  $\mathcal{M}$  can be either negative (semi)definite or indefinite. Moreover, we also define  $\mathcal{C}_X, \mathcal{C}_{\hat{X}}$  and  $\mathcal{C}_{\hat{Y}}$  as follows:

$$\mathcal{C}_{X} := \bar{H}_{1}^{\dagger} \left( I - \bar{J}_{12} E_{1}^{-1} \bar{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \right) \bar{H}_{1}; 
\mathcal{C}_{\hat{X}} := \hat{H}_{1}^{\dagger} \left( I - \hat{J}_{12} \hat{E}_{1}^{-1} \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \right) \hat{H}_{1}; 
\mathcal{C}_{\hat{Y}} := \hat{G}_{1} \left( I - \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_{2}^{-1} \hat{J}_{21} \right) \hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger}.$$
(7.103)

### 7.6 An Illustrative Example

To demonstrate the coherent quantum controller design method presented in Section 7.4, we consider an example of designing a strict bounded real coherent quantum controller for a first order optical cavity; see [70] and [73]. That is,

$$da(t) = -\frac{g}{2}a(t) dt - \sqrt{k_1} dv(t) - \sqrt{k_2} dw(t) - \sqrt{k_3} du(t);$$
  

$$dz(t) = \sqrt{k_3} a(t) dt + du(t);$$
  

$$dy(t) = \sqrt{k_2} a(t) dt + dw(t)$$
(7.104)

where  $k_1 = 2.25$ ,  $k_2 = 1.00$ ,  $k_3 = 1.00$  and  $g = k_1 + k_2 + k_3$ . We assume that the optical cavity (7.104) does not have an uncertainty term. If we follow the quantum controller design algorithms proposed in [70] and [73], we do not necessarily obtain a stable and strict bounded real coherent quantum controller. In particular, for this example, we have that  $k_1 > k_2 + k_3$ , but  $\sqrt{k_1} < \sqrt{k_2} + \sqrt{k_3}$ . This implies that the standard quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller will not be physically realizable as has been pointed out in the example of [73].

Applying the DE approach to solve this control problem, we obtain  $\gamma = 0.9132$ and  $\tau_1 = 1.6641$  (corresponding to an additional artificial uncertainty). Then, the coherent quantum controller is obtained as

$$F_c = -11.0014; \quad G_c = -0.0118; \quad H_c = -0.4566$$
 (7.105)

with the corresponding  $H^{\infty}$  norm

$$||H_c(sI - F_c)^{-1}G_c||_{\infty} = 0.0005.$$
(7.106)

Thus, it is clear that the coherent quantum controller (7.105) is physically realizable because it is stable and strict bounded real.

From Lemma 7.4, we know that there exists  $X_c > 0$  such that

$$F_c^{\dagger} X_c + X_c F_c + X_c G_c G_c^{\dagger} X_c + H_c^{\dagger} H_c = 0.$$
(7.107)

That is,  $X_c = 0.0095$ , which can be used to determine  $G_{c_0}$  and  $H_{c_2}$  as in (7.35).



Figure 7.2: Closed loop quantum system.

Thus, for the quantum controller (7.105), we have that

$$G_{c_0} := -X_c^{-1}H_c^{\dagger} = 48.1908; \quad H_{c_2} := -G_c^{\dagger}X_c = 0.0001 \tag{7.108}$$

such that the quantum controller is physically realizable (see Definition 7.6) and the conditions in (7.19) hold for J = I. Meanwhile, we set  $G_{c_1} = 0$  and  $H_{c_1} = 0$ as they are not required in the realization of a coherent quantum controller; see Remark 7.1.

Now, using (7.105) and (7.108), we can apply the algorithm presented in [77] to physically construct our coherent quantum controller as a generalized 2-mirror cavity because it has two inputs and two outputs. That is,

$$\bar{F}_c = -11.0014; \quad \bar{G}_c = \begin{bmatrix} 4.6907 & -0.0011 \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{H}_c = \begin{bmatrix} -4.6907 \\ 0.0011 \end{bmatrix}$$
(7.109)

which can be constructed using passive optical devices such as optical cavities, beam-splitters and phase shifters; see [77]. Interconnecting the coherent quantum controller (7.109) with the quantum system (7.104), we obtain a closed loop quantum system as shown in Figure 7.2 with  $k_{c_1} = (4.6907)^2$ ,  $k_{c_2} = (0.0011)^2$ and  $\bar{F}_c = -\frac{1}{2}(k_{c_1} + k_{c_2})$ .

# 7.7 Conclusions

We have presented a systematic method to synthesize a physically realizable coherent quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  controller for a class of linear complex quantum stochastic systems with norm-bounded structured uncertainties. The quantum controller is required to be stable and strict bounded real. The main idea of our approach is to introduce an additional uncertainty, which is a real unknown scalar uncertain parameter, in order to form an artificial uncertain quantum system, based on which the desired quantum controller is designed. However, the additional uncertainty introduces some additional conservatism to the controller design process.

As our method involves a particular additional uncertainty, we only provide a sufficient condition, which guarantees the resulting quantum controller to be physically realizable and solves the original quantum control problem. The aim of applying such a quantum controller to the open loop uncertain quantum system is to achieve a strict bounded real closed loop uncertain quantum system with a specified disturbance attenuation level. The solution to this quantum control problem is then given in terms of the stabilizing solutions to the parameterized complex algebraic Riccati equations. Also, through an example involving the control of a first order quantum optical cavity, we have shown that our method effectively leads to a strict bounded real coherent quantum controller as required.

# Chapter 8

# Decentralized Coherent Quantum Robust $H^{\infty}$ Control

## 8.1 Introduction

Extending the ideas in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5 to quantum feedback control systems, we present two systematic methods to synthesize decentralized quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  controllers for a large-scale uncertain quantum system. The decentralized quantum controllers are defined in terms of the stabilizing solutions to complex algebraic Riccati equations. In these methods, the structure of the quantum plant uncertainties is exploited by assigning a scaling constant for each one of them. We assume that each structured uncertainty is an unknown linear time-invariant complex quantum system, which satisfies a norm-bound condition. Moreover, the  $H^{\infty}$  control objective is to achieve a robustly stable closed loop uncertain quantum system with a specified disturbance attenuation level.

A large-scale system in real-world applications is naturally comprised of interconnected subsystems. To construct a decentralized feedback controller for this system, we often find that the interconnections between subsystems are simply considered as uncertainties in addition to the plant uncertainties; e.g., see [195, 212, 322]. However, in practice, we may have partial or full knowledge on the interconnections, and hence, in our approach, we do not treat them as uncertainties. This will allow us to exploit the interconnections in order to enhance the performance of the decentralized controller; e.g., see [166].

The main idea of our approach is to treat as additional uncertainties, the ne-

glected off-diagonal blocks of the transfer function matrix of a non-decentralized linear coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller; see [166]. To proceed with this idea, the non-decentralized quantum controller is required to be stable, which is immediately satisfied if the quantum controller is physically realizable; e.g., see [70,73]. Thus, the proposed methods lead to a physically realizable decentralized quantum controller, which is robust against both quantum plant uncertainties and the additional uncertainties.

Physical realizability is an essential concern when synthesizing a quantum controller as it has to exhibit meaningful dynamics according to quantum mechanical principles; e.g., see [70,72,73]. In the first method, we do not immediately obtain a physically realizable decentralized quantum controller and the physical realizability of the controller must be checked before it can be implemented. This is because a physical realizability condition is not directly included in the quantum controller design algorithm. On the other hand, the second method always leads to a physically realizable decentralized quantum controller as we force the controller to be stable and strict bounded real using the approach in Chapter 7. However, the latter method inevitably leads to a more conservative decentralized quantum controller due to the use of an artificial uncertainty to ensure the physical realizability of the controller. This method then involves more constraints and design parameters than the first method, and therefore, may need more computational time to solve the quantum control problem being considered.

Since scaling constants are introduced for all uncertainties, the decentralized quantum control problem we consider then involves nonconvex nonlinear constraints. It is often difficult to find an optimal solution to this problem in the presence of such constraints. Thus, to determine the required design parameters, we apply an evolutionary optimization method, namely the differential evolution (DE) algorithm, as presented in Chapter 2. This approach has also been used in the previous chapters. Two examples are presented to show that the DE approach is applicable to synthesize a decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller for a quantum optical system. In these examples, we also apply an algorithm in [77] to show that an *n*-th order decentralized quantum controller with *m* inputs can be physically constructed as a cascade of *n* generalized first order *m*-mirror optical cavities. This is an *m*-input-*m*-output interconnection, which consists only of passive optical devices such as optical cavities, beam splitters and phase shifters.

### 8.2 Problem Statement

In this section, we describe the decentralized quantum control problem under consideration along with the quantum  $H^{\infty}$  control objective. We also define the notion of physical realizability for a decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller and necessary notation for the controller synthesis algorithm presented in subsequent sections. As both complex and operator matrices are involved in our derivations, we then use the following notation:  $M = [m_{jk}], M^* = [m_{jk}^*], M^T = [m_{kj}]$  and  $M^{\dagger} = [m_{kj}^*] = (M^*)^T$  to denote the operations as explained in Section 6.1.

### 8.2.1 Uncertain linear complex quantum system

We are concerned with a class of large-scale linear complex quantum stochastic systems with structured uncertainties, which are described in terms of linear quantum stochastic differential equations (QSDEs) as follows:

$$da(t) = F a(t)dt + G_0 dv(t) + G_1 dw(t) + G_2 du(t) + \sum_{l=1}^k G_{3,l} d\xi_l(t); \ a(0) = a_0;$$
  

$$dz(t) = H_1 a(t)dt + J_{12} du(t);$$
  

$$d\zeta_1(t) = P_1 a(t)dt + Q_1 du(t);$$
  

$$\vdots$$
  

$$d\zeta_k(t) = P_k a(t)dt + Q_k du(t);$$
  

$$dy(t) = H_2 a(t)dt + J_{20} dv(t) + J_{21} dw(t)$$
(8.1)

where a is an  $n \times 1$  vector of the plant annihilation operators; v is an  $n_v \times 1$  vector of quantum noise; w is an  $n_w \times 1$  vector of disturbance inputs; u is an  $n_u \times 1$  vector of control inputs;  $\xi_l$  is an  $n_{q_l} \times 1$  vector of uncertainty inputs (for l = 1, 2, ..., k);  $\zeta_l$  is an  $n_{s_l} \times 1$  vector of uncertainty outputs (for l = 1, 2, ..., k); z is an  $n_z \times 1$ vector of controlled outputs; and y is an  $n_y \times 1$  vector of 'measurement' outputs. All the coefficient matrices in (8.1) are complex matrices, which have compatible dimensions corresponding to the dimensions of the operators and signals in (8.1); see [70, 72, 73].

The disturbance input w(t) and the control input u(t) in (8.1) are represented

respectively as follows:

$$dw(t) = \beta_w(t) dt + d\nu(t); \qquad (8.2)$$

$$du(t) = \beta_u(t) dt + d\mu(t) \tag{8.3}$$

where  $\beta_w(t)$  and  $\beta_u(t)$  are adapted processes; and  $d\nu(t)$  and  $d\mu(t)$  are the noise parts of (8.2) and (8.3). Meanwhile, dv(t) represents an additional quantum noise in the plant. The quantum noises dv(t),  $d\nu(t)$  and  $d\mu(t)$  have corresponding Hermitian Ito matrices  $F_v$ ,  $F_\nu$  and  $F_\mu$ , and Hermitian commutation matrices  $T_v$ ,  $T_\nu$  and  $T_\mu$ , which are assumed to be

$$F_v = F_{\mu} = F_{\mu} = I;$$
 (8.4)

$$T_v = T_{\mu} = T_{\mu} = I. \tag{8.5}$$

The l-th structured uncertainty in (8.1) is modeled as an additional unknown linear time-invariant complex quantum stochastic system:

$$d\tilde{a}_{l}(t) = A_{l} \tilde{a}_{l}(t) dt + B_{l} d\zeta_{l}(t); \quad \tilde{a}_{l}(0) = \tilde{a}_{0,l}; d\xi_{l}(t) = C_{l} \tilde{a}_{l}(t) dt + D_{l} d\zeta_{l}(t)$$
(8.6)

with  $A_l$  Hurwitz and transfer function matrix

$$\Delta_l(s) = C_l(sI - A_l)^{-1}B_l + D_l$$
(8.7)

which is required to satisfy

$$\|\Delta_l(s)\|_{\infty} \le 1 \tag{8.8}$$

for all l = 1, 2, ..., k.

We assume that the large-scale quantum system (8.1) consists of p interconnected linear quantum subsystems. Thus, the output dy(t) can also be decomposed into p components as follows:

$$dy(t) = \begin{bmatrix} dy_1(t) \\ dy_2(t) \\ \vdots \\ dy_p(t) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(8.9)

If we wish to control the large-scale quantum system (8.1) with a decentralized quantum controller, the decentralized control input  $d\bar{u}(t)$  also has p components. That is,

$$d\bar{u}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} d\bar{u}_1(t) \\ d\bar{u}_2(t) \\ \vdots \\ d\bar{u}_p(t) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(8.10)

Here,  $d\bar{u}_j(t)$  is an  $n_{u_j} \times 1$  vector of control inputs, which is only dependent on the corresponding  $dy_j(t)$  for j = 1, 2, ..., p. In this case, we do not make any assumption on the structure of the quantum system matrices F,  $G_2$  and  $H_2$  in (8.1). Thus, a decentralized quantum controller can be written as

$$d\bar{c}_{j}(t) = F_{c_{j}} \,\bar{c}_{j}(t)dt + G_{w_{c_{0,j}}} \,dw_{c_{0,j}}(t) + G_{w_{c_{1,j}}} \,dw_{c_{1,j}}(t) + G_{c_{j}} \,dy_{j}(t); \,\bar{c}_{j}(0) = \bar{c}_{0,j};$$
  

$$d\bar{u}_{j}(t) = H_{c_{j}} \,\bar{c}_{j}(t)dt + dw_{c_{0,j}}(t)$$
(8.11)

where  $\bar{c}_j$  is an  $n \times 1$  vector of the annihilation operators, and  $w_{c_{0,j}}$  and  $w_{c_{1,j}}$  are non-commutative quantum Wiener processes. The Ito matrices and commutation matrices of  $w_{c_{0,j}}$  and  $w_{c_{1,j}}$  are respectively assumed to be

$$F_{w_{c_{0,j}}} = F_{w_{c_{1,j}}} = I;$$
  

$$T_{w_{c_{0,j}}} = T_{w_{c_{1,j}}} = I.$$
(8.12)

At time t = 0, it is also assumed that a(0) and  $\tilde{a}(0)$  commute with  $\bar{c}_j(0)$ . Moreover,  $F_{c_j}$  is Hurwitz and the decentralized quantum controller (8.11) has a transfer function matrix

$$T_{jj}(s) = H_{c_j}(sI - F_{c_j})^{-1}G_{c_j}.$$
(8.13)

### 8.2.2 Physical realizability and the $H^{\infty}$ control objective

As mentioned in Chapter 7, the realization  $\{F_{c_j}, G_{c_j}, H_{c_j}\}$  of the decentralized quantum controller (8.11) cannot be arbitrarily chosen because it does not necessarily represent a physically realizable quantum dynamical system; see [70,72,73]. Thus, a physical realizability condition for the decentralized quantum controller (8.11) is presented in the following definition and lemma. **Definition 8.1.** (*Physical realizability of a decentralized quantum controller*; see [73, Definition 7.1]) The matrices  $F_{c_j}$ ,  $G_{c_j}$  and  $H_{c_j}$  are said to define a physically realizable controller of the form (8.11) if there exist matrices  $G_{w_{c_{0,j}}}$ ,  $G_{w_{c_{1,j}}}$ ,  $H_{c_{1,j}}$  and  $H_{c_{2,j}}$  such that

$$d\bar{c}_{j}(t) = F_{c_{j}} \bar{c}_{j}(t)dt + G_{w_{c_{0,j}}} dw_{c_{0,j}}(t) + G_{w_{c_{1,j}}} dw_{c_{1,j}}(t) + G_{c_{j}} dy_{j}(t);$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} d\bar{u}_{j}(t) \\ d\bar{u}_{1,j}(t) \\ d\bar{u}_{2,j}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} H_{c_{j}} \\ H_{c_{1,j}} \\ H_{c_{2,j}} \end{bmatrix} \bar{c}_{j}(t)dt + \begin{bmatrix} dw_{c_{0,j}}(t) \\ dw_{c_{1,j}}(t) \\ dy_{j}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{c}_{j}(0) = \bar{c}_{0,j}$$
(8.14)

is physically realizable according to Definition 7.1 when

$$T_{y_j} := J_{20,j} T_{v_j} J_{20,j}^{\dagger} + J_{21,j} T_{\nu_j} J_{21,j}^{\dagger} = I$$
(8.15)

for all j = 1, 2, ..., p. Note that  $J_{20,j}, J_{21,j}, T_{\nu_j}$  and  $T_{\nu_j}$  are the *j*-th partition of  $J_{20}, J_{21}, T_{\nu}$  and  $T_{\nu}$ , which follow the partition of dy(t) in (8.9).

**Lemma 8.1.** (see [73, Theorem 7.2]) Suppose that  $\{F_{c_j}, G_{c_j}, H_{c_j}\}$  is a minimal realization of the decentralized quantum controller (8.11). Then, it is physically realizable if and only if  $F_{c_j}$  is Hurwitz and  $||T_{jj}(s)||_{\infty} \leq 1$ . This implies that the decentralized quantum controller (8.11) is bounded real.

**Remark 8.1.** (see [73, Theorem 7.2]) The matrices  $G_{w_{c_{1,j}}}$  and  $H_{c_{1,j}}$  can be set to zero as the exogenous quantum noise  $dw_{c_{1,j}}$  is not needed in the realization of a decentralized quantum controller of the form (8.11).

Applying the decentralized quantum controller (8.11) to the large-scale uncertain quantum system (8.1), (8.8), we obtain a closed loop uncertain quantum system such that the  $H^{\infty}$  control objective:

$$\int_0^t \left\langle z(s)^{\dagger} z(s) + z(s)^T z(s)^* + \varepsilon \left( \bar{\eta}(s)^{\dagger} \bar{\eta}(s) + \bar{\eta}(s)^T \bar{\eta}(s)^* \right) \right\rangle ds$$
  
$$\leq \left( \gamma^2 - \varepsilon^2 \right) \int_0^t \left\langle \beta_w(s)^{\dagger} \beta_w(s) + \beta_w(s)^T \beta_w(s)^* \right\rangle ds + \pi_1 + \pi_2 t \qquad (8.16)$$

is satisfied for some real constants  $\varepsilon, \pi_1, \pi_2 > 0$  with

$$d\bar{\eta}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} da(t)^T & d\bar{c}_1(t)^T & \cdots & d\bar{c}_p(t)^T & d\tilde{a}_1(t)^T & \cdots & d\tilde{a}_k(t)^T \end{bmatrix}^T.$$
 (8.17)

### 8.2.3 A special case of quantum robust $H^{\infty}$ control

The decentralized quantum controller (8.11) can also be considered as a special case of a non-decentralized quantum controller of the form

$$dc(t) = F_c c(t)dt + G_{w_{c_0}} dw_{c_0}(t) + G_{w_{c_1}} dw_{c_1}(t) + G_c dy(t); \quad c(0) = c_0;$$
  
$$du(t) = H_c c(t)dt + dw_{c_0}(t)$$
(8.18)

where  $F_c$  is Hurwitz and which has a transfer function matrix

$$T(s) = H_c (sI - F_c)^{-1} G_c (8.19)$$

with a block-diagonal structure. This special case motivates us to construct the decentralized quantum controller (8.11) based on the general non-decentralized quantum controller (8.18) designed using the algorithm in [73].

Suppose that the general non-decentralized quantum controller (8.18) has a transfer function matrix T(s) as in (8.19) and T(s) is partitioned according to the partition of  $d\bar{u}(t)$  and dy(t) in (8.10) and (8.9):

$$T(s) = \begin{bmatrix} T_{11}(s) & T_{12}(s) & \dots & T_{1p}(s) \\ T_{21}(s) & T_{22}(s) & \dots & T_{2p}(s) \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ T_{p1}(s) & T_{p2}(s) & \dots & T_{pp}(s) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(8.20)

Then, the transfer function matrix of the decentralized quantum controller (8.11) can be formed by taking only the block-diagonal parts of T(s): (see [166])

$$\bar{T}(s) = \begin{bmatrix} T_{11}(s) & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ 0 & T_{22}(s) & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \dots & T_{pp}(s) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(8.21)

As the off-diagonal blocks of T(s) are not included in  $\overline{T}(s)$ , they are considered as additional uncertainties in the large-scale uncertain quantum system (8.1), (8.8). This is precisely the main idea of our approach where we do not treat the interconnections between quantum subsystems as uncertainties, but rather the neglected off-diagonal blocks of T(s); e.g., see [166]. Thus, a sequence of additional uncertainty transfer function matrices can be defined as follows:

$$\bar{\Delta}_{1}(s) := \begin{bmatrix} T_{12}(s) & T_{13}(s) & \dots & T_{1p}(s) \end{bmatrix}; 
\bar{\Delta}_{2}(s) := \begin{bmatrix} T_{21}(s) & T_{23}(s) & \dots & T_{2p}(s) \end{bmatrix}; 
\vdots 
\bar{\Delta}_{p}(s) := \begin{bmatrix} T_{p1}(s) & T_{p2}(s) & \dots & T_{p(p-1)}(s) \end{bmatrix}.$$
(8.22)

Note that  $\bar{\Delta}_j(s)$  (j = 1, 2, ..., p) is stable because  $F_c$  is Hurwitz. The *j*-th additional uncertainty input  $d\bar{\xi}_j(t)$  are then defined as

$$d\bar{a}_j(t) = \bar{A}_j \,\bar{a}_j(t)dt + \bar{B}_j \,d\bar{\zeta}_j(t);$$
  

$$d\bar{\xi}_j(t) = -\bar{C}_j \,\bar{a}_j(t)dt \qquad (8.23)$$

where  $\bar{A}_j = F_c$ ,  $\bar{B}_j$  and  $\bar{C}_j$  are sub-matrices of  $G_c$  and  $H_c$  in (8.18), respectively, for j = 1, 2, ..., p. Also, the additional uncertainty output  $d\bar{\zeta}_j(t)$  are defined as

$$d\bar{\zeta}_{1}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} dy_{2}(t)^{T} & dy_{3}(t)^{T} & \cdots & dy_{p}(t)^{T} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \\ = M_{1}a(t)dt + N_{20,1}dv(t) + N_{21,1}dw(t); \\ d\bar{\zeta}_{2}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} dy_{1}(t)^{T} & dy_{3}(t)^{T} & \cdots & dy_{p}(t)^{T} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \\ = M_{2}a(t)dt + N_{20,2}dv(t) + N_{21,2}dw(t); \\ \vdots \\ d\bar{\zeta}_{p}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} dy_{1}(t)^{T} & dy_{2}(t)^{T} & \cdots & dy_{(p-1)}(t)^{T} \end{bmatrix}^{T} \\ = M_{p}a(t)dt + N_{20,p}dv(t) + N_{21,p}dw(t).$$
(8.24)

Here,  $M_1, M_2, \ldots, M_p$  are sub-matrices of matrix  $H_2$ ;  $N_{20,1}, N_{20,2}, \ldots, N_{20,p}$  are sub-matrices of matrix  $J_{20}$ ; and  $N_{21,1}, N_{21,2}, \ldots, N_{21,p}$  are sub-matrices of matrix  $J_{21}$ . Then, we can rewrite the decentralized control input  $d\bar{u}(t)$  in (8.10) as

$$d\bar{u}(t) = du(t) + \sum_{j=1}^{p} L_j \, d\bar{\xi}_j(t)$$
(8.25)

where

$$L_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} I_{nu_{1} \times nu_{1}} \\ 0_{\tilde{n}u_{1} \times nu_{1}} \end{bmatrix}; \quad L_{j} = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{\bar{n}u_{(j-1)} \times nu_{j}} \\ I_{nu_{j} \times nu_{j}} \\ 0_{\bar{n}u_{j} \times nu_{j}} \end{bmatrix}; \quad L_{p} = \begin{bmatrix} 0_{\bar{n}u_{(p-1)} \times nu_{p}} \\ I_{nu_{p} \times nu_{p}} \end{bmatrix}$$
(8.26)

for  $j = 2, 3, \ldots, p - 1$ . Note that  $n_u = \sum_{j=1}^p n_{u_j}$ ;  $\bar{n}_{u_j} = \sum_{d=1}^j n_{u_d}$ ; and  $\tilde{n}_{u_j} = n_u - \bar{n}_{u_j}$  for  $j = 1, 2, \ldots, p$ .

### 8.2.4 An equivalent uncertain linear quantum system

If we apply the decentralized control input  $d\bar{u}(t)$  to the large-scale uncertain quantum system (8.1), (8.8), we will obtain the same closed loop system as if we apply the non-decentralized control input du(t) to the following equivalent uncertain linear quantum system:

$$da(t) = Fa(t)dt + G_0dv(t) + G_1dw(t) + G_2du(t) + \sum_{l=1}^k G_{3,l}d\xi_l(t) + \sum_{j=1}^p G_2L_jd\bar{\xi}_j(t);$$
  

$$dz(t) = H_1 a(t)dt + J_{12} du(t) + \sum_{j=1}^p J_{12}L_j d\bar{\xi}_j(t);$$
  

$$d\zeta_1(t) = P_1 a(t)dt + Q_1 du(t) + \sum_{j=1}^p Q_1L_j d\bar{\xi}_j(t);$$
  

$$\vdots$$
  

$$d\zeta_k(t) = P_k a(t)dt + Q_k du(t) + \sum_{j=1}^p Q_kL_j d\bar{\xi}_j(t);$$

$$dy(t) = H_2 a(t)dt + J_{20} dv(t) + J_{21} dw(t)$$
(8.27)

together with  $d\bar{\zeta}_1(t), \ldots, d\bar{\zeta}_p(t)$  as defined in (8.24) and an initial condition  $a(0) = a_0$ . Moreover, for the *j*-th additional uncertainty  $\bar{\Delta}_j(s)$  as given in (8.22), we define a constant  $\beta_j > 0$  so that

$$\|\bar{\Delta}_j(s)\|_{\infty}^2 \le \beta_j, \quad \forall j = 1, 2, \dots, p.$$

$$(8.28)$$

If we apply a coherent quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  controller of the form (8.18)

to the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28), the corresponding  $H^{\infty}$  control objective is then given as follows:

$$\int_{0}^{t} \left\langle z(s)^{\dagger} z(s) + z(s)^{T} z(s)^{*} + \varepsilon \left( \tilde{\eta}(s)^{\dagger} \tilde{\eta}(s) + \tilde{\eta}(s)^{T} \tilde{\eta}(s)^{*} \right) \right\rangle ds$$
  
$$\leq \left( \gamma^{2} - \varepsilon^{2} \right) \int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \beta_{w}(s)^{\dagger} \beta_{w}(s) + \beta_{w}(s)^{T} \beta_{w}(s)^{*} \right\rangle ds + \pi_{1} + \pi_{2} t \qquad (8.29)$$

where  $\varepsilon, \pi_1, \pi_2 > 0$  are real constants and

$$d\tilde{\eta}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} da(t)^T & dc(t)^T & d\tilde{a}_1(t)^T & \cdots & d\tilde{a}_k(t)^T & d\bar{a}_1(t)^T & \cdots & d\bar{a}_p(t)^T \end{bmatrix}^T.$$
(8.30)

Here,  $\bar{a}_j(t)$  is a vector of the annihilation operators corresponding to the additional uncertainties defined in (8.23) for j = 1, 2, ..., p.

# 8.3 Ordinary Decentralized Quantum $H^{\infty}$ Controller

In this section, we present an algorithm to synthesize a decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller as formulated in Section 8.2. Here, we only provide sufficient conditions because particular additional uncertainties in (8.28) are involved in our approach. To compute required design parameters, we apply an evolutionary optimization method, namely the differential evolution (DE) algorithm. Also, an example is considered to demonstrate the proposed algorithm.

#### 8.3.1 Synthesis algorithm

Referring to Lemma 7.8, we then introduce two sets of scaling constants  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_k > 0$  and  $\delta_1 > 0, \ldots, \delta_p > 0$  corresponding to the structured uncertainties (8.8) and the additional uncertainties (8.28), respectively. Thus, we can rewrite the uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28) as

$$da(t) = F a(t)dt + G_0 dv(t) + \tilde{G}_1 d\tilde{w}(t) + G_2 du(t); \quad a(0) = a_0;$$
  

$$d\tilde{z}(t) = \tilde{H}_1 a(t)dt + \tilde{J}_{10} dv(t) + \tilde{J}_{11} d\tilde{w}(t) + \tilde{J}_{12} du(t);$$
  

$$dy(t) = H_2 a(t)dt + J_{20} dv(t) + \tilde{J}_{21} d\tilde{w}(t)$$
(8.31)
where 
$$d\bar{w}(t) = \tilde{\beta}_{w}(t)dt + d\tilde{\nu}(t);$$
  

$$d\bar{w}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma \, dw(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_{1}} \, d\xi_{1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\tau_{k}} \, d\xi_{k}(t) \\ \sqrt{\delta_{1}} \, d\bar{\xi}_{1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\delta_{p}} \, d\bar{\xi}_{p}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad d\bar{z}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} dz(t) \\ \sqrt{\tau_{1}} \, d\zeta_{1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\tau_{k}} \, d\zeta_{k}(t) \\ \sqrt{\delta_{1}\beta_{1}} \, d\bar{\zeta}_{1}(t) \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\delta_{p}\beta_{p}} \, d\bar{\zeta}_{p}(t) \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\tilde{G}_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1}G_{1} & \sqrt{\tau_{1}}^{-1}G_{3,1} & \cdots & \sqrt{\tau_{k}}^{-1}G_{3,k} & \sqrt{\delta_{1}}^{-1}G_{2}L_{1} & \cdots & \sqrt{\delta_{p}}^{-1}G_{2}L_{p} \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\tilde{H}_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} H_{1} \\ \sqrt{\tau_{1}} \, P_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\delta_{p}\beta_{p}} \, M_{p} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{J}_{10} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \\ \sqrt{\delta_{1}\beta_{1}} \, N_{20,1} \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\delta_{p}\beta_{p}} \, N_{20,p} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{J}_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} J_{12} \\ \sqrt{\tau_{1}} \, Q_{1} \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\tau_{k}} \, Q_{k} \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\tilde{J}_{11} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \sqrt{\delta_{1}}^{-1} \, J_{12}L_{1} & \cdots & \sqrt{\delta_{p}}^{-1} \, J_{12}L_{p} \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \sqrt{\tau_{1}/\delta_{1}} \, Q_{1}L_{1} & \cdots & \sqrt{\tau_{k}/\delta_{p}} \, Q_{k}L_{p} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \sqrt{\tau_{k}/\delta_{1}} \, Q_{k}L_{1} & \cdots & \sqrt{\tau_{k}/\delta_{p}} \, Q_{k}L_{p} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots & \vdots \\ \gamma^{-1}\sqrt{\delta_{p}\beta_{p}} \, N_{21,p} & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ \tilde{J}_{21} = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1}J_{21} & 0 & \cdots & 0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix}. \quad (8.32)$$

If we apply a coherent quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  controller of the form (8.18) to the quantum system (8.31), the corresponding  $H^{\infty}$  control objective is

$$\int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \tilde{z}(s)^{\dagger} \tilde{z}(s) + \tilde{z}(s)^{T} \tilde{z}(s)^{*} + \varepsilon \left( \tilde{\eta}(s)^{\dagger} \tilde{\eta}(s) + \tilde{\eta}(s)^{T} \tilde{\eta}(s)^{*} \right) \right\rangle ds$$

$$\leq (1 - \varepsilon^{2}) \int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \tilde{\beta}_{w}(s)^{\dagger} \tilde{\beta}_{w}(s) + \tilde{\beta}_{w}(s)^{T} \tilde{\beta}_{w}(s)^{*} \right\rangle ds + \pi_{1} + \pi_{2}t \qquad (8.33)$$

where  $\varepsilon, \pi_1, \pi_2 > 0$  are real constants. Moreover, since the QSDEs (8.31) are not in a standard  $H^{\infty}$  form, we apply a loop shifting transformation to eliminate the  $\tilde{J}_{11}$  term from (8.31); e.g., see [16, Sections 4.5.1 and 5.5.1] and [18, Section 17.2]. Thus, it is necessary to impose the following assumption:

Assumption 8.1. Given constants  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_k > 0, \delta_1 > 0, \ldots, \delta_p > 0, \beta_1 > 0, \ldots, \beta_p > 0$ , the uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28) is assumed to be such that  $\tilde{J}_{11}\tilde{J}_{11}^{\dagger} < I$ .

Now, we can define

$$\Phi := I - \tilde{J}_{11}^{\dagger} \tilde{J}_{11} > 0; \quad \tilde{\Phi} := I - \tilde{J}_{11} \tilde{J}_{11}^{\dagger} > 0 \tag{8.34}$$

and also

$$d\hat{w}(t) := \Phi^{\frac{1}{2}} d\tilde{w}(t) - \Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}} \tilde{J}_{11}^{\dagger} \left[ \tilde{H}_{1} a(t) dt + \tilde{J}_{12} du(t) \right];$$
  
$$d\hat{z}(t) := \tilde{\Phi}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left[ \tilde{H}_{1} a(t) dt + \tilde{J}_{12} du(t) \right].$$
(8.35)

Using (8.35), it is straightforward to verify that

$$d\tilde{w}(t) = \Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}} d\hat{w}(t) + \Phi^{-1} \tilde{J}_{11}^{\dagger} \left[ \tilde{H}_1 a(t) dt + \tilde{J}_{12} du(t) \right];$$
  
$$\|\tilde{w}(t)\|_2^2 - \|\tilde{z}(t)\|_2^2 \equiv \|\hat{w}(t)\|_2^2 - \|\hat{z}(t)\|_2^2.$$
(8.36)

Therefore, we can rewrite the QSDEs (8.31) as

$$da(t) = \hat{F} a(t)dt + G_0 dv(t) + \hat{G}_1 d\hat{w}(t) + \hat{G}_2 du(t); \quad a(0) = a_0;$$
  

$$d\hat{z}(t) = \hat{H}_1 a(t)dt + \hat{J}_{12} du(t);$$
  

$$dy(t) = \hat{H}_2 a(t)dt + J_{20} dv(t) + \hat{J}_{21} d\hat{w}(t) + \hat{J}_{22} du(t)$$
(8.37)

where  $d\hat{w}(t) = \hat{\beta}_w(t)dt + d\hat{\nu}(t);$ 

$$\hat{F} = F + \tilde{G}_{1}\tilde{J}_{11}^{\dagger}\tilde{\Phi}^{-1}\tilde{H}_{1}; \qquad \hat{G}_{1} = \tilde{G}_{1}\Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}}; 
\hat{G}_{2} = G_{2} + \tilde{G}_{1}\tilde{J}_{11}^{\dagger}\tilde{\Phi}^{-1}\tilde{J}_{12}; \qquad \hat{H}_{1} = \tilde{\Phi}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\tilde{H}_{1}; 
\hat{H}_{2} = H_{2} + \tilde{J}_{21}\tilde{J}_{11}^{\dagger}\tilde{\Phi}^{-1}\tilde{H}_{1}; \qquad \hat{J}_{12} = \tilde{\Phi}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\tilde{J}_{12}; 
\hat{J}_{22} = \tilde{J}_{21}\tilde{J}_{11}^{\dagger}\tilde{\Phi}^{-1}\tilde{J}_{12} \qquad \hat{J}_{21} = \tilde{J}_{21}\Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(8.38)

Note that the  $J_{10}$  term is automatically eliminated when we apply the loop shift-

$$d\hat{y}(t) := dy(t) - \hat{J}_{22} \, du(t), \tag{8.39}$$

we can rewrite (8.37) as

$$da(t) = \hat{F} a(t)dt + G_0 dv(t) + \hat{G}_1 d\hat{w}(t) + \hat{G}_2 du(t); \quad a(0) = a_0;$$
  

$$d\hat{z}(t) = \hat{H}_1 a(t)dt + \hat{J}_{12} du(t);$$
  

$$d\hat{y}(t) = \hat{H}_2 a(t)dt + J_{20} dv(t) + \hat{J}_{21} d\hat{w}(t).$$
(8.40)

The  $H^{\infty}$  control objective corresponding to the quantum system (8.40) is as follows:

$$\int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \hat{z}(s)^{\dagger} \hat{z}(s) + \hat{z}(s)^{T} \hat{z}(s)^{*} + \varepsilon \left( \tilde{\eta}(s)^{\dagger} \tilde{\eta}(s) + \tilde{\eta}(s)^{T} \tilde{\eta}(s)^{*} \right) \right\rangle ds$$

$$\leq (1 - \varepsilon^{2}) \int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \hat{\beta}_{w}(s)^{\dagger} \hat{\beta}_{w}(s) + \hat{\beta}_{w}(s)^{T} \hat{\beta}_{w}(s)^{*} \right\rangle ds + \pi_{1} + \pi_{2}t \qquad (8.41)$$

where  $\varepsilon, \pi_1, \pi_2 > 0$  are real constants.

The solution to the coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  control problem for the quantum system (8.40) involves the solutions to the parameterized complex algebraic Riccati equations:

$$\left( \hat{F} - \hat{G}_{2} \hat{E}_{1}^{-1} \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \hat{H}_{1} \right)^{\dagger} X + X \left( \hat{F} - \hat{G}_{2} \hat{E}_{1}^{-1} \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \hat{H}_{1} \right) + X \left( \hat{G}_{1} \hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger} - \hat{G}_{2} \hat{E}_{1}^{-1} \hat{G}_{2}^{\dagger} \right) X + \hat{H}_{1}^{\dagger} \left( I - \hat{J}_{12} \hat{E}_{1}^{-1} \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \right) \hat{H}_{1} = 0; \left( \hat{F} - \hat{G}_{1} \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_{2}^{-1} \hat{H}_{2} \right) Y + Y \left( \hat{F} - \hat{G}_{1} \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_{2}^{-1} \hat{H}_{2} \right)^{\dagger} + Y \left( \hat{H}_{1}^{\dagger} \hat{H}_{1} - \hat{H}_{2}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_{2}^{-1} \hat{H}_{2} \right) Y + \hat{G}_{1} \left( I - \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_{2}^{-1} \hat{J}_{21} \right) \hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger} = 0$$
(8.42)

such that the following conditions hold:

1. 
$$\hat{F} - \hat{G}_2 \hat{E}_1^{-1} \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \hat{H}_1 + \left( \hat{G}_1 \hat{G}_1^{\dagger} - \hat{G}_2 \hat{E}_1^{-1} \hat{G}_2^{\dagger} \right) X$$
 is Hurwitz;  
2.  $\hat{F} - \hat{G}_1 \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_2^{-1} \hat{H}_2 + Y \left( \hat{H}_1^{\dagger} \hat{H}_1 - \hat{H}_2^{\dagger} \hat{E}_2^{-1} \hat{H}_2 \right)$  is Hurwitz;

3. The spectral radius  $\rho(XY)$  of matrix XY is strictly less than one.

To solve the Riccati equations (8.42), we impose the following assumption:

Assumption 8.2. Given constants  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_k > 0, \ \delta_1 > 0, \ldots, \delta_p > 0, \beta_1 > 0, \ldots, \beta_p > 0$ ,  $\beta_1 > 0, \ldots, \beta_p > 0$ , the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28) is assumed to be such that  $\hat{E}_1 = \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \hat{J}_{12} > 0$  and  $\hat{E}_2 = \hat{J}_{21} \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger} > 0$ .

**Theorem 8.1.** Let  $\beta_1 > 0, \ldots, \beta_p > 0$  be given constants and suppose that there exist  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_k > 0$ ,  $\delta_1 > 0, \ldots, \delta_p > 0$  such that Assumption 8.1 and Assumption 8.2 hold, and the complex algebraic Riccati equations (8.42) have stabilizing solutions  $X \ge 0$  and  $Y \ge 0$  such that the spectral radius  $\rho(XY) < 1$ . Then, the closed loop uncertain quantum system obtained by applying the quantum controller (8.18) with

$$F_{c} = \hat{F}_{c} - G_{c}\hat{J}_{22}H_{c};$$

$$\hat{F}_{c} = \hat{F} + \hat{G}_{2}H_{c} - G_{c}\hat{H}_{2} + \left(\hat{G}_{1} - G_{c}\hat{J}_{21}\right)\hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger}X;$$

$$G_{c} = (I - YX)^{-1}\left(Y\hat{H}_{2}^{\dagger} + \hat{G}_{1}\hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger}\right)E_{2}^{-1};$$

$$H_{c} = -\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\left(\hat{G}_{2}^{\dagger}X + \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1}\right)$$
(8.43)

to the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28) is strictly bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ .

**Proof.** It follows from a loop shifting arguments in the classical  $H^{\infty}$  control theory (e.g., see [16, Sections 4.5.1 and 5.5.1] and [18, Section 17.2]) that the  $H^{\infty}$ quantum control problem (8.31), (8.33) has a solution if and only if the complex Riccati equations (8.42) have stabilizing solutions  $X \ge 0$  and  $Y \ge 0$  such that  $\rho(XY) < 1$ . Moreover, a coherent quantum controller of the form (8.18) solving the  $H^{\infty}$  quantum control problem (8.31), (8.33) is defined by (8.43). Thus, if the conditions of the theorem are satisfied, it follows from the arguments in the proofs of Theorem 4.1 in [187] and of Theorem 7.1 [73] (Lemma 7.6) that the closed loop uncertain quantum system obtained by applying the quantum controller (8.18), (8.43) to the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28) is strictly bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ .

**Theorem 8.2.** Let  $\beta_1 > 0, \ldots, \beta_p > 0$  be given constants and suppose that there exist  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_k > 0$ ,  $\delta_1 > 0, \ldots, \delta_p > 0$  such that Assumption 8.1 and Assumption 8.2 hold, and the complex algebraic Riccati equations (8.42) have stabilizing solutions  $X \ge 0$  and  $Y \ge 0$  such that the spectral radius  $\rho(XY) < 1$ . Furthermore, suppose that the coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller (8.18), (8.43) is such that the transfer function matrices in (8.22) satisfy the norm bounds in (8.28) and each corresponding decentralized quantum controller (8.11) is physically realizable. Then, the closed loop uncertain quantum system obtain by applying the decentralized coherent quantum controller (8.11) to the uncertain quantum system (8.1), (8.8) is strictly bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ .

**Proof.** If all conditions of the theorem are satisfied, it then follows from Theorem 8.1 that a closed loop uncertain quantum system obtained by applying the quantum controller (8.18), (8.43) to the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28) is strictly bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ . We also assume that the quantum controller (8.18), (8.43) is such that the transfer function matrices in (8.22) satisfy the norm bounds in (8.28). Furthermore, as mentioned in the construction of the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28), a closed loop uncertain quantum system obtained byapplying the decentralized quantum controller (8.11) (for all j = 1, 2, ..., p) to the uncertain quantum system (8.1), (8.6) is identical to a closed loop uncertain quantum system obtained by applying the quantum controller (8.18), (8.43) to the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28) when the additional uncertainty inputs defined in (8.23) are applied. Hence, it follows that the decentralized quantum controller (8.11) defined by (8.18), (8.43) is such that the resulting closed loop uncertain quantum system is strictly bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ . 

### 8.3.2 A differential evolution approach

The decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller synthesis algorithm described in sub-Section 8.3.1 involves nonconvex nonlinear constraints, which are often difficult to satisfy. Thus, we reformulate the decentralized controller design problem into a constrained optimization problem, which is then solved using the differential evolution (DE) algorithm as presented in Chapter 2.

The required design parameters form a vector of decision variables defined as

$$\vartheta := \begin{bmatrix} \gamma & \tau_1 & \cdots & \tau_k & \delta_1 & \cdots & \delta_p & \beta_1 & \cdots & \beta_p \end{bmatrix}^T$$
(8.44)

where the dimension of  $\vartheta$  is k + 2p + 1 and all element of  $\vartheta$  are positive real numbers. Then, we define the optimization problem in terms of  $\vartheta$  as follows:

Find an optimal solution  $\vartheta^{\star}$  to solve

$$\min_{\vartheta} \mathsf{f}(\vartheta) \tag{8.45}$$

subject to

$$\mathbf{g}_{\mathbf{j}}(\vartheta) = 0; \quad \mathbf{h}_{\mathbf{k}}(\vartheta) \le 0 \tag{8.46}$$

for j = 1, 2, ..., a and k = 1, 2, ..., b. Here, a and b are the total number of equality and inequality constraints, respectively; and  $f(\vartheta)$  is an objective function to be minimized.

A suitable objective function in relation to the decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$ controller design problem is

$$f(\vartheta) = \mathsf{m}_0 \gamma^{\mathsf{n}_0} + \sum_{j=1}^p \mathsf{m}_j \beta_j^{\mathsf{n}_j}$$
(8.47)

where  $\mathbf{m}_0, \mathbf{m}_j \geq 1$  are weighting factors and  $\mathbf{n}_0, \mathbf{n}_j \geq 1$  are power constants. Moreover, the equality constraints are

$$g_{1}(\vartheta) = \left(\hat{F} - \hat{G}_{2}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1}\right)^{\dagger}X + X\left(\hat{F} - \hat{G}_{2}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1}\right) + X\left(\hat{G}_{1}\hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger} - \hat{G}_{2}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{G}_{2}^{\dagger}\right)X + \hat{H}_{1}^{\dagger}\left(I - \hat{J}_{12}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\right)\hat{H}_{1} = 0;$$
$$g_{2}(\vartheta) = \left(\hat{F} - \hat{G}_{1}\hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{H}_{2}\right)Y + Y\left(\hat{F} - \hat{G}_{1}\hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{H}_{2}\right)^{\dagger} + Y\left(\hat{H}_{1}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1} - \hat{H}_{2}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{H}_{2}\right)Y + \hat{G}_{1}\left(I - \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{J}_{21}\right)\hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger} = 0$$
(8.48)

and the inequality constraints are

$$\begin{split} h_{1}(\vartheta) &= \tilde{J}_{11}\tilde{J}_{11}^{\dagger} - I < 0; & h_{2}(\vartheta) &= -\hat{E}_{1} < 0; \\ h_{3}(\vartheta) &= -\hat{E}_{2} < 0; & h_{4}(\vartheta) &= -X < 0; \\ h_{5}(\vartheta) &= -Y < 0; & h_{6}(\vartheta) &= \rho(XY) - 1 < 0; \\ h_{7}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{A}_{X}) < 0; & h_{8}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{A}_{Y}) < 0; \\ h_{9}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r}(F_{c}) < 0; & h_{10,j}(\vartheta) &= \|\bar{\Delta}_{j}(s)\|_{\infty}^{2} - \beta_{j} \leq 0; \\ h_{11,j}(\vartheta) &= \|T_{jj}(s)\|_{\infty} - 1 \leq 0 \end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

$$\end{split}$$

for j = 1, 2, ..., p. Note that  $\rho(\mathcal{M})$  and  $e_{\max,r}(\mathcal{M})$  denote the spectral radius and the largest real part of the eigenvalues of the matrix  $\mathcal{M}$ , respectively. Moreover,

we define  $\mathcal{A}_X$  and  $\mathcal{A}_Y$  as follows:

$$\mathcal{A}_X := \hat{F} - \hat{G}_2 \hat{E}_1^{-1} \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \hat{H}_1 + \left( \hat{G}_1 \hat{G}_1^{\dagger} - \hat{G}_2 \hat{E}_1^{-1} \hat{G}_2^{\dagger} \right) X;$$
  
$$\mathcal{A}_Y := \hat{F} - \hat{G}_1 \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_2^{-1} \hat{H}_2 + Y \left( \hat{H}_1^{\dagger} \hat{H}_1 - \hat{H}_2^{\dagger} \hat{E}_2^{-1} \hat{H}_2 \right).$$
(8.50)

Having the equality and inequality constraints in (8.48) and (8.49), we now develop a fitness test routine to rate the fitness of each candidate solution with respect to those constraints. This routine proceeds as follows:

- 1. Compute the eigenvalues of  $(\tilde{J}_{11}\tilde{J}_{11}^{\dagger}-I)$ ,  $\hat{E}_1$  and  $\hat{E}_2$  to verify if  $h_1(\vartheta)$ ,  $h_2(\vartheta)$  and  $h_3(\vartheta)$  hold.
- 2. Evaluate  $g_1(\vartheta)$  and  $g_2(\vartheta)$  to obtain solutions X and Y to the Riccati equations in (8.42).
- 3. Verify if X and Y are stabilizing positive definite solutions through the evaluation of  $h_4(\vartheta)$ ,  $h_5(\vartheta)$ ,  $h_7(\vartheta)$  and  $h_8(\vartheta)$ .
- 4. Compute the spectral radius of the product XY to verify if  $h_6(\vartheta)$  holds.
- 5. Evaluate  $h_9(\vartheta)$  to check if  $F_c$  is Hurwitz.
- 6. Evaluate  $h_{10,j}(\vartheta)$  (for j = 1, 2, ..., p) to check if the *j*-th off-diagonal block of T(s) in (8.20) satisfies the norm bound condition in (8.28).
- 7. Verify if the  $H^{\infty}$  norm  $||T_{jj}(s)||_{\infty}$  of the *j*-th diagonal block of T(s) is less than or equal to one by evaluating  $\mathsf{h}_{11,j}(\vartheta)$  (for  $j = 1, 2, \ldots, p$ ).
- 8. Evaluate the objective function  $f(\vartheta)$  in (8.47).

Through the fitness test, we acquire information for each candidate solution about how many constraint violations have occurred and how much penalty has been incurred. Penalty functions corresponding to the violation of the equality and inequality constraints in (8.48) and (8.49) are then defined as follows:

$$p_{1}(\vartheta) = e_{\max}(\tilde{J}_{11}\tilde{J}_{11}^{\dagger} - I)^{s_{1}}; \qquad p_{2}(\vartheta) = |e_{\min}(\hat{E}_{1})|^{s_{2}}; p_{3}(\vartheta) = |e_{\min}(\hat{E}_{2})|^{s_{3}}; \qquad p_{4}(\vartheta) = \rho(\mathcal{C}_{X})^{s_{4}}; p_{5}(\vartheta) = \rho(\mathcal{C}_{Y})^{s_{5}}; \qquad p_{6}(\vartheta) = |e_{\min}(X)|^{s_{6}}; p_{7}(\vartheta) = |e_{\min}(Y)|^{s_{7}}; \qquad p_{8}(\vartheta) = e_{\max,r} (\mathcal{A}_{X})^{s_{8}};$$

$$(8.51)$$

$$p_{9}(\vartheta) = e_{\max,r} \left(\mathcal{A}_{Y}\right)^{\mathbf{s}_{9}}; \quad p_{10}(\vartheta) = \left(\rho(XY) - 1\right)^{\mathbf{s}_{10}}; \\ p_{11}(\vartheta) = e_{\max,r} \left(F_{c}\right)^{\mathbf{s}_{11}}; \quad p_{12}(\vartheta) = \sum_{j=1}^{p} \mathcal{D}_{j}^{\mathbf{c}_{j}}; \quad (8.52) \\ p_{13}(\vartheta) = \sum_{j=1}^{p} \mathcal{S}_{j}^{\mathbf{d}_{j}}; \quad p_{14}(\vartheta) = \mathbf{f}(\vartheta)$$

where  $\mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{r}} \geq 1$  for  $\mathbf{r} = 1, 2, ..., 11$  and  $\mathbf{c}_j, \mathbf{d}_j \geq 1$  for j = 1, 2, ..., p. Note that  $e_{\min}(\mathcal{M})$  and  $e_{\max}(\mathcal{M})$  denote the smallest and the largest eigenvalue of a Hermitian matrix  $\mathcal{M}$ , respectively. If the matrix  $\mathcal{M}$  is required to be positive definite, we assign  $|e_{\min}(\mathcal{M})|^{\mathbf{s}_r}$  as a penalty. This is because when this requirement is violated, the matrix  $\mathcal{M}$  can be either negative (semi)definite or indefinite. Moreover, we define  $\mathcal{C}_X, \mathcal{C}_Y, \mathcal{D}_j$  and  $\mathcal{S}_j$  as follows:

$$\mathcal{C}_{X} := \hat{H}_{1}^{\dagger} \left( I - \hat{J}_{12} \hat{E}_{1}^{-1} \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \right) \hat{H}_{1};$$

$$\mathcal{C}_{Y} := \hat{G}_{1} \left( I - \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_{2}^{-1} \hat{J}_{21} \right) \hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger};$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{j} := \begin{cases} \|\bar{\Delta}_{j}(s)\|_{\infty}^{2}, & \text{if } \mathsf{h}_{10,j}(\vartheta) \text{ is violated}; \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}; \end{cases}$$

$$\mathcal{S}_{j} := \begin{cases} \|T_{jj}(s)\|_{\infty}, & \text{if } \mathsf{h}_{11,j}(\vartheta) \text{ is violated}; \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}. \end{cases}$$
(8.53)

## 8.3.3 An illustrative example

We present an example to demonstrate the decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller design method presented in sub-Section 8.3.1. This example belongs to a class of quantum optical systems, which only consist of passive elements; e.g., see [70,73]. In this case, we consider a decentralized quantum control problem for a cascaded linear quantum system of two identical optical cavities as shown in Figure 8.1.



Figure 8.1: A cascaded linear quantum system of two identical optical cavities.

This quantum system can be represented as

$$\begin{bmatrix} da_{1}(t) \\ da_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{g}{2} & 0 \\ -k_{1} & -\frac{g}{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a_{1}(t) \\ a_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix} dt + \begin{bmatrix} -\sqrt{k_{1}} \\ -\sqrt{k_{1}} \end{bmatrix} dv_{1}(t) + \begin{bmatrix} -\sqrt{k_{2}} & 0 \\ 0 & -\sqrt{k_{2}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} dw_{1}(t) \\ dw_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix} \\ + \begin{bmatrix} -\sqrt{k_{3}} & 0 \\ 0 & -\sqrt{k_{3}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} du_{1}(t) \\ du_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \\ \begin{bmatrix} dz_{1}(t) \\ dz_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{k_{3}} & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{k_{3}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a_{1}(t) \\ a_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix} dt + \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} du_{1}(t) \\ du_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \\ \begin{bmatrix} dy_{1}(t) \\ dy_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{k_{2}} & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{k_{2}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a_{1}(t) \\ a_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix} dt + \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} dw_{1}(t) \\ dw_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix};$$
(8.54)

where  $k_1 = 2.6$ ,  $k_2 = 0.2$ ,  $k_3 = 0.2$  and  $g = k_1 + k_2 + k_3$ . We assume that the quantum plant (8.54) is known and hence, does not have uncertainty.

Applying the DE approach presented in sub-Section 8.3.2, we obtain

$$\gamma = 0.3381; \quad \delta_1 = 862.7180; \quad \delta_2 = 1.0011; \\ \beta_1 = 0.0001; \quad \beta_2 = 0.1073$$
(8.55)

which are used to construct a non-decentralized coherent quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  controller defined by the following matrices:

$$F_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} -1.1287 & 0.0004 \\ -2.8850 & -1.3929 \end{bmatrix}; \quad G_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.4472 & 0.0000 \\ 0.0009 & -0.4464 \end{bmatrix}; \\ H_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.3830 & -0.0009 \\ -0.0009 & -0.3969 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(8.56)

The matrices  $G_c$  and  $H_c$  in (8.56) are such that the squared  $H^{\infty}$  norm of the additional uncertainties  $\bar{\Delta}_1(s)$  and  $\bar{\Delta}_2(s)$  (as defined in (8.22)):

$$\|\bar{\Delta}_1(s)\|_{\infty}^2 = 1.0501 \times 10^{-7}; \quad \|\bar{\Delta}_2(s)\|_{\infty}^2 = 0.1059$$
 (8.57)

are indeed less than  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$  in (8.55), respectively. Thus, the decentralized quantum controllers are then defined by

$$F_{c_1} = F_c; \quad G_{c_1} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.4472\\0.0009 \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{c_1} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.3830 & -0.0009 \end{bmatrix};$$
(8.58)

$$F_{c_2} = F_c; \quad G_{c_2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0000\\ -0.4464 \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{c_2} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.0009 & -0.3969 \end{bmatrix}.$$
 (8.59)

The decentralized quantum controllers (8.58) and (8.59) are physically realizable because  $F_c$  is Hurwitz with eigenvalues: (see Lemma 8.1)

$$e_1 = -1.1329; \quad e_2 = -1.3888 \tag{8.60}$$

and they also have the  $H^{\infty}$  norms as follows:

$$||T_{11}(s)||_{\infty} = 0.1509; \quad ||T_{22}(s)||_{\infty} = 0.1271.$$
 (8.61)

Following the same steps as in (7.107) and (7.108), we are able to compute  $G_{w_{c_{0,1}}}$ ,  $G_{w_{c_{0,2}}}$ ,  $H_{c_{2,1}}$  and  $H_{c_{2,2}}$  in order to physically realize the decentralized quantum controllers in (8.58) and (8.59) (see Definition 8.1). That is,

$$G_{w_{c_{0,1}}} = \begin{bmatrix} -176.0655\\ 81858.5874 \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{c_{2,1}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0291 & 0.0001 \end{bmatrix};$$
  

$$G_{w_{c_{0,2}}} = \begin{bmatrix} 4.9498\\ 12.6664 \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{c_{2,2}} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.0290 & 0.0253 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(8.62)

Meanwhile,  $G_{w_{c_{1,1}}}$ ,  $H_{c_{1,1}}$  and  $G_{w_{c_{1,2}}}$ ,  $H_{c_{1,2}}$  are set to zero because we do not need exogenous quantum noise  $dw_{c_{1,1}}$  and  $dw_{c_{1,2}}$  terms in the realization of the decentralized quantum controllers in (8.58) and (8.59).

A particular physical realization of a class of linear quantum optical systems has been discussed in [77]. It presents an algorithm to construct a physically realizable coherent linear quantum feedback controller using purely passive optical devices such as optical cavities, beam-splitters and phase shifters. Applying the algorithm in [77], we then obtain the first decentralized quantum controller as

$$\bar{F}_{c_1} = \begin{bmatrix} -1.1329 & 0\\ 2.5015 & -1.3888 \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{G}_{w_{c_{0,1}}} & \bar{G}_{c_1} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1.5052 & -0.0115\\ 1.6627 & -0.1134 \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{H}_{c_1}\\ \bar{H}_{c_{2,1}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1.5052 & -1.6627\\ 0.0115 & 0.1134 \end{bmatrix}$$
(8.63)

and the second decentralized quantum controller as

$$\bar{F}_{c_2} = \begin{bmatrix} -1.1329 & 0 \\ -2.5036 & -1.3888 \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{G}_{w_{c_{0,2}}} & \bar{G}_{c_2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1.5052 & -0.0002 \\ 1.6632 & -0.1064 \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{H}_{c_2} \\ \bar{H}_{c_{2,2}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1.5052 & -1.6632 \\ 0.0002 & 0.1064 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(8.64)

The realizations in (8.63) and (8.64) imply that each decentralized quantum controller can be physically constructed as a cascade of two first order generalized 2-mirror optical cavities because it has two inputs and two outputs; see [77].

From (8.63), we obtain the parameters of the optical cavities corresponding to the first decentralized quantum controller as follows:

$$k_{c_{11}} = (1.5052)^2; \quad k_{c_{12}} = (0.0115)^2;$$
  
 $k_{c_{13}} = (1.6627)^2; \quad k_{c_{14}} = (0.1134)^2$ 
(8.65)

which are shown in Figure 8.2.



**Figure 8.2:** The first decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller.

Moreover, from (8.64), the parameters of the optical cavities corresponding to the second decentralized quantum controller are as follows:

$$k_{c_{21}} = (1.5052)^2; \quad k_{c_{22}} = (0.0002)^2;$$
  
 $k_{c_{23}} = (1.6632)^2; \quad k_{c_{24}} = (0.1064)^2$ 
(8.66)

which are also shown in Figure 8.3.

**Remark 8.2.** The physical realizability of the decentralized quantum controllers (8.58) and (8.59) does not immediately follow from the controller design algorithm in sub-Section 8.3.1. Thus, we always have to verify whether the resulting



**Figure 8.3:** The second decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller.

controllers are physically realizable before they are implemented. In order to show that this controller design algorithm indeed does not always guarantee the physical realizability of the decentralized quantum controllers, we then consider the following example:



Figure 8.4: A cascaded linear quantum system of two optical cavities.

This quantum system can be represented as

$$\begin{bmatrix} da_{1}(t) \\ da_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{g_{1}}{2} & 0 \\ -\sqrt{k_{1}k_{4}} & -\frac{g_{2}}{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a_{1}(t) \\ a_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix} dt + \begin{bmatrix} -\sqrt{k_{1}} \\ -\sqrt{k_{4}} \end{bmatrix} dv_{1}(t) + \begin{bmatrix} -\sqrt{k_{2}} & 0 \\ 0 & -\sqrt{k_{5}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} dw_{1}(t) \\ dw_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} -\sqrt{k_{3}} & 0 \\ 0 & -\sqrt{k_{6}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} du_{1}(t) \\ du_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \begin{bmatrix} dz_{1}(t) \\ dz_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{k_{3}} & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{k_{6}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a_{1}(t) \\ a_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix} dt + \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} du_{1}(t) \\ du_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \begin{bmatrix} dy_{1}(t) \\ dy_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{k_{2}} & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{k_{5}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a_{1}(t) \\ a_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix} dt + \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} dw_{1}(t) \\ dw_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix}$$
(8.67)

where  $g_1 = k_1 + k_2 + k_3$ ,  $g_2 = k_4 + k_5 + k_6$  and the parameter values are

$$k_1 = 2.25; \quad k_2 = 2.00; \quad k_3 = 4.50;$$
  
 $k_4 = 5.50; \quad k_5 = 6.00; \quad k_6 = 7.50.$ 
(8.68)

Applying the DE approach presented in sub-Section 8.3.2, we then obtain

$$\gamma = 0.7496; \quad \delta_1 = 9.1311; \quad \delta_2 = 1.0795; \\ \beta_1 = 0.0613; \quad \beta_2 = 0.1123.$$
(8.69)

Given these parameters, we can construct a non-decentralized coherent quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  controller as follows:

$$F_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} -51.1302 & -0.0794 \\ 5.8901 & -1.8379 \end{bmatrix}; \quad G_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} -3.2578 & 0.0147 \\ 0.7632 & -2.3851 \end{bmatrix}; \\ H_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} 9.2789 & -0.0625 \\ -0.0807 & -1.2525 \end{bmatrix}.$$

$$(8.70)$$

The matrices  $G_c$  and  $H_c$  in (8.70) are such that the squared  $H^{\infty}$  norm of the additional uncertainties  $\bar{\Delta}_1(s)$  and  $\bar{\Delta}_2(s)$  (as defined in (8.22)):

$$\|\bar{\Delta}_1(s)\|_{\infty}^2 = 0.0104; \quad \|\bar{\Delta}_2(s)\|_{\infty}^2 = 0.0665$$
 (8.71)

are less than  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$  in (8.69), respectively. Hence, the decentralized quantum controllers are as follows:

$$F_{c_1} = F_c; \quad G_{c_1} = \begin{bmatrix} -3.2578\\ 0.7632 \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{c_1} = \begin{bmatrix} 9.2789 & -0.0625 \end{bmatrix};$$
  

$$F_{c_2} = F_c; \quad G_{c_2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0147\\ -2.3851 \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{c_2} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.0807 & -1.2525 \end{bmatrix}$$
(8.72)

which are stable because  $F_c$  is Hurwitz with eigenvalues:

$$e_1 = -51.1207; \quad e_2 = -1.8474.$$
 (8.73)

Also, their  $H^{\infty}$  norms are

$$||T_{11}(s)||_{\infty} = 0.6074; \quad ||T_{22}(s)||_{\infty} = 1.6161.$$
 (8.74)

However,  $\{F_{c_2}, G_{c_2}, H_{c_2}\}$  is not physically realizable as it has the  $H^{\infty}$  norm:  $||T_{22}(s)||_{\infty} = 1.6161$ , which implies that it does not satisfy the physical realizability condition given in Lemma 8.1.

This observation motivates us to propose another method to synthesize the decentralized quantum controllers, which are ensured to be physically realizable. That is, the resulting quantum controllers are always stable and strict bounded real. This method is then used to solve the same example to show that it is indeed effective to secure the physical realizability of the quantum controllers.

# 8.4 Strict Bounded Real Decentralized Quantum $H^{\infty}$ Controller

In Section 8.3, we have presented an algorithm to synthesize a decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller. However, this algorithm may not result in a physically realizable decentralized quantum controller because the physical realizability condition given in Lemma 8.1 is not explicitly imposed on the controller design algorithm. This concern has motivated us to apply the approach of Chapter 7 to construct a strict bounded real decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller, which must always be physically realizable. In this case, we employ an artificial uncertainty to ensure the physical realizability of the resulting controller. This approach, however, may result in a more conservative decentralized quantum controller than the one obtained using the controller design method in Section 8.3 due to the fact that we introduce the additional artificial uncertainty.

#### 8.4.1 Synthesis algorithm

We refer to Section 7.4 to synthesize a strict bounded real decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller based on the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28). For this purpose, we follow the same steps as those in Section 7.4 where an artificial uncertain quantum system is used to obtain a strict bounded real quantum controller. Thus, using Lemma 7.8, we introduce a set of scaling constants  $\kappa_1 > 0, \ldots, \kappa_k > 0$  and  $\alpha_1 > 0, \ldots, \alpha_p > 0$  corresponding to the structured uncertainties (8.8) and the additional uncertainties (8.28), respectively.

Then, we can rewrite the QSDEs (8.27), (8.24) as follows:

$$da(t) = F a(t)dt + G_0 dv(t) + \bar{G}_1 d\bar{w}(t) + G_2 du(t); \quad a(0) = a_0;$$
  

$$d\bar{z}(t) = \bar{H}_1 a(t)dt + \bar{J}_{10} dv(t) + \bar{J}_{11} d\bar{w}(t) + \bar{J}_{12} du(t);$$
  

$$dy(t) = H_2 a(t)dt + J_{20} dv(t) + \bar{J}_{21} d\bar{w}(t)$$
(8.75)

where  $d\bar{w}(t) = \bar{\beta}_w(t)dt + d\bar{\nu}(t);$ 

$$\begin{split} d\bar{w} &= \begin{bmatrix} \gamma \, dw(t) \\ \sqrt{\kappa_1} \, d\xi_1(t) \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\kappa_k} \, d\xi_k(t) \\ \sqrt{\alpha_1} \, d\bar{\xi}_1(t) \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\alpha_p} \, d\bar{\xi}_p(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad d\bar{z} = \begin{bmatrix} dz(t) \\ \sqrt{\kappa_1} \, d\zeta_1(t) \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\kappa_k} \, d\xi_k(t) \\ \sqrt{\alpha_1\beta_1} \, d\bar{\xi}_1(t) \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\alpha_p\beta_p} \, d\bar{\xi}_p(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{d}\bar{z} = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1}G_1 \ \sqrt{\kappa_1}^{-1} \, G_{3,1} \ \cdots \ \sqrt{\kappa_k}^{-1} \, G_{3,k} \ \sqrt{\alpha_1}^{-1} \, G_2 L_1 \ \cdots \ \sqrt{\alpha_p}^{-1} \, G_2 L_p \end{bmatrix}; \\ \bar{H}_1 &= \begin{bmatrix} H_1 \\ \sqrt{\kappa_1} \, P_1 \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\kappa_k} \, P_k \\ \sqrt{\alpha_1\beta_1} \, M_1 \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\alpha_p\beta_p} \, M_p \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{J}_{10} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \\ \sqrt{\alpha_1\beta_1} \, N_{20,1} \\ \vdots \\ \sqrt{\alpha_p\beta_p} \, N_{20,p} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \bar{J}_{12} = \begin{bmatrix} J_{12} \\ \sqrt{\kappa_k} \, Q_k \\ 0 \\ \vdots \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}; \\ \bar{J}_1 &= \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \ \cdots \ 0 \ \sqrt{\alpha_1} \, J_{12} L_1 \ \cdots \ \sqrt{\alpha_p}^{-1} \, J_{12} L_p \\ 0 \ 0 \ \cdots \ 0 \ \sqrt{\kappa_1/\alpha_1} \, Q_1 L_1 \ \cdots \ \sqrt{\kappa_1/\alpha_p} \, Q_1 L_p \\ \vdots \ \vdots \\ 0 \ 0 \ 0 \ \cdots \ 0 \ \sqrt{\kappa_k/\alpha_1} \, Q_k L_1 \ \cdots \ \sqrt{\kappa_k/\alpha_p} \, Q_k L_p \\ \gamma^{-1} \sqrt{\alpha_p\beta_p} \, N_{21,p} \ 0 \ \cdots \ 0 \ 0 \ \cdots \ 0 \ 0 \ \cdots \ 0 \end{bmatrix}; \quad (8.76) \end{split}$$

Since the  $\bar{J}_{11}$  term in the quantum system (8.75) leads to a non-standard  $H^{\infty}$  control problem, we need to apply a loop shifting transformation to eliminate that term in (8.75); e.g., see [16, Sections 4.5.1 and 5.5.1] and [18, Section 17.2]. To carry out this transformation, we impose the following assumption:

Assumption 8.3. Given constants  $\kappa_1 > 0, \ldots, \kappa_k > 0, \alpha_1 > 0, \ldots, \alpha_p > 0, \beta_1 > 0, \ldots, \beta_p > 0$ , the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28) is assumed to be such that  $\bar{J}_{11}\bar{J}_{11}^{\dagger} < I$ .

Now, we can define

$$\Theta := I - \bar{J}_{11}^{\dagger} \bar{J}_{11} > 0; \quad \bar{\Theta} := I - \bar{J}_{11} \bar{J}_{11}^{\dagger} > 0 \tag{8.77}$$

and also

$$d\breve{w}(t) := \Theta^{\frac{1}{2}} d\bar{w}(t) - \Theta^{-\frac{1}{2}} \bar{J}_{11}^{\dagger} \left[ \bar{H}_1 a(t) dt + \bar{J}_{12} du(t) \right];$$
  
$$d\breve{z}(t) := \bar{\Theta}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left[ \bar{H}_1 a(t) dt + \bar{J}_{12} du(t) \right].$$
(8.78)

It then follows from (8.78) that

$$d\bar{w}(t) = \Theta^{-\frac{1}{2}} d\breve{w}(t) + \Theta^{-1} \bar{J}_{11}^{\dagger} \left[ \bar{H}_1 a(t) dt + \bar{J}_{12} du(t) \right];$$
  
$$\|\bar{w}(t)\|_2^2 - \|\bar{z}(t)\|_2^2 \equiv \|\breve{w}(t)\|_2^2 - \|\breve{z}(t)\|_2^2.$$
(8.79)

Thus, using (8.78), we can rewrite the QSDEs (8.75) as

$$da(t) = \breve{F} a(t)dt + G_0 dv(t) + \breve{G}_1 d\breve{w}(t) + \breve{G}_2 du(t); \quad a(0) = a_0;$$
  

$$d\breve{z}(t) = \breve{H}_1 a(t)dt + \breve{J}_{12} du(t);$$
  

$$dy(t) = \breve{H}_2 a(t)dt + J_{20} dv(t) + \breve{J}_{21} d\breve{w}(t) + \breve{J}_{22} du(t)$$
(8.80)

where  $d\breve{w}(t) = \breve{\beta}_w(t)dt + d\breve{\nu}(t);$ 

$$\begin{array}{lll}
\breve{F} &= F + \bar{G}_1 \bar{J}_{11}^{\dagger} \bar{\Theta}^{-1} \bar{H}_1; & \breve{G}_1 &= \bar{G}_1 \Theta^{-\frac{1}{2}}; \\
\breve{G}_2 &= G_2 + \bar{G}_1 \bar{J}_{11}^{\dagger} \bar{\Theta}^{-1} \bar{J}_{12}; & \breve{H}_1 &= \bar{\Theta}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \bar{H}_1; \\
\breve{H}_2 &= H_2 + \bar{J}_{21} \bar{J}_{11}^{\dagger} \bar{\Theta}^{-1} \bar{H}_1; & \breve{J}_{12} &= \bar{\Theta}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \bar{J}_{12}; \\
\breve{J}_{22} &= \bar{J}_{21} \bar{J}_{11}^{\dagger} \bar{\Theta}^{-1} \bar{J}_{12}; & \breve{J}_{21} &= \bar{J}_{21} \Theta^{-\frac{1}{2}}. \\
\end{array}$$
(8.81)

Note that the  $\bar{J}_{10}$  term is automatically eliminated when we apply the loop shift-

ing transformation to the quantum system (8.75).

We now construct a matrix K based on the quantum system (8.80) such that  $(F + G_2 K)$  is Hurwitz and the following uncertain quantum system

$$da(t) = (F + G_2 K) a(t) dt + G_0 dv(t) + G_1 dw(t) + \sum_{l=1}^k G_{3,l} d\xi_l(t) + \sum_{j=1}^p G_2 L_j d\bar{\xi}_j;$$
  

$$dz(t) = (H_1 + J_{12} K) a(t) dt + \sum_{j=1}^p J_{12} L_j d\bar{\xi}_j;$$
  

$$d\zeta_1(t) = (P_1 + Q_1 K) a(t) dt + \sum_{j=1}^p Q_1 L_j d\bar{\xi}_j;$$
  

$$\vdots$$
  

$$d\zeta_k(t) = (P_k + Q_k K) a(t) dt + \sum_{j=1}^p Q_k L_j d\bar{\xi}_j;$$

 $dy(t) = H_2 a(t) dt + J_{20} dv(t) + J_{21} dw(t)$ (8.82)

together with  $d\bar{\zeta}_1(t), \ldots, d\bar{\zeta}_p(t)$  as defined in (8.24) and an initial condition  $a(0) = a_0$ , is strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$  while satisfying (8.8) and (8.28). The satisfaction of this requirement is dependent on the existence of a solution to a parameterized complex algebraic Riccati equation defined as follows: Let  $\kappa_1 > 0, \ldots, \kappa_k > 0$ ,  $\alpha_1 > 0, \ldots, \alpha_p > 0$ ,  $\beta_1 > 0, \ldots, \beta_p > 0$  be given constants and consider a complex algebraic Riccati equation

$$\left( \breve{F} - \breve{G}_{2}\breve{E}_{1}^{-1}\breve{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\breve{H}_{1} \right)^{\dagger}\breve{X} + \breve{X} \left( \breve{F} - \breve{G}_{2}\breve{E}_{1}^{-1}\breve{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\breve{H}_{1} \right) + \breve{X} \left( \breve{G}_{1}\breve{G}_{1}^{\dagger} - \breve{G}_{2}\breve{E}_{1}^{-1}\breve{G}_{2}^{\dagger} \right)\breve{X} + \breve{H}_{1}^{\dagger} \left( I - \breve{J}_{12}\breve{E}_{1}^{-1}\breve{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \right)\breve{H}_{1} = 0$$

$$(8.83)$$

where

$$\check{E}_1 = \check{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \check{J}_{12}. \tag{8.84}$$

Assumption 8.4. Given constants  $\kappa_1 > 0, \ldots, \kappa_k > 0, \alpha_1 > 0, \ldots, \alpha_p > 0, \beta_1 > 0, \ldots, \beta_p > 0$ , the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28) is assumed to be such that  $\check{E}_1 > 0$ .

**Lemma 8.2.** Let  $\kappa_1 > 0, \ldots, \kappa_k > 0$ ,  $\alpha_1 > 0, \ldots, \alpha_p > 0$ ,  $\beta_1 > 0, \ldots, \beta_p > 0$  be given constants. Suppose that the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27),

(8.24), (8.8), (8.28) is such that Assumption 8.3 and Assumption 8.4 are satisfied and the complex algebraic Riccati equation (8.83) has a stabilizing solution  $X \ge 0$ . Then, there exists a matrix K such that the uncertain quantum system (8.82), (8.8), (8.28) is strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ . That is,  $(F + G_2K)$  is Hurwitz and

$$\left\| (H_1 + J_{12}K) \left( sI - (F + G_2K) \right)^{-1} G_1 \right\|_{\infty} < \gamma$$
(8.85)

where

$$K = -\breve{E}_1^{-1} \left( \breve{G}_2^{\dagger} \breve{X} + \breve{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \breve{H}_1 \right).$$
(8.86)

**Proof**. The proof of this lemma follows the same arguments as those in the proof of Lemma 7.9.  $\hfill \Box$ 

Using the matrix K in (8.86) and introducing an additional uncertainty input  $d\xi_{k+1}(t)$  and output  $d\zeta_{k+1}(t)$ , we form an artificial uncertain quantum system as follows: (see [8])

$$da(t) = \tilde{F} a(t) dt + G_0 dv(t) + \tilde{G}_1 d\tilde{w}(t) + \tilde{G}_2 du(t) + \sum_{j=1}^p G_2 L_j d\bar{\xi}_j(t) + \sum_{l=1}^{k+1} G_{3,l} d\xi_l(t); \quad a(0) = a_0; d\tilde{z}(t) = \tilde{H}_1 a(t) dt + \tilde{J}_{12} du(t) + \sum_{j=1}^p \tilde{J}_{12,j}^L d\bar{\xi}_j(t) + S_0 d\xi_{k+1}(t); d\zeta_1(t) = \tilde{P}_1 a(t) dt + \tilde{Q}_1 du(t) + \sum_{j=1}^p Q_1 L_j d\bar{\xi}_j(t) + S_1 d\xi_{k+1}(t); : d\zeta_k(t) = \tilde{P}_k a(t) dt + \tilde{Q}_k du(t) + \sum_{j=1}^p Q_k L_j d\bar{\xi}_j(t) + S_k d\xi_{k+1}(t); d\zeta_{k+1}(t) = \tilde{P}_{k+1} a(t) dt + \tilde{Q}_{k+1} du(t) + V_1 d\tilde{w}(t) + \sum_{j=1}^p V_{2,j} d\bar{\xi}_j(t); d\bar{\zeta}_1(t) = M_1 a(t) dt + N_{20,1} dv(t) + \tilde{N}_{21,1} d\tilde{w}(t); : d\bar{\zeta}_p(t) = M_p a(t) dt + N_{20,p} dv(t) + \tilde{N}_{21,p} d\tilde{w}(t); dy(t) = \tilde{H}_2 a(t) dt + J_{20} dv(t) + \tilde{J}_{21} d\tilde{w}(t) + S_{k+1} d\xi_{k+1}(t)$$
(8.87)

where 
$$d\tilde{w}(t) = \tilde{\beta}_{w}(t)dt + d\tilde{\nu}(t);$$
  
 $d\tilde{w}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} dw_{1}(t) \\ dw_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad d\tilde{z}(t) = \begin{bmatrix} dz_{1}(t) \\ dz_{2}(t) \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{F} = F + \frac{1}{2}G_{2}K; \quad \tilde{G}_{1} = \begin{bmatrix} G_{1} & 0 \end{bmatrix};$   
 $\tilde{G}_{2} = \frac{1}{2}G_{2}; \quad G_{3,k+1} = \begin{bmatrix} G_{2} & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} R^{-1}; \quad \tilde{J}_{12,j}^{L} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} J_{12}L_{j} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix};$   
 $\tilde{H}_{1} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} H_{1} \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{J}_{12} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} J_{12} \\ \gamma I \end{bmatrix}; \quad S_{0} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & -I & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & I & 0 \end{bmatrix} R^{-1};$   
 $\tilde{P}_{l} = P_{l} + \frac{1}{2}Q_{l}K; \quad \tilde{Q}_{l} = \frac{1}{2}Q_{l}; \quad S_{l} = \begin{bmatrix} Q_{l} & 0 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} R^{-1}; \quad \tilde{N}_{21,j} = \begin{bmatrix} N_{21,j} & 0 \end{bmatrix};$   
 $\tilde{P}_{k+1} = \frac{R}{2} \begin{bmatrix} K \\ H_{1} \\ 0 \\ H_{2} \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tilde{Q}_{k+1} = \frac{R}{2} \begin{bmatrix} -I \\ J_{12} \\ \gamma I \\ 0 \end{bmatrix}; \quad V_{1} = \frac{R}{2} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ J_{21} & -I \end{bmatrix}; \quad V_{2,j} = \frac{R}{2} \begin{bmatrix} 0 \\ J_{12}L_{j} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix};$   
 $\tilde{H}_{2} = \frac{1}{2}H_{2}; \quad \tilde{J}_{21} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{bmatrix} J_{21} & I \end{bmatrix}; \quad S_{k+1} = \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 & -I \end{bmatrix} R^{-1}$ 
(8.88)

for l = 1, 2, ..., k and j = 1, 2, ..., p. Note that R is any  $n_r \times n_r$  non-singular scaling matrix, where  $n_r = 2n_u + n_z + n_y$ ;  $w_2$  and  $z_2$  have the same dimensions as those of y and u, respectively.

In (8.87), the additional uncertainty input  $d\xi_{k+1}(t)$  is related to the additional uncertainty output  $d\zeta_{k+1}(t)$  as follows:

$$d\xi_{k+1}(t) = \Delta_{k+1} \, d\zeta_{k+1}(t) \tag{8.89}$$

where  $\Delta_{k+1} \in \mathbf{R}$  is a real unknown scalar uncertain parameter satisfying  $|\Delta_{k+1}| \leq 1$ . The  $H^{\infty}$  control objective for the artificial uncertain quantum system (8.87), (8.8), (8.28), (8.89) is as follows:

$$\int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \tilde{z}(s)^{\dagger} \tilde{z}(s) + \tilde{z}(s)^{T} \tilde{z}(s)^{*} + \varepsilon \left( \tilde{\eta}(s)^{\dagger} \tilde{\eta}(s) + \tilde{\eta}(s)^{T} \tilde{\eta}(s)^{*} \right) \right\rangle ds$$

$$\leq (1 - \varepsilon^{2}) \int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \tilde{\beta}_{w}(s)^{\dagger} \tilde{\beta}_{w}(s) + \tilde{\beta}_{w}(s)^{T} \tilde{\beta}_{w}(s)^{*} \right\rangle ds + \pi_{1} + \pi_{2}t \qquad (8.90)$$

where  $\varepsilon, \pi_1, \pi_2 > 0$  are real constants. Moreover, we consider two special cases for  $\Delta_{k+1}$  as in Section 7.4 to verify that any suitable coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller of the form (8.18) for the artificial uncertain quantum system (8.87), (8.8), (8.28), (8.89) is indeed stable and strict bounded real, and solves the original decentralized quantum control problem.



Figure 8.5: Block diagrams corresponding to special cases I and II; see [8].

**Special cese I:**  $\Delta_{k+1} = 1$ . Using this  $\Delta_{k+1}$ , it follows from (8.87) that

$$da(t) = (F + G_2 K) a(t) dt + G_0 dv(t) + G_1 dw_1(t) + \sum_{j=1}^k G_2 L_j d\bar{\xi}_j(t) + G_3 d\xi_1(t);$$
  

$$dz_1(t) = 0;$$
  

$$dz_2(t) = \gamma du(t);$$
  

$$d\zeta_1(t) = (P_1 + Q_1 K) a(t) dt + \sum_{j=1}^k Q_1 L_j d\bar{\xi}_j(t);$$
  

$$d\bar{\zeta}_1(t) = M_1 a(t) dt + N_{20,1} dv(t) + N_{21,1} dw(t);$$
  

$$\vdots$$
  

$$d\bar{\zeta}_k(t) = M_k a(t) dt + N_{20,k} dv(t) + N_{21,k} dw(t);$$
  

$$dy(t) = J_{20} dv(t) + dw_2(t)$$
  
(8.91)

where  $a(0) = a_0$ , and conditions (8.8) and (8.28) are satisfied. Here, we recognize that the uncertain quantum system (8.91), (8.8), (8.28) is the same as the uncertain quantum system (8.82), (8.8), (8.28). Thus, the uncertain quantum system (8.91), (8.8), (8.28) is strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$  according to the construction of the matrix K in (8.86) and Lemma 8.2. It is also apparent from the QSDEs (8.91) that the control input u(t) does not affect the quantum plant, but only affects the controlled output  $z_2(t)$ . Moreover, the measurement output y(t) is not affected by the quantum plant but is only affected by the disturbance input  $w_2(t)$  and the quantum noise v(t). This situation is shown in Figure 8.5(a) where the coherent quantum controller  $\Sigma_c$  of the form (8.18) is detached from the uncertain quantum system ( $\widetilde{\Sigma}_a, \Delta(\cdot)$ ) defined by (8.91), (8.8), (8.28). It thus follows from the block diagram in Figure 8.5(a) and the closed loop  $H^{\infty}$  control objective (8.90) that the coherent quantum controller  $\Sigma_c$  must be stable and strict bounded real.

Special cese II:  $\Delta_{k+1} = -1$ . It is straightforward to show that using this value of  $\Delta_{k+1}$ , we again obtain the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28). Thus, if we can find a suitable coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$ controller  $\Sigma_c$  of the form (8.18) for the artificial uncertain quantum system (8.87), (8.8), (8.28), (8.89), then the same quantum controller  $\Sigma_c$  is also suitable for the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28) (corresponds to  $(\Sigma_a, \Delta(\cdot))$  in Figure 8.5(b)) such that the  $H^{\infty}$  control objective (8.29) is satisfied. This implies that the resulting closed loop uncertain quantum system as shown in Figure 8.5(b) is strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ .

From both special cases above, we conclude that if there exists a suitable quantum controller of the form (8.18) for the artificial uncertain quantum system (8.87), (8.8), (8.28), (8.89), then this quantum controller also achieves a strict bounded real closed loop system with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$  when it is applied to the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28). Moreover, this quantum controller itself must be stable and strict bounded real.

We now apply the approach in sub-Section 7.4.2 or sub-Section 8.3.1 to synthesize a strict bounded real quantum controller of the form (8.18). Thus, we introduce scaling constants  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_{k+1} > 0, \delta_1 > 0, \ldots, \delta_p > 0$  so that we can rewrite the QSDEs (8.87) of the artificial uncertain quantum system as follows:

$$da(t) = F a(t) dt + G_0 dv(t) + G_1 d\check{w}(t) + G_2 du(t); \quad a(0) = a_0;$$
  

$$d\check{z}(t) = \check{H}_1 a(t) dt + \check{J}_{10} dv(t) + \check{J}_{11} d\check{w}(t) + \check{J}_{12} du(t);$$
  

$$dy(t) = \tilde{H}_2 a(t) dt + J_{20} dv(t) + \check{J}_{21} d\check{w}(t)$$
(8.92)

where  $d\check{w}(t) = \check{\beta}_w(t) dt + d\check{\nu}(t);$ 

$$\check{J}_{21} = \begin{bmatrix} \gamma^{-1} \tilde{J}_{21} & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \sqrt{\tau_{k+1}}^{-1} S_{k+1} & 0 & \cdots & 0 \end{bmatrix};$$
(8.93)

The  $H^{\infty}$  control objective for the quantum system (8.92) is as follows:

$$\int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \check{z}(s)^{\dagger}\check{z}(s) + \check{z}(s)^{T}\check{z}(s)^{*} + \varepsilon \left( \tilde{\eta}(s)^{\dagger}\tilde{\eta}(s) + \tilde{\eta}(s)^{T}\tilde{\eta}(s)^{*} \right) \right\rangle ds$$
  
$$\leq (1 - \varepsilon^{2}) \int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \check{\beta}_{w}(s)^{\dagger}\check{\beta}_{w}(s) + \check{\beta}_{w}(s)^{T}\check{\beta}_{w}(s)^{*} \right\rangle ds + \pi_{1} + \pi_{2}t \qquad (8.95)$$

Moreover, we also have a  $\check{J}_{11}$  term in (8.92), which leads to a non-standard  $H^{\infty}$  control problem. Thus, to eliminate this term, we impose the following

assumption and then apply a loop shifting transformation with respect to (8.92); e.g., see [16, Sections 4.5.1 and 5.5.1] and [18, Section 17.2].

Assumption 8.5. Given constants  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_{k+1} > 0, \delta_1 > 0, \ldots, \delta_p > 0$ ,  $\beta_1 > 0, \ldots, \beta_p > 0$  and any non-singular scaling matrix R, the artificial uncertain quantum system (8.87), (8.8), (8.28), (8.89) is assumed to be such that  $\check{J}_{11}\check{J}_{11}^{\dagger} < I$ .

Satisfying Assumption 8.5, we now define

$$\Phi := I - \check{J}_{11}^{\dagger} \check{J}_{11} > 0; \quad \check{\Phi} := I - \check{J}_{11} \check{J}_{11}^{\dagger} > 0 \tag{8.96}$$

and also

$$d\hat{w}(t) := \Phi^{\frac{1}{2}} d\check{w}(t) - \Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}} \check{J}_{11}^{\dagger} \left[ \check{H}_{1} a(t) dt + \check{J}_{12} du(t) \right];$$
  

$$d\hat{z}(t) := \check{\Phi}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \left[ \check{H}_{1} a(t) dt + \check{J}_{12} du(t) \right].$$
(8.97)

It then follows from (8.97) that

$$d\tilde{w}(t) = \Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}} d\hat{w}(t) + \Phi^{-1} \check{J}_{11}^{\dagger} \left[ \check{H}_1 a(t) dt + \check{J}_{12} du(t) \right];$$
  
$$\|\check{w}(t)\|_2^2 - \|\check{z}(t)\|_2^2 \equiv \|\hat{w}(t)\|_2^2 - \|\hat{z}(t)\|_2^2.$$
(8.98)

Now, the QSDEs (8.92) can be written as

$$da(t) = \hat{F} a(t)dt + G_0 dv(t) + \hat{G}_1 d\hat{w}(t) + \hat{G}_2 du(t); \quad a(0) = a_0;$$
  

$$d\hat{z}(t) = \hat{H}_1 a(t)dt + \hat{J}_{12} du(t);$$
  

$$dy(t) = \hat{H}_2 a(t)dt + J_{20} dv(t) + \hat{J}_{21} d\hat{w}(t) + \hat{J}_{22} du(t)$$
(8.99)

where  $d\hat{w}(t) = \hat{\beta}_w(t)dt + d\hat{\nu}(t);$ 

$$\hat{F} = \tilde{F} + \check{G}_{1}\check{J}_{11}^{\dagger}\check{\Phi}^{-1}\check{H}_{1}; \qquad \hat{G}_{1} = \check{G}_{1}\Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}}; 
\hat{G}_{2} = \tilde{G}_{2} + \check{G}_{1}\check{J}_{11}^{\dagger}\check{\Phi}^{-1}\check{J}_{12}; \qquad \hat{H}_{1} = \check{\Phi}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\check{H}_{1}; 
\hat{H}_{2} = \tilde{H}_{2} + \check{J}_{21}\check{J}_{11}^{\dagger}\check{\Phi}^{-1}\check{H}_{1}; \qquad \hat{J}_{12} = \check{\Phi}^{-\frac{1}{2}}\check{J}_{12}; 
\hat{J}_{22} = \check{J}_{21}\check{J}_{11}^{\dagger}\check{\Phi}^{-1}\check{J}_{12}; \qquad \hat{J}_{21} = \check{J}_{21}\Phi^{-\frac{1}{2}}.$$
(8.100)

Note that the  $J_{10}$  term in (8.92) is automatically eliminated when the loop shifting

transformation is carried out. Furthermore, we also define

$$d\hat{y}(t) := dy(t) - \hat{J}_{22} du(t).$$
(8.101)

Substituting (8.101) to (8.99), we obtain

$$da(t) = \hat{F} a(t)dt + G_0 dv(t) + \hat{G}_1 d\hat{w}(t) + \hat{G}_2 du(t); \quad a(0) = a_0;$$
  

$$d\hat{z}(t) = \hat{H}_1 a(t)dt + \hat{J}_{12} du(t);$$
  

$$d\hat{y}(t) = \hat{H}_2 a(t)dt + J_{20} dv(t) + \hat{J}_{21} d\hat{w}(t).$$
(8.102)

The  $H^{\infty}$  control objective corresponding to the quantum system (8.102) is

$$\int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \hat{z}(s)^{\dagger} \hat{z}(s) + \hat{z}(s)^{T} \hat{z}(s)^{*} + \varepsilon \left( \tilde{\eta}(s)^{\dagger} \tilde{\eta}(s) + \tilde{\eta}(s)^{T} \tilde{\eta}(s)^{*} \right) \right\rangle ds$$

$$\leq (1 - \varepsilon^{2}) \int_{0}^{t} \left\langle \hat{\beta}_{w}(s)^{\dagger} \hat{\beta}_{w}(s) + \hat{\beta}_{w}(s)^{T} \hat{\beta}_{w}(s)^{*} \right\rangle ds + \pi_{1} + \pi_{2}t \qquad (8.103)$$

where  $\varepsilon, \pi_1, \pi_2 > 0$  are real constants.

The solution to the coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  control problem for the quantum system (8.102) is given in terms of the solutions to the complex algebraic Riccati equations

$$\left( \hat{F} - \hat{G}_{2}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1} \right)^{\dagger}\hat{X} + \hat{X} \left( \hat{F} - \hat{G}_{2}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1} \right) + \hat{X} \left( \hat{G}_{1}\hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger} - \hat{G}_{2}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{G}_{2}^{\dagger} \right)\hat{X} + \hat{H}_{1}^{\dagger} \left( I - \hat{J}_{12}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \right)\hat{H}_{1} = 0; \left( \hat{F} - \hat{G}_{1}\hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{H}_{2} \right)\hat{Y} + \hat{Y} \left( \hat{F} - \hat{G}_{1}\hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{H}_{2} \right)^{\dagger} + \hat{Y} \left( \hat{H}_{1}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1} - \hat{H}_{2}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{H}_{2} \right)\hat{Y} + \hat{G}_{1} \left( I - \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{J}_{21} \right)\hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger} = 0$$
(8.104)

such that the following conditions hold:

- 1.  $\hat{F} \hat{G}_2 \hat{E}_1^{-1} \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \hat{H}_1 + \left( \hat{G}_1 \hat{G}_1^{\dagger} \hat{G}_2 \hat{E}_1^{-1} \hat{G}_2^{\dagger} \right) \hat{X}$  is Hurwitz; 2.  $\hat{F} - \hat{G}_1 \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_2^{-1} \hat{H}_2 + \hat{Y} \left( \hat{H}_1^{\dagger} \hat{H}_1 - \hat{H}_2^{\dagger} \hat{E}_2^{-1} \hat{H}_2 \right)$  is Hurwitz;
- 3. The spectral radius  $\rho(\hat{X}\hat{Y})$  of matrix  $\hat{X}\hat{Y}$  is strictly less than one.

To compute the solutions to the Riccati equations (8.104), we need to satisfy the following assumption:

Assumption 8.6. Given constants  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_{k+1} > 0, \delta_1 > 0, \ldots, \delta_p > 0, \beta_1 > 0, \ldots, \beta_p > 0$  and any non-singular scaling matrix R, the artificial uncertain quantum system (8.87), (8.8), (8.28), (8.89) is assumed to be such that  $\hat{E}_1 = \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \hat{J}_{12} > 0$  and  $\hat{E}_2 = \hat{J}_{21} \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger} > 0.$ 

**Theorem 8.3.** Let  $\beta_1 > 0, \ldots, \beta_p > 0$  be given constants and suppose that there exist constants  $\kappa_1 > 0, \ldots, \kappa_k > 0$ ,  $\alpha_1 > 0, \ldots, \alpha_p > 0$  satisfying Assumption 8.3 and Assumption 8.4 such that the complex algebraic Riccati equation (8.83) has a stabilizing solution  $X \ge 0$ ; and let

$$K = -\breve{E}_1^{-1} \left( \breve{G}_2^{\dagger} \breve{X} + \breve{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \breve{H}_1 \right).$$

Also, suppose that there exist a non-singular scaling matrix R and constants  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_{k+1} > 0, \delta_1 > 0, \ldots, \delta_p > 0$  satisfying Assumption 8.5 and Assumption 8.6 such that the complex algebraic Riccati equations (8.104) have stabilizing solutions  $\hat{X} \ge 0$  and  $\hat{Y} \ge 0$  such that the spectral radius  $\rho(\hat{X}\hat{Y}) < 1$ . Then the closed loop uncertain quantum system obtained by applying the coherent quantum controller of the form (8.18) with

$$F_{c} = \hat{F}_{c} - G_{c}\hat{J}_{22}H_{c};$$

$$\hat{F}_{c} = \hat{F} + \hat{G}_{2}H_{c} - G_{c}\hat{H}_{2} + \left(\hat{G}_{1} - G_{c}\hat{J}_{21}\right)\hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger}\hat{X};$$

$$G_{c} = \left(I - \hat{Y}\hat{X}\right)^{-1}\left(\hat{Y}\hat{H}_{2}^{\dagger} + \hat{G}_{1}\hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger}\right)E_{2}^{-1};$$

$$H_{c} = -\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\left(\hat{G}_{2}^{\dagger}\hat{X} + \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1}\right)$$
(8.105)

to the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28) is strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ .

**Proof.** It follows from a loop shifting arguments in the classical  $H^{\infty}$  control theory (e.g., see [16, Sections 4.5.1 and 5.5.1] and [18, Section 17.2]) that the  $H^{\infty}$ quantum control problem (8.92), (8.95) has a solution if and only if the complex Riccati equations in (8.104) have stabilizing solutions  $\hat{X} \ge 0$  and  $\hat{Y} \ge 0$  such that  $\rho(\hat{X}\hat{Y}) < 1$ . Moreover, a coherent quantum controller of the form (8.18) (but not necessarily stable and strict bounded real), which solves the  $H^{\infty}$  quantum control problem (8.92), (8.95) is defined by (8.105).

Therefore, if the conditions of the theorem are satisfied, it follows from the

arguments in the proofs of Theorem 4.1 in [187] and of Theorem 7.1 in [73] that the closed loop uncertain quantum system obtained by applying the coherent quantum controller (8.18), (8.105) to the artificial uncertain quantum system (8.87), (8.8), (8.28), (8.89) is strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ . Moreover, it follows from the construction of the artificial uncertain quantum system (8.87), (8.8), (8.28), (8.89) that the coherent quantum controller (8.18), (8.105) must be stable, strict bounded real and satisfy the condition in Lemma 8.1. Thus, if this controller is applied to the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28), the resulting closed loop uncertain quantum system is strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ .

**Theorem 8.4.** Let  $\beta_1 > 0, \ldots, \beta_p > 0$  be given constants and suppose that there exist constants  $\kappa_1 > 0, \ldots, \kappa_k > 0$ ,  $\alpha_1 > 0, \ldots, \alpha_p > 0$  satisfying Assumption 8.3 and Assumption 8.4 such that the complex algebraic Riccati equation (8.83) has a stabilizing solution  $X \ge 0$ . Also, suppose that there exist a non-singular scaling matrix R and constants  $\tau_1 > 0, \ldots, \tau_{k+1} > 0$ ,  $\delta_1 > 0, \ldots, \delta_p > 0$  such that Assumption 8.5 and Assumption 8.6 hold, and the complex algebraic Riccati equations (8.104) have stabilizing solutions  $\hat{X} \ge 0$  and  $\hat{Y} \ge 0$  such that the spectral radius  $\rho(\hat{X}\hat{Y}) < 1$ . Furthermore, suppose that the coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$ controller (8.18), (8.105) is such that the transfer function matrices in (8.22) satisfy the norm bounds in (8.28) and each corresponding decentralized quantum controller (8.11) is physically realizable. Then, the uncertain closed loop quantum system obtain by applying the decentralized coherent quantum controller (8.11) to the uncertain quantum system (8.1), (8.8) is strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ .

**Proof.** If all conditions of the theorem are satisfied, it then follows from Theorem 8.3 that a closed loop uncertain quantum system obtained by applying the quantum controller (8.18), (8.105) to the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28) is strictly bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ . We also assume that the quantum controller (8.18), (8.105) is such that the transfer function matrices in (8.22) satisfy the norm bounds in (8.28). Furthermore, as mentioned in the construction of the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28), a closed loop uncertain quantum system obtained by applying the decentralized quantum controller (8.11) (for all j = 1, 2, ..., p) to the uncertain quantum system (8.1), (8.6) is identical to a closed loop uncertain

quantum system obtained by applying the quantum controller (8.18), (8.105) to the equivalent uncertain quantum system (8.27), (8.24), (8.8), (8.28) when the additional uncertainty inputs defined in (8.23) are applied. Hence, it follows that the decentralized quantum controller (8.11) defined by (8.18), (8.105) is such that the resulting closed loop uncertain quantum system is strict bounded real with disturbance attenuation  $\gamma > 0$ .

## 8.4.2 A differential evolution approach

Likewise in sub-Section 8.3.2, we also provide a numerical algorithm so that the strict bounded real decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller synthesis algorithm presented in sub-Section 8.4.1 is applicable. Since nonconvex nonlinear constraints are involved in the synthesis algorithm, we also apply the DE algorithm to find an optimal solution to the decentralized quantum control problem being considered. In this case, we need to reformulate the given control problem as a constrained optimization problem as stated in (8.45) and (8.46).

We now define a vector of decision variables as follows:

$$\vartheta := \begin{bmatrix} \gamma & \kappa & \alpha & \tau & \delta & \beta \end{bmatrix}^T$$
(8.106)

where

$$\kappa := \begin{bmatrix} \kappa_1 & \cdots & \kappa_k \end{bmatrix}; \quad \alpha := \begin{bmatrix} \alpha_1 & \cdots & \alpha_p \end{bmatrix}; \quad \tau := \begin{bmatrix} \tau_1 & \cdots & \tau_{k+1} \end{bmatrix};$$
$$\delta := \begin{bmatrix} \delta_1 & \cdots & \delta_p \end{bmatrix}; \quad \beta := \begin{bmatrix} \beta_1 & \cdots & \beta_p \end{bmatrix}. \tag{8.107}$$

The dimension of  $\vartheta$  is 2k + 3p + 2 and all elements of  $\vartheta$  are positive real numbers. An objective function and all constraints are then defined in terms of  $\vartheta$ . Since we are solving a decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  control problem, a suitable objective function  $f(\vartheta)$  to be minimized is as follows:

$$\mathsf{f}(\vartheta) = \mathsf{m}_0 \gamma^{\mathsf{n}_0} + \sum_{j=1}^p \mathsf{m}_j \beta_j^{\mathsf{n}_j}$$
(8.108)

where  $\mathbf{m}_0, \mathbf{m}_j \geq 1$  are weighting factors and  $\mathbf{n}_0, \mathbf{n}_j \geq 1$  are power constants.

Moreover, the equality constraints are

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{g}_{1}(\vartheta) &= \left( \breve{F} - \breve{G}_{2}\breve{E}_{1}^{-1}\breve{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\breve{H}_{1} \right)^{\top}\breve{X} + \breve{X} \left( \breve{F} - \breve{G}_{2}\breve{E}_{1}^{-1}\breve{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\breve{H}_{1} \right) \\ &+ \breve{X} \left( \breve{G}_{1}\breve{G}_{1}^{\dagger} - \breve{G}_{2}\breve{E}_{1}^{-1}\breve{G}_{2}^{\dagger} \right) \breve{X} + \breve{H}_{1}^{\dagger} \left( I - \breve{J}_{12}\breve{E}_{1}^{-1}\breve{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \right) \breve{H}_{1} = 0; \\ \mathbf{g}_{2}(\vartheta) &= \left( \mathring{F} - \hat{G}_{2}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1} \right)^{\dagger} \hat{X} + \hat{X} \left( \mathring{F} - \hat{G}_{2}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1} \right) \\ &+ \hat{X} \left( \hat{G}_{1}\hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger} - \hat{G}_{2}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{G}_{2}^{\dagger} \right) \hat{X} + \hat{H}_{1}^{\dagger} \left( I - \hat{J}_{12}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \right) \hat{H}_{1} = 0; \\ \mathbf{g}_{3}(\vartheta) &= \left( \tilde{F} - \hat{G}_{1}\hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{H}_{2} \right) \hat{Y} + \hat{Y} \left( \tilde{F} - \hat{G}_{1}\hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{H}_{2} \right)^{\dagger} \\ &+ \hat{Y} \left( \hat{H}_{1}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1} - \hat{H}_{2}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{H}_{2} \right) \hat{Y} + \hat{G}_{1} \left( I - \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{J}_{21} \right) \hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger} = 0 \quad (8.109) \end{aligned}$$

and the inequality constraints are

$$\begin{split} h_{1}(\vartheta) &= \bar{J}_{11}\bar{J}_{11}^{\dagger} - I < 0; & h_{2}(\vartheta) &= -\check{E}_{1} < 0; \\ h_{3}(\vartheta) &= -\check{X} < 0; & h_{4}(\vartheta) &= \check{J}_{11}\check{J}_{11}^{\dagger} - I < 0; \\ h_{5}(\vartheta) &= -\hat{E}_{1} < 0; & h_{6}(\vartheta) &= -\hat{E}_{2} < 0; \\ h_{7}(\vartheta) &= -\hat{X} < 0; & h_{8}(\vartheta) &= -\hat{Y} < 0; \\ h_{9}(\vartheta) &= \rho\left(\hat{X}\hat{Y}\right) - 1 < 0; & h_{10}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r}\left(\mathcal{A}_{\check{X}}\right) < 0; \\ h_{11}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r}\left(\mathcal{A}_{\hat{X}}\right) < 0; & h_{12}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r}\left(\mathcal{A}_{\hat{Y}}\right) < 0; \\ h_{13,j}(\vartheta) &= \|\bar{\Delta}_{j}(s)\|_{\infty}^{2} - \beta_{j} \leq 0; & h_{14,j}(\vartheta) &= \|T_{jj}(s)\|_{\infty} - 1 \leq 0 \end{split}$$

for j = 1, 2, ..., p. Also, we define  $\mathcal{A}_{\check{X}}$ ,  $\mathcal{A}_{\hat{X}}$  and  $\mathcal{A}_{\hat{Y}}$  as follows:

$$\mathcal{A}_{X} := \breve{F} - \breve{G}_{2}\breve{E}_{1}^{-1}\breve{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\breve{H}_{1} + \left(\breve{G}_{1}\breve{G}_{1}^{\dagger} - \breve{G}_{2}\breve{E}_{1}^{-1}\breve{G}_{2}^{\dagger}\right)\breve{X};$$
  
$$\mathcal{A}_{\hat{X}} := \hat{F} - \hat{G}_{2}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1} + \left(\hat{G}_{1}\hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger} - \hat{G}_{2}\hat{E}_{1}^{-1}\hat{G}_{2}^{\dagger}\right)\check{X};$$
  
$$\mathcal{A}_{\hat{Y}} := \hat{F} - \hat{G}_{1}\hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{H}_{2} + \hat{Y}\left(\hat{H}_{1}^{\dagger}\hat{H}_{1} - \hat{H}_{2}^{\dagger}\hat{E}_{2}^{-1}\hat{H}_{2}\right).$$
(8.111)

To examine the fitness of a candidate solution with respect to all equality and inequality constraints in (8.109) and (8.110), we form a fitness test routine, which proceeds through the following steps:

- 1. Compute the eigenvalues of  $(\bar{J}_{11}\bar{J}_{11}^{\dagger}-I)$  and  $\check{E}_1$  to verify if  $h_1(\vartheta)$  and  $h_2(\vartheta)$  are satisfied.
- 2. Evaluate  $g_1(\vartheta)$  to obtain a solution  $\breve{X}$  to the Riccati equation in (8.83).

- 3. Verify if  $\check{X}$  is a stabilizing positive definite solution by evaluating  $h_3(\vartheta)$  and  $h_{10}(\vartheta)$ .
- 4. Compute the eigenvalues of  $(\check{J}_{11}\check{J}_{11}^{\dagger}-I)$ ,  $\hat{E}_1$  and  $\hat{E}_2$  to verify if  $h_4(\vartheta)$ ,  $h_5(\vartheta)$  and  $h_6(\vartheta)$  hold.
- 5. Evaluate  $g_2(\vartheta)$  and  $g_3(\vartheta)$  to obtain solutions  $\hat{X}$  and  $\hat{Y}$  to the Riccati equations in (8.104).
- 6. Verify if  $\hat{X}$  and  $\hat{Y}$  are stabilizing positive definite solutions by evaluating  $h_7(\vartheta)$ ,  $h_8(\vartheta)$ ,  $h_{11}(\vartheta)$  and  $h_{12}(\vartheta)$ .
- 7. Compute the spectral radius of the product  $\hat{X}\hat{Y}$  to verify if  $h_9(\vartheta)$  holds.
- 8. Evaluate  $h_{13,j}(\vartheta)$  (for j = 1, 2, ..., p) to check if the *j*-th off-diagonal block of T(s) in (8.20) satisfies the norm bound condition in (8.28).
- 9. Verify if the  $H^{\infty}$  norm  $||T_{jj}(s)||_{\infty}$  of the *j*-th diagonal block of T(s) is less than or equal to one by evaluating  $h_{14,j}(\vartheta)$  (for j = 1, 2, ..., p).
- 10. Evaluate the objective function  $f(\vartheta)$  in (8.108).

A violation of each constraint in (8.109) and (8.110) is penalized. Thus, we need to define penalty functions, which are then accommodated in the fitness test routine. That is,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathbf{p}_{1}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max}(\bar{J}_{11}\bar{J}_{11}^{\dagger} - I)^{\mathbf{s}_{1}}; & \mathbf{p}_{2}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(\check{E}_{1})|^{\mathbf{s}_{2}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{3}(\vartheta) &= \rho(\mathcal{C}_{\check{X}})^{\mathbf{s}_{3}}; & \mathbf{p}_{4}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(\check{X})|^{\mathbf{s}_{4}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{5}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r}\left(\mathcal{A}_{\check{X}}\right)^{\mathbf{s}_{5}}; & \mathbf{p}_{6}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max}(\check{J}_{11}\check{J}_{11}^{\dagger} - I)^{\mathbf{s}_{6}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{7}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(\hat{E}_{1})|^{\mathbf{s}_{7}}; & \mathbf{p}_{8}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(\hat{E}_{2})|^{\mathbf{s}_{8}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{9}(\vartheta) &= \rho(\mathcal{C}_{\hat{X}})^{\mathbf{s}_{9}}; & \mathbf{p}_{10}(\vartheta) &= \rho(\mathcal{C}_{\hat{Y}})^{\mathbf{s}_{10}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{11}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(\hat{X})|^{\mathbf{s}_{11}}; & \mathbf{p}_{12}(\vartheta) &= |e_{\min}(\hat{Y})|^{\mathbf{s}_{12}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{13}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r}\left(\mathcal{A}_{\hat{X}}\right)^{\mathbf{s}_{13}}; & \mathbf{p}_{14}(\vartheta) &= e_{\max,r}\left(\mathcal{A}_{\hat{Y}}\right)^{\mathbf{s}_{14}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{15}(\vartheta) &= \left(\rho(\hat{X}\hat{Y}) - 1\right)^{\mathbf{s}_{15}}; & \mathbf{p}_{16}(\vartheta) &= \sum_{j=1}^{p} \mathcal{D}_{j}^{\mathbf{c}_{j}}; \\ \mathbf{p}_{17}(\vartheta) &= \sum_{j=1}^{p} \mathcal{S}_{j}^{\mathbf{d}_{j}}; & \mathbf{p}_{18}(\vartheta) &= \mathbf{f}(\vartheta) \end{aligned}$$

where  $\mathbf{s}_{\mathbf{r}} \geq 1$  for  $\mathbf{r} = 1, 2, \dots, 15$  and  $\mathbf{c}_j, \mathbf{d}_j \geq 1$  for  $j = 1, 2, \dots, p$ . Moreover, we

also define

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathcal{C}_{\breve{X}} &:= \breve{H}_{1}^{\dagger} \left( I - \breve{J}_{12} \breve{E}_{1}^{-1} \breve{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \right) \breve{H}_{1}; \\
\mathcal{C}_{\hat{X}} &:= \hat{H}_{1}^{\dagger} \left( I - \hat{J}_{12} \hat{E}_{1}^{-1} \hat{J}_{12}^{\dagger} \right) \hat{H}_{1}; \\
\mathcal{C}_{\hat{Y}} &:= \hat{G}_{1} \left( I - \hat{J}_{21}^{\dagger} \hat{E}_{2}^{-1} \hat{J}_{21} \right) \hat{G}_{1}^{\dagger}; \\
\mathcal{D}_{j} &:= \begin{cases} \| \bar{\Delta}_{j}(s) \|_{\infty}^{2}, & \text{if } \mathsf{h}_{13,j}(\vartheta) \text{ is violated}; \\ 0, & \text{otherwise}; \\ \end{cases} \\
\mathcal{S}_{j} &:= \begin{cases} \| T_{jj}(s) \|_{\infty}, & \text{if } \mathsf{h}_{14,j}(\vartheta) \text{ is violated}; \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases} \end{aligned} \tag{8.113}$$

### 8.4.3 Illustrative examples

We now present two examples of designing strict bound real decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controllers using the synthesis algorithm described in sub-Section 8.4.1. The quantum systems under consideration belong to a class of quantum optical systems with only passive components; e.g., see [70, 73]. Moreover, we can use the same approach as in sub-Section 8.3.3 to build the decentralized quantum controllers using passive components such as optical cavities, beam splitters and phase shifters; see [77].

#### Example 1: Cascaded two optical cavities

As the first example, we aim to construct strict bounded real decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controllers for the quantum system (8.67) as shown in Figure 8.4. Using the DE-based algorithm in sub-Section 8.4.2, we obtain

 $\gamma = 1.1652; \quad \alpha_1 = 1110.4129; \quad \alpha_2 = 1051.0836; \quad \tau_1 = 2.5962; \\ \delta_1 = 15.3329; \quad \delta_2 = 18.1159; \quad \beta_1 = 0.0012; \quad \beta_2 = 0.0013.$  (8.114)

Note that  $\tau_1$  corresponds to the artificial uncertainty, which is added to guarantee the stability and strict bounded real property of the decentralized quantum controller while achieving the closed loop  $H^{\infty}$  control objective.

We then use the parameters in (8.114) to construct a non-decentralized quan-

tum  $H^{\infty}$  controller, which is given as follows:

$$F_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} -3.5313 & -3.2273 \\ -13.0894 & -21.1233 \end{bmatrix}; \quad G_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.5870 & -0.5541 \\ 0.0305 & -0.3741 \end{bmatrix}; \\ H_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.1320 & -0.0564 \\ -0.0715 & -0.2619 \end{bmatrix}.$$

$$(8.115)$$

For this controller, the additional uncertainties  $\bar{\Delta}_1(s)$  and  $\bar{\Delta}_2(s)$  as defined in (8.22) have the squared  $H^{\infty}$  norm:

$$\|\bar{\Delta}_1(s)\|_{\infty}^2 = 0.0011; \quad \|\bar{\Delta}_2(s)\|_{\infty}^2 = 0.0013.$$
 (8.116)

It is clear that  $\|\bar{\Delta}_1(s)\|_{\infty}^2 \leq \beta_1$  and  $\|\bar{\Delta}_2(s)\|_{\infty}^2 \leq \beta_2$ . Thus, we can form the decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controllers for the quantum system (8.67) as follows:

$$F_{c_1} = F_c; \quad G_{c_1} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.5870\\ 0.0305 \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{c_1} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.1320 & -0.0564 \end{bmatrix};$$
  

$$F_{c_2} = F_c; \quad G_{c_2} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.5541\\ -0.3741 \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{c_2} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.0715 & -0.2619 \end{bmatrix}. \quad (8.117)$$

The eigenvalues of  $F_c$  are  $e_1 = -1.3905$  and  $e_2 = -23.2640$  and hence,  $F_c$  is Hurwitz. The  $H^{\infty}$  norms of the controllers in (8.117) are

$$||T_{11}(s)||_{\infty} = 0.0374; \quad ||T_{22}(s)||_{\infty} = 0.0248.$$
 (8.118)

Thus, according to Lemma 8.1,  $\{F_{c_1}, G_{c_1}, H_{c_1}\}$  and  $\{F_{c_2}, G_{c_2}, H_{c_2}\}$  in (8.117) are strict bounded real and physically realizable. Moreover, we proceed along the same steps as in (7.107) and (7.108) to compute  $G_{w_{c_{0,1}}}$ ,  $G_{w_{c_{0,2}}}$ ,  $H_{c_{2,1}}$  and  $H_{c_{2,2}}$ :

$$G_{w_{c_{0,1}}} = \begin{bmatrix} 76.8941\\ 694.7391 \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{c_{2,1}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0018 & -0.0001 \end{bmatrix};$$
  

$$G_{w_{c_{0,2}}} = \begin{bmatrix} 62.0070\\ 171.3056 \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{c_{2,2}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0012 & 0.0004 \end{bmatrix}. \quad (8.119)$$

so that the decentralized quantum controllers (8.117) are physically realizable according to Definition 8.1.



**Figure 8.6:** The first decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller.

Using the algorithm in [77], we apply similarity transformation to the decentralized quantum controllers (8.117), (8.119). This results in equivalent realizations, which can be physically constructed using only passive optical elements such as optical cavities, beam splitters and phase shifters. Thus, the equivalent realization for the first decentralized quantum controller is

$$\bar{F}_{c_1} = \begin{bmatrix} -1.3905 & 0\\ 11.3733 & -23.2640 \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{G}_{w_{c_{0,1}}} & \bar{G}_{c_1} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1.6674 & -0.0269\\ 6.8211 & -0.0177 \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{H}_{c_1}\\ \bar{H}_{c_{2,1}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6674 & -6.8211\\ 0.0269 & 0.0177 \end{bmatrix}$$
(8.120)

and that for the second decentralized quantum controller is

$$\bar{F}_{c_2} = \begin{bmatrix} -1.3905 & 0\\ -11.3744 & -23.2640 \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{G}_{w_{c_{0,2}}} & \bar{G}_{c_2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 1.6675 & -0.0242\\ 6.8211 & -0.0143 \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{H}_{c_2}\\ \bar{H}_{c_{2,2}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -1.6675 & -6.8211\\ 0.0242 & 0.0143 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(8.121)

The realizations (8.120) and (8.121) imply that each decentralized quantum controller can be built as a cascade of two first order generalized 2-mirror optical cavities because it has two inputs and two outputs; see [77].

The first decentralized quantum controller (8.120) is depicted in Figure 8.6



**Figure 8.7:** The second decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller.

with the parameters:

$$k_{c_{11}} = (1.6674)^2; \quad k_{c_{12}} = (0.0269)^2;$$
  
 $k_{c_{13}} = (6.8211)^2; \quad k_{c_{14}} = (0.0177)^2.$ 
(8.122)

Also, the second decentralized quantum controller (8.121) is depicted in Figure 8.7 with the parameters:

$$k_{c_{21}} = (1.6675)^2; \quad k_{c_{22}} = (0.0242)^2; k_{c_{23}} = (6.8211)^2; \quad k_{c_{24}} = (0.0143)^2.$$
(8.123)

These results show that for the quantum system (8.67), we are indeed able to obtain the decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controllers, which are physically realizable, using the controller design algorithm in sub-Section 8.4.1.

**Remark 8.3.** We notice that the value of  $\gamma$  in (8.114) is larger than that in (8.69). This is reasonable because we force the decentralized quantum controllers in (8.117) to be physical realizable when applying the synthesis algorithm presented in sub-Section 8.4.1. Conversely, although it yields a smaller  $\gamma$ , the synthesis algorithm in sub-Section 8.3.1 results in a second decentralized quantum controller in (8.72), which is not physically realizable.

#### Example 2: Cascaded three optical cavities

We now consider a quantum system consisting of three interconnected subsystems, but which only have two control inputs as shown in Figure 8.8. Using this example, we show that our method can also be used to design a decentralized control system for a large-scale quantum system where the number of subsystems is more than the number of decentralized controllers. This is possible because



Figure 8.8: A cascaded linear quantum system of three optical cavities.

the interconnections between subsystems are known and thus, not treated as uncertainties; e.g., see [197]. In our example, although we only have direct control action on the first and the third subsystems, the second subsystem can also be stabilized as its linear interconnection with the first subsystem is known.

The quantum optical network shown in Figure 8.8 can be represented as

$$\begin{bmatrix} da_{1}(t) \\ da_{2}(t) \\ da_{3}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -\frac{g_{1}}{2} & 0 & 0 \\ -\sqrt{k_{1}k_{4}} & -\frac{g_{2}}{2} & 0 \\ 0 & -\sqrt{k_{5}k_{6}} & -\frac{g_{3}}{2} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a_{1}(t) \\ a_{2}(t) \\ a_{3}(t) \end{bmatrix} dt + \begin{bmatrix} -\sqrt{k_{3}} & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & -\sqrt{k_{8}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} du_{1}(t) \\ du_{3}(t) \end{bmatrix}$$
$$+ \begin{bmatrix} -\sqrt{k_{1}} & 0 & 0 \\ -\sqrt{k_{4}} & -\sqrt{k_{5}} & 0 \\ 0 & -\sqrt{k_{6}} & -\sqrt{k_{7}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} dv_{1}(t) \\ dv_{2}(t) \\ dv_{3}(t) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} -\sqrt{k_{2}} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} dw_{1}(t);$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} dz_{1}(t) \\ dz_{3}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{k_{3}} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{k_{8}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a_{1}(t) \\ a_{2}(t) \\ a_{3}(t) \end{bmatrix} dt + \begin{bmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} du_{1}(t) \\ du_{3}(t) \end{bmatrix};$$
$$\begin{bmatrix} dy_{1}(t) \\ dy_{3}(t) \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} \sqrt{k_{2}} & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & \sqrt{k_{7}} \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} a_{1}(t) \\ a_{2}(t) \\ a_{3}(t) \end{bmatrix} dt + \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} dv_{1}(t) \\ dv_{2}(t) \\ dv_{3}(t) \end{bmatrix} + \begin{bmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{bmatrix} dw_{1}(t) \quad (8.124)$$

where  $g_1 = k_1 + k_2 + k_3$ ,  $g_2 = k_4 + k_5$  and  $g_3 = k_6 + k_7 + k_8$ . The parameters in (8.124) have the values

$$k_1 = 2.25; \quad k_2 = 1.00; \quad k_3 = 1.00; \quad k_4 = 1.00; \quad (8.125)$$

$$k_5 = 0.50; \quad k_6 = 1.21; \quad k_7 = 0.50; \quad k_8 = 0.50.$$
 (8.126)

Here, we also assume that the quantum system (8.124) is known and therefore, does not have any uncertainty terms in its model.

Using the DE approach in sub-Section 8.4.2, we obtain the values of all parameters required for the synthesis of the decentralized quantum controllers as

$$\gamma = 0.9294; \quad \alpha_1 = 4966.6123; \quad \alpha_2 = 4.6037; \quad \tau_1 = 1.5146; \\ \delta_1 = 5.1056; \quad \delta_2 = 3.3892; \qquad \beta_1 = 0.0005; \quad \beta_2 = 0.0063.$$
 (8.127)

The parameters in (8.127) are then used to construct a non-decentralized strict bounded real quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller, which are defined by

$$F_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} -2.1957 & -0.4944 & 0.2830 \\ -1.5075 & -0.7530 & 0.0135 \\ -0.0625 & -0.6933 & -1.0340 \end{bmatrix}; \quad G_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.3574 & 0.0582 \\ 0.0370 & -0.1492 \\ -0.0729 & 0.1097 \end{bmatrix};$$
$$H_{c} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.4021 & -0.1050 & 0.0688 \\ 0.0487 & -0.0972 & -0.2760 \end{bmatrix}.$$
(8.128)

The matrices  $G_c$  and  $H_c$  in (8.128) are such that the additional uncertainties  $\bar{\Delta}_1(s)$  and  $\bar{\Delta}_2(s)$  as defined in (8.22) have the following squared  $H^{\infty}$  norm:

$$\|\bar{\Delta}_1(s)\|_{\infty}^2 = 8.1725 \times 10^{-5}; \quad \|\bar{\Delta}_2(s)\|_{\infty}^2 = 0.0057.$$
 (8.129)

Indeed,  $\|\bar{\Delta}_1(s)\|_{\infty}^2$  and  $\|\bar{\Delta}_2(s)\|_{\infty}^2$  are less than  $\beta_1$  and  $\beta_2$ , respectively. Thus, we can form the decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controllers as follows:

$$F_{c_1} = F_c; \quad G_{c_1} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.3574\\ 0.0370\\ -0.0729 \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{c_1} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.4021 & -0.1050 & 0.0688 \end{bmatrix};$$
  

$$F_{c_2} = F_c; \quad G_{c_2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0582\\ -0.1492\\ 0.1097 \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{c_2} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0487 & -0.0972 & -0.2760 \end{bmatrix}$$
(8.130)

The eigenvalues of the matrix  $F_c$  are

$$e_1 = -2.4940; \quad e_2 = -0.2126; \quad e_3 = -1.2761$$
 (8.131)

and thus,  $F_c$  is Hurwitz. Moreover, the  $H^\infty$  norms of the decentralized quantum controllers are

$$||T_{11}(s)||_{\infty} = 0.0500; \quad ||T_{22}(s)||_{\infty} = 0.0742.$$
 (8.132)

Thus, according to Lemma 8.1,  $\{F_{c_1}, G_{c_1}, H_{c_1}\}$  and  $\{F_{c_2}, G_{c_2}, H_{c_2}\}$  are strict bounded real and physically realizable.

Following (7.107) and (7.108), we can compute  $G_{w_{c_{0,1}}}$ ,  $G_{w_{c_{0,2}}}$ ,  $H_{c_{2,1}}$  and  $H_{c_{2,2}}$ (see Definition 8.1):

$$G_{w_{c_{0,1}}} = \begin{bmatrix} -58.5256\\ -129.4753\\ -655.8940 \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{c_{2,1}} = \begin{bmatrix} 0.0103 & 0.0030 & -0.0017 \end{bmatrix};$$
$$G_{w_{c_{0,2}}} = \begin{bmatrix} 112.2091\\ 79.9897\\ 20.4744 \end{bmatrix}; \quad H_{c_{2,2}} = \begin{bmatrix} -0.0004 & 0.0012 & -0.0032 \end{bmatrix}$$
(8.133)

to physically realize the decentralized quantum controllers in (8.130). Furthermore, given the controller matrices in (8.128), (8.130) and (8.133), we can now apply the algorithm in [77] so that both decentralized quantum controllers can be constructed using passive optical components such as optical cavities, beam splitters and phase shifters. Thus, the first decentralized quantum controller is represented by

$$\bar{F}_{c_1} = \begin{bmatrix} -2.4940 & 0 & 0 \\ -1.4561 & -0.2126 & 0 \\ -3.5668 & -1.0416 & -1.2761 \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{G}_{w_{c_{0,1}}} & \bar{G}_{c_1} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 2.2333 & -0.0173 \\ 0.6519 & -0.0145 \\ 1.5967 & -0.0543 \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{H}_{c_1} \\ \bar{H}_{c_{2,1}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -2.2333 & -0.6519 & -1.5967 \\ 0.0173 & 0.0145 & 0.0543 \end{bmatrix}$$
(8.134)
and the second decentralized quantum controller is represented by

$$\bar{F}_{c_2} = \begin{bmatrix} -2.4940 & 0 & 0 \\ 1.4557 & -0.2126 & 0 \\ 3.5679 & -1.0409 & -1.2761 \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{G}_{w_{c_{0,2}}} & \bar{G}_{c_2} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} -2.2334 & -0.0001 \\ 0.6518 & -0.0180 \\ 1.5975 & 0.0153 \end{bmatrix};$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} \bar{H}_{c_2} \\ \bar{H}_{c_{2,2}} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{bmatrix} 2.2334 & -0.6518 & -1.5975 \\ 0.0001 & 0.0180 & -0.0153 \end{bmatrix}$$
(8.135)

The realizations in (8.134) and (8.135) indicate that each controller is of third order and has two inputs and two outputs. Hence, it can be built as a cascade of three first order generalized 2-mirror optical cavities; see [77].



**Figure 8.9:** The first strict bounded real decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller.

The first decentralized quantum controller (8.134) is illustrated in Figure 8.9 with the parameters:

$$k_{c_{11}} = (2.2333)^2; \quad k_{c_{12}} = (0.0173)^2; \quad k_{c_{13}} = (0.6519)^2; k_{c_{14}} = (0.0145)^2; \quad k_{c_{15}} = (1.5967)^2; \quad k_{c_{16}} = (0.0543)^2.$$
(8.136)

Also, the second decentralized quantum controller (8.135) has the following parameters:

$$k_{c_{21}} = (2.2334)^2; \quad k_{c_{22}} = (0.0001)^2; \quad k_{c_{23}} = (0.6518)^2; k_{c_{24}} = (0.0180)^2; \quad k_{c_{25}} = (1.5975)^2; \quad k_{c_{26}} = (0.0153)^2.$$
(8.137)

and is shown in Figure 8.10.



Figure 8.10: The second strict bounded real decentralized quantum  $H^{\infty}$  controller.

### 8.5 Conclusions

We have presented two systematic methods to design a decentralized coherent robust  $H^{\infty}$  quantum controller for a class of large-scale uncertain linear complex quantum stochastic systems with norm-bounded structured uncertainties. The large-scale quantum system is comprised of interconnected quantum subsystems where the interconnections are assumed to be partly or fully known and hence, not treated as uncertainties. Instead, we consider the neglected off-diagonal blocks of the transfer function matrix of the non-decentralized quantum controller as additional uncertainties. Thus, the resulting decentralized coherent quantum controller is robust against both the structured uncertainties in the quantum plant model and those additional uncertainties. Moreover, the quantum controller is also required to be physical realizable, which implies that the quantum controller has to be stable and bounded real.

Applying the first method, we do not immediately obtain a physically realizable decentralized quantum controller. This is because the physical realizability condition is not directly included in the controller synthesis algorithm. Meanwhile, if we apply the second method, the resulting quantum controller must be stable and strict bounded real, and hence, it is indeed physically realizable. This is achieved by introducing an artificial uncertainty to the equivalent uncertain quantum system for which a strict bounded real non-decentralized quantum controller is designed. However, this approach may result in a more conservative decentralized quantum controller than the one obtained using the first method due to the use of the additional artificial uncertainty. Also, the second method has more constraints and design parameters than the first method, and therefore, may take longer computational time to solve a quantum control problem under consideration. To deal with the nonconvex nonlinear constraints involved in both methods, we apply the DE algorithm to compute all design parameters required for controller synthesis. Thus, we reformulate the decentralized quantum control problem as a constrained nonlinear optimization problem. Moreover, two examples of quantum optical systems are considered to demonstrate the proposed decentralized quantum controller design methods using the DE apparoach. In these examples, we have also applied the algorithm in [77] to show that an *n*-th order decentralized quantum optical control system with *m* inputs can be physically constructed using purely passive optical devices such as optical cavities, beam splitters and phase shifters. This approach results in an *m*-input-*m*-output quantum optical controller with a cascade interconnection of *n* first order generalized *m*-mirror optical cavities.

## Chapter 9

# **Conclusions and Future Research**

This chapter presents final conclusions of our research which develops new methods to synthesize non-decentralized and decentralized robust feedback control systems for classical and quantum dynamical systems. In particular, the main concerns and contributions of Chapter 3 – Chapter 8 are summarized in Section 9.1. Potential future research areas are also described in Section 9.2 in order to suggest possible extensions to what we have done in our research.

### 9.1 Conclusions

The main results of our research presented in this thesis consist of two parts: Chapter 3 – Chapter 5 and Chapter 6 – Chapter 8, which are designated for classical and quantum dynamical systems, respectively. A common feature in both parts is that we employ the DE algorithm given in Chapter 2 to solve nonconvex nonlinear constrained optimization problems arising in feedback control syntheses for those systems. A particular variant of the DE algorithm applied in this thesis is drift-free DE/rand/1/either - or. As a class of evolutionary algorithms, the DE algorithm is equipped with variation operators: mutation and recombination, and a selection operator. These operators are used to explore and exploit a numerical search space in which the optimization takes place. In addition, we also apply a static penalty-based fitness test procedure, which serves as a link to the particular controller design algorithm being considered. Each penalty function is formed based on a constraint to satisfy during the fitness test and is only applied when the constraint is violated by a candidate solution. Specific control problems and the main contributions of Chapter 3 – Chapter 8 are described as follows:

1. In Chapter 3, we present a systematic method to construct a stable nonlinear robust  $H^{\infty}$  output feedback controller for a class of nonlinear uncertain systems. The admissible uncertainties and nonlinearities in the system being controlled are required to satisfy IQCs and GLCs, respectively. The  $H^{\infty}$ control objective is to achieve closed loop absolute stability with a specified disturbance attenuation level. Our approach to construct the nonlinear controller is to add a copy of each nonlinearity to the linear part of the controller. This is to enable the controller to exploit the system nonlinearities. Applying a standard robust  $H^{\infty}$  control method (see [187]) to derive the controller design algorithm, we include all copies of the nonlinearities back into the system and also characterize them with IQCs derived from GLCs.

To ensure stability of the controller, we first solve a corresponding state feedback control problem and then introduce an additional uncertainty to form an artificial uncertain system based on the original uncertain system. Any suitable controller for the artificial uncertain system is guaranteed to be stable and solves the original control problem. The controller matrices are written in terms of stabilizing solutions to algebraic Riccati equations, which are parameterized by scaling constants associated with all IQCs. Note that the use of additional artificial uncertainty gives rise to extra conservatism in the controller design method.

2. In Chapter 4, we are concerned with decentralized state feedback robust  $H^{\infty}$  control for a class of large-scale linear uncertain systems. The uncertainties in the system are required to satisfy IQCs in order to be admissible. The closed loop control objective is to achieve absolute stability with a specified disturbance attenuation level. Here, the large-scale system is composed of interconnected subsystems. We assume that the interconnections between subsystems are known and therefore, we do not treat them as uncertainties, which may degrade the system performance. Instead, we neglect off-diagonal blocks of a corresponding non-decentralized state feedback gain matrix and consider them as additional uncertainties. The decentralized controllers are then capable of exploiting the interconnections and are ro-

bust against uncertainties in the systems and in themselves. This approach is useful when the number of controllers is less than the number of subsystems. The decentralized state feedback controllers are constructed using a stabilizing solution to an algebraic Riccati equation, which is parameterized by scaling constants associated with all IQCs.

3. We combine the ideas in Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 in order to derive the controller design algorithm presented in Chapter 5. In this case, we are interested in decentralized nonlinear robust H<sup>∞</sup> output feedback control for a class of large-scale nonlinear uncertain systems. The uncertainties and nonlinearities in the large-scale system have to satisfy IQCs and GLCs, respectively, in order to be admissible. The interconnections between subsystems are also not treated as uncertainties, but rather as useful structural information on the entire system although we do not assume how the subsystems are interconnected. However, nonlinear error systems arising from discrepancies between non-decentralized and decentralized controllers are then considered as additional uncertainties. This implies that the decentralized nonlinear controllers must be stable and are able to exploit the known interconnections while absolutely stabilizing the resulting closed loop system with a prescribed disturbance attenuation level.

Stable decentralized controllers are obtained using the same approach as in Chapter 3, which involves solving a state feedback control problem and forming an artificial uncertain system. The use of artificial uncertainty thus introduces some additional conservatism to the controller design process. Moreover, the decentralized controllers are constructed using stabilizing solutions to algebraic Riccati equations parameterized by scaling constants corresponding to all IQCs.

4. The main contribution of Chapter 6 is a DE-based algorithm to synthesize a coherent quantum feedback controller for a class of linear quantum systems represented in terms of linear QSDEs with real and complex quadratures. The quantum controller must be physically realizable so that it exhibits meaningful dynamics according to the laws of quantum mechanics. The physical realizability condition for the quantum controller is converted into a complex algebraic Riccati equation whose coefficients are the controller

matrices. The Riccati equation is required to have an imaginary Hermitian solution, which may not be unique, in order that the quantum controller is physically realizable. We thus always include the Riccati equation as an equality constraint when we solve the quantum controller synthesis problem as a nonconvex nonlinear optimization problem using the DE-based algorithm. In this case, we are quite flexible to determine an objective function to optimize according to the particular control problem under consideration. Therefore, our approach can also be adapted to solve the coherent quantum  $H^{\infty}$  and LQG control problems considered in [70, 72].

The proposed DE-based algorithm is effectively used to solve an entanglement enhancement problem for an ideal quantum optical network. Here, we aim to construct a physically realizable quantum controller, which not only stabilizes the quantum network, but also enhances an initial entanglement level of the quantum network. This example indicates potential future application of a dynamic coherent quantum controller to preserve and enhance the entanglement level of a real quantum network.

5. We present a new method in Chapter 7 to construct a coherent quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  controller for a class of linear complex quantum systems with norm-bounded structured uncertainties. The dynamics of an uncertain quantum system in this class is determined only by annihilation operators and is represented in terms of linear QSDEs with complex coefficients as described in [73]. Moreover, the quantum controller is required to be stable and strict bounded real, and therefore, is guaranteed to be physically realizable. The purpose of applying this quantum controller is to obtain a strict bounded real closed loop quantum system with a specified disturbance attenuation level.

The desired quantum controller can be synthesized using the method in [8], which involves forming an artificial quantum uncertain system. Any suitable quantum controller for the artificial uncertain quantum system must be stable and strict bounded real, and also solves the original quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  control problem. The quantum controller matrices are then constructed using stabilizing solutions to complex algebraic Riccati equations, which are parameterized by scaling constants associated with all uncertainties. The use of artificial uncertainty in our approach, however, introduces extra conservatism to the controller design method.

To demonstrate the proposed controller design algorithm, we consider an example of designing a strict bounded real quantum controller for a quantum optical system. This example cannot be solved using the method in [73]. We also show that the resulting quantum controller can be physically constructed using an algorithm in [77] with only passive optical elements such as optical cavities, beam splitters and phase shifters.

6. In Chapter 8, we propose two systematic methods to design a decentralized quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  control system for a class of large-scale linear complex quantum systems with norm-bounded structured uncertainties. This class of uncertain quantum systems is the same as that in Chapter 7. We assume that the large-scale uncertain quantum system is composed of quantum subsystems with known interconnections between them. Nevertheless, we do not assume any structure on how the quantum subsystems are interconnected. Applying the decentralized quantum controller, we want to achieve a strict bounded real closed loop quantum system with a specified disturbance attenuation level.

We follow the approach in [166] to derive both of the decentralized quantum controller design methods. In this case, since the interconnections are assumed to be known, they are not treated as uncertainties. Instead, we neglect off-diagonal parts of the transfer function matrix of a corresponding non-decentralized quantum controller. Those neglected parts are then considered as additional uncertainties in the large-scale uncertain quantum system. This approach then provides robustness to the decentralized quantum controller against uncertainties in the quantum system and the additional uncertainties.

Applying the first method, we do not immediately obtain a physically realizable decentralized quantum control system. This is because we employ the results in [73] to construct the decentralized quantum controller matrices and the physically realizability condition is not directly imposed. Thus, we must always check if the decentralized quantum control system is physically realizable before it is implemented. This in turn motivates us to propose the second method, which is based on the results in Chapter 7. Using the second method, we are then guaranteed to obtain a strict bounded real decentralized quantum control system, which must be physically realizable. However, the use of an artificial uncertainty in the second method may introduce some extra conservatism in the controller design process. Despite the differences, both methods involve finding stabilizing solutions to complex algebraic Riccati equations and those solutions are used to form the controller matrices. The Riccati equations are parameterized by scaling constants corresponding to all uncertainties in the quantum system.

The efficacy of both methods is demonstrated through examples of controlling quantum optical networks consisting of passive optical elements. The resulting decentralized quantum controllers can be physically constructed using the algorithm in [77] with only passive optical elements such as optical cavities, beam splitters and phase shifters. Moreover, we also show that there is a case when the first method fails to provide a physically realizable decentralized quantum controller. The same case, however, can be solved using the second method.

#### 9.2 Future Research

To extend the results of our research presented in this thesis, we suggest some possible future research directions as follows:

- Regarding the results in Chapter 3 and Chapter 5, it is possible to relax the constraint on the nonlinearity from a local Lipschitz condition to consider other types of nonlinearity satisfying conditions such as monotonicity and restricted slope conditions; e.g., see [6, 185, 323]. Moreover, we can employ the ideas in those chapters to construct a stable nonlinear guaranteed cost controller for handling a worst-case-performance control problem; e.g., see [2]. Also, we can apply a reduced order controller and take into account time delays in the system, especially when dealing with a large-scale system as presented in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5; e.g., see [18, 324–326].
- 2. The quantum controller design algorithm presented in Chapter 6 is applicable to solve entanglement control problems for more realistic quantum

networks; e.g., see [61, 233]. Also, we may extend the ideas in Chapter 7 and Chapter 8 to solve quantum robust  $H^{\infty}$  and guaranteed cost control problems for a larger class of uncertain quantum systems driven by both annihilation and creation operators; e.g., see [34]. In addition, ideas of constructing a reduced order quantum controller and considering time delays in the quantum system are also of interest; e.g., see [327,328]. All these extensions are potentially useful for investigating future applications of quantum information flow control within quantum communication networks based on network flow control theory for classical systems; e.g., see [329]. Moreover, to achieve better understanding about coherent linear quantum control systems, we may approximately simulate the examples in Chapter 6 - Chapter 8 within MATLAB environment using, for example, quantum optics toolbox as described in [330, 331]. However, in general, simulating quantum systems on classical computers remains a great challenge because it requires enormous memory resources for quantum information storage; e.g., see [332–334].

3. When applying DE-based algorithms to solve our control problems in Chapter 3 – Chapter 8, it often takes a large amount of computation time to obtain the desired solutions. Thus, to improve the performance of our IQC-based algorithms, we may use parallel computation and/or combine the DE approach with reliable problem-specific algorithms for (non)-convex and/or nonsmooth optimization; e.g., see [102, 145, 159, 271, 273, 335–339]. Also, we can apply a self-adaptive strategy to determine the DE-parameter settings and dynamic penalty functions to handle constraints involved in particular control problems; e.g., see [279, 281, 307, 340]. Moreover, it is also important to investigate numerical issues corresponding to solution characteristics (e.g., optimality, accuracy and sensitivity), convergence rate and optimization landscapes when using the DE method for designing robust control systems; e.g., see [341–343].

## References

- [1] K. J. Aström and R. M. Murray, *Feedback Systems: An Introduction for Scientists and Engineers.* Princeton University Press, 2008.
- [2] I. R. Petersen, V. A. Ugrinovskii, and A. V. Savkin, Robust Control Design using H<sup>∞</sup> Methods. Springer-Verlag London, 2000.
- [3] E. Alba and J. M. Troya, "Improving flexibility and efficiency by adding parallelism to genetic algorithms," *Statistics and Computing*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 91–114, 2002.
- [4] K. V. Price, R. M. Storn, and J. A. Lampinen, Differential Evolution A Practical Approach to Global Optimization. Berlin, Germany: Springer, 2005.
- [5] K. V. Price, "Eliminating drift bias from the differential evolution algorithm," in Advances in Differential Evolution, ser. Studies in Computational Intelligence, U. K. Chakraborty, Ed. Springer, 2008, vol. 143, pp. 33–88.
- [6] I. R. Petersen, "Robust output feedback guaranteed cost control of nonlinear stochastic uncertain systems via an IQC approach," *IEEE Transactions* on Automatic Control, vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 1299–1304, 2009.
- [7] —, "Robust H<sup>∞</sup> control of an uncertain system via a stable output feedback controller," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 54, no. 6, pp. 1418–1423, 2009.
- [8] —, "Robust H<sup>∞</sup> control of an uncertain system via a strict bounded real output feedback controller," Optimal Control Applications and Methods, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 247–266, 2009.
- [9] R. C. Dorf and R. H. Bishop, *Modern Control Systems*, 11th ed. Pearson Prentice-Hall, 2008.
- [10] J. C. Doyle, B. A. Francis, and A. R. Tannenbaum, *Feedback Control The*ory. Macmillan Publishing Co., 1992.

- [11] O. Mayr, The Origins of Feedback Control. MIT Press, 1970.
- [12] S. Bennett, "A brief history of feedback control," *IEEE Control Systems Magazine*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 17–25, 1996.
- [13] D. S. Bernstein, "Feedback control: An invisible thread in the history of technology," *IEEE Control Systems Magazine*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 53–68, 2002.
- [14] K. J. Aström and T. Hägglund, Advanced PID Control. ISA The Instrumention, Systems, and Automation Society, 2006.
- [15] H. Kwakernaak and R. Sivan, *Linear Optimal Control Systems*. John Wiley & Sons, 1972.
- [16] T. Başar and P. Bernhard, H<sup>∞</sup>-Optimal Control and Related Minimax Design Problems: A Dynamic Game Approach, 2nd ed. Boston: Birkhäuser, 1995.
- [17] S. Skogestad and I. Postlethwaite, Multivariable Feedback Control: Analysis and Design, 2nd ed. John Wiley & Sons, 2005.
- [18] K. Zhou, J. Doyle, and K. Glover, *Robust and Optimal Control*. Upper Saddle River, NJ, USA: Prentice-Hall, 1996.
- [19] S. Boyd and L. Vandenberghe, Convex Optimization. Cambridge, the United Kingdom: Cambridge University Press, 2004.
- [20] V. P. Belavkin, "Theory of the control of observable quantum systems," Automation and Remote Control, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 178–188, 1983.
- [21] G. M. Huang, T. J. Tarn, and J. W. Clark, "On the controllability of quantum-mechanical systems," *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, vol. 24, no. 11, pp. 2608–2618, 1983.
- [22] A. P. Peirce, M. A. Dahleh, and H. Rabitz, "Optimal control of quantummechanical systems: Existence, numerical approximation, and applications," *Physical Review A*, vol. 37, no. 12, pp. 4950–4964, 1988.
- [23] J. P. Dowling and G. J. Milburn, "Quantum technology: the second quantum revolution," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A*, vol. 361, no. 1809, pp. 1655–1674, 2003.
- [24] H. Mabuchi and N. Khaneja, "Principles and applications of control in quantum systems," *International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control*, vol. 15, no. 15, pp. 647–667, 2005.

- [25] M. A. Nielsen and I. L. Chuang, Quantum Computation and Quantum Information. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2000.
- [26] E. Knill, R. Laflamme, and G. J. Milburn, "A scheme for efficient quantum computation with linear optics," *Nature*, vol. 409, no. 6816, pp. 46–52, 2001.
- [27] J. E. Gough and M. R. James, "Quantum feedback networks: Hamiltonian formulation," *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, vol. 287, no. 3, pp. 1109–1132, 2009.
- [28] —, "The series product and its application to quantum feedforward and feedback networks," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 54, no. 11, pp. 2530–2544, 2009.
- [29] M. R. James and J. E. Gough, "Quantum dissipative systems and feedback control design by interconnection," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 55, no. 8, pp. 1806–1821, 2010.
- [30] M. Yanagisawa and H. Kimura, "Transfer function approach to quantum control - part I: Dynamics of quantum feedback systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 48, no. 12, pp. 2107–2120, 2003.
- [31] —, "Transfer function approach to quantum control part II: Control concepts and applications," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 48, no. 12, pp. 2121–2132, 2003.
- [32] J. E. Gough, R. Gohm, and M. Yanagisawa, "Linear quantum feedback networks," *Physical Review A*, vol. 78, no. 6, p. 062104, 2008.
- [33] H. M. Wiseman and G. J. Milburn, Quantum Measurement and Control. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, 2010.
- [34] I. R. Petersen, "Quantum linear systems theory," in Proceedings of the 19th International Symposium on Mathematical Theory of Networks and Systems, Budapest, Hungary, 5–9 July 2010.
- [35] D. F. Walls and G. J. Milburn, *Quantum Optics*, 2nd ed. Springer, 2008.
- [36] C. W. Gardiner and P. Zoller, Quantum Noise: A Handbook of Markovian and Non-Markovian Quantum Stochastic Methods with Applications to Quantum Optics. Berlin: Springer, 2000.
- [37] H.-A. Bachor and T. C. Ralph, A Guide to Experiments in Quantum Optics. Wiley-VCH, 2004.

- [38] D. Dong and I. R. Petersen, "Quantum control theory and applications: A survey," *IET Control Theory & Applications*, vol. 4, no. 12, pp. 2651–2671, 2010.
- [39] A. Bensoussan, Stochastic Control of Partially Observable Systems. Cambridge University Press, 1992.
- [40] A. C. Doherty, S. Habib, K. Jacobs, H. Mabuchi, and S. M. Tan, "Quantum feedback control and classical control theory," *Physical Review A*, vol. 62, p. 012105, 2000.
- [41] R. van Handel, J. K. Stockton, and H. Mabuchi, "Feedback control of quantum state reduction," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 50, no. 6, pp. 768–780, 2005.
- [42] M. Mirrahimi and R. van Handel, "Stabilizing feedback controls for quantum systems," SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, vol. 46, no. 2, pp. 445–467, 2007.
- [43] R. L. Hudson and K. R. Parthasarathy, "Quantum Ito's formula and stochastic evolutions," *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, vol. 93, no. 3, pp. 301–323, 1984.
- [44] K. R. Parthasarathy, An Introduction to Quantum Stochastic Calculus. Birkhäuser, 1992.
- [45] R. van Handel, J. K. Stockton, and H. Mabuchi, "Modelling and feedback control design for quantum state preparation," *Journal of Optics B: Quan*tum and Semiclassical Optics, vol. 7, no. 10, pp. 179–197, 2005.
- [46] L. Bouten, R. van Handel, and M. R. James, "An introduction to quantum filtering," SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, vol. 46, no. 6, pp. 2199–2231, 2007.
- [47] G. G. Gillet, R. B. Dalton, B. P. Lanyon, M. P. Almeida, M. Barbieri, G. J. Pryde, J. L. O'Brien, K. J. Resch, S. D. Bartlett, and A. G. White, "Experimental feedback control of quantum systems using weak measurements," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 104, no. 8, p. 080503, 2010.
- [48] A. Barchielli and G. Lupieri, "Quantum stochastic calculus, operation valued stochastic processes, and continual measurements in quantum mechanics," *Journal of Mathematical Physics*, vol. 26, no. 9, pp. 2222–2230, 1985.
- [49] V. P. Belavkin, "Continuous non-demolition observation, quantum filtering and optimal estimation," in *Quantum Aspects of Optical Communication*, ser. Lecture Notes in Physics, vol. 45. Berlin: Springer, 1991, pp. 131–145.

- [50] —, "Quantum continual measurements and a posteriori collapse on CCR," Communications in Mathematical Physics, vol. 146, no. 3, pp. 611– 635, 1992.
- [51] A. Barchielli, "Continual measurements in quantum mechanics and quantum stochastic calculus," in *Open Quantum Systems III: Recent Developments*, ser. Lecture Notes in Mathematics, S. Attal, A. Joye, and C.-A. Pillet, Eds. Springer, 2006, pp. 207–292.
- [52] N. Yamamoto, "Robust observer for uncertain linear quantum systems," *Physical Review A*, vol. 74, no. 3, p. 032107, 2006.
- [53] N. Yamamoto and L. Bouten, "Quantum risk-sensitive estimation and robustness," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 54, no. 1, pp. 92–107, 2009.
- [54] H. M. Wiseman and G. J. Milburn, "Quantum theory of optical feedback via homodyne detection," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 70, no. 5, pp. 548– 551, 1993.
- [55] H. M. Wiseman, "Quantum theory of continuous feedback," *Physical Review A*, vol. 49, no. 3, pp. 2133–2150, 1994.
- [56] M. A. Armen, J. K. Au, J. K. Stockton, A. C. Doherty, and H. Mabuchi, "Adaptive homodyne measurement of optical phase," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 89, no. 13, p. 133602, 2002.
- [57] C. Ahn, A. C. Doherty, and A. J. Landahl, "Continuous quantum error correction via quantum feedback control," *Physical Review A*, vol. 65, no. 4, p. 042301, 2002.
- [58] R. Ruskov and A. N. Korotkov, "Quantum feedback control of a solid-state qubit," *Physical Review A*, vol. 66, no. 4, p. 041401, 2002.
- [59] D. A. Steck, K. Jacobs, H. Mabuchi, T. Bhattacharya, and S. Habib, "Quantum feedback control of atomic motion in an optical cavity," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 92, no. 22, p. 223004, 2004.
- [60] J. K. Stockton, R. van Handel, and H. Mabuchi, "Deterministic Dicke-state preparation with continuous measurement and control," *Physical Review A*, vol. 70, no. 2, p. 022106, 2004.
- [61] N. Yamamoto, K. Tsumura, and S. Hara, "Feedback control of quantum entanglement in a two-spin system," *Automatica*, vol. 43, no. 6, pp. 981– 992, 2007.

- [62] A. C. Doherty and K. Jacobs, "Feedback control of quantum systems using continuous state estimation," *Physical Review A*, vol. 60, no. 4, pp. 2700– 2711, 1999.
- [63] H. M. Wiseman and A. C. Doherty, "Optimal unravellings for feedback control in linear quantum systems," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 94, no. 7, p. 070405, 2005.
- [64] A. Shaiju, I. R. Petersen, and M. R. James, "Guaranteed cost LQG control of uncertain linear stochastic quantum systems," in *Proceedings of the 2007 American Control Conference*, New York, USA, July 11–13 2007, pp. 2118 – 2123.
- [65] B. C. Roy and P. K. Das, "Modelling of quantum networks of feedback QED systems in interacting Fock space," *International Journal of Control*, vol. 82, no. 12, pp. 2267–2276, 2009.
- [66] H. M. Wiseman and G. J. Milburn, "All-optical versus electro-optical quantum-limited feedback," *Physical Review A*, vol. 49, no. 5, pp. 4110– 4125, 1994.
- [67] N. H. Bonadeo, J. Erland, D. Gammon, D. Park, D. S. Katzer, and D. G. Steel, "Coherent optical control of the quantum state of a single quantum dot," *Science*, vol. 282, no. 5393, pp. 1473–1476, 1998.
- [68] S. Lloyd, "Coherent quantum feedback," *Physical Review A*, vol. 62, no. 2, p. 022108, 2000.
- [69] R. J. Nelson, Y. Weinstein, D. Cory, and S. Lloyd, "Experimental demonstration of fully coherent quantum feedback," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 85, no. 14, pp. 3045–3048, 2000.
- [70] M. R. James, H. I. Nurdin, and I. R. Petersen, "H<sup>∞</sup> control of linear quantum stochastic systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 53, no. 8, pp. 1787–1803, 2008.
- [71] H. Mabuchi, "Coherent-feedback quantum control with a dynamic compensator," *Physical Review A*, vol. 78, p. 032323, 2008.
- [72] H. I. Nurdin, M. R. James, and I. R. Petersen, "Coherent quantum LQG control," Automatica, vol. 45, no. 8, pp. 1837–1846, 2009.
- [73] A. I. Maalouf and I. R. Petersen, "Coherent H<sup>∞</sup> control for a class of linear complex quantum systems," in *Proceedings of the 2009 American Control Conference*, St. Louis, MO, USA, June 10–12 2009, pp. 1472–1479.

- [74] H. I. Nurdin, M. R. James, and A. C. Doherty, "Network synthesis of linear dynamical quantum stochastic systems," *SIAM Journal on Control* and Optimization, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 2686–2718, 2009.
- [75] H. I. Nurdin, "Synthesis of linear quantum stochastic systems via quantum feedback networks," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 55, no. 4, pp. 1008–1013, 2010.
- [76] —, "On synthesis of linear quantum stochastic systems by pure cascading," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 55, no. 10, pp. 2439–2444, 2010.
- [77] I. R. Petersen, "Cascade cavity realization for a class of complex transfer functions arising in coherent quantum feedback control," in *Proceedings of* the European Control Conference 2009, Budapest, Hungary, 23 - 26 August 2009, pp. 190–195.
- [78] A. J. Shaiju and I. R. Petersen, "On the physical realizability of general linear quantum stochastic differential equations with complex coefficients," in *Proceedings of the 48th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, Shanghai, China, 16 - 18 December 2009, pp. 1422–1427.
- [79] A. E. Eiben and J. E. Smith, Introduction to Evolutionary Computing. Berlin, Germany: Springer, 2003.
- [80] Z. Michalewicz and D. B. Fogel, *How to Solve It: Modern Heuristics*, 2nd ed. Springer, 2004.
- [81] G. E. P. Box, "Evolutionary operation: A method for increasing industrial productivity," *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series C (Applied Statistics)*, vol. 6, no. 2, pp. 81–101, 1957.
- [82] A. S. Fraser, "Simulation of genetic systems by automatic digital computers," Australian Journal of Biological Science, vol. 10, pp. 484–491, 1957.
- [83] T. Bäck, Evolutionary Algorithms in Theory and Practice. Oxford University Press, 1996.
- [84] T. Bačk, D. B. Fogel, and Z. Michalewicz, Eds., Evolutionary Computation 1: Basic Algorithms and Operators. Institute of Physics Publishing, 2000.
- [85] K. A. D. Jong, *Evolutionary Computation: A Unified Approach*. The MIT Press, 2006.
- [86] L. J. Fogel, A. J. Owens, and M. J. Walsh, Artificial Intelligence Through Simulated Evolution. Chichester, UK: John Wiley & Sons, 1966.

- [87] I. Rechenberg, Evolutionsstrategie: Optimierung Technischer Systeme nach Prinzipien der Biologischen Evolution. Stuttgart: Frommann-Holzboog, 1973.
- [88] H.-P. Schwefel, Evolution and Optimum Seeking. New York, USA: Wiley-Interscience, 1995.
- [89] J. H. Holland, "Genetic algorithms and the optimal allocation of trials," SIAM Journal on Computing, vol. 2, no. 2, pp. 88–105, 1973.
- [90] D. E. Goldberg, Genetic Algorithms in Search, Optimization, and Machine Learning. Addison-Wesley, 1989.
- [91] J. R. Koza, Genetic Programming: On The Programming of Computers by Means of Natural Selection. The MIT Press, 1992.
- [92] T. Bäck, U. Hammel, and H.-P. Schwefel, "Evolutionary computation: Comments on the history and current state," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 3–17, 1997.
- [93] T. Bačk, D. B. Fogel, and Z. Michalewicz, Eds., Evolutionary Computation 2: Advanced Algorithms and Operators. Institute of Physics Publishing, 2000.
- [94] P. J. Fleming and R. C. Purshouse, "Evolutionary algorithms in control systems engineering: A survey," *Control Engineering Practice*, vol. 10, no. 11, pp. 1223–1241, 2002.
- [95] Z. Michalewicz, D. Dasgupta, R. G. L. Riche, and M. Schoenauer, "Evolutionary algorithms for constrained engineering problems," *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 851–870, 1996.
- [96] D. Dasgupta and Z. Michalewicz, Eds., Evolutionary Algorithms in Engineering Applications. Springer, 1997.
- [97] K. Deb, "Evolutionary algorithms for multi-criterion optimization in engineering design," in *Proceedings of Evolutionary Algorithms in Engineering* and Computer Science (EUROGEN-99), K. Miettinen, M. Mäkelä, P. Neittaanmaäki, and J. Périaux, Eds., Jyväskylä, Finland, 29 May – 03 June 1999, pp. 135–161.
- [98] M. Gen and R. Cheng, Genetic Algorithms & Engineering Optimization. John Wiley & Sons, 2000.
- [99] P. J. Fleming, R. C. Purshouse, and R. J. Lygoe, "Many-objective optimization: An engineering design perspective," in *Evolutionary Multi-Criterion Optimization*, ser. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, C. A. C. Coello, A. H. Aguirre, and E. Zitzler, Eds. Springer, 2005, vol. 3410, pp. 14–32.

- [100] R. K. Ursem, T. Krink, M. T. Jensen, and Z. Michalewicz, "Analysis and modeling of control tasks in dynamic systems," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 378–389, 2002.
- [101] Q. Wang, P. Spronck, and R. Tracht, "An overview of genetic algorithms applied to control engineering problems," in *Proceedings of the 2nd International Conference on Machine Learning and Cybernetics*, Xi'an, China, 2–5 November 2003, pp. 1651–1656.
- [102] M. Parrilla, J. Aranda, and S. Dormido-Canto, "Parallel evolutionary computation: Application of an EA to controller design," in Artificial Intelligence and Knowledge Engineering Applications: A Bioinspired Approach, ser. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, J. Mira and J. R. Álvares, Eds. Springer, 2005, vol. 2, pp. 153–162.
- [103] G. Dellino, P. Lino, C. Meloni, and A. Rizzo, "Enhanced evolutionary algorithms for multidisciplinary design optimization: A control engineering perspective," in *Hybrid Evolutionary Algorithms*, ser. Studies in Computational Intelligence, C. Grosan, A. Abraham, and H. Ishibuchi, Eds. Springer, 2007, vol. 75, ch. 3, pp. 39–76.
- [104] K. J. Hunt, "Polynomial LQG and  $H^{\infty}$  controller synthesis: A genetic algorithm solution," in *Proceedings of the 31st IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, Tucson, Arizona, USA, December 1992, pp. 3604–3609.
- [105] B.-S. Chen, Y.-M. Cheng, and C.-H. Lee, "A genetic approach to mixed  $H_2/H_{\infty}$  optimal PID control," *IEEE Control Systems Magazine*, vol. 15, no. 5, pp. 51–60, 1995.
- [106] K. S. Tang, K. F. Man, and D.-W. Gu, "Structured genetic algorithm for robust H<sup>∞</sup> control systems design," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 43, no. 5, pp. 575–582, 1996.
- [107] N. V. Dakev, J. F. Whidborne, A. J. Chipperfield, and P. J. Fleming, "Evolutionary H<sup>∞</sup> design of an electromagnetic suspension control system for a Maglev vehicle," in *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers*, vol. 211, 1997, pp. 345–355.
- [108] B.-S. Chen and Y.-M. Cheng, "A structure-specified  $H^{\infty}$  optimal control design for practical applications: A genetic approach," *IEEE Transactions on Control Systems Technology*, vol. 6, no. 6, pp. 707–718, 1998.
- [109] M. S. Fadali, Y. Zhang, and S. J. Louis, "Robust stability analysis of discrete-time systems using genetic algorithms," *IEEE Transactions on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics*, vol. 29, no. 5, pp. 503–508, 1999.

- [110] T. X. Mei and R. M. Goodall, "LQG and GA solutions for active steering of railway vehicles," in *IEE Proceedings - Control Theory and Applications*, vol. 147, no. 1, 2000, pp. 111–117.
- [111] J. R. Koza, M. A. Keane, J. Yu, F. H. Bennett, and W. MydLowec, "Automation creation of human-competitive programs and controllers by means of genetic programming," *Genetic Programming and Evolvable Machines*, vol. 1, pp. 121–164, 2000.
- [112] R. A. Krohling and J. P. Rey, "Design of optimal disturbance rejection PID controllers using genetic algorithms," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 78–82, 2001.
- [113] M. Jamshidi, R. A. Krohling, L. D. S. Coelho, and P. J. Fleming, *Robust Control Systems with Genetic Algorithms*. Taylor & Francis CRC Press, 2003.
- [114] D. R. Lewin and A. Parag, "A constrained genetic algorithm for decentralized control system structure selection and optimization," *Automatica*, vol. 39, pp. 1801–1807, 2003.
- [115] T. Sreenuch, A. Tsourdos, E. J. Hughes, and B. A. White, "Lateral accelerating control design of a nonlinear homing missile using multi-objective evolution strategies," in *Proceedings of the 2004 American Control Conference*, Boston, Massachusetts, USA, 30 June–2 July 2004, pp. 3628–3633.
- [116] Y. Li, K. C. Ng, D. J. Murray-Smith, G. J. Gray, and K. C. Sharman, "Genetic algorithm automated approach to the design of sliding mode control systems," *International Journal of Control*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 721–739, 1996.
- [117] S. S. Ge, T. H. Lee, and G. Zhu, "Genetic algorithm tuning of Lyapunovbased controllers: An application to a single-link flexible robot system," *IEEE Transactions on Industrial Electronics*, vol. 43, no. 5, pp. 567–574, 1996.
- [118] Q. Wang and R. F. Stengel, "Robus nonlinear control of a hypersonic aircraft," *Journal of Guidance, Control, and Dynamics*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 3341–3346, 2000.
- [119] S. S. Ge, T. H. Lee, and F. Hong, "Robust controller design with genetic algorithm for flexible spacecraft," in *Proceedings of the 2001 IEEE Congress* on Evolutionary Computation, Seoul, South Korea, 27–30 May 2001, pp. 1033–1039.

- [120] Q. Wang and R. F. Stengel, "Robust control of nonlinear systems with parametric uncertainty," *Automatica*, vol. 38, no. 9, pp. 1591–1599, 2002.
- [121] P. P. Menon, J. Kim, D. G. Bates, and I. Postlethwaite, "Improved clearance of flight control laws using hybrid optimisation," in *Proceedings of the* 2004 IEEE Conference on Cybernetics and Intelligence Systems, Singapore, 1–3 December 2004, pp. 677–682.
- [122] Q. Wang and R. F. Stengel, "Robust nonlinear flight control of a highperformance aircraft," *IEEE Transactions on Control Systems Technology*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 15–26, 2005.
- [123] T. Ravichandran, D. Wang, and G. Heppler, "Simultaneous plant-controller design optimization of a two-link planar manipulator," *Mechatronics*, vol. 16, pp. 233–242, 2006.
- [124] C. I. Marrison and R. F. Stengel, "Robust control system design using random search and genetic algorithms," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 42, no. 6, pp. 835–839, 1997.
- [125] W. M. Schubert and R. F. Stengel, "Parallel synthesis of robust control systems," *IEEE Transactions on Control Systems Technology*, vol. 6, no. 6, pp. 701–706, 1998.
- [126] Q. Wang and R. F. Stengel, "Searching for robust minimal-order compensators," Transactions of the ASME: Journal of Dynamic Systems, Measurement, and Control, vol. 123, pp. 233–236, 2001.
- [127] T. Beielstein, C.-P. Ewald, and S. Markon, "Optimal elevator group control by evolution strategies," in *Proceedings of the 12th Genetic and Evolutionary Computation Conference*, ser. Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Chicago, Illinois, USA: Springer, 2003, vol. 2724, pp. 1963–1974.
- [128] Q. Wang and R. F. Stengel, "Probabilistic control of nonlinear uncertain systems," in *Probabilitic and Randomized Methods for Design Under Un*certainty, G. Calafiore and F. Dabbene, Eds. Springer, 2006, pp. 381–414.
- [129] M. L. Steinberg and A. B. Page, "Nonlinear adaptive flight control with genetic algorithm design optimization," *International Journal of Robust* and Nonlinear Control, vol. 9, no. 14, pp. 1097–1115, 1999.
- [130] J. Kunde, B. Baumann, S. Arit, F. Morier-Genoud, U. Siegner, and U. Keller, "Adaptive feedback control of ultrafast semiconductor nonlinearities," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 77, no. 7, pp. 924–926, 2000.

- [131] M. L. Moore, J. T. Musacchio, and K. M. Passino, "Genetic adaptive control for an inverted wedge: Experiments and comparative analyses," *Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence*, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 1–14, 2001.
- [132] W.-P. Lee and J. Hallam, "Evolving reliable and robust controllers for real robot by genetic programming," *Soft Computing*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 63–75, 1999.
- [133] J. Walker, S. Garrett, and M. Wilson, "Evolving controllers for real robots: A survey of the literature," *Adaptive Behavior*, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 179–203, 2003.
- [134] G. J. Barlow and C. K. Oh, "Robustness analysis of genetic programming controllers for unmanned aerial vehicles," in *Proceedings of the 15th Genetic* and Evolutionary Computation Conference, Seattle, WA, USA, July 2006, pp. 135–142.
- [135] —, "Evolved navigation control for unmanned aerial vehicles," in Frontiers in Evolutionary Robotics, H. Iba, Ed. Vienna: I-Tech Education and Publishing, 2008, ch. 20, pp. 353–378.
- [136] B. J. Pearson, J. L. White, T. C. Weinacht, and P. H. Bucksbaum, "Coherent control using adaptive learning algorithms," *Physical Review A*, vol. 63, no. 6, p. 063412, 2001.
- [137] D. Zeidler, S. Frey, K.-L. Kompa, and M. Motzkus, "Evolutionary algorithms and their application to optimal control studies," *Physical Review* A, vol. 64, no. 2, p. 023420, 2001.
- [138] A. Pechen and H. Rabitz, "Teaching the environment to control quantum systems," *Physical Review A*, vol. 73, no. 6, p. 062102, 2006.
- [139] J. Roslund, O. M. Shir, T. Bäck, and H. Rabitz, "Accelerated optimization and automated discovery with covariance matrix adaptation for experimental quantum control," *Physical Review A*, vol. 80, no. 4, p. 043415, 2009.
- [140] R. M. Storn and K. V. Price, "Differential evolution a simple and efficient heuristic for global optimization over continuous spaces," *Journal of Global Optimization*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 341–359, 1997.
- [141] T. Krink, B. Filipič, G. B. Fogel, and R. Thomsen, "Noisy optimization problems - a particular challenge for differential evolution," in *Proceedings* of the 2004 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation, 2004, pp. 332– 339.

- [142] D. H. Wolpert and W. G. Macready, "No free lunch theorems for optimization," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 67–82, 1997.
- [143] I. L. Lopez-Cruz, L. G. V. Willigenburg, and G. V. Straten, "Efficient differential evolution algorithms for multimodal optimal control problems," *Applied Soft Computing*, vol. 3, pp. 97–122, 2003.
- [144] P. P. Menon, D. G. Bates, and I. Postlethwaite, "Hybrid evolutionary optimisation methods for the clearance of nonlinear flight control laws," in *Proceedings of the 44th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control and the* 2005 European Control Conference, Seville, Spain, 12–15 December 2005, pp. 4053–4058.
- [145] P. P. Menon, J. Kim, D. G. Bates, and I. Postlethwaite, "Clearance of nonlinear flight control laws using hybrid evolutionary optimization," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 689–699, 2006.
- [146] R. Angira and A. Santosh, "Optimization of dynamic systems: A trigonometric differential evolution approach," *Computers & Chemical Engineer*ing, vol. 31, no. 9, pp. 1055–1063, 2007.
- [147] B. Liu, L. Wang, Y.-H. Jin, D.-X. Huang, and F. Tang, "Control and synchronization of chaotic systems by differential evolution algorithm," *Chaos Solutions & Fractals*, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 412–419, 2007.
- [148] H. R. Cai, C. Y. Chung, and K. P. Wong, "Application of differential evolution algorithm for transient stability constrained optimal power flow," *IEEE Transactions on Power Systems*, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 719–728, 2008.
- [149] P. P. Menon, D. G. Bates, I. Postlethwaite, A. Marcos, V. Fernandez, and S. Bennani, "Worst case analysis of control law for re-entry vehicles using hybrid differential evolution," in *Advances in Differential Evolution*, ser. Studies in Computational Intelligence, U. K. Chakraborty, Ed. Springer, 2008, vol. 143, pp. 319–333.
- [150] A. Biswas, S. Das, A. Abraham, and S. Dasgupta, "Design of fractionalorder PI<sup>λ</sup>D<sup>μ</sup> controllers with an improved differential evolution," *Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence*, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 343–350, 2009.
- [151] R. Roloff, M. Wenin, and W. Pötz, "Optimal control for open quantum systems: Qubits and quantum gates," *Journal of Computational and Theoretical Nanoscience*, vol. 6, no. 8, pp. 1837–1863, 2009.

- [152] R. H. C. Takahashi, D. Ramos, and P. L. D. Peres, "Robust control synthesis via a genetic algorithm and LMIs," in *Proceedings the 15th IFAC World Congress*, Barcelona, Spain, 21–26 July 2002.
- [153] P. Apkarian and D. Noll, "Controller design via nonsmooth multidirectional search," SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, vol. 44, no. 6, pp. 1923–1949, 2006.
- [154] A. S. Lewis, "Nonsmooth optimization and robust control," Annual Reviews in Control, vol. 31, no. 2, pp. 167–177, 2007.
- [155] S.-J. Kim, Y.-H. Moon, and S. Kwon, "Solving rank-constrained LMI problems with application to reduced-order output feedback stabilization," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 52, no. 9, pp. 1737–1741, 2007.
- [156] L. Li and I. R. Petersen, "A rank constrained LMI algorithm for decentralized state feedback guaranteed cost control of uncertain systems with uncertainty described by integral quadratic constraints," in *Proceedings of the 2007 American Control Conference*, New York, USA, July 2007, pp. 796–801.
- [157] —, "A rank constrained LMI algorithm for the robust  $H^{\infty}$  control of an uncertain system via a stable output feedback controller," in *Proceedings* of the 46th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, New Orleans, LA, USA, 2007, pp. 5423–5428.
- [158] R. Orsi, U. Helmke, and J. B. Moore, "A Newton-like method for solving rank constrained linear matrix inequalities," *Automatica*, vol. 42, no. 11, pp. 1875–1882, 2006.
- [159] P. Apkarian and D. Noll, "Nonsmooth  $H_{\infty}$  synthesis," *IEEE Transactions* on Automatic Control, vol. 51, no. 1, pp. 71–86, 2006.
- [160] L. E. Ghaoui, F. Oustry, and M. AitRami, "A cone complementarity linearization algorithm for static output feedback and related problems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 42, no. 8, pp. 1171–1176, 1997.
- [161] P. Apkarian, D. Noll, and H. D. Tuan, "Fixed-order  $H_{\infty}$  control design via a partially augmented Lagrangian method," *International Journal of Robust and Nonlinear Control*, vol. 13, no. 12, pp. 1137–1148, 2003.
- [162] P. Apkarian, D. Noll, J.-B. Thevenet, and H. D. Tuan, "A spectral quadratic-SDP method with applications to fixed-order  $H_2$  and  $H_{\infty}$  synthesis," *European Journal of Control*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 527–538, 2004.

- [163] J. V. Burke, A. S. Lewis, and M. L. Overton, "A robust gradient sampling algorithm for nonsmooth, nonconvex optimization," *SIAM Journal* on Optimization, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 751–779, 2005.
- [164] F. Leibfritz and E. M. E. Mostafa, "Trust region methods for solving the optimal output feedback design problem," *International Journal of Control*, vol. 76, no. 5, pp. 501–519, 2003.
- [165] J.-B. Thevenet, D. Noll, and P. Apkarian, "Nonlinear spectral SDP method for BMI-constrained problems: Applications to control design," in *Informatics in Control, Automation and Robotics I.* Springer, 2006, pp. 61–72.
- [166] I. R. Petersen, "Robust  $H^{\infty}$  control of an uncertain system via a stable decentralized output feedback controller," *Kybernetika*, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 101–120, 2009.
- [167] A.-W. A. Saif, D.-W. Gu, and I. Postlethwaite, "Strong stabilization of MIMO systems via H<sup>∞</sup> optimization," Systems and Control Letters, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 111–120, 1997.
- [168] M. Zeren and H. Ozbay, "On the synthesis of stable H<sup>∞</sup> controllers," IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 431–435, 1999.
- [169] D. U. Campos-Delgado and K. Zhou, " $H_{\infty}$  strong stabilization," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 46, no. 12, pp. 1968–1972, 2001.
- [170] D. C. Youla, J. J. Bongiorno, and C. N. Lu, "Single-loop feedback stabilization of linear multivariable dynamical plants," *Automatica*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 159–173, 1974.
- [171] M. Vidyasagar, Control System Synthesis: A Factorization Approach. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 1985.
- [172] A. Quadrat, "On a general structure of the stabilizing controllers based on stable range," SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization, vol. 42, no. 6, pp. 2264–2285, 2004.
- [173] A. Feintuch, "On strong stabilization for linear time-varying systems," Systems & Control Letters, vol. 54, no. 11, pp. 1091–1095, 2005.
- [174] M. Zeren and H. Ozbay, "On the strong stabilization and stable H<sup>∞</sup>controller design problems for MIMO systems," Automatica, vol. 36, no. 11, pp. 1675–1684, 2000.
- [175] Y.-Y. Cao and J. Lam, "On simultaneous  $H_{\infty}$  control and strong  $H_{\infty}$  stabilization," Automatica, vol. 36, no. 6, pp. 859–865, 2000.

- [176] D. U. Campos-Delgado and K. Zhou, "A parametric optimization approach to  $H_{\infty}$  and  $H_2$  strong stabilization," *Automatica*, vol. 39, no. 7, pp. 1205–1211, 2003.
- [177] S. Gümüşsoy and H. Ozbay, "Remarks on strong stabilization and stable H<sup>∞</sup> controller design," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 50, no. 12, pp. 2083–2087, 2005.
- [178] A. Isidori, Nonlinear Control Systems, 3rd ed. Springer, 1995.
- [179] R. Sepulchre, M. Janković, and P. Kokotović, Constructive Nonlinear Control. London: Springer, 1997.
- [180] J. W. Helton and M. R. James, A General Framework for Extending  $H_{\infty}$ Control to Nonlinear Systems. Philadelphia: SIAM, 1999.
- [181] M. Arcak, M. Larsen, and P. Kokotović, "Circle and popov criteria as tools for nonlinear feedback design," *Automatica*, vol. 39, no. 4, pp. 643–650, 2003.
- [182] A. J. Shaiju and I. R. Petersen, "Discrete time robust  $H^{\infty}$  control of a class of nonlinear uncertain systems," in *Proceedings of the 17th IFAC World Congress*, Seoul, South Korea, 6 11 July 2008.
- [183] A. Packard, "Gain scheduling via linear fractional transformations," Systems and Control Letters, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 79–92, 1994.
- [184] J. Stoustrup and H. Niemann, "Fault detection for nonlinear systems a standard problem approach," in *Proceedings of the 37th IEEE Conference* on Decision and Control, Tampa, Florida, USA, December 1998, pp. 96– 101.
- [185] M. Arcak and P. Kokotović, "Nonlinear observers: A circle criterion design and robustness analysis," *Automatica*, vol. 37, no. 12, pp. 1923–1930, 2001.
- [186] P. R. Pagilla and Y. Zhu, "Controller and observer design for Lipschitz nonlinear systems," in *Proceedings of the 2004 American Control Conference*, Boston, Massachusetts, USA, June 30 – July 2 2004, pp. 2379–2384.
- [187] A. V. Savkin and I. R. Petersen, "Robust H<sup>∞</sup> control of uncertain systems with structured uncertainty," *Journal of Mathematical Systems, Estimation* and Control, vol. 6, no. 4, pp. 339–342, 1996.
- [188] A. I. Zečević and D. D. Šiljak, "A new approach to control design with overlapping information structure constraints," *Automatica*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 265–272, 2005.

- [189] J. I. Yuz and G. C. Goodwin, "Loop performance assessment for decentralized control of stable linear systems," *European Journal of Control*, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 118–132, 2003.
- [190] A. I. Zečević and D. D. Siljak, "Control of large-scale systems in a multiprocessor environment," *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, vol. 164, no. 2, pp. 531–543, 2005.
- [191] V. A. Ugrinovskii, I. R. Petersen, A. V. Savkin, and E. Y. Ugrinovskaya, "Decentralized state-feedback stabilization and robust control of uncertain large-scale systems with integrally constrained interconnections," Systems & Control Letters, vol. 40, no. 2, pp. 107–119, 2000.
- [192] D. D. Šiljak and D. M. Stipanović, "Robust stabilization of nonlinear systems: The LMI approach," *Mathematical Problems in Engineering*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 461–493, 2000.
- [193] A. I. Zečević and D. D. Šiljak, "Global low-rank enhancement of decentralized control for large-scale systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 740–744, 2005.
- [194] D. T. Gavel and D. D. Šiljak, "Decentralized adaptive control: Structural conditions for stability," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 413–426, 1989.
- [195] D. D. Šiljak, Decentralized Control of Complex Systems. San Diego, CA: Academic Press, 1991.
- [196] J. C. Geromel, J. Bernussou, and P. L. D. Peres, "Decentralized control through parameter space optimization," *Automatica*, vol. 30, no. 10, pp. 1565–1578, 1994.
- [197] W.-J. Wang and Y.-H. Chen, "Decentralized robust control design with insufficient number of controllers," *International Journal of Control*, vol. 65, pp. 1015–1030, 1996.
- [198] I. R. Petersen, "Decentralized state feedback guaranteed cost control of uncertain systems with uncertainty described by integral quadratic constraints," in *Proceedings of the 2006 American Control Conference*, Minneapolis, USA, June 2006.
- [199] R. H. C. Takahashi, D. A. Dutra, R. M. Palhares, and P. L. D. Peres, "On robust non-fragile static state-feedback controller synthesis," in *Proceedings* of the 39th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control, Sydney, Australia, December 2000, pp. 4909 – 4914.

- [200] G.-H. Yang and J. L. Wang, "Non-fragile  $H^{\infty}$  control for linear systems with multiplicative controller gain variations," *Automatica*, vol. 37, no. 5, pp. 727–737, 2001.
- [201] J. H. Park, "Robust non-fragile guaranteed cost control of uncertain largescale systems with time-delays in subsystem interconnections," *International Journal of Systems Science*, vol. 35, no. 4, pp. 233–241, 2004.
- [202] Y. H. Chen, G. Leitmann, and X. Z. Kai, "Robust control design for interconnected systems with time-varying uncertainties," *International Journal* of Control, vol. 54, no. 5, pp. 1119–1142, 1991.
- [203] Y. Wang, L. Xie, and C. E. de Sousa, "Robust decentralized control of interconnected uncertain linear systems," in *Proceedings of the 34th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, New Orleans, LA, USA, December 1995.
- [204] G.-H. Yang and S.-Y. Zhang, "Decentralized robust control for interconnected systems with time-varying uncertainties," *Automatica*, vol. 32, no. 11, pp. 1603–1608, 1996.
- [205] C.-F. Cheng, "Disturbances attenuation for interconnected systems by decentralized control," *International Journal of Control*, vol. 66, no. 2, pp. 213–224, 1997.
- [206] H. S. Wu, "Decentralized adaptive robust control for a class of large-scale systems including delayed state perturbations in the interconnections," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 47, no. 10, pp. 1745–1751, 2002.
- [207] G. Zhai, M. Ikeda, and Y. Fujisaki, "Decentralized  $H^{\infty}$  controller design: a matrix inequality approach using a homotopy method," *Automatica*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 565–572, 2001.
- [208] J. C. Geromel, J. Bernussou, and M. C. de Oliveira, "H<sub>2</sub>-norm optimization with constrained dynamic output feedback controllers: Decentralized and reliable control," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 44, no. 7, pp. 1449–1454, 1999.
- [209] M. C. de Oliveira, J. C. Geromel, and J. Bernussou, "Design of dynamic output feedback decentralized controllers via a separation procedure," *International Journal of Control*, vol. 73, no. 5, pp. 371–381, 2000.
- [210] G. Scorletti and G. Duc, "An LMI approach to decentralized H<sup>∞</sup> control," International Journal of Control, vol. 74, no. 3, pp. 211–224, 2001.

- [211] S. Y. Zhang, K. Mizukami, and H. S. Wu, "Decentralized robust control for a class of uncertain large-scale interconnected nonlinear dynamical systems," *Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications*, vol. 91, no. 1, pp. 235–256, 1996.
- [212] X.-G. Yan and G.-Z. Dai, "Decentralized output feedback robust control for nonlinear large-scale systems," *Automatica*, vol. 34, no. 11, pp. 1469–1472, 1998.
- [213] S. Jain and F. Khorrami, "Decentralized adaptive control of a class of largescale interconnected nonlinear systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 136–154, 1997.
- [214] —, "Decentralized adaptive output feedback design for large-scale nonlinear systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 42, no. 5, pp. 729–735, 1997.
- [215] Z.-P. Jiang, "Decentralized and adaptive nonlinear tracking of large-scale systems via output feedback," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 45, no. 11, pp. 2122–2128, 2000.
- [216] Y. Guo, Z.-P. Jiang, and D. J. Hill, "Decentralized robust disturbance attenuation for a class of large-scale nonlinear systems," Systems & Control Letters, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 71–85, 1999.
- [217] S. Xie, L. Xie, and W. Lin, "Global H<sup>∞</sup> control and almost disturbance decoupling for a class of interconnected nonlinear systems," *International Journal of Control*, vol. 73, no. 5, pp. 382–390, 2000.
- [218] Z.-P. Jiang, F. Khorrami, and D. J. Hill, "Decentralized output feedback control with disturbance attenuation for large scale nonlinear systems," in *Proceedings of the 38th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, Phoenix, Arizona, USA, December 1999, pp. 3271–3276.
- [219] X. G. Yan, J. Lam, H. S. Li, and I. M. Chen, "Decentralized control of nonlinear large-scale systems using dynamic output feedback," *Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications*, vol. 104, no. 2, pp. 459–475, 2000.
- [220] Z.-P. Jiang, D. W. Repperger, and D. J. Hill, "Decentralized nonlinear output feedback stabilization with disturbance attenuation," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 46, no. 10, pp. 1623–1629, 2001.
- [221] Z.-P. Jiang, "Decentralized disturbance attenuating output-feedback trackers for large-scale nonlinear systems," *Automatica*, vol. 38, no. 8, pp. 1407– 1415, 2002.

- [222] K. Kalsi, J. Lian, and S. H. Żak, "On decentralized control of non-linear interconnected systems," *International Journal of Control*, vol. 82, no. 3, pp. 541–554, 2009.
- [223] —, "Decentralized dynamic output feedback control of nonlinear interconnected systems," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 55, no. 8, pp. 1964–1970, 2010.
- [224] X. G. Yan, S. K. Spurgeon, and C. Edwards, "Decentralized output feedback sliding mode control of nonlinear large-scale systems with uncertainties," *Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications*, vol. 119, no. 3, pp. 597–614, 2003.
- [225] M. T. Frye, C. Qian, and R. Colgren, "Decentralized control of large-scale uncertain nonlinear systems by linear output feedback," *Journal of Communications in Information and Systems*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 191–210, 2004.
- [226] J. Polendo and C. Qian, "Decentralized output feedback control of interconnected systems with high-order nonlinearities," in *Proceedings of the* 2007 American Control Conference, New York, USA, 11–13 July 2007, pp. 1479–1484.
- [227] P. R. Pagilla and Y. Zhu, "A decentralized output feedback controller for a class of large-scale interconnected nonlinear systems," *Transactions of the ASME: Journal of Dynamic Systems, Measurement and Control*, vol. 127, no. 1, pp. 167–172, 2005.
- [228] Y. Zhu and P. R. Pagilla, "Decentralized output feedback control of a class of large-scale interconnected systems," *IMA Journal of Mathematical Control and Information*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 57–69, 2007.
- [229] S. S. Stanković, D. M. Stipanović, and D. D. Siljak, "Decentralized dynamic output feedback for robust stabilization of a class of nonlinear interconnected systems," *Automatica*, vol. 43, no. 5, pp. 861–867, 2007.
- [230] S. S. Stanković and D. D. Šiljak, "Robust stabilization of nonlinear interconnected systems by decentralized dynamic output feedback," Systems & Control Letters, vol. 58, no. 4, pp. 271–275, 2009.
- [231] K. A. Ünyelioğlu, A. B. Özgüler, and Ümit Özgüner, "Decentralized blocking zeros and the decentralized strong stabilization problem," *IEEE Transaction on Automatic Control*, vol. 40, no. 11, pp. 1905–1918, 1995.
- [232] P. H. Lee and Y. C. Soh, "Reliable decentralized stabilization with performance," Journal of System and Control Engineering (Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part I), vol. 223, no. 4, pp. 567–573, 2009.

- [233] N. Yamamoto, H. I. Nurdin, M. R. James, and I. R. Petersen, "Avoiding entanglement sudden-death via measurement feedback control in a quantum network," *Physical Review A*, vol. 78, no. 4, p. 042339, 2008.
- [234] C. H. Bennet and D. P. DiVincenzo, "Quantum information and computation," *Nature*, vol. 404, pp. 247–255, 16 March 2000.
- [235] D. Bouwmeester, A. Ekert, and A. Zeilinger, Eds., The Physics of Quantum Information: Quantum Cryptography, Quantum Teleportation, Quantum Computation. Springer, 2000.
- [236] A. R. R. Carvalho, F. Mintert, and A. Buchleitner, "Decoherence and multipartite entanglement," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 93, no. 23, p. 230501, 2004.
- [237] T. Yu and J. H. Eberly, "Finite-time disentanglement via spontaneous emission," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 93, no. 14, p. 140404, 2004.
- [238] M. B. Plenio and S. F. Huelga, "Entangled light from white noise," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 88, no. 19, p. 197901, 2002.
- [239] J. Wang, H. M. Wiseman, and G. J. Milburn, "Dynamical creation of entanglement by homodyne-mediated feedback," *Physical Review A*, vol. 71, no. 4, p. 042309, 2005.
- [240] S. Mancini and J. Wang, "Toward feedback control of entanglement," The European Physical Journal D, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 257–260, 2005.
- [241] M. Yanagisawa, "Quantum feedback control for deterministic entangled photon generation," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 97, no. 19, p. 190201, 2006.
- [242] S. Mancini and H. M. Wiseman, "Optimal control of entanglement via quantum feedback," *Physical Review A*, vol. 75, no. 1, p. 012330, 2007.
- [243] A. R. R. Carvalho and J. J. Hope, "Stabilizing engtanglement by quantumjump-based feedback," *Physical Review A*, vol. 76, no. 1, p. 010301, 2007.
- [244] A. R. R. Carvalho, A. J. S. Reid, and J. J. Hope, "Controlling entanglement by direct quantum feedback," *Physical Review A*, vol. 78, no. 1, p. 012334, 2008.
- [245] D. Bruß, "Characterizing entanglement," Journal of Mathematical Physics, vol. 43, no. 9, pp. 4237–4251, 2002.
- [246] T.-C. Wei, K. Nemoto, P. M. Goldbart, P. G. Kwiat, W. J. Munro, and F. Verstraete, "Maximal entanglement versus entropy for mixed quantum states," *Physical Review A*, vol. 67, no. 2, p. 022110, 2003.

- [247] R. Simon, "Peres-Horodecki separability criterion for continuous variable systems," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 84, no. 12, pp. 2726–2729, 2000.
- [248] G. Vidal and R. F. Werner, "Computable measure of entanglement," *Phys-ical Review A*, vol. 65, no. 3, p. 032314, 2002.
- [249] K. Audenaert, J. Eisert, M. B. Plenio, and R. F. Werner, "Entanglement properties of the harmonic chain," *Physical Review A*, vol. 66, no. 4, p. 042327, 2002.
- [250] M. B. Plenio, "Logarithmic negativity: A full engtanglement monotone that is not convex," *Physical Review Letters*, vol. 95, no. 9, p. 090503, 2005.
- [251] M. Dahleh, A. P. Peirce, and H. Rabitz, "Optimal control of uncertain quantum systems," *Physical Review A*, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 1065–1079, 1990.
- [252] H. Zhang and H. Rabitz, "Robust optimal control of quantum molecular systems in the presence of disturbances and uncertainties," *Physical Review* A, vol. 49, no. 4, pp. 2241–2254, 1994.
- [253] M. R. James, "Risk-sensitive optimal control of quantum systems," *Physical Review A*, vol. 69, no. 3, p. 032108, 2004.
- [254] C. D'Helon and M. R. James, "Stability, gain, and robustness in quantum feedback networks," *Physical Review A*, vol. 73, no. 5, p. 053803, 2006.
- [255] D. Dong and I. R. Petersen, "Sliding mode control of quantum systems," New Journal of Physics, vol. 11, no. 10, p. 105033, 2009.
- [256] R. J. Schoelkopf and S. M. Girvin, "Wiring up quantum systems," *Nature*, vol. 451, no. 7179, pp. 664–669, 2008.
- [257] A. E. Eiben and M. Schoenauer, "Evolutionary computing," Information Processing Letters, vol. 82, no. 1, pp. 1–6, 2002.
- [258] T. Bäck and H.-P. Schwefel, "An overview of evolutionary algorithms for parameter optimization," *Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 1– 23, 1993.
- [259] Z. Michalewicz, Genetic Algorithms + Data Structures = Evolution Programs, 2nd ed. Springer, 1994.
- [260] Z. Michalewicz and M. Schoenauer, "Evolutionary algorithms for constrained parameter optimization problems," *Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 1–32, 1996.

- [261] A. E. Eiben, "Evolutionary algorithms and constraint satisfaction: Definitions, survey, methodology, and research directions," in *Theoretical Aspects* of Evolutionary Computing, ser. Natural Computing, L. Kallel, B. Naudts, and A. Rogers, Eds. Springer, 2001, pp. 13–58.
- [262] R. Sarker, M. Mohammadian, and X. Yao, Eds., Evolutionary Optimization. Kluwer Academic Publishers, 2002.
- [263] E. K. P. Chong and S. H. Zak, An Introduction to Optimization. John Wiley & Sons, 2001.
- [264] J. F. Bonnans, J. C. Gilbert, C. Lemaréchal, and C. A. Sagastizábal, Numerical Optimization: Theoretical and Practical Aspects. Springer, 2003.
- [265] S. E. Haupt and R. L. Haupt, "Optimizing complex systems," in Proceedings of 1998 IEEE Aerospace Conference, Snowmass at Aspen, CO, USA, March 1998, pp. 241–247.
- [266] L. Kallel, B. Naudts, and C. R. Reeves, "Properties of fitness functions and search landscapes," in *Theoretical Aspects of Evolutionary Computing*, ser. Natural Computing, L. Kallel, B. Naudts, and A. Rogers, Eds. Springer, 2001, pp. 177–208.
- [267] H.-G. Beyer, H.-P. Schwefel, and I. Wegener, "How to analyse evolutionary algorithms," *Theoretical Computer Science*, vol. 287, no. 1, pp. 101–130, 2002.
- [268] E. Alba and M. Tomassini, "Parallelism and evolutionary algorithms," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 443–462, 2002.
- [269] D. A. Veldhuizen, J. B. Zydallis, and G. B. Lamont, "Considerations in engineering parallel multiobjective evolutionary algorithms," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 144–173, 2003.
- [270] N. Melab, E.-G. Talbi, and S. Cahon, "On parallel evolutionary algorithms on the computational grid," in *Parallel Evolutionary Computations*, N. Nedjah, E. Alba, and L. de Macedo Mourelle, Eds. Springer, 2006, vol. 22, pp. 117–132.
- [271] B. Filipič and M. Depolli, "Parallel evolutionary computation framework for single and multiobjective optimization," in *Parallel Computing: Numerics, Applications, and Trends*, 1st ed., R. Trobec, M. Vajteršic, and P. Zinterhof, Eds. Springer, 2009, ch. 7, pp. 217–240.

- [272] W. E. Hart, N. Krasnogor, and J. E. Smith, "Memetic evolutionary algorithms," in *Recent Advances in Memetic Algorithms*, ser. Studies in Fuzziness and Soft Computing, W. E. Hart, N. Krasnogor, and J. E. Smith, Eds. Springer, 2005, pp. 3–27.
- [273] C. Grosan and A. Abraham, "Hybrid evolutionary algorithms: Methodologies, architectures, and reviews," in *Hybrid Evolutionary Algorithms*, ser. Studies in Computational Intelligence, C. Grosan, A. Abraham, and H. Ishibuchi, Eds. Springer, 2007, vol. 75, ch. 1, pp. 1–17.
- [274] K. Deb, Multi-Objective Optimization using Evolutionary Algorithms. John Wiley and Sons Inc., 2001.
- [275] C. A. C. Coello, G. B. Lamont, and D. A. V. Veldhuizen, *Evolutionary* Algorithms for Solving Multi-Objective Problems, 2nd ed. Springer, 2007.
- [276] A. E. Eiben and C. A. Schippers, "On evolutionary exploration and exploitation," *Fundamenta Informaticae*, vol. 35, no. 1–4, pp. 35–50, 1998.
- [277] K. Deb and R. B. Agrawal, "Simulated binary crossover for continuous search space," *Complex Systems*, vol. 9, pp. 115–148, 1995.
- [278] K. Deb, "An efficient constraint handling method for genetic algorithms," *Computer Methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering*, vol. 186, no. 2-4, pp. 311–338, 2000.
- [279] C. A. C. Coello, "Theoritical and numerical constraint-handling techniques used with evolutionary algorithms: A survey of the state of the art," Computer methods in Applied Mechanics and Engineering, vol. 191, no. 11–12, pp. 1245–1287, 2002.
- [280] A. E. Eiben, R. Hinterding, and Z. Michalewicz, "Parameter control in evolutionary algorithms," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 3, no. 2, pp. 124–141, 1999.
- [281] H.-G. Beyer and K. Deb, "On self-adaptive features in real-parameter evolutionary algorithms," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 250–270, 2001.
- [282] F. J. Lobo, C. F. Lima, and Z. Michalewicz, Eds., Parameter Setting in Evolutionary Algorithms, ser. Studies in Computational Intelligence. Springer, 2007, vol. 54.
- [283] R. Gämperle, S. D. Müller, and P. Koumoutsakos, "A parameter study for differential evolution," in WSEAS International Conference on Advances in Intelligent Systems, Fuzzy Systems, Evolutionary Computation, Interlaken, Switzerland, 2002, pp. 293–298.
- [284] J. Liu and J. A. Lampinen, "On setting the control parameter of the differential evolution method," in *Proceedings of the 8<sup>th</sup> International Conference* on Soft Computing MENDEL, Brno, Czech Republic, June 2002, pp. 11–18.
- [285] L. Ingber, "Simulated annealing: Practice versus theory," Mathematical and Computer Modelling, vol. 18, no. 11, pp. 29–57, 1993.
- [286] F. Aluffi-Pentini, V. Parisi, and F. Zirilli, "Global optimization and stochastic differential equations," *Journal of Optimization Theory and Applications*, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 1–16, 1985.
- [287] D. S.-V. Heinz Mühlenbein, "Predictive models for the breeder genetic algorithm I. continuous parameter optimization," *Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 25–49, 1993.
- [288] H.-M. Voigt, "Soft genetic operators in evolutionary algorithms," in *Evolution and Biocomputation*, ser. Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Springer, 1995, vol. 899, pp. 123–141.
- [289] J. Vesterstrøm and R. Thomsen, "A comparative study of differential evolution, particle swarm optimization and evolutionary algorithms on numerical benchmark problems," in *Proceedings of the 2004 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation*, Portland, OR, USA, June 2004, pp. 1980–1987.
- [290] S. Paterlini and T. Krink, "Differential evolution and particle swarm optimisation in partitional clustering," *Computational Statistics & Data Anal*ysis, vol. 50, no. 5, pp. 1220–1247, 2006.
- [291] J. A. Lampinen and I. Zelinka, "Mixed integer-discrete-continuous optimization by differential evolution, part I: The optimization method," in *Proceedings of MENDEL 1999, 5th International Conference on Soft Computing*, Brno, Czech Republic, 9–12 June 1999, pp. 71–76.
- [292] J. A. Lampinen, "A constraint handling approach for the differential evolution algorithm," in *Proceedings of the 2002 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 2, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA, May 2002, pp. 1468–1473.
- [293] R. Sarker and H. A. Abbass, "Differential evolution for solving multiobjective optimization problems," Asia-Pasific Journal of Operational Research, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 225–240, 2004.
- [294] S. Kukkonen and J. A. Lampinen, "An extension of generalized differential evolution for multi-objective optimization with constraints," in *Parallel Problem Solving from Nature - PPSN VIII*, ser. Lecture Notes in Computer Science. Springer, 2004, vol. 3242, pp. 752–761.

- [295] —, "Constrained real-parameter optimization with generalized differential evolution," in *Proceedings of the 2006 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation*, Vancouver, BC, Canada, July 2006, pp. 207–214.
- [296] K. Zielinski and R. Laur, "Constrained single-objective optimization using differential evolution," in *Proceedings of the 2006 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation*, Vancouver, BC, Canada, July 2006, pp. 927–934.
- [297] E. Mezura-Montes, J. Velázquez-Reyes, and C. A. C. Coello, "A comparative study of differential evolution variants for global optimization," in *Proceedings of the 8<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference on Genetic and Evolutionary Computation*, Seattle, Washington, USA, July 2006, pp. 485–492.
- [298] V. Feoktistov, Differential Evolution: In Search of Solutions. New York, USA: Springer, 2006.
- [299] J. Brest, B. Bošković, S. Greiner, V. Žumer, and M. S. Maučec, "Performance comparison of self-adaptive and adaptive differential evolution algorithms," Soft Computing - A Fusion of Foundations, Methodologies and Applications, vol. 11, no. 7, pp. 617–629, 2007.
- [300] R. M. Storn, "System design by constraint adaptation and differential evolution," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 22–34, 1999.
- [301] J. A. Lampinen, "Solving problems subject to multiple nonlinear constraint by the differential evolution," in *Proceedings of MENDEL 2001, 7th International Conference on Soft Computing*, Brno, Czech Republic, 6–8 June 2001, pp. 50–57.
- [302] J. A. Lampinen and I. Zelinka, "On stagnation of the differential evolution algorithm," in *Proceedings of the 6th International Mendel Conference on Soft Computing*, Brno, Czech Republic, June 2000, pp. 76–83.
- [303] J. Brest, A. Zamuda, B. Bošković, S. Greiner, and V. Žumer, "An analysis of the control parameters' adaptation in DE," in *Advances in Differential Evolution*, ser. Studies in Computational Intelligence, U. K. Chakraborty, Ed. Springer, 2008, vol. 143, pp. 89–110.
- [304] J. Liu and J. A. Lampinen, "Adaptive parameter control of the differential evolution," in *Proceedings of the 8<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Soft Computing MENDEL*, Brno, Czech Republic, June 2002, pp. 19–26.
- [305] H. A. Abbass, "The self-adaptive pareto differential evolution algorithm," in *Proceedings of the 2002 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation*, Honolulu, Hawaii, USA, May 2002, pp. 831–836.

- [306] J. Liu and J. A. Lampinen, "A fuzzy adaptive differential evolution algorithm," Soft Computing - A Fusion of Foundations, Methodologies and Applications, vol. 9, no. 6, pp. 448–462, 2005.
- [307] J. Brest, S. Greiner, B. Bošković, M. Mernik, and V. Žumer, "Self-adapting control parameters in differential evolution: A comparative study on numerical benchmark problems," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 646–657, 2006.
- [308] J. Brest, A. Zamuda, B. Bošković, M. S. Maučec, and V. Žumer, "Highdimensional real-parameter optimization using self-adaptive differential evolution algorithm with population size reduction," in *Proceedings of the* 2008 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation, Hongkong, June 2008, pp. 2032–2039.
- [309] A. K. Qin, V. L. Huang, and P. N. Suganthan, "Differential evolution algorithm with strategy adaptation for global numerical optimization," *IEEE Transactions on Evolutionary Computation*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 398–417, 2009.
- [310] K. Zielinski and R. Laur, "Stopping criteria for differential evolution in constrained single-objective optimization," in Advances in Differential Evolution, ser. Studies in Computational Intelligence, U. K. Chakraborty, Ed. Springer, 2008, no. 143, pp. 111–138.
- [311] H. K. Khalil, *Nonlinear Systems*, 3rd ed. Upper Saddle River, N.J. : Prentice Hall, 2002.
- [312] I. R. Petersen, B. D. O. Anderson, and E. A. Jonckheere, "A first principles solution to the non-singular H<sup>∞</sup> control problem," *International Journal* of Robust and Nonlinear Control, vol. 1, no. 3, pp. 171–185, 1991.
- [313] S. Raghavan and J. K. Hedrick, "Observer design for a class of nonlinear systems," *International Journal of Control*, vol. 59, no. 2, pp. 515–528, 1994.
- [314] H. Ouyang, " $H^{\infty}$  control methods in control and robust state estimation for nonlinear systems with sector bounded nonlinearities," Ph.D. dissertation, School of Engineering and Information Technology, the University of New South Wales at the Australian Defence Force Academy, 2010, submitted.
- [315] W. M. Wonham, Linear Multivariable Control: A Geometric Approach, 3rd ed. Springer-Verlag New York Inc., 1985.
- [316] V. P. Belavkin and S. C. Edwards, "Quantum filtering and optimal control," in *Quantum Stochastics and Information: Statistics, Filtering and Control*, V. P. Belavkin and M. Guţă, Eds. World Scientific, 2008.

- [317] M. R. James, "Feedback control of quantum systems," in Quantum Stochastics and Information: Statistics, Filtering and Control, V. P. Belavkin and M. Guţă, Eds. World Scientific, 2008.
- [318] T. Kailath, *Linear Systems*. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, USA: Prentice-Hall, 1980.
- [319] B. D. O. Anderson and S. Vongpanitlerd, Network Analysis and Synthesis. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, USA: Prentice-Hall, 1973.
- [320] K. Zhou and P. P. Khargonekar, "An algebraic Riccati equation approach to H<sup>∞</sup> optimization," Systems & Control Letters, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 85–91, 1988.
- [321] G. E. Dullerud and F. Paganini, A Course in Robust Control Theory: A Convex Approach. New York: Springer, 2000.
- [322] L. Li, V. A. Ugrinovskii, and R. Orsi, "Decentralized robust control of uncertain Markov jump parameter systems via output feedback," *Automatica*, vol. 43, no. 11, pp. 1932–1944, 2007.
- [323] M. Arcak and P. Kokotović, "Observer-based control of systems with slope-restricted nonlinearities," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 46, no. 7, pp. 1146–1150, 2001.
- [324] C. E. de Souza and X. Li, "Delay-dependent robust H<sup>∞</sup> control of uncertain linear state-delayed systems," Automatica, vol. 35, no. 7, pp. 1313–1321, 1999.
- [325] K. Gu, V. L. Kharitonov, and J. Chen, *Stability of Time-Delay Systems*. Birkhäuser, 2003.
- [326] Q.-C. Zhong, Robust Control of Time-Delay Systems. Springer, 2006.
- [327] K. Kashima and N. Yamamoto, "Control of quantum systems despite feedback delay," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 54, no. 4, pp. 876–881, 2009.
- [328] I. R. Petersen, "Singular perturbation approximations for a class of linear complex quantum systems," in *Proceedings of the 2010 American Control Conference*, Baltimore, MD, USA, 30 June – 02 July 2010, pp. 1898–1903.
- [329] J. T. Wen and M. Arcak, "A unifying passivity framework for network flow control," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 162–174, 2004.

- [330] S. M. Tan, "A computational toolbox for quantum and atomic optics," Journal of Optics B: Quantum and Semiclassical Optics, vol. 1, no. 4, pp. 424–432, 1999.
- [331] D. J. Atkins, H. M. Wiseman, and P. Warszawski, "Approximate master equations for atom optics," *Physical Review A*, vol. 67, no. 2, p. 023802, 2003.
- [332] C. Zalka, "Simulating quantum systems on a quantum computer," Proceedings of the Royal Society A, vol. 454, no. 1969, pp. 313–322, 1998.
- [333] E. Jané, G. Vidal, W. Dür, P. Zoller, and J. Cirac, "Simulation of quantum dynamics with quantum optical systems," *Quantum Information & Computation*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 15–37, 2003.
- [334] I. Buluta and F. Nori, "Quantum simulators," Science, vol. 326, no. 5949, pp. 108–111, 2009.
- [335] J. V. Burke, D. Henrion, A. S. Lewis, and M. L. Overton, "Stabilization via nonsmooth, nonconvex optimization," *IEEE Transactions on Automatic Control*, vol. 51, no. 11, pp. 1760–1769, 2006.
- [336] P. Apkarian and D. Noll, "IQC analysis and synthesis via nonsmooth optimization," Systems & Control Letters, vol. 55, no. 12, pp. 971–981, 2006.
- [337] O. Prot, P. Apkarian, and D. Noll, "A nonsmooth IQC method for robust synthesis," in *Proceedings of the 46th IEEE Conference on Decision and Control*, New Orleans, LA, USA, 12–14 December 2007, pp. 824–829.
- [338] C.-Y. Kao, A. Megretski, and U. Jönsson, "Specialized fast algorithms for IQC feasibility and optimization problems," *Automatica*, vol. 40, no. 2, pp. 239–252, 2004.
- [339] V. Bompart, P. Apkarian, and D. Noll, "Control design in the time and frequency domain using nonsmooth techniques," Systems & Control Letters, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 271–282, 2008.
- [340] C. A. C. Coello, "Use of a self-adaptive penalty approach for engineering optimization problems," *Computers in Industry*, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 113–127, 2000.
- [341] R. Thomsen, "Multimodal optimization using crowding-based differential evolution," in *Proceedings of the 2004 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation*, Portland, Oregon, 19–23 June 2004, pp. 1382–1389.

- [342] S. Das, A. Konar, and U. K. Chakraborty, "Improved differential evolution algorithms for handling noisy optimization problems," in *Proceedings of the* 2005 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation, Edinburgh, Scotland, 2–5 September 2005, pp. 1691–1698.
- [343] Z. Yang, K. Tang, and X. Yao, "Differential evolution for high-dimensional function optimization," in *Proceedings of the 2007 IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation*, Singapore, 25–28 September 2007, pp. 3523–3530.